
Tuesday, November 14, 2023 at 1:00 PM 
Valley Sanitary District Board Room

45500 Van Buren Street, Indio, CA 92201

1. CALL TO ORDER

2. ROLL CALL

3. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

4. NOVEMBER EMPLOYEE ANNIVERSARIES 
Mark Wiseman, Wastewater Operator II - 3 years
Dave Commons, Chief Operating Officer - 2 years
Mario Luna, Laboratory Technician II - 1 year

 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

REGULAR SESSION
AGENDA

Valley Sanitary District is open to the public and board meetings will be conducted in person. In
addition to attending in person, members of the public may view and participate in meeting via the
following:
 
Zoom link: https://us06web.zoom.us/j/82836595958 
 
Meeting ID:  828 3659 5958
 
To address the Board of Directors during the virtual live session via zoom, please email the Clerk of
the Board at hgould@valley-sanitary.org or, alternatively, during the specific agenda item or general
comment period (i.e. non-agenda items), please use the "raise your hand" function in zoom in order
to be recognized by the Clerk of the Board in order to provide comments in real time. 
 
The Clerk of the Board will facilitate to the extent possible any email requests to provide oral
testimony that are sent during the live meeting. Members of the public may provide Oral testimony
in person or during the virtual live session and are limited to three minutes each. To address the
Board in person please complete speaker request card located at in the Board Room and give it to
the Clerk of the Board. 
 
If you are unable to provide comments during the meeting, written public comments on agenda or
non-agenda items may be submitted by email to the Clerk of the Board at hgould@valley-
sanitary.org. Written comments must be received by the Clerk of the Board no later than 11:00 a.m.
on the day of the meeting. 

 

 

 

1

mailto:hgould@valley-sanitary.org
mailto:hgould@valley-sanitary.org


5. PRESENTATIONS

5.1 CERTIFICATE OF ACHIEVEMENT FOR EXCELLENCE IN FINANCIAL REPORTING FOR THE FISCAL YEAR
ENDING JUNE 30, 2022
Recommendation: Review

6. PUBLIC COMMENT

7. CONSENT CALENDAR
Consent calendar items are expected to be routine and noncontroversial, to be acted upon by the
Board of Directors at one time, without discussion. If any Board member requests that an item be
removed from the consent calendar, it will be removed so that it may be acted upon separately.

7.1 APPROVE THE MINUTES FOR THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS REGULAR MEETING HELD OCTOBER 10,
2023
Recommendation: Approve

7.2 APPROVE WARRANTS FOR NOVEMBER 14, 2023
Recommendation: Approve

7.3 CREDIT CARD REPORT FOR THE PERIOD ENDING SEPTEMBER 30, 2023
Recommendation: Approve

7.4 MONTHLY FINANCIAL REPORT FOR THE PERIOD ENDING SEPTEMBER 30, 2023
Recommendation: Approve

7.5 MONTHLY INVESTMENT REPORT FOR THE PERIOD ENDING SEPTEMBER 30, 2023
Recommendation: Approve

8. NON-HEARING ITEMS

8.1 AWARD OF CONTRACT FOR BULK CHEMICAL DELIVERY TO UNIVAR SOLUTIONS USA, INC. FOR A
ONE-YEAR TERM PLUS TWO (2) OPTION YEARS WITH AN INITIAL COST FOR YEAR ONE IN AN
AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $551,335
Recommendation: Approve

8.2 AWARD OF CONTRACT FOR GRANT WRITING SERVICES TO CAROLLO ENGINEERS, INC. FOR A ONE-
YEAR TERM PLUS TWO (2) OPTION YEARS WITH AN INITIAL COST FOR YEAR ONE IN AN AMOUNT
NOT TO EXCEED $80,000
Recommendation: Action

8.3 AUTHORIZE SPECIFIC DIRECTORS TO ATTEND THE CALIFORNIA ASSOCIATION OF SANITATION
AGENCIES (CASA) 2024 WASHINGTON DC POLICY FORUM AND REIMBURSE RELATED EXPENSES
Recommendation: Discussion

8.4 AUTHORIZE SPECIFIC DIRECTORS TO ATTEND THE CALIFORNIA ASSOCIATION OF SANITATION
AGENCIES (CASA) 2024 WINTER CONFERENCE IN PALM SPRINGS, CA AND REIMBURSE RELATED
EXPENSES
Recommendation: Discussion

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2

https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/valley-sanitary/c06830526e2bea90420b48e692743f5e0.pdf
https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/valley-sanitary/5c10d041f6a0d18b923324117ed27dda0.pdf
https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/valley-sanitary/032e89a0628398e6fa93c289f10782f00.pdf
https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/valley-sanitary/0db7a735cae9aabcbb22b6e4e75827eb0.pdf
https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/valley-sanitary/bb3d2a54e9c6a8d119db0c2ebb59dd1d0.pdf
https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/valley-sanitary/25d8addf67bea135b6b1b7e76136dc340.pdf
https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/valley-sanitary/62611934b9f8dfa1c6f5675d9c622a3c0.pdf
https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/valley-sanitary/599f9c5ac1505bc5a862de40acbf0b3f0.pdf
https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/valley-sanitary/4d3ad4a82907820a17eab348c95f2fa90.pdf
https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/valley-sanitary/262fea97db833913f72e078a362f82070.pdf


8.5 CANCEL THE REGULAR BOARD MEETING ON TUESDAY, DECEMBER 26, 2023, DUE TO ITS
PROXIMITY TO THE DISTRICT-OBSERVED HOLIDAY
Recommendation: Approve

8.6 APPROVE CHANGE ORDER NO.'S 2 -5 FOR THE INDIO DOWNTOWN DISTRICT SEWER
IMPROVEMENT PROJECT FOR A NOT TO EXCEED COST OF $73,785.94 AND AUTHORIZE THE
GENERAL MANAGER TO SIGN THE CHANGE ORDERS
Recommendation: Action

8.7 APPROVE CHANGE ORDER NO. 6 FOR THE INDIO DOWNTOWN DISTRICT SEWER IMPROVEMENT
PROJECT AND GEOTECHNICAL FEES FOR THE EMERGENCY STREET REPAIR ON REQUA STREET FOR
A NOT TO EXCEED COST OF $286,603.00 AND AUTHORIZE THE GENERAL MANAGER TO SIGN THE
CHANGE ORDER AND PAY INVOICES.
Recommendation: Action

8.8 PROVIDE THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AN UPDATE ON THE EMERGENCY REPAIR OF THE
WESTWARD HO SEWER SIPHON AND AUTHORIZE THE GENERAL MANAGER TO REIMBURSE THE
CITY OF INDIO THE AMOUNT OF $147,261.97 FOR HALF THE COST OF THE EMERGENCY REPAIR
(TOTAL COST TO INSTALL THE BERM IS $294,523.59)
Recommendation: Action

9. GENERAL MANAGER'S REPORT

9.1 RECEIVE MONTHLY GENERAL MANAGERS REPORT FOR OCTOBER 2023
Recommendation: Review

10. COMMITTEE REPORTS

10.1 DRAFT MINUTES OF THE BUDGET & FINANCE COMMITTEE MEETING - NOVEMBER 7, 2023
Recommendation: Discuss

11. DIRECTOR'S ITEMS

12. INFORMATIONAL ITEMS

13. ADJOURNMENT

 

POSTED November 9, 2023
Holly Gould
Clerk of the Board
Valley Sanitary District  

         

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3

https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/valley-sanitary/e4fa19173de08213303fb9f58b9044f70.pdf
https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/valley-sanitary/b61fdb80365ba164904a08b6e10589d60.pdf
https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/valley-sanitary/9657ba9dde5059441cf01ce3cadfff6e0.pdf
https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/valley-sanitary/594e79e0920438af521a0fd0ec0904780.pdf
https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/valley-sanitary/3fbc36aa228a8a586dd78b159d1401270.pdf
https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/valley-sanitary/cfc69f474544c7a77ee8b9a446ecdf4c0.pdf


PUBLIC NOTICE

In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, access to the Board Room and Public
Restrooms has been made. If you need special assistance to participate in this meeting, please
contact Valley Sanitary District (760) 235-5400. Notification 48 hours prior to the meeting will enable
the District to make reasonable arrangements to ensure accessibility to this meeting (28 CFR 35.102-
35.104 ADA TITLE II). All public records related to open session items contained on this Agenda are
available upon request at the Administrative Office of Valley Sanitary District located at 45-500 Van
Buren Street, Indio, CA 92201. Copies of public records are subject to fees and charges for
reproduction.

4



ITEM 5.1
REVIEW

Suggested Action

Strategic Plan Compliance

Fiscal Impact

Environmental Review

Background

DATE: November 14, 2023

TO: Board of Directors

FROM: Jason Dafforn, General Manager

SUBJECT: CERTIFICATE OF ACHIEVEMENT FOR EXCELLENCE IN FINANCIAL
REPORTING FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDING JUNE 30, 2022

Review

GOAL 4: Increase Community Understanding and Support

There is no fiscal impact to the District for this award.

This item does not qualify as a project defined by the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). 

The Certificate of Achievement (COA) is a prestigious national award and represents the highest form
of recognition in governmental accounting and financial reporting. This achievement is intended to
recognize a significant accomplishment by a government agency and its management team. To be
awarded the COA, a government agency must publish an easily readable and efficiently organized
Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR).

 

Receiving the COA can only be accomplished upon completion of an ACFR, a more accurate and
meaningful report on the District's financial condition than the basic financial statement typically
completed. The ACFR must satisfy Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) and applicable

 
Valley Sanitary District

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5



Recommendation

legal requirements. An impartial panel then judges the ACFR. It must be deemed to meet the high
program standards, which include a constructive "spirit of full disclosure" to communicate an agency's
financial story and motivate potential users and user groups to read the ACFR.

 

The COA is presented to individuals designated by the agency as primarily responsible for earning the
certificate. The Administration Department worked to compile the award-winning ACFR by gathering
the required information and statistical data related to District operations for the past ten years,
coordinating and preparing the report content, and ensuring that the report fully complied with
rigorous GFOA standards.

 

The District has achieved this recognition for the past 10 consecutive years.

Staff recommends that the Board of Directors receive the Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in
Financial Reporting and recognize and commend the Administration Department for receiving the
award for the Fiscal Year 2021/22 from the Government Finance Officers Association.

 

 
Attachments
5.1 Attachment A Announcement of Award Board President.pdf
5.1 Attachment B Press Release.pdf
5.1 Attachment C Certificate of Achievement.pdf
5.1 Attachment D Staff Recognition.pdf

6

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2269585/5.1_Attachment_A_Announcement_of_Award_Board_President.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2269586/5.1_Attachment_B_Press_Release.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2269587/5.1_Attachment_C_Certificate_of_Achievement.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2269588/5.1_Attachment_D_Staff_Recognition.pdf


10/30/2023

Debora Canero
Board President
Valley Sanitary District, California

Dear Debora:

We are pleased to notify you that your annual comprehensive financial report for the fiscal year ended 
June 30, 2022 qualifies for GFOA's Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting. 
The Certificate of Achievement is the highest form of recognition in governmental accounting and 
financial reporting, and its attainment represents a significant accomplishment by a government and its 
management.

When a Certificate of Achievement is awarded to a government, an Award of Financial Reporting 
Achievement (AFRA) is also presented to the individual(s) or department designated by the government 
as primarily responsible for its having earned the Certificate. This award has been sent to the submitter as 
designated on the application.

We hope that you will arrange for a formal presentation of the Certificate and Award of Financial 
Reporting Achievement, and give appropriate publicity to this notable achievement. A sample news 
release is included to assist with this effort.

We hope that your example will encourage other government officials in their efforts to achieve and 
maintain an appropriate standard of excellence in financial reporting.

Sincerely,

Michele Mark Levine
Director, Technical Services

7



FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE

10/30/2023 For more information contact: 
Michele Mark Levine, Director/TSC
Phone: (312) 977-9700
Fax: (312) 977-4806
Email: mlevine@gfoa.org

(Chicago, Illinois)—Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA) has 
awarded the Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to Valley Sanitary District for 
its annual comprehensive financial report for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022. The report has been judged by 
an impartial panel to meet the high standards of the program, which includes demonstrating a constructive "spirit 
of full disclosure" to clearly communicate its financial story and motivate potential users and user groups to read 
the report. 

The Certificate of Achievement is the highest form of recognition in the area of governmental accounting and 
financial reporting, and its attainment represents a significant accomplishment by a government and its 
management.

Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA) advances excellence in government finance by providing best 
practices, professional development, resources, and practical research for more than 21,000 members and the 
communities they serve.

8



Government Finance Officers Association

Certificate of 
Achievement
for Excellence

in Financial 
Reporting

Presented to

Valley Sanitary District
California

For its Annual Comprehensive
Financial Report

For the Fiscal Year Ended

June 30, 2022

Executive Director/CEO

9



The Government Finance Officers Association of 
the United States and Canada

presents this

AWARD OF FINANCIAL REPORTING ACHIEVEMENT
to

The Award of Financial Reporting Achievement is presented by the Government Finance Officers 
Association to the department or individual designated as instrumental in the government unit achieving 
a Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting. A Certificate of Achievement is 
presented to those government units whose annual financial reports are judged to adhere to program 
standards and represents the highest award in government financial reporting.

Executive Director

Date: 10/30/2023

Jeanette Juarez
Chief Administrative Officer

Valley Sanitary District, California

10



The Government Finance Officers Association of 
the United States and Canada

presents this

AWARD OF FINANCIAL REPORTING ACHIEVEMENT
to

The Award of Financial Reporting Achievement is presented by the Government Finance Officers 
Association to the department or individual designated as instrumental in the government unit achieving 
a Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting. A Certificate of Achievement is 
presented to those government units whose annual financial reports are judged to adhere to program 
standards and represents the highest award in government financial reporting.

Executive Director

Date: 10/30/2023

Karen Hopper
Accounting Analyst

Valley Sanitary District, California

11



The Government Finance Officers Association of 
the United States and Canada

presents this

AWARD OF FINANCIAL REPORTING ACHIEVEMENT
to

The Award of Financial Reporting Achievement is presented by the Government Finance Officers 
Association to the department or individual designated as instrumental in the government unit achieving 
a Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting. A Certificate of Achievement is 
presented to those government units whose annual financial reports are judged to adhere to program 
standards and represents the highest award in government financial reporting.

Executive Director

Date: 10/30/2023

Branden Rodriguez
Administrative Assistant

Valley Sanitary District, California

12



ITEM 7.1
ACTION

Suggested Action

Strategic Plan Compliance

Fiscal Impact

Environmental Review

Background

Recommendation

DATE: November 14, 2023

TO: Board of Directors

FROM: Holly Gould, Clerk of the Board

SUBJECT:
APPROVE THE MINUTES FOR THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS REGULAR
MEETING HELD OCTOBER 10, 2023

Approve

GOAL 6: Improve Planning, Administration and Governance

None 

This does not qualify as a project for the purposes of CEQA.

The meeting minutes for the Board of Directors Regular Meeting held October 10, 2023.

Approve

 
Valley Sanitary District

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Attachments
10 Oct 2023 Minutes.edited.docx

13

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2252275/10_Oct_2023_Minutes.edited.pdf


1
Board Meeting of October 10, 2023                                                         Approved:

VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT
MINUTES OF REGULAR BOARD MEETING

October 10, 2023
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          
A regular Board Meeting of the Governing Board of Valley Sanitary District (VSD) was held on 
Tuesday, October 10, 2023, at 45-500 Van Buren St., Indio, CA 92201.

1. CALL TO ORDER

President Canero called the meeting to order at 1:00 p.m. 

2. ROLL CALL  

Directors Present:
Jacky Barnum, Debra Canero, Mike Duran, Scott Sear, William Teague

Staff Present:  
Jason Dafforn, General Manager; Jeanette Juarez, Chief Administrative Officer; Dave 
Commons, Chief Operating Officer; Ron Buchwald, District Engineer; Tino Tijerina, Facility 
Maintenance Supervisor; Holly Gould, Clerk of the Board; and Craig Hayes, Best Best & Krieger

3. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

4. PRESENTATION

 Charles Metcalf, College of the Desert Student – The Great Alumni Hunt

5. OCTOBER EMPLOYEE ANNIVERSARIES

 Holly Gould, Clerk of the Board – 14 years
________________________________________________________________________________
The Board of Directors thanked Holly for her hard work and years of service to the District.

6. PUBLIC COMMENT - None

7. CONSENT CALENDAR

7.1 Approve the Minutes for the Board of Directors Regular Meeting held September 26, 2023

7.2 Approve Warrants for October 10, 2023
________________________________________________________________________________

ACTION TAKEN:

14



2
Board Meeting of October 10, 2023                                                         Approved:

MOTION: Vice President Duran motioned to approve the consent calendar as presented. 
Director Teague seconded the motion. Motion carried by the following roll call vote:
AYES: Barnum, Canero, Duran, Sear, Teague
NOES: None
MINUTE ORDER NO. 2023-3332

8. NON-HEARING ITEMS

8.1 Authorize the General Manager to Approve the Rebuild of Influent Pump #5
________________________________________________________________________________
Influent pump #5 failed to operate under normal conditions. Staff removed the pump and requested 
Xylem to investigate. Upon disassembly, Xylem determined the pump had extensive water damage 
and confirmed that a complete rebuild would be required. The cost to rebuild influent plump #5 is 
$30,070.60.

ACTION TAKEN:
MOTION: Vice President Duran motioned to approve the rebuild of influent pump #5 for an 

amount of $30,070.60. Director Teague seconded the motion. Motion carried by 
the following roll call vote:
AYES: Barnum, Canero, Duran, Sear, Teague
NOES: None
MINUTE ORDER NO. 2023-3333

8.2 Authorize the General Manager to Execute a One-Year Contract for Social Media and Public 
Relations Services for $116,931

________________________________________________________________________________
On August 1, 2023, a Request for Proposals (RFP) was issued for Social Media and Public Relations 
Services. Seven proposals were received by the posted deadline; two did not submit all the required 
information and were considered non-responsive and removed from the review process. Five properly 
submitted proposals were then sent to a panel for review and scoring. The proposals were evaluated 
utilizing a 100-point scoring system. The top two firms were invited to participate in a panel interview, 
including a presentation and a question-and-answer session. Staff were able to identify the best firm to 
recommend to the Board of Directors to award a contract. Staff recommends the Board of Directors 
approve a 1-year contract for social media and public relations services with Ardurra Group, Inc. for 
$116,931 and authorize the General Manager to execute the agreement.

ACTION TAKEN:
MOTION: Vice President Duran motioned to authorize the General Manager to execute a 

one-year contract with Ardurra Group, Inc. for Social Media and Public Relations 
Services for $116,931. Director Teague seconded the motion. Motion carried by 
the following roll call vote:
AYES: Barnum, Canero, Duran, Sear, Teague
NOES: None

15



3
Board Meeting of October 10, 2023                                                         Approved:

MINUTE ORDER NO. 2023-3334

8.3 Authorize the General Manager to Execute a One-Year Contract for Landscape and Lawn 
Care Services for an Amount Not to Exceed $19,896.36

________________________________________________________________________________
On August 16, 2023, a Request for Proposals (RFP) was issued for Landscape and Lawn Care 
Services. Five proposals were received. The proposals were evaluated to ensure all the required 
information/documentation was submitted correctly. The proposals were sent to a panel for review and 
scoring. The proposals were evaluated utilizing a 100-point scoring system. Based on the panel review 
and scoring, Mariposa Landscapes, Inc. submitted the most complete and accurate proposal.

ACTION TAKEN:
MOTION: Director Barnum motioned to authorize the General Manager to execute a one-

year contract with Mariposa Landscapes, Inc. for Landscape and Lawn Care 
Services for $19,896.36. Secretary/Treasurer Sear seconded the motion. Motion 
carried by the following roll call vote:
AYES: Barnum, Canero, Duran, Sear, Teague
NOES: None
MINUTE ORDER NO. 2023-3335

8.4 Authorize the General Manager to Execute a One-Year Contract for Janitorial Services for an 
Amount Not to Exceed $39,777.84

________________________________________________________________________________
On August 16, 2023, a Request for Proposals (RFP) was issued for Janitorial Services. Seven
proposals were received. The proposals were evaluated to ensure all the required 
information/documentation was submitted correctly. The proposals were sent to a panel for review and 
scoring. The proposals were evaluated utilizing a 100-point scoring system. Based on the panel review 
and scoring, Merchant Building Maintenance, Inc. submitted the most complete and accurate proposal.

ACTION TAKEN:
MOTION: Secretary/Treasurer Sear motioned to authorize the General Manager to execute 

a one-year contract with Merchant Building Maintenance, Inc. for Janitorial 
Services for $39,777.84. Vice President Duran seconded the motion. Motion 
carried by the following roll call vote:
AYES: Barnum, Canero, Duran, Sear, Teague
NOES: None
MINUTE ORDER NO. 2023-3336

8.5 Authorize General Manager to Execute Amendment #1 to a Professional Services Agreement 
with Soffa for Third Party Review of SCADA and PLC Plans as Provided by the Schnieder 
Electric Team for the Recycled Water Project – Phase 1

________________________________________________________________________________

16



4
Board Meeting of October 10, 2023                                                         Approved:

The Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition (SCADA) system allows for remote monitoring and 
control of the treatment equipment to ensure proper and continued operations. To ensure that the 
proposed SCADA and PLC upgrades as part of the Recycled Water Project – Phase 1 include the 
appropriate components to integrate the new system with the existing system, the services of a third-
party expert are needed. The District currently has a SCADA firm providing these technical services. 
Staff has asked Soffa (formerly Trimax) to provide a quote for the as-needed plan check and inspection 
needs. Trimax (now Soffa) has been the primary consultant for our SCADA system for several years 
and is responsible for most of VSD's SCADA system upgrades. Staff recommends the authorization to 
execute this amendment #1 to the Professionals Services Contract with Soffa for an amount not to 
exceed $40,000.

ACTION TAKEN:
MOTION: Director Teague motioned to authorize the General Manager to execute 

Amendment #1 to a Professional Services Agreement with Soffa for third-party 
review of SCADA and PLC plans as provided by Scheider Electric Team for an 
amount not to exceed $40,000. Vice President Duran seconded the motion. Motion 
carried by the following roll call vote:
AYES: Barnum, Canero, Duran, Sear, Teague
NOES: None
MINUTE ORDER NO. 2023-3337

8.6 Authorize Specific Directors to Attend the SCDA Special District Leadership Academy in 
Sonoma, California, and Reimburse Related Expenses and Cancel the Board Meeting of 
October 24, 2023

________________________________________________________________________________
Staff recommends that the Board of Directors authorize President Debra Canero, Secretary/Treasurer 
Sear, and Director Jacky Barnum to attend the CSDA Special District Leadership Academy (SDLA) on 
October 22-25, 2023, in Sonoma, California, and the reimbursement of related expenses. SDLA 
provides the knowledge base to perform essential governance responsibilities and is designed for new 
and experienced special district board members. Due to a lack of quorum, the Board Meeting scheduled 
for October 24, 2023, will need to be canceled. 

ACTION TAKEN:
MOTION: Vice President Duran motioned to authorize President Debra Canero, 

Secretary/Treasurer Scott Sear, and Director Jacky Barnum to attend the CSDA 
Special District Leadership Academy on October 22-25, 2023, in Sonoma, 
California, and the reimbursement of related expenses, and cancel the Board 
Meeting for October 24, 2023. Director Teague seconded the motion. Motion 
carried by the following roll call vote:
AYES: Barnum, Canero, Duran, Sear, Teague
NOES: None
MINUTE ORDER NO. 2023-3338

17



5
Board Meeting of October 10, 2023                                                         Approved:

The Board of Directors voted to add action items 8.7 and 8.8 to the agenda.

ACTION TAKEN:
MOTION: Vice President Duran motioned to add action items 8.7 to 8.8 to the agenda. 

Director Teague seconded the motion. Motion carried by the following roll call vote:
AYES: Barnum, Canero, Duran, Sear, Teague
NOES: None
MINUTE ORDER NO. 2023-3339

8.7 Authorize the Board President to Sign a Letter of Support for Indio Water Authority’s (IWA) Water 
Strategy Project

________________________________________________________________________________
The IWA Water Strategy Project seeks to fund the development of a comprehensive plan for Chromium-
6 removal using stannous chloride and a stannous chloride treatment pilot project. Removing 
Chromium-6 from drinking supplies in Indio and the Coachella Valley at large is a top priority for both 
IWA and Valley Sanitary District, as this contaminant can cause adverse health impacts.

ACTION TAKEN:
MOTION: Vice President Duran motioned to authorize the Board President to sign a Letter 

of Support for Indio Water Authority’s Water Strategy Project. Secretary/Treasurer 
Sear seconded the motion. Motion carried by the following roll call vote:
AYES: Barnum, Canero, Duran, Sear, Teague
NOES: None
MINUTE ORDER NO. 2023-3340

8.8 Authorize the Board President to Sign a Letter of Support for Coachella Valley Water District’s 
(CVWD) WaterSMART Drought Response Program: Drought Resiliency Projects Funding 
Opportunity for Fiscal Year 2024 for the Development of the Indio Subbasin Water Quality Model 
for the Coachella Valley Salt and Nutrient Management Plan

________________________________________________________________________________
Valley Sanitary District is one of eight Coachella Valley water and wastewater agencies collaborating
with CVWD to update the Coachella Valley Salt and Nutrient Management Plan (CV-SNMP), 
collectively, CV-SNMP Agencies. This Project is vital to developing an updated CV-SNMP, which will 
support the continued development of recycled water, management of salts and nutrients from all 
sources, including Colorado River water used to replenish the groundwater basin, and protection of 
groundwater resources for future generations.

ACTION TAKEN:
MOTION: Vice President Duran motioned to authorize the Board President to sign a Letter 

of Support for Coachella Valley Water District’s (CVWD) WaterSMART Drought 
Response Program: Drought Resiliency Projects Funding Opportunity for Fiscal 
Year 2024 Grant Application. Secretary/Treasurer Sear seconded the motion.
Motion carried by the following roll call vote:

18



6
Board Meeting of October 10, 2023                                                         Approved:

AYES: Barnum, Canero, Duran, Sear, Teague
NOES: None
MINUTE ORDER NO. 2023-3341

9. GENERAL MANAGER’S ITEMS

9.1 Receive Monthly General Managers Report for September 2023
________________________________________________________________________________
Jason Dafforn, General Manager, updated the Board on the Requa Avenue subsidence. The Staff has 
met with all parties involved, including the geotechnical team and the repairs are progressing. The 
District will utilize GRBCON to make the repairs. This item will be brought back to the Board after 
completion as a change order. Mr. Dafforn informed the Board of upcoming events. On November 2 is 
the Coachella State of the City at Veterans Memorial Park in Coachella from 8:00-10:00 a.m. On 
November 4 is the Dia De Los Muertos Event at the Coachella Valley History Museum from 5:00-9:00 
p.m. On November 9, the District is participating in the Indio State of the City as a Title Sponsor. The 
District will also have a table at the Expo. This event is at Fantasy Springs Casino from 10:30 a.m. to 
1:00 p.m. The District will participate in The Great Shake Out, a statewide earthquake drill, on October 
19. The District participated in the National Night Out hosted by the Indio Police Department. Mr. 
Dafforn thanked the Board for the opportunity to participate in the event and thanked Staff for their hard 
work in making it happen. The District currently has a Collection System Technician position open. The 
job posting will close on October 31, 2023. 

8. COMMITTEE REPORTS

8.1 Draft Minutes of the Operations Committee Meeting – October 3, 2023
________________________________________________________________________________
Chairperson Jacky Barnum gave an update on the October 3, 2023 Operations Committee meeting. 
Mario Luna, Laboratory Technician II, gave a presentation on laboratory calibration and verification 
practices. The committee also received an update on the Lystek Biosolids project and the updated 
sewer rate model. 

9. DIRECTOR’S ITEMS
________________________________________________________________________________
The Board of Directors thanked staff members Diego Rivera, Carlos Acevedo, Nick Castaneda, 
Branden Rodriguez, and Holly Gould for volunteering at the National Night Out event. 

10. INFORMATIONAL ITEMS

11. ADJOURNMENT
There being no further business to discuss, the meeting was adjourned at 2:06 p.m. The next regular
Board meeting will be on November 14, 2023.

19



7
Board Meeting of October 10, 2023                                                         Approved:

Respectfully submitted,

Holly Gould, Clerk of the Board
Valley Sanitary District

20



ITEM 7.2
ACTION

Suggested Action

Strategic Plan Compliance

Fiscal Impact

Environmental Review

Background

Recommendation

DATE: November 14, 2023

TO: Board of Directors

FROM: Jeanette Juarez, Chief Administrative Officer

SUBJECT:
APPROVE WARRANTS FOR NOVEMBER 14, 2023

Approve

GOAL 5: Long-Term Financial Strength

The total charges incurred for the warrants from October 3, 2023, through November 6, 2023, are
$1,710,024.91.

This item does not qualify as a project as defined by the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). 

The attached warrants list shows all disbursements from October 3, 2023, through November 6, 2023. 

Staff recommends that the Board of Directors approve the warrants for November 14, 2023.

 
Valley Sanitary District

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Attachments
7.2 Attachment A Warrants for November 14, 2023.pdf

21

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2275552/7.2_Attachment_A_Warrants_for_November_14__2023.pdf


41983 Badger Meter, Inc flowmeter 100-1000 cc air/min 141045 mag systems $192.56
41984 Charter Communications spetrum internet and voice - 9/26/2023-10/25/2023 $1,160.51
41985 Fulton Distributing Co. cutlery, towels, toilet screens, bleach $598.74
41986 Innovative Federal Strategies LLC retainer - sept 2023 $6,750.00
41987 Jeanette Juarez reimbursement of district expenses $66.82
41988 Mallory Safety & Supply LLC cal gas 100ppm $348.73
41989 Motion Industries, Inc. 6309-2rsjem ball bearing $159.73
41989 Motion Industries, Inc. YAS1 SGT pil blk hi vol ball brg mtd units $379.23
41990 Schneider Electric Buildings Americas, Inc amendment 2 RDT work - July/aug 2023 $52,430.27
41991 Superior Truck & Auto LLC kenworth t400 new brake shoes, drums, axle gaskets, gear oil $2,680.09
41992 Yellow Mart Scott Graham boot reimbursement $222.92
41994 Alliance Protection card reader access $250.00
41995 Andy Boyd DOT medical cdl renew $100.00
41996 Automation Pride furnish limit assembly, gate transformer $2,662.66
41996 Automation Pride gate 2 randomly closing issue $95.00
41997 Beck Oil, Inc. shell tellus s2 mx 46 solvent $324.19
41998 Best, Best & Krieger legal services - Sept 2023 $5,221.10
41998 Best, Best & Krieger Easement access - Sanchez property $1,288.00
41999 California Chemical sodium hypo - 10/04/2023 $12,651.57
42000 Caltest Analytical Laboratory monthly samples - 10/03/2023 $1,113.40
42001 Carquest Auto Parts new charges - 09302023 $1,234.70
42002 Cintas Corp uniforms, mats, towels etc - 09/28/2023 $598.19
42002 Cintas Corp uniforms, mats, towels etc - 10/05/2023 $551.51
42002 Cintas Corp uniforms, mats, towels etc - 10/12/2023 $532.84
42003 Desert Arc janitorial services - sept 2023 $3,500.36
42003 Desert Arc lanscaping - oct 2023 $840.00
42004 Desert Hose & Supply dj fire hose nst $321.68
42004 Desert Hose & Supply clearbraid tubing $7.88
42005 Diamond Environmental Services, LP portable restroom services - 10/02/2023-10/29/2023 $269.20
42006 ECS House Industries, Inc. bearings and seals $2,346.61
42007 EPIC IO Technologies, Inc services oct 2023 $199.35
42008 Franklin Truck Parts, Inc. comp fitting 3/8 plug $198.41
42009 Geotab USA, Inc telemetrics - sept 2023 $584.75
42010 GPE Controls, Inc. flare parts $4,189.52
42011 Lawson Products, Inc. terminals, screws, ties $275.70
42012 Master's Refreshment Services LLC water delivery - 10/02/2023 $65.58
42012 Master's Refreshment Services LLC bottle machine rental $176.18
42013 McMaster-Carr Supply Co. assembly lubricant $287.31
42013 McMaster-Carr Supply Co. SS hex screws, locknuts $186.81
42013 McMaster-Carr Supply Co. pipe fitting, various sizes $1,418.69
42013 McMaster-Carr Supply Co. hex head screw, cleaning deburring brush $143.41
42014 OpenGov, Inc Opengov software - 10/01/2023-9/30/2024 $15,588.00
42015 Pyro-Comm Systems service labor for fire panel $427.50
42016 Safety-Kleen Systems, Inc. parts washer service - 09/26/2023 $214.00
42017 SC Fuels fuel delivery - 10/03/2023 $5,867.31
42018 Schneider Electric Buildings Americas, Inc amendment 2 RST RWP - Sept 2023 $128,154.35
42019 South Coast A.Q.M.D FY 23-24 flat fee for last fy emissions $160.35
42019 South Coast A.Q.M.D Annual Biofilter permit fees - 11/15/2023-11/14/2024 $14,470.59
42020 Southwest Networks, Inc. lenovo thinkpads for SCADA (2) $6,622.88
42020 Southwest Networks, Inc. dome cameras (3) $3,860.63
42021 Superior Protection Consultants security - Sept 2023 $9,516.00
42022 Synagro West, LLC biosolids hauling - sept 2023 $14,062.37
42023 Underground Service Alert dig alerts - oct 2023 $192.00
42023 Underground Service Alert board fee - October 2023 $67.31
42024 Univar Solutions ferric - 09/29/2023 $2,985.19
42025 Van Dyke Corporation Retention payout $19,500.00
42026 WateReuse Association water reuse membership CY 2024 $4,347.00

202310041 Imperial Irrigation District Electricity - August 2023 $584.39
202310042 Verizon Wireless Cell phones - September 2023 $1,177.64
202310043 Associated Time On Demand AOD - Sept 2023 $302.76
202310051 City of Coachella Water - September 2023 $48.02
202310052 Grainger stick on reflector $10.63
202310052 Grainger heavy duty clamp $42.89
202310052 Grainger connector aluminum $38.80
202310052 Grainger impact socket set $455.89
202310052 Grainger solder wire $54.19
202310052 Grainger auto center punch $146.55
202310052 Grainger post top retrofit lamp $370.32
202310052 Grainger adapter, gasket, clamp $140.60
202310052 Grainger v belts, cogged v belts $97.57
202310052 Grainger safety glasses $32.89
202310052 Grainger remote starter switch $61.64
202310052 Grainger business card holder $39.53

DISBURSEMENTS
Approved at the Board Meeting of 

November 14, 2023

Page 1

22



202310053 Grainger breaker bar $114.93
202310053 Grainger pipe unthreaded, union socket $1,063.14
202310053 Grainger 90 elbow sch 80 $39.28
202310053 Grainger chain hight test $161.54
202310053 Grainger lockbox padlock $116.45
202310053 Grainger aspen pad $38.24
202310053 Grainger strut channel ss $453.93
202310053 Grainger ear muffs $1,477.60
202310053 Grainger corner connector $57.31
202310053 Grainger plug in cfl bulb $226.63
202310053 Grainger weighing dish $284.31
202310053 Grainger microscope slide white glass $98.97
202310054 Grainger svce rcd label $24.18
202310054 Grainger bulletin board $81.61
202310054 Grainger lincoln mig weldiing contact TI $33.21
202310054 Grainger mini pleat air filters $525.99
202310054 Grainger mouse wireless $49.83
202310054 Grainger thermocouple wire $264.29
202310054 Grainger rivet tool, die grinder, battery pack $1,057.31
202310054 Grainger microscope slide $32.15
202310054 Grainger v belt $12.00
202310054 Grainger clamp meter compact $183.33
202310054 Grainger air purification device $212.10
202310054 Grainger rplacement fluid pck 3 $162.78
202310056 Grainger twist on wire connector $63.66
202310056 Grainger hour meter $45.13
202310056 Grainger absorbent pad $231.97
202310056 Grainger rtv gasket maker $74.48
202310056 Grainger rtv gasket maker 2nd order $258.65
202310056 Grainger hps bulb ed17 $146.60
202310056 Grainger liquid glass thermometer $111.21
202310056 Grainger glass microfiber filter $277.25
202310061 Paychex - Direct Deposit PR 09/15/2023 - 09/28/2023 PD 10/06/2023 $100,841.22
202310062 Paychex - Fee PR 09/15/2023 - 09/28/2023 PD 10/06/2023 $268.97
202310063 Paychex - Garnishment PR 09/15/2023 - 09/28/2023 PD 10/06/2023 $360.46
202310064 Paychex - Tax PR 09/15/2023 - 09/28/2023 PD 10/06/2023 $47,761.63
202310065 Empower (formerly Mass Mutual) PR 09/15/2023 - 09/28/2023 PD 10/06/2023 $10.00
202310066 Mission Square (formerly ICMARC / Vantage Point) PR 09/15/2023 - 09/28/2023 PD 10/06/2023 $1,470.00
202310067 Nationwide Retirement Solution PR 09/15/2023 - 09/28/2023 PD 10/06/2023 $2,271.72
202310068 CalPERS 457 PR 09/15/2023 - 09/28/2023 PD 10/06/2023 $870.00
202310069 CalPERS Retirement PR 09/15/2023 - 09/28/2023 PD 10/06/2023 $27,737.03
202310101 Indio Water Authority Water - August 2023 $1,836.26
202310102 Burrtec Waste & Recycling Svcs Grit removal - September 2023 $2,748.99
202310103 Burrtec Waste & Recycling Svcs Trash service - Ocrober 2023 $358.43
202310104 SPOK, Inc. Pager service - October 2023 $26.40
202310121 Grainger penetrant, aerosol $132.08
202310121 Grainger battery alkaline $47.74
202310121 Grainger cam and groove adapter $70.37
202310121 Grainger combination wrench $217.44
202310131 FedEx shipping charges - 09/21/2023 $17.50
202310131 FedEx shipping charges - 10/04/2023 $413.14
202310139 Frontier Communications Telephone service - October 2023 $417.63
202310151 Umpqua Bank Credit card statement - September 2023 $20,706.38
202310171 SoCal Gas Gas service - September 2023 $183.16
202310201 Paychex - Direct Deposit PR 09/29/2023 - 10/12/2023 PD 10/20/2023 $100,627.64
202310202 Paychex - Fee PR 09/29/2023 - 10/12/2023 PD 10/20/2023 $268.97
202310203 Paychex - Garnishment PR 09/29/2023 - 10/12/2023 PD 10/20/2023 $360.46
202310204 Paychex - Tax PR 09/29/2023 - 10/12/2023 PD 10/20/2023 $46,399.05
202310205 Mission Square (formerly ICMARC / Vantage Point) PR 09/29/2023 - 10/12/2023 PD 10/20/2023 $1,470.00
202310206 CalPERS 457 PR 09/29/2023 - 10/12/2023 PD 10/20/2023 $820.00
202310207 CalPERS Retirement PR 09/29/2023 - 10/12/2023 PD 10/20/2023 $27,748.25
202310208 Nationwide Retirement Solution PR 09/29/2023 - 10/12/2023 PD 10/20/2023 $2,421.72
202310209 Empower (formerly Mass Mutual) PR 09/29/2023 - 10/12/2023 PD 10/20/2023 $10.00

42027 Automation Pride furnish control board $1,065.83
42028 California Association of Sanitation Agencies membership renewal - CY 2024 $18,540.00
42029 Calif. Special District Association CSDA membership - CY 2024 $9,175.00
42030 Caltest Analytical Laboratory quarterly samples - 11/02/2023 $288.80
42030 Caltest Analytical Laboratory monthly samples - 10/20/2023 $1,113.40
42030 Caltest Analytical Laboratory chlorpyrifos study - 10/20/2023 $475.00
42031 Charter Communications spectrum 10/26/2023-11/25/2023 $1,163.76
42032 Cintas Corp uniforms, mats, towels, etc - 10/19/2023 $584.16
42033 Consolidated Electrical Distributors, Inc. tap connection, tape measure $114.20
42034 Daniels Tire Service, Inc. atv tires $306.41
42035 Davis Farr LLP first billing annual audit - June 30 2023 $18,000.00
42036 Desert Hose & Supply hose assembly, connections $140.42
42036 Desert Hose & Supply dust caps, pvc $307.29
42037 Desert Landscape Line scalping and reseeding of VSD lawns $1,800.00
42038 Diamond Environmental Services, LP portable restroom services - 10/30/2023-11/26/2023 $269.20

Page 2

23



42039 Downing Construction, Inc retention payment $150,183.71
42040 E.S. Babcock & Sons, Inc. cyanide monthly - 10/25/2023 $169.86
42040 E.S. Babcock & Sons, Inc. cyanide -09/20/2023 $169.86
42040 E.S. Babcock & Sons, Inc. biosolids - 11/05/2023 $523.58
42041 Eberhard Equipment filters, bolt wheel $627.68
42042 Fluid Components International LLC calibrate flow meters $2,735.86
42042 Fluid Components International LLC repair gas flow meter, recalibrate $3,037.50
42043 Foster-Gardner, Inc. glystar 2.5 gallon $406.99
42044 George Petersen Insurance Agency endorsement, admin fee 7/1/2023-4/1/2024 $426.00
42045 Geotab USA, Inc vehicle telemetrics - oct 2023 $583.25
42046 Grainger 2W929 gen purpose relay, 6CVZ9 gen purpose relay $387.29
42047 Granicus, LLC Granicus subscription - 11/15/2023-11/14/2024 $10,420.83
42048 GRBCON, Inc Downtown Indio sewer project - 9/20/2023-10/25/2023 $289,725.87
42049 Harris & Associates PADM coll sys maint ph 5 - sept 2023 $71,859.98
42050 IDEXX Distribution, Inc. vessels w st and sb 200 pack $269.00
42051 Industrial Filter Manufacturers, Inc. primary panel element $3,518.55
42052 Innovative Document Solutions canon copier maint - sept 2023 $87.11
42053 Interstate All Battery Center batteries $417.11
42054 Jason Dafforn SDLF conference reimbursement $672.18
42055 JM Test Systems, LLC test gloves $399.81
42056 Master's Refreshment Services LLC water delivery - 10/30/2023 $537.50
42056 Master's Refreshment Services LLC water delivery -10/16/2023 $88.00
42057 McMaster-Carr Supply Co. pipe fittings for stock $721.43
42057 McMaster-Carr Supply Co. machine key $176.57
42057 McMaster-Carr Supply Co. zinc plated pegboard hook $51.72
42058 Mobile Modular Management Corp office trailer rental - 10/04/2023-11/02/2023 $655.15
42059 Motion Industries, Inc. gasket seal 1.75 $1.89
42059 Motion Industries, Inc. site plug $37.52
42059 Motion Industries, Inc. gear reducer repair parts $279.13
42059 Motion Industries, Inc. gear reducer parts, power transmission $923.20
42059 Motion Industries, Inc. raptor element e20 $831.69
42059 Motion Industries, Inc. raptor element e20 $547.71
42060 NBS Government Finance Group rate study capacity fee - through sept 2023 $4,095.00
42061 NeoGov governmentjobs.com 2/14/2024-2/13/2025 $10,636.45
42062 Plumbers Depot Inc. cues camera repairs $1,645.84
42063 Polydyne, Inc. polymer delivery - 10/18/2023 $4,271.63
42064 Pyro-Comm Systems fire alarm monitoring - 11/01/2023-01/30/2024 $135.00
42065 Ronald Buchwald Water distribution certification renewal reimbursement $105.00
42066 Southwest Networks, Inc. guardian it managed 10/01/2023-12/31/2023 $216.00
42066 Southwest Networks, Inc. guardian bdr - nov 2023 $699.00
42066 Southwest Networks, Inc. replacement pc $1,419.19
42067 Staples Advantage new purchases - oct 2023 $1,108.45
42068 State Water Resources Control Board recycled water review - FY 2022-2023 $730.40
42069 Superior Protection Consultants security patrol - oct 2023 $9,672.00
42070 Superior Truck & Auto LLC inspect wench $175.00
42070 Superior Truck & Auto LLC pressure switch, labor, miles $1,005.49
42071 Swains Electric Motor Service flygt pump, overhaul $9,718.35
42072 Tops 'N Barricades   Inc. temp business sign $33.17
42072 Tops 'N Barricades   Inc. paint flow green marking $147.47
42072 Tops 'N Barricades   Inc. signs, decals, sheeting, safe glass $153.99
42072 Tops 'N Barricades   Inc. signs and decals $471.43
42072 Tops 'N Barricades   Inc. monitored signs $119.08
42073 United Refrigeration Inc. float valve $278.44
42074 United Way of the Desert PR 10/13/2023 - 10/26/2023 PD 11/03/2023 $20.00
42074 United Way of the Desert PR 09/29/2023 - 10/12/2023 PD 10/20/2023 $20.00
42075 Univar Solutions sodium bisulfite - 10/30/2023 $6,472.43
42075 Univar Solutions ferric - 10/27/2023 $2,985.19
42076 USA Blue Book deionized water 99ml $203.14
42076 USA Blue Book showa biodegradable disposable 332158 $13.70
42076 USA Blue Book kimwipes disposable wipes $273.31
42076 USA Blue Book nitrate tnt+ $1,370.65
42077 Valley Office Equipment, Inc sharp maint - 9/13/2023-10/12/2023 $206.04
42078 Willdan Financial Services AD 2004-VSD $4,500.00

202310232 Standard Insurance Company Vision and Health insurance - November 2023 $4,800.12
202310241 CalPERS Health Health insurance - November 2023 $54,450.50
202310251 Rudy's Pest Control general pest - Oct 2023 $200.00
202310301 Colonial Life PR 09/15/2023 - 09/28/2023 PD 10/06/2023 $1,057.73
202310301 Colonial Life PR 09/29/2023 - 10/12/2023 PD 10/20/2023 $1,057.73
202310302 UPS pickup fee - 10/14/2023 $9.26
202310303 FedEx shipping charges - 10/02/2023 $379.11
202310303 FedEx shipping charges - 10/16/2023 $271.77
202310303 FedEx shipping charges - 10/17/2023 $71.61
202310311 Domino Solar LTD Electricity - September 2023 $6,296.12
202310312 Imperial Irrigation District Electricity - September 2023 $65,312.19
202310313 UPS shipping fees - 10/12/2023 $218.92
202310314 Grainger mechanics gloves $33.05
202310314 Grainger mini pleat air filter $426.09
202310314 Grainger photocontrol locking $307.13

Page 3

24



202310314 Grainger bolt cutter 30" $100.39
202310314 Grainger compact ball valve pvc $225.94
202310314 Grainger pcv ball valve inline socket $31.11
202310314 Grainger hand ratchet, hex bit set, storage clipboard $333.38
202310314 Grainger lighted rocker switches $10.96
202310314 Grainger liquid in glass thermometer $154.12
202310319 Basic Funds withdrawn - 10/31/2023 $219.33
202311011 Standard Insurance Company Life and disability insurance - November 2023 $1,914.14
202311012 De Lage Landen Financial Services, Inc Sharp lease - Oct 2023 $212.07
202311019 CalPERS Retirement PR 10/13/2023 - 10/26/2023 PD 11/03/2023 $27,737.77
202311030 Grainger leather gloves $65.97
202311030 Grainger keyed padlock, thread sealant tape $243.32
202311030 Grainger UPS system 12.1 min 426N96 $284.84
202311030 Grainger standby 850.0VA 13J029 $172.76
202311030 Grainger fuse class cc 7A 1CX66 $180.41
202311030 Grainger 6CWA3 Gen purpose relay 8 pin $143.30
202311030 Grainger leather gloves $130.73
202311030 Grainger HMIG label paper, hanging stack bin $103.93
202311030 Grainger steel sockets $37.36
202311031 Paychex - Direct Deposit PR 10/13/2023 - 10/26/2023 PD 11/03/2023 $98,740.90
202311032 Paychex - Fee PR 10/13/2023 - 10/26/2023 PD 11/03/2023 $56.92
202311033 Paychex - Garnishment PR 10/13/2023 - 10/26/2023 PD 11/03/2023 $360.46
202311034 Paychex - Tax PR 10/13/2023 - 10/26/2023 PD 11/03/2023 $45,972.35
202311035 Mission Square (formerly ICMARC / Vantage Point) PR 10/13/2023 - 10/26/2023 PD 11/03/2023 $1,470.00
202311036 Nationwide Retirement Solution PR 10/13/2023 - 10/26/2023 PD 11/03/2023 $2,446.72
202311037 Empower (formerly Mass Mutual) PR 10/13/2023 - 10/26/2023 PD 11/03/2023 $10.00
202311038 CalPERS 457 PR 10/13/2023 - 10/26/2023 PD 11/03/2023 $820.00
202311041 Verizon Wireless Cell phones - October 2023 $1,577.87
202311061 Indio Water Authority Water - September 2023 $522.00

Total $1,710,024.91

Page 4

25



ITEM 7.3
ACTION

Suggested Action

Strategic Plan Compliance

Fiscal Impact

Environmental Review

Background

Recommendation

DATE: November 14, 2023

TO: Board of Directors

FROM: Jeanette Juarez, Chief Administrative Officer

SUBJECT: CREDIT CARD REPORT FOR THE PERIOD ENDING SEPTEMBER 30,
2023

Approve

GOAL 5: Long-Term Financial Strength

The total charges incurred for the credit card statement ending September, 2023, are $20,706.38.

This item does not qualify as a project as defined by the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA).  

The attached report summarizes the District’s credit card expenditures for the statement ending
September 30, 2023. 

Approve the credit card report for the period September 30, 2023.

 
Valley Sanitary District

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Attachments
7.3 Attachment A Credit Card Transaction September 2023.xlsx
7.3 Attachment B UMQUA Credit Card Statement September_Redacted.pdf

26

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2269622/7.3_Attachment_A_Credit_Card_Transaction_September_2023.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2269623/7.3_Attachment_B_UMQUA_Credit_Card_Statement_September_Redacted.pdf


Diverted From Cardholder 
Name

Tran Date Post Date Merchant Name MCC Description Debits Credits

ANNA BELL 9/14/2023 9/15/2023 AMZN Mktp US*TX7OL8ZN2 Book Stores $17.84
ANNA BELL 9/14/2023 9/15/2023 AMZN Mktp US*TR5EO4VC1 Book Stores $18.90
ANNA BELL 9/13/2023 9/14/2023 The Webstaurant Store Inc Durable Goods Not Elsewhere Classified $391.28
ANNA BELL 9/12/2023 9/13/2023 FD *CA DMV VFC *SVC Government Services Not Elsewhere Clas $0.02
ANNA BELL 9/12/2023 9/13/2023 FD *CA DMV VFC *SVC Government Services Not Elsewhere Clas $0.02
ANNA BELL 9/12/2023 9/13/2023 FD *CA DMV VFC Government Services Not Elsewhere Clas $1.00
ANNA BELL 9/12/2023 9/13/2023 FD *CA DMV VFC Government Services Not Elsewhere Clas $1.00
BRANDEN RODRIGUEZ 9/28/2023 9/29/2023 SQ *TKB BAKERY & DELI Express Payment Services (Fast Food) $201.41
BRANDEN RODRIGUEZ 9/20/2023 9/20/2023 AMZN Mktp US*TX2TE0TH1 Book Stores $16.26
BRANDEN RODRIGUEZ 8/31/2023 9/1/2023 CALIFORNIA WATER ENVIRON Membership Organizations Not Elsewher $221.00
BRANDEN RODRIGUEZ 8/31/2023 9/1/2023 CALIFORNIA WATER ENVIRON Membership Organizations Not Elsewher $221.00
BRANDEN RODRIGUEZ 8/31/2023 9/1/2023 CALIFORNIA WATER ENVIRON Membership Organizations Not Elsewher $221.00
BRANDEN RODRIGUEZ 8/31/2023 9/1/2023 CALIFORNIA WATER ENVIRON Membership Organizations Not Elsewher $98.00
DAVE COMMONS 9/15/2023 9/17/2023 SP HOSEWAREHOUSE.COM Industrial Supplies Not Elsewhere Clas $71.82
DAVE COMMONS 9/12/2023 9/13/2023 AMZN Mktp US*TR0WA69A2 Book Stores $10.86
DAVE COMMONS 9/6/2023 9/7/2023 AMZN Mktp US*TL7Y31IU2 Book Stores $9.78
DAVE COMMONS 9/3/2023 9/4/2023 ADOBE *ACROPRO SUBS Computer Software $19.99
DAVE COMMONS 9/1/2023 9/3/2023 OWPSACSTATE Civic Social & Fraternal Associations $125.25
DAVE COMMONS 9/2/2023 9/3/2023 ONO-067 (INDIO) Eating Places Restaurants $20.30
DEBRA CANERO 8/31/2023 9/3/2023 PORTOLA HOTEL AND SPA Hotels Motels Resorts - Lodging $672.02
EDUARDO LUNA 9/26/2023 9/28/2023 REECE PLUMBING-2020 Industrial Supplies Not Elsewhere Clas $98.75
EDUARDO LUNA 9/6/2023 9/8/2023 REECE PLUMBING-2020 Industrial Supplies Not Elsewhere Clas $31.57
HEBERTO MORENO 9/27/2023 9/29/2023 THE HOME DEPOT #6874 Home Supply Warehouse Stores $6.80
HEBERTO MORENO 9/20/2023 9/21/2023 CALIFORNIA WATER ENVIRON Membership Organizations Not Elsewher $113.00
HOLLY GOULD 9/27/2023 9/28/2023 GOVERNMENT FINANCE OFFIC Membership Organizations Not Elsewher $345.00
HOLLY GOULD 9/27/2023 9/28/2023 Caeconomy.org Political Organizations Including Con $300.00
HOLLY GOULD 9/26/2023 9/27/2023 WAL-MART #2181 Grocery Stores Supermarkets $54.55
HOLLY GOULD 9/26/2023 9/26/2023 AMZN Mktp US*T12YI8XE0 Book Stores $141.36
HOLLY GOULD 9/20/2023 9/21/2023 WATEREUSE ASSOCIATION Membership Organizations Not Elsewher $675.00
HOLLY GOULD 9/20/2023 9/20/2023 AMZN Mktp US*TX9PV0SD0 Book Stores $31.51
HOLLY GOULD 9/14/2023 9/15/2023 QGV*College Of the Desert Charitable And Social Service Organiza $2,500.00
HOLLY GOULD 9/13/2023 9/15/2023 GG *COACHELLA VALLEY H Charitable And Social Service Organiza $2,500.00
HOLLY GOULD 9/13/2023 9/14/2023 PAYPAL *CALPELRA Civic Social & Fraternal Associations $852.00
HOLLY GOULD 9/12/2023 9/13/2023 WAL-MART #2181 Grocery Stores Supermarkets $35.36
HOLLY GOULD 9/8/2023 9/8/2023 PANERA BREAD #601254 O Express Payment Services (Fast Food) $702.64
HOLLY GOULD 9/7/2023 9/8/2023 WATEREUSE ASSOCIATION Membership Organizations Not Elsewher $1,150.00
HOLLY GOULD 9/6/2023 9/7/2023 COSTCO WHSE #0638 Wholesale Clubs $224.99
HOLLY GOULD 9/5/2023 9/6/2023 WAL-MART #2181 Grocery Stores Supermarkets $84.79
HOLLY GOULD 9/1/2023 9/3/2023 AMZN Mktp US*TL0PU54J0 Book Stores $69.59
JASON DAFFORN 9/28/2023 9/29/2023 THE VINTAGE COFFEE HOUSE Eating Places Restaurants $11.27
JASON DAFFORN 9/27/2023 9/28/2023 HEIRLOOM CRAFT KITCHEN Eating Places Restaurants $109.87
JASON DAFFORN 9/18/2023 9/20/2023 LA CASITA MEXICAN GRILL # Eating Places Restaurants $28.37
JASON DAFFORN 9/13/2023 9/14/2023 GCVCC Membership Organizations Not Elsewher $99.00
JASON DAFFORN 8/31/2023 9/3/2023 PORTOLA HOTEL AND SPA Hotels Motels Resorts - Lodging $595.37
JASON DAFFORN 8/31/2023 9/1/2023 PALM SPRINGS AIRPORT Transportation Services Not Elsewhere $80.00
JASON DAFFORN 8/30/2023 9/1/2023 ROCKFISH HARBOR GRILL Eating Places Restaurants $181.40
JEANETTE JUAREZ 9/28/2023 9/29/2023 SQ *TKB BAKERY & DELI Express Payment Services (Fast Food) $19.01
JEANETTE JUAREZ 9/28/2023 9/29/2023 CSMFO Membership Organizations Not Elsewher $150.00
JEANETTE JUAREZ 9/20/2023 9/21/2023 AMZN Mktp US*T15X21F42 Book Stores $71.75
JEANETTE JUAREZ 9/20/2023 9/21/2023 AMZN Mktp US*TX4O42AL1 Book Stores $73.74
JEANETTE JUAREZ 9/19/2023 9/20/2023 J2 EFAX SERVICES Continuity/Subscription Merchants $18.99
JEANETTE JUAREZ 9/11/2023 9/12/2023 AMZN Mktp US*TR1YU8Z61 Book Stores $58.97
JEANETTE JUAREZ 9/5/2023 9/7/2023 AROUND THE CLOCK CALL CTR Miscellaneous & Specialty Retail Store $169.30
JEANETTE JUAREZ 9/3/2023 9/4/2023 ADOBE *ACROPRO SUBS Computer Software $263.89
JIMMY GARCIA 9/18/2023 9/20/2023 THE HOME DEPOT #6874 Home Supply Warehouse Stores $145.26
JIMMY GARCIA 9/19/2023 9/20/2023 VALLEY LOCK AND SAFE Business Services Not Elsewhere Classi $9.62
JIMMY GARCIA 9/14/2023 9/17/2023 A.C. HOUSTON LUMBER INDIO Construction Materials Not Else Where $73.97
JIMMY GARCIA 9/14/2023 9/17/2023 THE HOME DEPOT 6874 Home Supply Warehouse Stores $283.85
JIMMY GARCIA 9/5/2023 9/6/2023 SMART AND FINAL 718 Grocery Stores Supermarkets $253.45
JIMMY GARCIA 9/1/2023 9/3/2023 SCELZI EQUIPMENT INC. Automotive Parts Accessories Stores $337.89
MIKE DURAN 8/31/2023 9/3/2023 PORTOLA HOTEL AND SPA Hotels Motels Resorts - Lodging $10.93
MIKE DURAN 8/31/2023 9/3/2023 PORTOLA HOTEL AND SPA Hotels Motels Resorts - Lodging $700.38
SCOTT SEAR 8/31/2023 9/3/2023 ARCO #42924 AMPM Automated Gasoline Dispensers $98.87
SCOTT SEAR 8/31/2023 9/3/2023 PARKING METERS (POM) Automobile Parking Lots And Garages $6.00
SCOTT SEAR 8/31/2023 9/3/2023 PORTOLA HOTEL AND SPA Hotels Motels Resorts - Lodging $689.45
SCOTT SEAR 9/2/2023 9/3/2023 COSTCO GAS #0638 Automated Gasoline Dispensers $74.54
TINO TIJERINA 9/21/2023 9/24/2023 ZORO TOOLS INC Industrial Supplies Not Elsewhere Clas $274.01
TINO TIJERINA 9/21/2023 9/24/2023 THE HOME DEPOT #6874 Home Supply Warehouse Stores $56.48
TINO TIJERINA 9/22/2023 9/24/2023 RADWELL INTERNATIONAL Electrical Parts And Equipment $403.89
TINO TIJERINA 9/20/2023 9/22/2023 THE HOME DEPOT #6874 Home Supply Warehouse Stores $167.89
TINO TIJERINA 9/20/2023 9/22/2023 ONO-067 (INDIO) Eating Places Restaurants $121.91
TINO TIJERINA 9/20/2023 9/21/2023 SQ *UNIQUE BITE EATERY Miscellaneous Food Stores - Specialty $33.14
TINO TIJERINA 9/19/2023 9/21/2023 KSC & SON CORPORATION - G Car Washes $12.00
TINO TIJERINA 9/19/2023 9/20/2023 INDIOCA*MISC GOV Government Services Not Elsewhere Clas $272.57
TINO TIJERINA 9/19/2023 9/20/2023 TYL*INDIO SERV FEE Government Services Not Elsewhere Clas $8.18
TINO TIJERINA 9/19/2023 9/20/2023 VALLEY LOCK AND SAFE Business Services Not Elsewhere Classi $144.96
TINO TIJERINA 9/18/2023 9/20/2023 THE HOME DEPOT 6874 Home Supply Warehouse Stores $556.05
TINO TIJERINA 9/18/2023 9/19/2023 TYL*INDIO SERV FEE Government Services Not Elsewhere Clas $2.50
TINO TIJERINA 9/18/2023 9/19/2023 INDIOCA*MISC GOV Government Services Not Elsewhere Clas $76.69
TINO TIJERINA 9/12/2023 9/14/2023 THE HOME DEPOT #6874 Home Supply Warehouse Stores $126.45
TINO TIJERINA 9/11/2023 9/12/2023 VALLEY LOCK AND SAFE Business Services Not Elsewhere Classi $33.60
TINO TIJERINA 9/7/2023 9/8/2023 DESERT ELECTRIC-INDIO Electrical Parts And Equipment $69.13
TINO TIJERINA 9/7/2023 9/8/2023 SMART AND FINAL 718 Grocery Stores Supermarkets $34.72
TINO TIJERINA 9/6/2023 9/7/2023 ZORO TOOLS INC Industrial Supplies Not Elsewhere Clas $14.62
TINO TIJERINA 9/1/2023 9/3/2023 WM SUPERCENTER #2181 Grocery Stores Supermarkets $7.85
TINO TIJERINA 9/1/2023 9/3/2023 WAL-MART #2181 Grocery Stores Supermarkets $12.89
TINO TIJERINA 8/30/2023 9/3/2023 CHEMWORLD Chemicals And Allied Products Not Else $928.76
TINO TIJERINA 9/1/2023 9/3/2023 TARGET 00018671 Discount Stores $108.84
TINO TIJERINA 9/1/2023 9/3/2023 OFFICEMAX/DEPOT 6753 Stationery Office & School Supply Sto $10.86
TINO TIJERINA 8/31/2023 9/1/2023 ALLIED REFRIGERATION #7 Hardware Equipment And Supplies $345.59
TINO TIJERINA 8/30/2023 9/1/2023 KSC & SON CORPORATION - G Car Washes $12.00

9/10/2023 9/10/2023 AUTO PMT FROM ACCT Payment Adjustment Fee or Finance Charge ($22,140.90)
Total $20,706.38 ($22,140.90)

27



28



55150 - 53208  

Please provide a legal document evidencing your name change, such as a court document.
Please use blue or black ink to complete form

NAME CHANGE Last

First Middle

ADDRESS CHANGE Street

City State ZIP Code

Home Phone ( ) - Business Phone ( ) -

Cell Phone ( ) - E-mail Address

SIGNATURE REQUIRED
TO AUTHORIZE CHANGES Signature
SIGNATURE REQUIRED
TO AUTHORIZE CHANGES Signature

55150 - 53208  

IMPORTANT INFORMATION

Finance Charge Calculation Methods and Computation of Average Daily Balance Subject to Finance Charge: The Finance Charge Calculation Method
applicable to your account for Cash Advances and Credit Purchases of goods and services that you obtain through the use of your card is specified on the
front side of this statement and explained below: 

Method A - Average Daily Balance (including current transactions): The Finance Charge on purchases begins on the date the transaction posted to your
account.  The Finance Charge on Cash Advances begins on the date you obtained the cash advance, or the first day of the billing cycle within which it is
posted to your account, whichever is later. There is no grace period.

The Finance Charges for a billing cycle are computed by applying the Periodic Rate to the ˜average daily balance™ of your account. To get the average daily
balance, we take the beginning balance of your account each day, add any new purchases or cash advances, and subtract any payments, credits,
non-accruing fees, and unpaid finance charges. This gives us the daily balance. Then we add up all the daily balances for the billing cycle and divide the total
by the number of days in the billing cycle. 

Method E - Average Daily Balance (excluding current transactions): To avoid incurring an additional Finance Charge on the balance of purchases (and cash
advances if Method E is specified as applicable to cash advances) reflected on your monthly statement, you must pay the New Balance shown on your
monthly statement on or before the Payment Due Date. The grace period for the New Balance of purchases extends to the Payment Due Date.

The Finance Charges for a billing cycle are computed by applying the Periodic Rate to the ˜average daily balance™ of purchases (and if applicable, cash
advances). To get the average daily balance, we take the beginning balance of your account each day and subtract any payments, credits, non-accruing fees,
and unpaid finance charges. We do not add in any new purchases or cash advances. This gives us the daily balance. Then we add up all the daily balances
for the billing cycle and divide the total by the number of days in the billing cycle. 

Method G - Average Daily Balance (including current transactions): To avoid incurring an additional Finance Charge on the balance of purchases (and cash
advances, if Method G is specified as applicable to cash advances) reflected on your monthly statement and, on any new purchases (and if applicable, cash
advances) appearing on your next monthly statement, you must pay the New Balance, shown on your monthly statement, on or before the Payment Due Date.
The grace period for the New Balance of purchases extends to the Payment Due Date.

The Finance Charges for a billing cycle are computed by applying the Periodic Rate to the ˜average daily balance™ of purchases (and if applicable, cash
advances). To get the average daily balance, we take the beginning balance of your account each day, add any new purchases or cash advances, and
subtract any payments, credits, non-accruing fees, and unpaid finance charges. This gives us the daily balance. Then we add up all the daily balances for the
billing cycle and divide the total by the number of days in the billing cycle.

Payment Crediting and Credit Balance: Payments received at the location specified on the front of the statement after the phrase ˜MAKE CHECK PAYABLE
TO™ will be credited to the account specified on the payment coupon as of the date of receipt. Payments received at a different location or payments that do
not conform to the requirements set forth on or with the periodic statement (e.g. missing payment stub, payment envelope other than as provided with your
statement, multiple checks or multiple coupons in the same envelope) may be subject to delay in crediting, but shall be credited within five days of receipt. If
there is a credit balance due on your account, you may request in writing, a full refund. Submit your request to the Account Inquiries address on the front of
this statement.

By sending your check, you are authorizing the use of the information on your check to make a one-time electronic debit from the account on which the check
is drawn. This electronic debit, which may be posted to your account as early as the date your check is received, will be only for the amount of your check.
The original check will be destroyed and we will retain the image in our records. If you have questions please call the customer service number on the front of
this billing statement.

Closing Date: The closing date is the last day of the billing cycle; all transactions received after the closing date will appear on your next statement.

Annual Fee: If your account has been assessed an annual fee, you may avoid paying this annual fee by sending written notification of termination within 30
days following the mailing date of this bill. Submit your request to the Account Inquiries address on the front of this statement. You may use your card(s)
during this 30 day period but immediately thereafter must send your card(s), which you have cut in half, to this same address.

Negative Credit Reports: You are hereby notified that a negative credit report reflecting on your credit record may be submitted to a credit reporting agency if
you fail to fulfill the terms of your credit obligations. 

BILLING RIGHTS SUMMARY
In Case of Errors or Inquiries About Your Bill: If you suspect there is an error on your account or you need information about a transaction on your bill, send
your written inquiry to the Account Inquiries address on the front of this statement within 60 days of the date of the statement containing the transaction in
question.  You may telephone us, however a written request is required to preserve your rights.

In your letter, give us the following information: 
¨ Your name and account number. 
¨ The dollar amount of the suspected error. 
¨ Describe the error and explain, if you can, why you believe there is an error. If you need more information, describe the item you are unsure about.

You do not have to pay any amount in question while we are investigating, but you are still obligated to pay the parts of your bill that are not in question. While
we investigate your question, we cannot report you as delinquent or take any action to collect the amount you question. 

29



30



55150 - 53208  

Page  4  of  6

 Cardholder Account Summary

SCOTT SEAR
#### #### #### 6109

Payments & Other
Credits
$0.00

Purchases & Other
Charges
$868.86

Cash Advances

$0.00

Total Activity

$868.86

 Cardholder Account Detail
Trans Date Post Date Plan Name Reference Number Description Amount

09/02 09/03 PPLN01 24943003246898090187662 COSTCO GAS #0638 LA QUINTA CA $74.54
08/31 09/03 PPLN01 24034543244000076325146 ARCO #42924 AMPM BAKERSFIELD CA $98.87
08/31 09/03 PPLN01 24000973244350911657297 PORTOLA HOTEL AND SPA MONTEREY CA $689.45
08/31 09/03 PPLN01 24493983244694200260815 PARKING METERS (POM) 8316463953 CA $6.00

 Cardholder Account Summary

EDUARDO LUNA
#### #### #### 9557

Payments & Other
Credits
$0.00

Purchases & Other
Charges
$130.32

Cash Advances

$0.00

Total Activity

$130.32

 Cardholder Account Detail
Trans Date Post Date Plan Name Reference Number Description Amount

09/06 09/08 PPLN01 24941683250081298598519 REECE PLUMBING-2020 INDIO CA $31.57
09/26 09/28 PPLN01 24941683270081099662908 REECE PLUMBING-2020 INDIO CA $98.75

 Cardholder Account Summary

BRANDEN RODRIGUEZ
#### #### #### 9565

Payments & Other
Credits
$0.00

Purchases & Other
Charges
$978.67

Cash Advances

$0.00

Total Activity

$978.67

 Cardholder Account Detail
Trans Date Post Date Plan Name Reference Number Description Amount

08/31 09/01 PPLN01 24801973244690661894264 CALIFORNIA WATER ENVIRON 510-382-7800
CA 

$98.00

08/31 09/01 PPLN01 24801973244690661968589 CALIFORNIA WATER ENVIRON 510-382-7800
CA 

$221.00

08/31 09/01 PPLN01 24801973244690661985286 CALIFORNIA WATER ENVIRON 510-382-7800
CA 

$221.00

08/31 09/01 PPLN01 24801973244690662009367 CALIFORNIA WATER ENVIRON 510-382-7800
CA 

$221.00

09/20 09/20 PPLN01 24692163263102454074100 AMZN Mktp US*TX2TE0TH1 Amzn.com/bill WA $16.26
09/28 09/29 PPLN01 24692163271109305199432 SQ *TKB BAKERY & DELI gosq.com CA $201.41

 Cardholder Account Summary

HOLLY GOULD
#### #### #### 7260

Payments & Other
Credits
$0.00

Purchases & Other
Charges
$9,666.79

Cash Advances

$0.00

Total Activity

$9,666.79

 Cardholder Account Detail
Trans Date Post Date Plan Name Reference Number Description Amount

09/01 09/03 PPLN01 24692163244100289603097 AMZN Mktp US*TL0PU54J0 Amzn.com/bill WA $69.59
09/05 09/06 PPLN01 24226383249091000457562 WAL-MART #2181 INDIO CA $84.79
09/06 09/07 PPLN01 24943003250898000043800 COSTCO WHSE #0638 LA QUINTA CA $224.99
09/08 09/08 PPLN01 24692163251102880052468 PANERA BREAD #601254 O 760-564-3750 CA $702.64
09/07 09/08 PPLN01 24013393250000732178323 WATEREUSE ASSOCIATION 571-4455502 VA $1,150.00
09/12 09/13 PPLN01 24226383256360296429480 WAL-MART #2181 INDIO CA $35.36
09/13 09/14 PPLN01 24492153256852787133963 PAYPAL *CALPELRA 925-400-6320 CA $852.00
09/13 09/15 PPLN01 24388943257630124560183 GG *COACHELLA VALLEY H 503-5970395 CA $2,500.00
09/14 09/15 PPLN01 24906413257182737352597 QGV*College Of the Desert 760-7732561 CA $2,500.00
09/20 09/20 PPLN01 24692163263102538276663 AMZN Mktp US*TX9PV0SD0 Amzn.com/bill WA $31.51
09/20 09/21 PPLN01 24013393263002163127139 WATEREUSE ASSOCIATION 571-4455502 VA $675.00
09/26 09/26 PPLN01 24692163269107216881258 AMZN Mktp US*T12YI8XE0 Amzn.com/bill WA $141.36
09/26 09/27 PPLN01 24226383270091000871863 WAL-MART #2181 INDIO CA $54.55
09/27 09/28 PPLN01 24426293270027017433833 Caeconomy.org 916-491-0022 CA $300.00
09/27 09/28 PPLN01 24005943270300717249562 GOVERNMENT FINANCE OFFIC CHICAGO IL $345.00

31



32



55150 - 53208  

Page  6  of  6

 Cardholder Account Summary

JASON DAFFORN
#### #### #### 7175

Payments & Other
Credits
$0.00

Purchases & Other
Charges
$1,105.28

Cash Advances

$0.00

Total Activity

$1,105.28

 Cardholder Account Detail
Trans Date Post Date Plan Name Reference Number Description Amount

08/31 09/01 PPLN01 24431063243400213806140 PALM SPRINGS AIRPORT PALM SPRINGS
CA 

$80.00

08/30 09/01 PPLN01 24000973243344900156321 ROCKFISH HARBOR GRILL 831-3727562 CA $181.40
08/31 09/03 PPLN01 24000973244350911657255 PORTOLA HOTEL AND SPA MONTEREY CA $595.37
09/13 09/14 PPLN01 24492163256000034293417 GCVCC WWW.GCVCC.ORG CA $99.00
09/18 09/20 PPLN01 24687203262030020617288 LA CASITA MEXICAN GRILL # LA QUINTA CA $28.37
09/27 09/28 PPLN01 24755423270272703881655 HEIRLOOM CRAFT KITCHEN INDIO CA $109.87
09/28 09/29 PPLN01 24687203271027012831827 THE VINTAGE COFFEE HOUSE INDIO CA $11.27

 Additional Information About Your Account
IT IS NOT NECESSARY TO MAIL YOUR PAYMENT. YOUR ACCOUNT WILL BE  AUTOMATICALLY PAID THROUGH A DIRECT
DEBIT OF YOUR CHECKING OR SAVINGS  ACCOUNT ON 10/10/23 PER YOUR AGREEMENT WITH US. THE DEBIT AMOUNT
THIS  MONTH IS $20706.38    
  

  Finance Charge Summary / Plan Level Information
Plan

Name
Plan

Description FCM1 Average
Daily Balance

Periodic
Rate *

Corresponding
APR

Finance
Charges

Effective APR
Fees **

Effective
APR

Ending
Balance

Purchases
PPLN01

001
PURCHASE E $0.00 0.06024%(D) 21.9900% $0.00 $0.00 0.0000% $20,706.38

Cash
CPLN01

001
 CASH A $0.00 0.06572%(D) 23.9900% $0.00 $0.00 0.0000% $0.00

 * Periodic Rate (M)=Monthly (D)=Daily Days In Billing Cycle:  29
 ** includes cash advance and foreign currency fees APR = Annual Percentage Rate
1 FCM = Finance Charge Method

(V) = Variable Rate  If you have a variable rate account the periodic rate and Annual Percentage Rate (APR) may vary.    

33



ITEM 7.4
ACTION

Suggested Action

Strategic Plan Compliance

Fiscal Impact

Environmental Review

Background

DATE: November 14, 2023

TO: Board of Directors

FROM: Jeanette Juarez, Chief Administrative Officer

SUBJECT: MONTHLY FINANCIAL REPORT FOR THE PERIOD ENDING
SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

Approve

GOAL 5: Long-Term Financial Strength

There is no fiscal impact from this report.

This item does not qualify as a project as defined by the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). 

The adopted operating and capital budget for the fiscal year 2023/24 includes $19,897,685 in
revenues and $18,622,894 in operating expenditures.

 

The attached Monthly Income Summary (Attachment A) and Budget Variance (Attachment B) report
compare revenues and expenses to the respective line-item budgets. The report identifies current
monthly revenues and expenses as well as fiscal year-to-date (FYTD) values.

 

 
Valley Sanitary District

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

34



Recommendation

Year-to-Date Summary

As of September 30, 2023, the District has recorded $19,318,566 in revenue. The revenues are
$2,806,766 or 17.0% above the seasonal budget.
As of September 30, 2023, the District has incurred $3,695,952 in expenditures. The District’s
expenditures are $959,771 or 20.6% under the FYTD straight-line budget.

 

The Summary of Cash and Investments (Attachment C) report details the changes to the fund balances
by fund type.

 
FUND UNAUDITED FIND BALANCE AS OF 09/30/23
OPERATING FUND (FUND 11) $22,504,105
SPECIAL REVENUE FUND (FUND 11 AND FUND 6) 1,071,666
FIDUCIARY FUND (FUND 4) 273,379
CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT FUND (FUND 13) 12,213,938
RESTRICTED CIP FUND (FUND 12) 27,729,651
TOTAL $63,792,739
 

Approve the monthly financial report for the period ending September 30, 2023.

 

 
Attachments
7.4 Attachment A Monthly Income Summary - September 2023.pdf
7.4 Attachment B Budeget Variance Report.pdf
7.4 Attachment C Summary of Cash and Cash Investments September 2023.pdf

35

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2269626/7.4_Attachment_A_Monthly_Income_Summary_-_September_2023.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2269627/7.4_Attachment_B_Budeget_Variance_Report.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2269628/7.4_Attachment_C_Summary_of_Cash_and_Cash_Investments_September_2023.pdf


Valley Sanitary District10/17/2023  01:13:58 PM

Monthly Income Summary
September 2023 (UNAUDITED)

Current Month Fiscal YTD Annual Projection % Received Balance

Revenues

Sewer Service Chgs-Current $362,814 $18,301,093 $17,066,857 %107 )($1,234,236

Sewer Service Chgs-Penalties $0 $1,103 $0 %0 )($1,103

Permit & Inspection Fees $1,100 $7,590 $20,817 %36 $13,227

Saddles/Disconnect Fees $0 $0 $243 %0 $243

Plan Check Fees $150 $1,200 $8,800 %14 $7,600

Other Services $0 $170 $1,568 %11 $1,398

Sale of Surplus Property $0 $0 $21,274 %0 $21,274

Taxes - Current Secured $0 $0 $615,751 %0 $615,751

Taxes - Current Unsecured $0 $0 $37,592 %0 $37,592

Taxes - Prior Secured $0 $0 $8,168 %0 $8,168

Supple Prop. Taxes - Current $0 $0 $14,478 %0 $14,478

Supple Prop. Taxes - Prior $0 $0 $8,653 %0 $8,653

Homeowners Tax Relief $0 $0 $3,552 %0 $3,552

Interest Income $3,180 $113,089 $419,905 %27 $306,816

Unrealized gains (losses) )($5,538 )($4,437 $0 %0 $4,437

Rebate Income $0 $0 $2,278 %0 $2,278

Non-Operating Revenues - Fnd 11 $2,600 $9,501 $28,876 %33 $19,375

Interest Income $0 $442,944 $622,164 %71 $179,220

Connection Fees $127,060 $263,650 $767,790 %34 $504,141

Interest Income $0 $182,663 $248,919 %73 $66,256

$491,366 $19,318,566 $19,897,685 %97 $579,119Total Revenues

36



FY24          
Total Budget    Actual Budget

Favorable 
(Unfavorable) FYTD Actual

FY24                          
YTD Budget

Favorable 
(Unfavorable)

Percentage 
Remaining

Revenues:
Operating Revenue        17,887,349 491,124           450,533       40,592                   18,574,805               16,009,216 2,565,589         -3.8%
Non-Operating Revenue          2,010,336 242                  167,528       (167,286)                743,760                         502,584 241,176            63.0%

Total Operating Revenue 19,897,685       491,366           618,061       (126,694)                     19,318,566            16,511,800 2,806,766         2.9%

Operating Expenses:
Salaries And Wages 3,934,350         305,298           327,863       22,564                   881,823         983,588                101,765            77.6%
Director Fee/Payroll Tax-Board 113,400            4,500               9,450           4,950                     13,500           28,350                  14,850              88.1%
Bonus, Awards, Recertification 10,450              500                  871              371                        2,160             2,613                    453                   79.3%
Overtime 42,100              2,199               3,508           1,309                     9,244             10,525                  1,281                78.0%
Callout 25,000              8,232               2,083           (6,149)                    9,054             6,250                    (2,804)               63.8%
Standby Pay 67,339              5,468               5,612           144                        15,441           16,835                  1,394                77.1%
Longevity 46,700              3,508               3,892           384                        10,431           11,675                  1,244                77.7%
Retirement Contributions 430,527            31,471             35,877         4,407                     92,939           107,632                14,692              78.4%
Fica And Medicare 381,004            24,032             31,750         7,719                     69,876           95,251                  25,375              81.7%
Life Insurance 8,580                751                  715              (36)                         2,057             2,145                    88                     76.0%
Health Insurance 738,840            54,942             61,570         6,628                     166,472         184,710                18,238              77.5%
Dental Insurance 55,380              4,107               4,615           508                        12,493           13,845                  1,352                77.4%
Vision Insurance 8,601                642                  717              74                          1,951             2,150                    199                   77.3%
Long Term Disability 12,372              1,094               1,031           (63)                         2,975             3,093                    118                   76.0%
Accounting Services-Admin 81,761              2,603               6,813           4,211                     11,550           20,440                  8,890                85.9%
Certifications 23,720              336                  1,977           1,640                     1,869             5,930                    4,061                92.1%
Chemicals 700,000            52,306             58,333         6,028                     171,837         175,000                3,163                75.5%
Comprehensive Insurance 437,563            29,669             36,464         6,795                     89,007           109,391                20,384              79.7%
Conferences/ Meetings 210,455            8,649               17,538         8,889                     40,936           52,614                  11,677              80.5%
Contracts 1,763,359         64,563             146,947       82,383                   167,007         440,840                273,833            90.5%
County Expense 23,100              -                  1,925           1,925                     (75)                 5,775                    5,850                100.3%
Covid-19 Supplies 11,000              -                  917              917                        381                2,750                    2,369                96.5%
Electric 969,000            71,608             80,750         9,142                     220,825         242,250                21,425              77.2%
Gas, Oil & Fuel 70,000              -                  5,833           5,833                     10,750           17,500                  6,750                84.6%
Grit & Screening Removal 44,000              3,022               3,667           645                        7,081             11,000                  3,919                83.9%
Legal Services 85,000              6,509               7,083           574                        16,864           21,250                  4,386                80.2%
Debt Service 5,270,359         439,197           439,197       -                         1,317,590      1,317,590             -                    75.0%
Medical Services 3,843                2                      320              318                        2,537             961                       (1,577)               34.0%
Memberships 65,268              2,956               5,439           2,483                     19,045           16,317                  (2,728)               70.8%
Misc. Professional Services 138,483            1,048               11,540         10,492                   13,232           34,621                  21,388              90.4%
Natural Gas 8,000                183                  667              484                        514                2,000                    1,486                93.6%
Office Supplies 26,500              756                  2,208           1,452                     3,625             6,625                    3,000                86.3%
Opeb Contribution 82,119              1,057               6,843           5,786                     3,871             20,530                  16,659              95.3%
Other Expenses 83,000              6,092               6,917           824                        17,813           20,750                  2,937                78.5%
Permits & Fees 125,770            1,280               10,481         9,201                     11,278           31,443                  20,164              91.0%
Projects 464,000            10,186             38,667         28,480                   39,643           116,000                76,357              91.5%
Publications 3,500                -                  292              292                        394                875                       482                   88.8%
Repairs & Maintenance 699,170            62,965             58,264         (4,701)                    141,839         174,793                32,953              79.7%
Research & Monitoring 101,500            1,025               8,458           7,433                     5,235             25,375                  20,140              94.8%
Supplies 262,820            15,264             21,902         6,638                     44,364           65,705                  21,341              83.1%
Telephone/Internet 37,934              2,774               3,161           387                        9,460             9,484                    23                     75.1%
Tools & Equipment 28,000              954                  2,333           1,379                     2,255             7,000                    4,745                91.9%
Tuition Reimbursement 12,000              -                  1,000           1,000                     3,000             3,000                    -                    75.0%
Uniform Services 46,543              1,645               3,879           2,233                     5,720             11,636                  5,916                87.7%
Unfunded Accrued Liability 752,121            -                  62,677         62,677                   -                 188,030                188,030            100.0%
Water 30,000              1,830               2,500           670                        6,092             7,500                    1,408                79.7%
Workers Compensation 88,363              6,968               7,364           396                        19,996           22,091                  2,095                77.4%

Total Operating Expenses (Before Depreciation 18,622,894       1,242,191        1,551,908    309,717                 3,695,952      4,655,724             959,771            80.2%

Operating Expenses in Excess of Operating Revenue (750,825)         15,622,614    
 

Description

Valley Sanitary District
Budget Variance Report

September 2023

Current Month Fiscal Year to Date

37



FY24                 
Total Budget    Actual Budget

Favorable 
(Unfavorable) FYTD Actual

FY24                          
YTD Budget

Favorable 
(Unfavorable)

Percentage 
Remaining

Operating Expenses:
Wages 4,192,639          326,197                  349,387            23,189                   931,222                     1,048,160                       116,938                 77.8%
Fringe Benefits 1,682,004          120,547                  140,167            19,620                   359,195                     420,501                          61,306                   78.6%
Services 2,242,542          80,202                    186,879            106,677                 230,635                     560,636                          330,001                 89.7%
Supplies and Materials 1,828,990          133,269                  152,416            19,146                   369,537                     457,248                          87,711                   79.8%
Fuels and Lubricants 70,000               -                          5,833                5,833                     10,750                       17,500                            6,750                     84.6%
Comprehensive Insurance 525,926             36,636                    43,827              7,191                     109,002                     131,482                          22,479                   79.3%
Projects 464,000             10,186                    38,667              28,480                   39,643                       116,000                          76,357                   91.5%
Utilities 1,051,000          76,643                    87,583              10,940                   234,512                     262,750                          28,238                   77.7%
Debt Service 5,270,359          439,197                  439,197            -                         1,317,590                  1,317,590                       -                         75.0%
Permits and Fees 148,870             1,280                      12,406              11,126                   11,203                       37,218                            26,014                   92.5%
Unfunded Accrued Liability 752,121             -                          62,677              62,677                   -                             188,030                          188,030                 100.0%
Other 394,443             18,034                    32,870              14,837                   82,664                       98,611                            15,946                   79.0%

Total Operating Expenses (Before Depreciation) 18,622,894        1,242,191               1,551,908        309,717                 3,695,952                  4,655,724                       959,771                 80.2%

Revenues:
Operating Revenue          17,887,349 491,124                  450,533            40,592                                    18,574,805                      16,009,216 2,565,589              -3.8%
Non-Operating Revenue            2,010,336 242                         167,528            (167,286)                                      743,760                           502,584 241,176                 63.0%

Total Revenue 19,897,685        491,366                  618,061            (126,694)                19,318,566                                     16,511,800 2,806,766              2.9%

Net Operating Gain (Loss) (750,825)                 15,622,614                

Description

Valley Sanitary District
Budget Variance Report

September 2023

Current Month Fiscal Year to Date

38



FYTD Budget FYTD Actual
Wages 1,048,160$      931,222$         
Fringe Benefits 420,501$         359,195$         
Services 560,636$         230,635$         
Supplies and Materials 457,248$         369,537$         
Fuels and Lubricants 17,500$           10,750$           
Comprehensive Insurance 131,482$         109,002$         
Projects 116,000$         39,643$           
Utilities 262,750$         234,512$         
Debt Service 1,317,590$      1,317,590$      
Permits and Fees 37,218$           11,203$           
Unfunded Accrued Liability 188,030$         -$                 
Other 98,611$           82,664$           

$1
,0

48
,1

60
 

$4
20

,5
01

 

$5
60

,6
36

 

$4
57

,2
48

 

$1
7,

50
0 

$1
31

,4
82

 

$1
16

,0
00

 

$2
62

,7
50

 

$1
,3

17
,5

90
 

$3
7,

21
8 $1

88
,0

30
 

$9
8,

61
1 

$9
31

,2
22

 

$3
59

,1
95

 

$2
30

,6
35

 

$3
69

,5
37

 

$1
0,

75
0 

$1
09

,0
02

 

$3
9,

64
3 $2

34
,5

12
 

$1
,3

17
,5

90
 

$1
1,

20
3 

$-
   $8

2,
66

4 

 $-

 $200,000

 $400,000

 $600,000

 $800,000

 $1,000,000

 $1,200,000

 $1,400,000

 $1,600,000

 $1,800,000

 $2,000,000

Wages Fringe Benefits Services Supplies and
Materials

Fuels and
Lubricants

Comprehensive
Insurance

Projects Utilities Debt Service Permits and
Fees

Unfunded
Accrued Liability

Other

Fiscal Year to Date Budget vs. Fiscal Year to Date Actual September 2023

FYTD Budget FYTD Actual

39



FOR THE PERIOD:  09/01/2023 TO 09/30/2023 (UNAUDITED) Agenda Item No.  ___________

INVESTMENTS

          LAIF Fund 4 - Agency Fund
Beginning Balance (Fund 4) 273,379
Net Transfer from (to) Fund 11 0
Fair Value Factor for quarter ending 06/30/2023 0
Interest (Pd quarterly - Int. Rate 3.15%) 0
Fund 04 Ending Balance 273,379

          LAIF Fund 6 - Wastewater Revenue Refunding Bonds  
Beginning Balance (Fund 6) 766
Net Transfer from (to) Fund 11 0
Fair Value Factor for quarter ending 06/30/2023 0
Interest (Pd quarterly - Int. Rate 3.15%) 0
Fund 06 Ending Balance 766

          LAIF Fund 10 - Recycled Water Project  
Beginning Balance (Fund 10) 0
Net Transfer from (to) Fund 11 0
Fair Value Factor for quarter ending 06/30/2023 0
Interest (Pd quarterly - Int. Rate 3.15%) 0
Fund 10 Ending Balance 0

          LAIF Fund 11 - Operating Fund
Beginning Balance (Fund 11) 20,772,398
Net Transfer from (to) Fund 04 0
Net Transfer from (to) Fund 06 0
Net Transfer from (to) Fund 12 599,838
Net Transfer from (to) Fund 13 53,525
Fund Transfer from (to) LAIF - WF (1,200,000)
Fair Value Factor for quarter ending 06/30/2023 0
Interest (Pd quarterly - Int. Rate 3.15%) 0
Fund 11 Ending Balance  20,225,761

          LAIF Fund 12 - Reserve Fund 
Beginning Balance (Fund 12) 28,329,489
Net Transfer from (to) Fund 11 (599,838)
Fair Value Factor for quarter ending 06/30/2023 0
Interest (Pd quarterly - Int. Rate 3.15%) 0
Fund 12 Ending Balance 27,729,651

          LAIF Fund 13 - Capital Improvement Fund
Beginning Balance 12,267,463
Connection Fees 127,060
(Disbursements) or Reimbursements (180,585)
Net Transfer from (to) Fund 11 (53,525)
Fair Value Factor for quarter ending 06/30/2023 0
Interest (Pd quarterly - Int. Rate 3.15%)  0
Fund 13 Ending Balance 12,213,938
TOTAL LAIF INVESTMENTS:  FUNDS 04, 06, 11, 12 AND 13 60,443,495

 
CASH IN CHECKING ACCOUNT
     WELLS FARGO - FUND 11

Beginning Balance 2,313,681
Deposits 337,068
Fund Transfer from (to) LAIF (net) 1,200,000
Disbursements and Payroll (1,572,405)
Wells Fargo Ending Balance 2,278,344

     CALTRUST - FUND 11
Beginning Balance 1,073,258
Interest Income 3,180
Unrealized Gain / <Loss> (5,538)
CalTRUST Ending Balance 1,070,900
TOTAL WELLS FARGO AND CALTRUST CHECKING 3,349,244
TOTAL CASH AND INVESTMENTS 63,792,738

The Board certifies the ability of the District to meet its expenditure requirements for the next six (6) months,
as per Government Code 53646(b)(3).

This report is in compliance with the District's Investment Policy under Government Code 53646(b)(2).

VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT
SUMMARY OF CASH AND INVESTMENTS

40



ITEM 7.5
ACTION

Suggested Action

Strategic Plan Compliance

Fiscal Impact

Environmental Review

Background

Recommendation

DATE: November 14, 2023

TO: Board of Directors

FROM: Jeanette Juarez, Chief Administrative Officer

SUBJECT: MONTHLY INVESTMENT REPORT FOR THE PERIOD ENDING
SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

Approve

GOAL 5: Long-Term Financial Strength

There is no fiscal impact from this report.

This item does not qualify as a project as defined by the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). 

The District’s Investment Policy has set primary goals of the portfolio management of safety, liquidity,
and yield. This report is in compliance with California Government Code Section 53646 regarding the
reporting of detailed information on all securities, investments, and monies of the District, as well as
reporting of the market value of the investments held. All the investments contained within the
portfolio are in full compliance with Government Code Section 53601 and the District’s Investment
Policy as to the types of investments allowed.

Receive and file the monthly investment report for the period ending September 30, 2023.

 
Valley Sanitary District

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

41



 
Attachments
7.5 Attachment A Monthly Investment Report.pdf

42

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2275532/7.5_Attachment_A_Monthly_Investment_Report.pdf


Valley Sanitary District

Investment Report

For the Month Ending September 30,2023

Interest/Book Maturity %of
"Syield- "^Date PortfolioCostValue MarketVatue

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Wells Fargo-Checking S 2,278,344 S 2,278,344 n/a0.00% 2,02%

Stateof California Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF) 61,643,495 60,443,495 3.53% 53.57%

.L-, MarketYleldto Maturity . 94of

MarketValue Maturity Date ● Portfoliobescrlptloiv^- ■':C05t.Valtie
Restricted Funds

CalTRUST

Debt Service Reserve Fund -SWRCB Loan 1,073,258 n/a1,070,900 5.44% 0.95%

Funds Held by Fiscal Agents

TMI Trust Company

Banc of America Public Capital Corp 49,040,002 49,040,002 4,70% n/a 43.46%

Total Investment Portfolio $ 114,035,098 $ 112,832,741 100.00%

1.77%|Blended Yield of Cash and Investments

Benchmarks:

LAIF 3.53%

5.44%

4.70%

CalTRUST

Banc of America Public Capital Corp

I herby Certify that the investments are in compliance with the investment policy adopted by the Board of Directors.

The investment portfolio provides sufficient funds to meet the budgeted expenditures over the next six (6) months.

This report meets the requirements of Government Code Section 53646.

43



      Local Agency Investment Fund
      P.O. Box 942809
      Sacramento, CA 94209-0001
      (916) 653-3001    

October 12, 2023

LAIF Home
PMIA Average Monthly
Yields

VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT

SECRETARY/TREASURER
45500 VAN BUREN
INDIO, CA  92201

Account Number: 

September 2023 Statement

Tran Type Definitions

Effective
Date

Transaction
Date

Tran
Type Confirm

Number

Web
Confirm
Number Authorized Caller Amount

9/7/2023 9/6/2023 RW 1738288 1698677 JEANETTE JUAREZ -800,000.00
9/21/2023 9/20/2023 RW 1738769 1699158 JEANETTE JUAREZ -400,000.00

Account Summary

Total Deposit: 0.00  Beginning Balance: 61,643,494.68

Total Withdrawal: -1,200,000.00 Ending Balance: 60,443,494.68

44

https://www.treasurer.ca.gov/pmia-laif/laif/index.asp
http://www.treasurer.ca.gov/pmia-laif/historical/avg_mn_ylds.asp
http://www.treasurer.ca.gov/pmia-laif/historical/avg_mn_ylds.asp
https://laifms.treasurer.ca.gov/Transaction%20Types%20Regular.htm


Please note that this information should not be construed as tax advice and it is recommended that you consult with a tax professional regarding your account.

Investment Account Summary
09/01/2023 through 09/30/2023

CalTRUST
PO Box 2709
Granite Bay, CA 95746
www.caltrust.org
Email: admin@caltrust.org
Fax: 402-963-9094
Phone: 833-CALTRUST (225-8787)

Page 1 of 2                    

SUMMARY OF INVESTMENTS 

Fund
Account
Number

Total Shares
Owned

Net Asset Value
per Share on

Sep 30  ($)

Value on
Sep 30 ($)

Average Cost
Amount ($)

Cumulative
  Change in

Value ($)

VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT

CalTRUST Medium Term Fund 111,089.163 9.64 1,070,899.53 1,121,125.71 (50,226.18)

Portfolios Total value as of 09/30/2023 1,070,899.53

DETAIL OF TRANSACTION ACTIVITY
Activity
Description

Activity
Date

Amount
($)

Amount
in Shares

Balance
in Shares

Price per
Share ($) Balance ($)

Average
 Cost Amt ($)

Realized
Gain/(Loss) ($)

CalTRUST Medium Term Fund VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT Account Number: 
Beginning Balance 09/01/2023 110,759.309 9.69 1,073,257.70
Accrual Income Div Reinvestment 09/29/2023 3,179.79 329.854 111,089.163 9.64 1,070,899.53 0.00 0.00
Change in Value (5,537.96)

Closing Balance as of Sep 30 111,089.163 9.64 1,070,899.53

45



46



47



48



49



50



51



ITEM 8.1
ACTION

Suggested Action

Strategic Plan Compliance

Fiscal Impact

Environmental Review

Background

DATE: November 14, 2023

TO: Board of Directors

FROM: James Mills, Operations Supervisor

SUBJECT: AWARD OF CONTRACT FOR BULK CHEMICAL DELIVERY TO UNIVAR
SOLUTIONS USA, INC. FOR A ONE-YEAR TERM PLUS TWO (2)
OPTION YEARS WITH AN INITIAL COST FOR YEAR ONE IN AN
AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $551,335
 

Approve

GOAL 3: Excellent Facilities

The fiscal impact will be $551,335 and this is within the current approved FY 23/24 budget.

This does not qualify as a project for the purposes of CEQA.

It is necessary to request competitive quotes from venders, suppliers, and service providers to ensure
that Valley Sanitary District receives the highest quality services at the best available rates.  The Board
of Directors and Staff have determined that a competitive process should be completed approximately
every 3 years. 
 
Staff prepared a Request for Proposals for bulk chemical services for the supply and delivery of 25%
Sodium Bisulfite, 12.5% Sodium 
Hypochlorite, and 37-42% Ferric Chloride.

On August 15, 2023, a Request for Proposals (RFP) was issued through our online procurement portal
OpenGov.

 
Valley Sanitary District

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

52



Recommendation

On September 14, 2023, three proposals were received by the posted deadline. The proposals were
first evaluated to ensure that all the required information/documentation was properly submitted
with the proposal.  The properly submitted proposals were then sent to a panel for review and
scoring. The proposals were evaluated on the following categories utilizing a 100-point scoring system:

1. Understanding of Project and Project Approach - 30%
2. Scope of Work and Schedule - 25%
3. Relevant Qualifications/Experience - 25%
4. Overall Quality of Proposal - 10%
5. Cost Evaluation - 10%

The proposals were ranked in order from one through three and the evaluations are summarized
below:

Vendor Evaluator 1 Evaluator 2 Evaluator 3
Univar Solutions USA,
Inc. 81% (2) 89% (1) 90% (1)

JCI Jones Chemicals, Inc. 83% (1) 75% (2) 61% (2)

California Chemical 40% (3) 35% (3) 55% (3)
 
Based on the panel review and scoring, Univar Solutions USA, Inc. turned in the most complete and
accurate proposal.

Staff recommends that the Board of Directors award a contract for bulk chemical delivery to Univar
Solutions USA, Inc. for a one-year plus two (2) option years with an initial cost for year one in an
amount not to exceed $551,335.

 

 
Attachments
Chemical Delivery Evaluation Tabulation Report.pdf
Univar Solutions.pdf
JCI Jones Chemical.pdf
California Chemical.pdf

53

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2234311/Chemical_Delivery_Evaluation_Tabulation_Report.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2234309/Univar_Solutions.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2234308/JCI_Jones_Chemical.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2234306/California_Chemical.pdf


 Valley Sanitary District 
45500 Van Buren Street, Indio, CA 92201 

(760) 238-5400 
 

 

EVALUATION TABULATION                     
Request For Proposal - SUPPLY AND DELIVERY OF BULK CHEMICALS 
Page 1 

EVALUATION TABULATION 
RFP No. 2023-RFP-008 

SUPPLY AND DELIVERY OF BULK CHEMICALS 
RESPONSE DEADLINE: September 14, 2023 at 4:00 pm 

 
 
Monday, October 2, 2023 

VENDOR QUESTIONNAIRE PASS/FAIL 
Question Title California Chemical JCI Jones Chemicals 

Inc 
SCS Engineers USALCO, LLC 

Have you read and 
agreed to all Terms 

and Conditions? 

Pass Pass No Response No Response 

Submit Proposal 
Document Here 

 Pass No Response No Response 

 

Question Title Univar Solutions USA Inc. 
Have you read and agreed to all Terms and Conditions? Pass 

Submit Proposal Document Here  
 

 

PHASE 1 
EVALUATION CRITERIA 

Criteria Scoring Method Weight (Points) 
Understanding of Project and 
Project Approach 

Points Based 30 (30% of Total) 

 
Criteria Scoring Method Weight (Points) 

Scope of Work and Schedule Points Based 25 (25% of Total) 
 

Criteria Scoring Method Weight (Points) 
Relevant Qualifications/Experience Points Based 25 (25% of Total) 

 
Criteria Scoring Method Weight (Points) 

Overall Quality of Proposal Points Based 10 (10% of Total) 
 
Description: 

54



EVALUATION TABULATION 
RFP No. 2023-RFP-008 
SUPPLY AND DELIVERY OF BULK CHEMICALS 
 

Page 2 

Criteria Scoring Method Weight (Points) 
Cost Evaluation Points Based 10 (10% of Total) 

 
AGGREGATE SCORES SUMMARY 

Vendor Evaluator 1 Evaluator 2 Evaluator 3 Total Score 
Univar Solutions USA 
Inc. 

81% (2) 89% (1) 90% (1) 86.67% 

JCI Jones Chemicals 
Inc 

83% (1) 75% (2) 61% (2) 73% 

California Chemical 40% (3) 35% (3) 55% (3) 43.33% 
 

Vendor Total Average Rank 
Univar Solutions USA Inc. 1.33 
JCI Jones Chemicals Inc 1.67 
California Chemical 3 

 

VENDOR SCORES BY EVALUATION CRITERIA 
Vendor Understanding of 

Project and Project 
Approach 

Points Based 
30 Points (30%) 

Scope of Work and 
Schedule 

Points Based 
25 Points (25%) 

Relevant 
Qualifications/Experience 

Points Based 
25 Points (25%) 

Overall Quality of 
Proposal 

Points Based 
10 Points (10%) 

Univar Solutions 
USA Inc. 

85.6% 90.7% 86.7% 86.7% 

JCI Jones Chemicals 
Inc 

67.8% 74.7% 76% 76.7% 

California Chemical 38.9% 46.7% 46.7% 33.3% 
 

Vendor Cost Evaluation 
Points Based 

10 Points (10%) 

Total Score 

Univar Solutions USA Inc. 80% 86.67% 
JCI Jones Chemicals Inc 73.3% 73% 
California Chemical 50% 43.33% 

 

55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



71



72



73



74



75



76



77



78



79



80

10003609
Typewritten text
$2.35/gl

10003609
Typewritten text
$428,875.00

10003609
Typewritten text
$10.50/gl

10003609
Typewritten text
$31,500.00

10003609
Typewritten text
$551,335.00

10003609
Typewritten text
$1.895/gl



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



90



91



92



93



94



95



96



97



98



99



10
0



10
1



10
2



10
3



10
4



10
5



10
6



10
7



10
8



10
9



11
0



11
1



11
2



11
3



11
4



11
5



11
6



11
7



11
8



11
9



12
0



12
1



12
2



12
3



12
4



12
5



12
6



12
7



12
8



12
9



13
0



13
1



13
2



13
3



13
4



13
5



13
6



13
7



13
8



13
9



14
0



14
1



14
2



14
3



14
4



14
5



14
6



14
7



14
8



14
9



15
0



15
1



15
2



15
3



15
4



155



156



157



158



159



160



161



162



163



164



165



166



167



168



169



170



171



172



173



174



175



176



177



178



179



180



181



182



183



184



185



186



187



188



189



190



191



192



Durrani Investments DBA California Chemical 

 5177 Chino Ave 

 Chino, CA 91710 

O: 424-292-3424 

C: 626-388-0492 

E: Amber.castanon@californiachemical.com 

Title: Business Developer 

Dear, VSD 

I am writing to express my strong ability and genuine desire to meet the requirements outlined in this 

Request for Proposal (RFP). We currently supply your Sodium Hypochlorite loads and we believe we 

have been meeting every requirement.  I bring a wealth of experience and a track record of success that 

aligns seamlessly with the objectives and expectations set forth in this RFP. 

Over the course of my career, I have consistently demonstrated my proficiency in Product knowledge, 

Problem-Solving, and Conflict Resolution & and have achieved measurable results. I am confident that 

my skills and experience position me as a strong candidate to address the specific needs and objectives 

outlined in this proposal. 

In addition to my qualifications, I am committed to delivering the highest level of quality and 

professionalism in all aspects of this project. I understand the importance of, meeting deadlines, 

adhering to budget constraints, ensuring compliance with industry standards, etc.] and will work 

tirelessly to ensure that every requirement is met or exceeded. 

I also recognize that effective communication and collaboration are essential in achieving the goals of 

this project. I am dedicated to fostering open and transparent communication with all stakeholders, and 

I am eager to work closely with your team to ensure a smooth and successful partnership. 

In conclusion, I want to reiterate my strong ability and genuine desire to meet the requirements of this 

RFP. I am confident that my qualifications, experience, and passion make me an ideal candidate to 

deliver outstanding results. I look forward to the opportunity to discuss this proposal in further detail 

and demonstrate how I can contribute to your company's continued success.  

Thank you for considering my proposal, and I am excited about the possibility of collaborating on this 

important project. 

Sincerely, 

Amber Castanon 

193

mailto:Amber.castanon@californiachemical.com


 

 

194



ITEM 8.2
ACTION

Suggested Action

Strategic Plan Compliance

Fiscal Impact

Environmental Review

Background

DATE: November 14, 2023

TO: Board of Directors

FROM: Jason Dafforn, General Manager

SUBJECT: AWARD OF CONTRACT FOR GRANT WRITING SERVICES TO
CAROLLO ENGINEERS, INC. FOR A ONE-YEAR TERM PLUS TWO (2)
OPTION YEARS WITH AN INITIAL COST FOR YEAR ONE IN AN
AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $80,000

Action

GOAL 6: Improve Planning, Administration and Governance

The fiscal impact is the annual Agreement amount of $80,000 for Grant Writing Services. Funds have
been included in the fiscal year 2023/24 approved budget.

This item does not qualify as a project as defined by the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). 

A Request for Proposals (“RFP) from qualified and interested firms for grant writing services
(“Services”) was posted on August 15, 2023, to the Valley Sanitary District (“District”) online bid
management provider (“OpenGov Procurement”) available on the District’s website.

 

On September 14, 2023, at 4:00 p.m., the following firms submitted proposals by the stipulated
deadline:

 
Valley Sanitary District

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

195



Recommendation

 
FIRM CORPORATE OFFICE
California Consulting El Segundo, CA
Carollo Engineering, Inc. Riverside, CA
Fundraise Washington, DC
Harris & Associates Ontario, CA
Hoch Consulting, APC Oceanside, CA
 

Staff performed extensive due diligence on the five (5) proposals submitted. An evaluation of the
proposals was performed by three (3) individual District staff members from different departments
independently reviewing each firm's qualifications and whether their respective proposed services met
the evaluation criteria set forth in the RFP.

 

Based on total scores Carollo Engineering, Inc. was deemed the most qualified. The evaluation panel
recommends an award of contract to Carollo Engineering, Inc. Below is a summary of the final scoring:

 
FIRM TOTAL SCORE
California Consulting 55.67
Carollo Engineering, Inc. 90.17
Fundraise 24.5
Harris & Associates 85.5
Hoch Consulting, APC 80.67
 

Carollo Engineering Proposal:

Carollo offers strategic federal and state funding assistance, including funding identification and/or
strategies, low-interest loan and grant development, and grant administration and support for
wastewater-related projects. They provide financial planning as well as assistance with loans and grant
programs such as the SWRCB (SRF, stormwater, etc.), Environmental Protection Agency (WFIA),
Bureau of Reclamation (Title XVI, Drought, Research, Basin Study and Planning), U.S. Economic
Development Administration, USDA, and DWR (IRWM, Desalination).

 

The proposed Agreement with Carollo Engineering Services, Inc. is for an initial one-year term with
extension options as noted in the agreement. The scope of services for this agreement consists of a
funding needs analysis, grant funding research, on-call grant research, grant proposal development,
loan application development, and monthly reports.

 

1. Award of contract for grant writing services to Carollo Engineers, Inc. for a one-year term plus

 

196



two (2) option years with an initial cost for year one in an amount not to exceed $80,000 with
prescribed allowable increases for subsequent years as noted in the contract.

2. Authorize the General Manager to execute any documents necessary to facilitate the contract
award and implementation.

 
Attachments
8.2 Attachment A Grant Writing Services RFP.pdf
8.2 Attachment B Carollo Engineers.pdf
8.2 Attachment C Harris & Associates.pdf
8.2 Attachment D Hoch Consulting.pdf
8.2 Attachment E Scope of Work_VSD.docx
8.2 Attachment F Fee Proposal_VSD.xlsx

197

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2269705/8.2_Attachment_A_Grant_Writing_Services_RFP.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2269707/8.2_Attachment_B_Carollo_Engineers.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2269708/8.2_Attachment_C_Harris___Associates.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2269709/8.2_Attachment_D_Hoch_Consulting.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2269710/8.2_Attachment_E_Scope_of_Work_VSD.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2269712/8.2_Attachment_F_Fee_Proposal_VSD.pdf


 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL 

2023-RFP-009 

GRANT WRITING SERVICES 

 

 

Valley Sanitary District 

45500 Van Buren Street 

Indio, CA 92201 

 

 

 

 

RELEASE DATE: August 15, 2023 

DEADLINE FOR QUESTIONS: August 29, 2023 

RESPONSE DEADLINE: September 14, 2023, 4:00 pm 

 

RESPONSES MUST BE SUBMITTED ELECTRONICALLY TO: 

https://procurement.opengov.com/portal/valley-sanitary 

198

https://procurement.opengov.com/portal/valley-sanitary


Valley Sanitary District 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL 

Grant Writing Services 

I. INTRODUCTION..................................................................................... 
II. INSTRUCTIONS TO PROPOSERS  ............................................................ 

III. Evaluation Phases ................................................................................. 
IV. Scope of Work ...................................................................................... 
V. Vendor Questionnaire........................................................................... 
 

 

Attachments: 

A - VSD SAMPLE CONTRACT 

B - SOW Grant Writing Services 

  

199



Request For Proposal #2023-RFP-009 
Title: Grant Writing Services 

3 

 

1. INTRODUCTION 

The Valley Sanitary District invites qualified candidates to submit proposals for contractual grant writing 

services. The District seeks to contract with an individual or firm managing the grant process. It can 

assist the District in maximizing the benefits of grant funding.  

1.1. Summary 

VSD has prepared this Request for Proposals (“RFP”) and is requesting proposals from qualified and 

interested firms (“Proposers”). The District seeks to contract with an individual or firm managing the 

grant process. It can assist the District in maximizing the benefits of grant funding. (the “Project”), RFP 

NO. 2023-RFP-009 Title: Grant Writing Services 

The District intends to apply for grants that address documented District needs associated with service 

delivery and necessary capital infrastructure improvements. In addition, the District plans to apply for 

grants which are not only consistent with identified District needs but those grants that can be properly 

and efficiently administered by staff, taking into account existing duties and responsibilities. The goal of 

the District’s grant program is to secure Funding for services and projects for which the District 

otherwise would be required to utilize sewer use fees. 

1.2. Background 

The Valley Sanitary District (“VSD”) is in the Coachella Valley about 20 miles southwest of the Palm 

Springs airport. VSD is a wastewater district, founded in 1925, operating under the Sanitary District Act 

of 1923. VSD has over 28,000 service connections in a 19.5 square mile service area serving a population 

of about 89,000 in the communities of Indio, Coachella, La Quinta, and unincorporated Riverside County. 

VSD is governed by a five-member Board of Directors and led by a senior management team comprised 

of a General Manager, District Engineer, Chief Operations Officer, and Chief Administrative Officer. 

  

1.3. Contact Information 

Project Contact: 

Holly Gould 

Clerk of the Board 

45500 Van Buren St. 

Indio, CA 92201 

Email: hevans@valley-sanitary.org 

Phone: (760) 238-5400 Ext: 135 

Procurement Contact: 

Branden Rodriguez 

Administrative Assistant 

45500 Van Buren St 

Indio, CA 92201 

Email: brodriguez@valley-sanitary.org 

Phone: (760) 238-5400 

200

mailto:hevans@valley-sanitary.org
tel:(760)238-5400;ext=135
mailto:brodriguez@valley-sanitary.org
tel:(760)238-5400


Request For Proposal #2023-RFP-009 
Title: Grant Writing Services 

4 

 

Department: 

Administration 

1.4. Timeline 

Release Project Date August 15, 2023 

Question Submission Deadline August 29, 2023, 4:00pm 

Question Response Deadline August 31, 2023, 4:00pm 

Proposal Submission Deadline September 14, 2023, 4:00pm 

Authorization to Negotiate Contract October 16, 2023 

 

201



Request For Proposal #2023-RFP-009 
Title: Grant Writing Services 

5 

 

2. INSTRUCTIONS TO PROPOSERS 

2.1. SCOPE OF SERVICES; PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 

The scope of services (“Services”) sought under this RFP are set forth in more detail in Section 4 "Scope 

of Work" attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference. 

Notwithstanding the inclusion of such Services in the RFP, the final scope of Services negotiated 

between VSD and the successful Proposer shall be set forth in the Professional Services Agreement 

(“Agreement”) executed by and between VSD and the successful Proposer. A copy of the Agreement is 

attached hereto as Exhibit “A” and incorporated herein by this reference. 

  

2.2. VSD CONTACT 

The principal contact for VSD will be Holly Gould, Clerk of the Board, (760) 238-5400 Ext: 135, 

hevans@valley-sanitary.org or a designated representative, who will coordinate the assistance to be 

provided by VSD to the Proposer. No other members of VSD’s staff or VSD’s Board should be contacted 

about this procurement during the RFP process. Any and all inquiries and comments regarding this RFP 

must be communicated in writing, unless otherwise instructed by VSD. VSD may, in its sole discretion, 

disqualify any Proposer who engages in any prohibited communications. 

2.3. REQUESTS FOR CLARIFICATION 

All questions, requests for interpretations or clarifications, either administrative or technical must be 

requested in writing and directed to VSD via the District's eProcurement Portal Q&A feature. All written 

questions, if answered, will be answered in writing, conveyed to all interested firms, and posted on 

VSD’s eProcurement Portal. Oral statements by any persons should be considered unverified 

information unless confirmed in writing. To ensure a response, questions must be received in writing by 

4:00 pm local time on Tuesday, August 29, 2023. 

2.4. PROPOSAL REQUIREMENTS 

Proposal responses must adhere to the requirements set forth in this section, both for content and 

sequence. Failure to adhere to these requirements or the inclusion of conditions, limitations, or 

misrepresentations may be cause for rejection of the submittal. Utilize font size large enough to be 

easily legible, but not smaller than 10 point.  

The proposal must be submitted via VSD's eProcurement Portal.  

 

A. Cover Letter. Provide a cover letter and introduction, including the name and address of the 

organization and individual submitting the proposal, together with the name, address, telephone and 

fax numbers, and e-mail address of the contact person who will be authorized to represent the 

organization, and an expression of the Proposer’s ability and desire to meet the requirements of this 

RFP. The letter must be signed by an individual authorized to bind the firm contractually. 

B. Proposer Statement Of Qualifications. Describe the Proposer’s resources, experience, and 

capabilities as they relate to providing the Services. Submit in the order identified below: 

1. Executive Summary. An executive summary should briefly describe the Proposer’s qualifications 

202

https://procurement.opengov.com/portal/valley-sanitary
https://procurement.opengov.com/portal/valley-sanitary


Request For Proposal #2023-RFP-009 
Title: Grant Writing Services 

6 

 

and ability to perform the Services.  

2. Qualifications and Experience. The proposal should:  

a. Provide a description of how the Proposer’s experience, technical and professional skills will meet 

the goals and fulfill the general functions identified in this RFP. 

b. Any key staff members who would be involved in the performance of the scope of work. Provide 

their resumes, describe their experience, and identify their proposed role for the Project.  

c. State the number of years the firm has conducted business. 

d. Provide a description of the three most relevant contracts held within the last five years. 

3. Evidence Of California Licensing. The proposal should include appropriate documentation showing 

the Proposer is properly licensed in the State of California to perform the Services requested in the 

scope of work. 

4. References. The Proposer shall provide a minimum of four (4) client references, preferably city, 

county, or special district governments for whom the Proposer has previously performed services of 

similar type and scope within the last 5 years.  

5. Subcontractors. The Proposer shall identify functions that are likely to be subcontracted and 

identify the subcontractor that is anticipated to perform each function, if known at this time. 

C. Proposed Method to Accomplish the Work. Describe the technical and management approach to 

providing the Services to VSD. Proposer should take into account the scope of the Project, goals of 

VSD, and general functions required. Include a draft schedule of tasks, milestones, and deliverables 

that will provide for timely provision of the Project. In reviewing the scope of work, the Proposer may 

identify additional necessary tasks and is invited to bring these to VSD’s attention within the 

discussion of its proposed method to accomplish the Project.  

D. Certification of Proposal. This section shall state: “The undersigned hereby submits its proposal 

and, by doing so, agrees to furnish services to VSD in accordance with the Request for Proposal (RFP), 

and to be bound by the terms and conditions of the RFP.”  

E. Sealed Fee Proposal. Please provide a lump sum, not-to-exceed fee proposal for the Project. The fee 

proposal shall be broken down by task and further broken down by staff, subconsultant costs, and 

expenses for each task. The fee proposal shall include hourly rates for all personnel.  

 

2.5. PROPOSAL CONSIDERATIONS 

A. No Deviations from the RFP. In submitting a proposal in response to this RFP, Proposer is certifying 

that it takes no exceptions to this RFP including, but not limited to, the Agreement attached hereto as 

Exhibit “B”. If any exceptions are taken, such exceptions must be clearly noted in the proposal and may 

be reason for rejection of the proposal. As such, Proposer is directed to carefully review the proposed 

Agreement and, in particular, the insurance and indemnification provisions therein. 

B. Collusion. By submitting a Proposal, each Proposer represents and warrants that its Proposal is 

genuine and not a sham or collusive or made in the interest of or on behalf of any person not named 

therein; that the Proposer has not directly or indirectly induced or solicited any other person to submit a 

sham Proposal, or any other person to refrain from submitting a Proposal; and that the Proposer has 

not, in any manner, sought collusion to secure any improper advantage over any other person 

submitting a Proposal. 

C. Conflicts of Interest. Proposers shall comply with all regulations and laws dealing with conflict of 

interest disclosure and reporting. Proposers shall not be engaged if a conflict of interest exists. 

203



Request For Proposal #2023-RFP-009 
Title: Grant Writing Services 

7 

 

D. Withdrawal of Proposals. A Proposer may withdraw its proposal before the expiration of the time for 

submission of proposals by notifying and requesting VSD’s representative remove the Proposer’s 

submission. 

E. Financial Health and Reputation. VSD reserves the right to consider the financial responsibility and 

general complexity of each Proposer, as well as its reputation within the industry to determine if the 

Proposer has the apparent ability to meet and complete successfully the requirements of the work. 

Upon request, the Proposer shall provide a financial statement, audited if necessary, in addition to any 

other information requested by VSD. 

F. Confidentiality of Proposal. Proposals submitted in response to this RFP shall be held confidential by 

VSD and shall not be subject to disclosure under the California Public Records Act (Cal. Government 

Code section 6250 et seq.) until after either VSD and the successful Proposer have completed 

negotiations and entered into an Agreement or VSD has rejected all proposals. All correspondence with 

VSD including responses to this RFP will become the exclusive property of VSD and will become public 

records under the California Public Records Act. VSD will have no liability to the Proposer or other party 

as a result of any public disclosure of any proposal or the Agreement. If a Proposer desires to exclude a 

portion of its proposal from disclosure under the California Public Records Act, the Proposer must mark 

it as such and state the specific provision in the California Public Records Act which provides the 

exemption as well as the factual basis for claiming the exemption. For example, if a Proposer submits 

trade secret information, the Proposer must plainly mark the information as “Trade Secret” and refer to 

the appropriate section of the California Public Records Act which provides the exemption as well as the 

factual basis for claiming the exemption. If a request is made for information marked “Confidential”, 

“Trade Secret” or “Proprietary” (“Proprietary Information”), VSD will provide Proposers who submitted 

the information with reasonable notice to seek protection from disclosure by a court of competent 

jurisdiction. Proposer shall have five (5) working days after receipt of such notice to give VSD written 

notice of Proposer's objection to VSD's release of Proprietary Information. Proposer shall indemnify, 

defend and hold harmless VSD, and its officers, directors, employees, and agents from and against all 

liability, loss, cost or expense (including attorney's fees) arising out of a legal action brought to compel 

the release of Proprietary Information. Proposals which indiscriminately identify all or most of the 

proposal as exempt from disclosure without justification may be deemed unresponsive and disqualified 

from further participation in this RFP. 

2.6. EVALUATION CRITERIA 

The proposal evaluation criteria include:  

• Understanding of project and project approach 

• Scope of work and schedule 

• Relevant qualifications/experience 

• Overall quality of proposal 

• Cost evaluation 

During the evaluation process, VSD reserves the right, where it may serve VSD's best interest, to request 

additional information or clarifications from Proposers, or to allow corrections of errors or omissions. 

Proposers may be invited to make an oral presentation.  

The contract, if awarded, shall be to the most qualified Proposer, which submits the proposal that, in the 

sole judgment of VSD, is in the best interest of VSD. 

Upon selection of a Proposer, VSD will endeavor to negotiate a mutually agreeable agreement with the 

204



Request For Proposal #2023-RFP-009 
Title: Grant Writing Services 

8 

 

selected Proposer. In the event that VSD is unable to reach agreement, VSD will proceed, at its sole 

discretion, to negotiate with the next Proposer selected by VSD. VSD reserves the right to contract for 

services in the manner that most benefits VSD including awarding more than one (1) contract if desired.  

After negotiating a proposed Agreement that is fair and reasonable, VSD staff will make the final 

recommendation to VSD Board concerning the proposed Agreement. VSD Board has the final authority 

to approve or reject the Agreement. 

2.7. SITE EXAMINATION 

Proposers must examine the site and become acquainted with all conditions affecting the work. In 

submitting a Proposal, Proposers warrant that they have made such site examination as they deem 

necessary to determine the condition of the site, its accessibility to materials, workmen and equipment, 

and to determine the proposer’s ability to protect existing surface and subsurface improvements. 

Proposers shall also familiarize themselves with all federal, state and local laws, ordinances, rules, 

regulations, and codes affecting the performance of the work; make such investigations, as it may deem 

necessary for performance of the Services at its proposal price within the terms of the Agreement; and 

correlate its observations, investigations, and determinations with the requirements of the Agreement. 

2.8. SUBMITTAL INSTRUCTIONS 

The proposal must be received no later than 4:00 pm local time, on or before Thursday, September 14, 

2023 via VSD's eProcurement Portal. 

 

VSD will not be responsible for proposals that are delinquent, incorrectly submitted, or physically 

submitted to VSD. Proposals submitted after the stipulated deadline will not be accepted by VSD's 

eProcurement Portal. Please note that mailed, hand-delivered, faxed, or emailed proposals will not be 

accepted. 

2.9. PROTESTS 

A. Protest Contents. Protests based on the content of the RFP shall be submitted to VSD no later than 

ten (10) calendar days prior to the scheduled proposal submittal deadline. If necessary, the proposal 

submittal deadline may be extended pending a resolution of the protest. Proposer may protest a 

contract award if the Proposer believes that the award was inconsistent with VSD policy or this RFP is 

not in compliance with law. A protest must be filed in writing with VSD (email is not acceptable) within 

five (5) business days after receipt of notification of the intended contract award. Any protest submitted 

after 5 p.m. of the fifth business day after notification of the intended contract award will be rejected by 

VSD as invalid and the Proposer’s failure to timely file a protest will waive the Proposer’s right to protest 

the contract award. The Proposer’s protest must include supporting documentation, legal authorities in 

support of the grounds for the protest and the name, address and telephone number of the person 

representing the Proposer for purposes of the protest. Any matters not set forth in the protest shall be 

deemed waived. 

B. VSD Review. VSD will review and evaluate the basis of the protest provided the protest is filed in strict 

conformity with the foregoing. VSD shall provide the Proposer submitting the protest with a written 

statement concurring with or denying the protest. Action by VSD relative to the protest will be final and 

not subject to appeal or reconsideration. The procedure and time limits set forth in this section are 

mandatory and are the Proposer’s sole and exclusive remedy in the event of protest. Failure to comply 

205

https://procurement.opengov.com/portal/valley-sanitary


Request For Proposal #2023-RFP-009 
Title: Grant Writing Services 

9 

 

with these procedures will constitute a waiver of any right to further pursue the protest, including filing 

a Government Code claim or legal proceedings. 

2.10. ADDENDA 

VSD reserves the right to revise the RFP prior to the time set to receive proposals. Revisions, if any, shall 

be made by written addenda via VSD's eProcurement Portal. All addenda issued by VSD shall be included 

in the proposal and made part of the RFP. Each Proposer shall leave with VSD its name, and e-mail 

address for the purpose of receiving Addenda. Notices of addenda will be sent to all subscribed bidders 

following this project, and posted via VSD's eProcurement Portal. Proposers are responsible for ensuring 

that they have received any and all addenda. Each Proposer should monitor the project via the 

eProcurement Portal to verify that it has received all addenda issued, if any, prior to the bid opening. 

Failure to acknowledge receipt of all addenda via VSD's eProcurement Portal may result in bid rejection. 

2.11. GENERAL CONDITIONS 

A. Amendments to Proposals. Unless specifically requested by VSD, no amendment, addendum or 

modification will be accepted after a proposal has been submitted to VSD. If a change to a proposal that 

has been submitted is desired, the submitted proposal must be withdrawn and the replacement 

proposal submitted via VSD's eProcurement Portal prior to the deadline stated herein for receiving 

proposals. 

B. Non-Responsive Proposals. A proposal may be considered non-responsive if conditional, incomplete, 

or if it contains alterations of form, additions not called for, or other irregularities that may constitute a 

material change to the proposal. 

C. Costs for Preparing. VSD will not compensate any Proposer for the cost of preparing any proposal, and 

all materials submitted with a proposal shall become the property of VSD. VSD will retain all proposals 

submitted and may use any idea in a proposal regardless of whether that proposal is selected. 

D. Cancellation. VSD reserves the right to cancel this request for proposals at any time prior to contract 

award without obligation in any manner for proposal preparation, interview, fee negotiation or other 

associated marketing costs. 

E. Price Validity. Prices provided by Proposers are valid for 90 days from the proposal due date. VSD 

intends to award the contract within this time but may request an extension from the Proposers to hold 

pricing, until negotiations are complete and the contract is awarded. 

F. No Commitment to Award. Issuance of request for proposals and receipt of proposals does not 

commit VSD to award a contract. VSD expressly reserves the right to postpone the proposal for its own 

convenience, to accept or reject any or all proposals received, to negotiate with more than one Proposer 

concurrently, or to cancel all or part of this request for proposals. 

G. Right to Negotiate and/or Reject Proposals. VSD reserves the right to negotiate any price or provision, 

task order or service, accept any part or all of any proposals, waive any irregularities, and to reject any 

and all, or parts of any and all proposals, whenever, in the sole opinion of VSD, such action shall serve its 

best interests and those of the tax-paying public. The Agreement, if any is awarded, will go to the 

Proposer whose proposal best meets VSD’s requirements. 

206

https://procurement.opengov.com/portal/valley-sanitary
https://procurement.opengov.com/portal/valley-sanitary


Request For Proposal #2023-RFP-009 
Title: Grant Writing Services 

10 

 

3. Evaluation Phases 

During the evaluation process, VSD reserves the right, where it may serve VSD's best interest, to request 

additional information or clarifications from Proposers, or to allow corrections of errors or omissions. 

Proposers may be invited to make an oral presentation. 

The contract, if awarded, shall be to the most qualified Proposer, which submits the proposal that, in the 

sole judgment of VSD, is in the best interest of VSD. 

Upon selection of a Proposer, VSD will endeavor to negotiate a mutually agreeable agreement with the 

selected Proposer. In the event that VSD is unable to reach agreement, VSD will proceed, at its sole 

discretion, to negotiate with the next Proposer selected by VSD. VSD reserves the right to contract for 

services in the manner that most benefits VSD including awarding more than one (1) contract if desired. 

After negotiating a proposed Agreement that is fair and reasonable, VSD staff will make the final 

recommendation to VSD Board concerning the proposed Agreement. VSD Board has the final authority 

to approve or reject the Agreement. 

  

No. Evaluation Criteria Scoring Method Weight (Points) 

1. Understanding of Project and Project 

Approach 
Points Based 30 

(30% of Total) 

2. Scope of Work and Schedule Points Based 25 
(25% of Total) 

3. Relevant Qualifications/Experience Points Based 25 
(25% of Total) 

4. Overall Quality of Proposal Points Based 10 
(10% of Total) 

5. Cost Evaluation Points Based 10 
(10% of Total) 

 

207



Request For Proposal #2023-RFP-009 
Title: Grant Writing Services 

11 

 

4. Scope of Work 

4.1. Scope of Work Grant Writing Services 

SCOPE OF WORK 

The following are typical services and items the successful consultant will be required to 

provide the District if awarded the contract and should be addressed in each proposal. 

  

• Funding needs analysis – Work with the District management to assess the validity of 

current funding priority areas and identify new priority areas for Funding. 

o Review with District staff all current and future CIP projects 

o Prioritize projects based on timing and District needs 

o Evaluate funding opportunities based on the prioritization list 

o Develop a timeline for application submittal based on normal State and Federal 

funding schedules 

o Identify a list of requirements for each project to determine the "shovel readiness" 

of each project, which would best position the District for a successful award 

  

• Grant Funding Research – Conduct research to identify grant resources including, but 

not limited to, federal, state, foundation, agencies, and organizations that support the 

District’s funding needs and priorities in the following general areas by way of 

illustration but not limitation: 

o Recycled Water 

o Drought Response Programs 

o Infrastructure Development and Maintenance 

o GIS Geographic Information System 

o Planning 

o Youth Engagement, Education, and Employment 

  

• On-call Grant Research – In addition to the areas defined above, other areas may also be 

identified through the Funding needs analysis process and throughout the duration of 

the contract. 

  

• Grant proposal Development – Provide grant proposal writing services associated with 

the completion of grant applications on behalf of the District, including the preparation 

208



Request For Proposal #2023-RFP-009 
Title: Grant Writing Services 

12 

 

of funding abstracts, production, and submittal of applications to funding sources. A 

copy of each submitted grant application will be provided to the District. 

  

• Monthly reports – the successful consultant shall submit monthly reports to the District 

summarizing the time expended and describing activities undertaken during the 

previous month.  

209



Request For Proposal #2023-RFP-009 
Title: Grant Writing Services 

13 

 

5. Vendor Questionnaire 

5.1. Have you read and agreed to all Terms and Conditions?* 
☐ Yes 

☐ No 

*Response required 

5.2. Submit Proposal Document Here* 
PDF Attachment 

*Response required 

 

210



PROPOSAL  /  2023-RFP-009  /  September 2023

GRANT WRITING 
SERVICES

VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT
Prepared for

211



Table of Contents

A. COVER LETTER ........................................................................... 1

B. PROPOSER STATEMENT OF QUALIFICATIONS

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY .........................................................3

2. QUALIFICATIONS AND EXPERIENCE  ...............................4

3. EVIDENCE OF CALIFORNIA LICENSING ...........................9

4. REFERENCES ....................................................................... 10

5. SUBCONTRACTORS ........................................................... 13

C. PROPOSED METHOD TO ACCOMPLISH THE WORK ......... 14

D. CERTIFICATION OF PROPOSAL ............................................ 21

APPENDIX
– W-9
– INSURANCE
– ADDENDA ACKNOWLEDGMENT
– RESUMES

212



Cover Letter

SEC
TIO

N
 A

213



1

VALLEY SAN
ITARY D

ISTRIC
T  /  G

RAN
T W

RITIN
G

 SERVIC
ES

CAROLLO  /  PROPOSAL  /  SEPTEMBER 2023
\\Io-bd-1\bd-data\Marketing\Pursuits\Client24(LAO)\VSD\GrantWritingServices\Prop0923\Indd\A-CoverLetter-r1

carollo.com

3400 Central Avenue, Suite 205 
Riverside, California 92506
213-489-1587

Cover Letter

SEC
TIO

N
 A

September 14, 2023

Holly Gould 
Valley Sanitary District 
Clerk of the Board 
45500 Van Buren St. 
Indio, CA 92201

Subject: Proposal for Grant Writing Services

Dear Ms. Gould:

Valley Sanitary District (VSD/District) has an important mission of serving Indio and surrounding communities by 
collecting, treating, and recycling wastewater to ensure a healthy environment and sustainable water supply. 
Carollo is excited for the opportunity to continue and expand our successful partnership with VSD by providing 
grant writing services, including a funding needs analysis, grant and low-interest loan identification, application 
submittal and other tasks.

Selecting a team with in-depth knowledge of funding opportunities, a solid understanding of the projects for 
which funding is sought, the ability to identify merits that improve a project’s chance of award, and strong 
relationships with funding agency staff will best position the District to develop solid grant and loan applications 
for identified funding opportunities. The Carollo team offers all this and more:

 � Extensive Federal and State grant funding experience throughout the US. In the past 10 years, Carollo 
Engineers has successfully helped our clients obtain more than $1 billion in grant funds and low interest 
loans from external funding programs (EPA, State SRF, USBR, FEMA, US DOE, USDA and others across 
the country).
 � The right grant funding experts. Our team includes Katie Menzer, who has more than 15 years of funding 
strategy development and grant writing experience. Katie works with Carollo’s internal team of funding 
and technical experts to develop funding strategies, identify potential loans/grants opportunities, develop 
grant applications and implement grant administration. 
 � Relevant experience with VSD. Carollo is the current provider of on-call engineering services with the 
District, and our local team members’ knowledge of the VSD’s wastewater systems and challenges, 
coupled with Jeff Thornbury’s and Jeff Weishaar’s regional expertise, will provide you with a team that 
understands VSD and can jumpstart the initial opportunity evaluation and project prioritization.

Carollo acknowledges receipt of:

 � Addendum #1 dated August 30, 2023.
 � Addendum #2 dated September 1, 2023.

214



COVER LETTER
VALLEY SAN

ITARY D
ISTRIC

T  /  G
RAN

T W
RITIN

G
 SERVIC

ES

2CAROLLO  /  PROPOSAL  /  SEPTEMBER 2023
\\Io-bd-1\bd-data\Marketing\Pursuits\Client24(LAO)\VSD\GrantWritingServices\Prop0923\Indd\A-CoverLetter-r1

Ms. Gould 
Valley Sanitary District 
September 14, 2023

Page 2

We believe that the commitment, availability, and expertise of your consultant team will determine the success 
of your project. Our team of funding and technical experts are devoted to helping you develop a fundraising 
strategy, secure grants and loans and maintain compliance with external funding among other tasks. Our 
organizational chart reflects Carollo’s top talent, and as you review our key team member roles, you will see that 
we have assembled a team with the expertise to support you. Katie Menzer can be reached at 972-532-2435 or 
kmenzer@carollo.com to address any questions you may have.

Sincerely,

Carollo Engineers, Inc.

Katie Menzer     Jeff Weishaar, PE 
Grants Manager/Senior Grants Analyst  Project Manager/Vice President

215



Proposer Statement 
of Qualifications 

1. Executive Summary

2. Qualifications
and Experience

3. Evidence of
California Licensing

4. References

5. Subcontractors

SEC
TIO

N
 B

216



VALLEY SAN
ITARY D

ISTRIC
T  /  G

RAN
T W

RITIN
G

 SERVIC
ES

3CAROLLO  /  PROPOSAL  /  SEPTEMBER 2023
\\Io-bd-1\bd-data\Marketing\Pursuits\Client24(LAO)\VSD\GrantWritingServices\Prop0923\Indd\B1-PSQ-ExecutiveSummary

AF
FO

RD
AB

ILI
TY

   |
   W

ATER SUPPLY RELIABILITY   |   SHOVEL READY   |   JOB CREATION   |   

   |   M
ULTI BENEFIT   |   RESILIENCY   |   REGULATORY COMPLIA

NC
E

FUNDING
STRATEGY

UTILITY

STATE/LOCAL 
Grants & 

Loans Programs

FEDERAL
Existing &

New Funding
Sources

DWSRF/
CWSRF
Programs

FEDERAL 
COVID Stimulus 

Infrastructure Earmarks 
FY 202e Appropriations

UtilityFundingStrategy.ai

OUR FUNDING STRATEGY IS CONTINUOUS...

SEC
TIO

N
 B1

FIRM BACKGROUND, CAPACITY, 
AND RESOURCES
Carollo Engineers, Inc. is an environmental engineering firm 
specializing in the planning, design, and construction management 
of facilities for water and wastewater utilities. Our 50+ offices 
throughout North America allows our clients to tap into a national 
network of regulatory happenings and the latest and greatest in 
water technologies.

During our 90-year history, Carollo has successfully completed 
over 25,000 projects for public sector clients. Cities, utilities, and 
special districts of all sizes count on Carollo to work collaboratively 
to navigate through the increasingly complex challenges of cost 
effectively and sustainably protecting public health; meeting local, 
state, and federal regulatory requirements; protecting the water 
environment; and addressing public expectations.

Unlike many of our competitors, all we do is water- related services. 
We recruit nationwide and hire technical staff with extensive 
background, training, and passion specific to this field. For that 
reason, the quality and professional standing of our core group of 
water professionals equals or exceeds that provided by some of 
the largest engineering firms in the country. 

Our staff numbers more than 1,350 employees including more than 
850 registered engineers. We are a full-service company with the 
experience and qualified professionals to successfully manage 
projects of any size.

At Carollo, water is all we do. This 
exclusive water focus has driven us 
to develop innovative solutions and 
implementation tools.

The Carollo team has provided funding assistance to clients 
throughout Southern California, statewide, and across the 
U.S. to address their water, wastewater, recycled water, and 
stormwater challenges.

Carollo
Headquarters

Southern 
California Offices

This is where we live, work, and play. Our 77-year history in California and 
the Southern California Region is based on our dedication to understanding 
the ever-changing local water environment and working closely with 
the area's municipalities and the communities they serve.

   Carollo's presence in the Southern California region includes 5 offices, 
with a network of 11 offices statewide and a workforce of  
332 employees across the state.

TEAM ORGANIZATION
The Carollo team brings both the 
depth and breadth of resources to 
successfully assist the District through 
the grant identification and grant 
application processes.

Our Project Manager, Jeff Weishaar, 
has a wealth of knowledge in Southern 
California’s wastewater industry. 
Grants Manager Katie Menzer has 
years of experience in identifying and 
securing sources of local, state, and 
federal grants along with skills in grants 
management and grants disbursement. 
Katie brings unmatched knowledge 
on both national and state funding 
program requirements.

Principal-in-Charge
Jeff Thornbury

Project Manager
Jeff Weishaar, PE

Grants Manager
Katie Menzer

Grants Analyst
Risa Guysi

Executive Summary
Proposer Statement of Qualifications

217



VALLEY SAN
ITARY D

ISTRIC
T  /  G

RAN
T W

RITIN
G

 SERVIC
ES

CAROLLO  /  PROPOSAL  /  SEPTEMBER 2023 4
\\Io-bd-1\bd-data\Marketing\Pursuits\Client24(LAO)\VSD\GrantWritingServices\Prop0923\Indd\B2-PSQ-QualificationsandExperience_cm

FIRM OVERVIEW 
Carollo Engineers is a full-
service, environmental 
engineering firm that has 
been exclusively providing 
water and wastewater 
services across the United 
States since 1933. Our 
reputation is based upon client service, a continual 
commitment to quality, and technical leadership. We 
currently maintain 50+ offices in North America. 

Carollo has a proven track record in providing 
funding services for water and wastewater 
utilities throughout the U.S.

CANADA

US-CanadaCarolloOffices-062023.ai

50+ offices in North America

Dallas

Oklahoma City
Nashville

Fort Worth

Odessa

Austin
Houston

McAllen

Phoenix
Tucson

Honolulu

El Paso

Albuquerque

Yuma

Sarasota
Tampa

Broward County

Orlando
Palm Beach

Jacksonville

Atlanta

Miami-Dade

Broomfield

Fort Collins

Littleton

Salt Lake City

Las Vegas

Reno

Boise

Seattle

Vancouver, BC Kelowna, BC

Portland

Carollo O�ce Locations

Sioux Falls

San Francisco
Sacramento

Fresno

Roseville

Inland Empire

Kansas City

Omaha
Chicago

Madison
St. Paul

Boston

New Jersey New York City

Arlington

Walnut Creek

San Diego

Los Angeles
Orange County

Oceanside
Carlsbad

During our 90-year history, Carollo has 
successfully completed more than 25,000 projects 
for public sector clients. Carollo is one of the 
largest firms in the United States dedicated solely 
to water-related engineering—it’s all we do.

Our targeted expertise allows us to focus on 
developing cost-effective, innovative, and reliable 
solutions to help our clients protect public health 
and the environment. It also allows us to recruit the 
brightest minds in the industry, train our staff on the 
issues impacting water—including resiliency—and 
lead the industry with innovative ideas tailored to 
the specific needs of our clients.

Qualifications and Experience
Proposer Statement of Qualifications

SEC
TIO

N
 B2

218



PROPOSER SERVICES OF QUALIFICATION / QUALIFICATIONS AND EXPERIENCE
VALLEY SAN

ITARY D
ISTRIC

T  /  G
RAN

T W
RITIN

G
 SERVIC

ES

5CAROLLO  /  PROPOSAL  /  SEPTEMBER 2023
\\Io-bd-1\bd-data\Marketing\Pursuits\Client24(LAO)\VSD\GrantWritingServices\Prop0923\Indd\B2-PSQ-QualificationsandExperience_cm

$0

$1M

$50M

$100M

$150M

$200M

$250M

$300M

$350M

$400M

$450M

$500M

$600M

$700M

$800M

Carollo’s Funding Successes (Totals in Millions)

USBR DWR/SWRCB SRF/DWSRF OES FEMA - BRIC OtherEPA - WIFIA

USBR
(Grant)

DWR/SWRCB
(Grant)

EPA - WIFIA
(Loan)

OES
(Grant)

SRF
(Loans/Grants)

FEMA - BRIC
(Grant)

Other
(Grant)

LO
AN

G
RAN

T

GRANTS AND FUNDING EXPERIENCE
As part of our Utility Advisory Services group, Carollo 
offers strategic federal and state funding assistance, 
including funding identification/strategies, low interest 
loan and grant development, and grant administration 
support for water related projects. We provide financial 
planning as well as assistance with loans and grants 
from programs such as the SWRCB (SRF, Stormwater, 
etc.), Envionmental Protection Agency (WIFIA), Bureau 
of Reclamation (Title XVI, Drought, Research, Basin 
Study and planning), U.S. Economic Development 
Administration, USDA, and DWR (IRWM, Desalination). 
Carollo has a proven track record in providing funding 
services, helping clients secure more than $1 billion in 
low interest loans and grants over the last 10 years.

Carollo has helped dozens of communities across 
the nation seek optimal financing for their projects, 
including wastewater, recycled water, and desalination 
projects. Working hand-in-hand with your staff and 
financial and legal consultants, we will position VSD 
to successfully pursue strategic grant opportunities, 
including opportunity identification, grant package 
development, funding agency coordination, and 
agreement support. 

   Carollo's funding successes stem from our in-depth knowledge of various program requirements, 
close working relationships with funding agency staff, and strategies on how to best leverage 
projects to increase chances of selection for award. 

Our team has a wealth of experience with large 
and complex owner’s assistance projects and 
knowledge of a wide range of state and federal 
grant requirements. These resources will provide 
you with the tools needed to improve overall 
project integration and implement a smooth, worry-
free application process. The team composition 
will remain the same throughout the project. 
This hands-on approach will provide you with 
comprehensive management strategies and utilize 
the team’s experience and program knowledge. 

Jeff Weishaar, our project manager, has 20 years of 
experience in civil and environmental engineering. 
Katie Menzer, our grants manager, has more than 
15 years of state and federal grant writing 
experience. Jeff and Katie will be responsible for 
allocating resources and personnel to strategically 
address each scope item to align with your 
standards and expectations.

219



PROPOSER SERVICES OF QUALIFICATION / QUALIFICATIONS AND EXPERIENCE
VALLEY SAN

ITARY D
ISTRIC

T  /  G
RAN

T W
RITIN

G
 SERVIC

ES

6CAROLLO  /  PROPOSAL  /  SEPTEMBER 2023
\\Io-bd-1\bd-data\Marketing\Pursuits\Client24(LAO)\VSD\GrantWritingServices\Prop0923\Indd\B2-PSQ-QualificationsandExperience_cm

We offer a team with the commitment, 
availability, grant funding expertise, and VSD 
water and wastewater system knowledge 
that will lead you through successful funding 
efforts for your future projects. 

24VAS0923po1.indd

Principal-in-Charge
Jeff  Thornbury

Project Manager
Jeff  Weishaar, PE

Grants Manager
Katie Menzer

Grants Analyst
Risa Guysi

Katie Menzer will serve as Grants Manager
and primary contact person for your project:
Katie has more than 15 years of experience in researching funding 
opportunities and submitting grant proposals for a variety of 
industries, including healthcare clinics, museums, social services, 
and public media. Her strengths lie in her ability to process 
large amounts of dense information quickly and translate it into 
compelling grant requests that benefit public projects, nonprofits, 
and initiatives. She has successfully secured more than $1 billion 
in grant and low interest loan dollars from federal, state, and local 
sources in her career.

VALUE TO VSD: As grants manager, Katie will be the primary 
point of contact. She will oversee the identification of the best 

funding source and develop a writing strategy. She will also be 
responsible for grant reporting to the VSD team.

P: 972.532.2435  /  E: kmenzer@carollo.com

THE RIGHT TEAM FOR YOU
Our team has a wealth of experience and in-depth knowledge 
of federal and state funding programs and their associated 
requirements. Project Manager, Jeff Weishaar, brings 
knowledge of the District’s water and wastewater systems 
from his extensive experience with civil and environmental 
engineering. Our team's Grants Manager has more than 15 
years of state and federal grant writing experience and has 
secured more than $1 billion in low interest loans and grants 
in her career. She has identified grant opportunities for clients 
across the country, and she understands what is needed to 
develop a program-specific funding strategy and put together 
a winning application. Together, Jeff and Katie will lead a team 
that combines external funding and technical expertise and 
has in-depth knowledge of your system to help you secure 
grants and low interest loans for VSD’s critical CIP projects.

220



PROPOSER SERVICES OF QUALIFICATION / QUALIFICATIONS AND EXPERIENCE
VALLEY SAN

ITARY D
ISTRIC

T  /  G
RAN

T W
RITIN

G
 SERVIC

ES

7CAROLLO  /  PROPOSAL  /  SEPTEMBER 2023
\\Io-bd-1\bd-data\Marketing\Pursuits\Client24(LAO)\VSD\GrantWritingServices\Prop0923\Indd\B2-PSQ-QualificationsandExperience_cm

Jeff Weishaar, PE
PROJECT MANAGER
Jeff is a senior planning and design engineer with 19 years of experience. He 
has had a leadership role in projects involving nearly all aspects of water and 
wastewater treatment processes and facilities, including grant funding support 
for the City of Solvang’s wastewater treatment plant upgrades. His insight into 
wastewater facilities, operations, and protocols will be key in executing this project. 

VALUE TO VSD: As project manager, Jeff will oversee the project team, resolve 
questions in a timely manner, and assume responsibility for all aspects of 
project delivery.

Risa Guysi
GRANTS ANALYST
Risa brings nine years of experience in environmental engineering focused on 
wastewater projects. Her experience includes grant administration and grant and 
loan applications support. She has assisted Elsinore Valley Water District with grant 
documentation and compliance and West Valley Water District with SRF funding among 
other tasks.

VALUE TO VSD: As grants analyst, Risa will assist in evaluating the District’s CIP, 
developing a matrix of grant sources to fund identified CIP projects and submitting 
grant application deliverables to funding agencies.

Proposed Key Team Members

Jeff Thornbury
PRINCIPAL-IN-CHARGE
Jeff has 37 years of civil engineering and environmental experience, allowing him to 
anticipate challenges that arise during the course of any project. He has been project 
manager and principal in charge throughout the southwestern United States on more 
than 120 environmental management projects, 150 wastewater and civil/environmental 
projects, and 80 hazardous and solid waste management projects. He is committed 
to helping his clients develop comprehensive funding strategies that will result in the 
completion of their projects on time and within budget. 

VALUE TO VSD: As principal-in-charge, Jeff will work with Carollo staff to provide the 
necessary resources to help achieve the District’s goals.

221



PROPOSER SERVICES OF QUALIFICATION / QUALIFICATIONS AND EXPERIENCE
VALLEY SAN

ITARY D
ISTRIC

T  /  G
RAN

T W
RITIN

G
 SERVIC

ES

8CAROLLO  /  PROPOSAL  /  SEPTEMBER 2023
\\Io-bd-1\bd-data\Marketing\Pursuits\Client24(LAO)\VSD\GrantWritingServices\Prop0923\Indd\B2-PSQ-QualificationsandExperience_cm

CONTRACT #1

Wastewater 
Treatment Facility
City of Twentynine Palms, CA

The City of Twentynine Palms is a 
small, economically disadvantaged 
community in San Bernadino 
County, CA. With Carollo’s 
assistance, the City is developing 
a sewer collection and advanced 
tertiary treatment system that 
could prevent future groundwater 
impacts from septic tanks within 
their boundaries and create a new 
water source to address drought in 
the region. Carollo has completed 
a funding strategy to help the 
City with the costs of the project, 
identified sources of grant funding 
and completed a $158 million 
CWSRF application. The grant 
award – currently estimated to be 
$50 million – is pending.

CONTRACT DATES: 
7/30/2022 - Ongoing

SIMILARITIES/RELEVANCE:
Like areas of VSD, Twentynine Palms is a 
disadvantaged community with a visionary goal 
of developing a recycled water project to benefit 
both the environment and its community through 
new, drought-proof water resources.

CONTRACT #2 

Redding Organics 
Diversion to Energy 
Operation (R.O.D.E.O.) 
City of Redding, CA

Working on a short schedule 
to meet deadlines, Carollo was 
hired to complete and submit 
a $10 million grant application 
package for the 2022-2023 
CalRecycle Organics Grant 
Program on behalf of the City 
for their organic waste diversion, 
anaerobic digestion, biosolids 
pyrolysis and residential organics 
composting project. Working with 
the City’s separate Wastewater 
Operations and Solid Waste 
departments, Carollo completed 
submission of all grant inclusions, 
including budget, organic material 
diversion worksheets, population 
benefits documents, letters of 
recommendation and others. Award 
notification is pending.

CONTRACT DATES: 
3/10/2023 - 5/2/2023

SIMILARITIES/RELEVANCE:
Carollo has proven experience coordinating 
efforts of multiple departments and agencies on 
tight deadlines to assist in completion of grant 
applications that fund renewable energy projects.

CONTRACT #3 

Salinas Project to 
Enhance Stormwater 
Supply (SPERSS) 
City of Salinas, CA

The City wanted to identify and 
develop potential new stormwater 
elements for inclusion in the Prop 
1, Round 2 Stormwater Program 
grant package. Carollo was tasked 
with project management and 
administration, research and data 
collection and review, development 
of a viable stormwater project list, 
development of a draft and final 
grant package, and submittal of 
the final grant package. As part 
of the effort, Carollo coordinated 
with the City, its project partner 
M1W, and subconsultants, to 
develop and assemble the required 
documentation, develop and 
submit the grant application, and 
interface with SWRCB staff during 
the review process. As a follow up, 
the Regional Stormwater Resources 
Plan (SWRP) needed to be updated 
to include the project. Carollo 
worked with the City and regional 
IWRM lead to get the revised 
SWRP approved. The project was 
awarded over $8 million to capture 
stormwater for reuse.

CONTRACT DATES: 
2019 - 2021

SIMILARITIES/RELEVANCE:
Carollo provides comprehensive grant services to 
our clients to help them maximize awards.

222



VALLEY SAN
ITARY D

ISTRIC
T  /  G

RAN
T W

RITIN
G

 SERVIC
ES

CAROLLO  /  PROPOSAL  /  SEPTEMBER 2023 9
\\Io-bd-1\bd-data\Marketing\Pursuits\Client24(LAO)\VSD\GrantWritingServices\Prop0923\Indd\B3-PSQ-EvidenceofCaliforniaLicensing

Carollo has maintained offices for decades 
within the Districts' service areas. 
Please see evidence of our active Los Angeles office below.

Evidence of California Licensing
Proposer Statement of Qualifications

SEC
TIO

N
 B3

223



VALLEY SAN
ITARY D

ISTRIC
T  /  G

RAN
T W

RITIN
G

 SERVIC
ES

CAROLLO  /  PROPOSAL  /  SEPTEMBER 2023 10
\\Io-bd-1\bd-data\Marketing\Pursuits\Client24(LAO)\VSD\GrantWritingServices\Prop0923\Indd\B4-PSQ-References_cm

Over the past 77 years, a large part of our success 
is a direct result of our commitment to the water 
industry across the State of California. This section 
highlights projects that have recently been completed 
by our team that required grant writing and/or grant 
administrative services.
Because of our long-standing presence in Southern 
California, Carollo has been afforded the opportunity 
to build its reputation, both locally and nationally, with 
a vast number of successful and complex projects 
throughout the region. With seven decades of 
experience in Southern California, Carollo’s local staff 
is recognized as an industry leader in the planning, 
design, and construction of "everything water". Part 
of this experience and success has been gained by 
working with local municipalities to secure funding 
for our clients and by gathering knowledge of a wide 
range of State grant requirements.

20VAS0923pf-mapgrantloans.ai

LOANS

City of Ukiah City of Antioch

City of South San Francisco
Santa Clara  Valley Water District

Hi-Desert Water District
Twentynine Palms 

King City

City of Ventura

San Luis Obispo County FCWMD
Pure Water Monterey

MCWRA, San Luis Obispo County,
Monterey Peninsula WMD, 

Monterey One Water

City of Santa Cruz

West County Wastewater District
Daly City

Los Carneros Water District

City of Petaluma

Contra Costa Water District

GRANTSElsinore Valley Municipal Water District
Eastern Municipal Water District

Carollo has proven itself as a reliable, dependable, and 
committed partner and has been active in collaborating 
with the owner’s staff through each phase of every 
project. Carollo is known throughout the water industry 
for its ability to consistently provide high-quality 
projects to public agency clients. 

A highlight of our success is the satisfaction of our 
clients, which can only be communicated by them. We 
encourage VSD to contact each reference to discuss 
the high level of detailed service we provide.

References
Proposer Statement of Qualifications

SEC
TIO

N
 B4

224



PROPOSER SERVICES OF QUALIFICATION / REFERENCES
VALLEY SAN

ITARY D
ISTRIC

T  /  G
RAN

T W
RITIN

G
 SERVIC

ES

11CAROLLO  /  PROPOSAL  /  SEPTEMBER 2023
\\Io-bd-1\bd-data\Marketing\Pursuits\Client24(LAO)\VSD\GrantWritingServices\Prop0923\Indd\B4-PSQ-References_cm

REFERENCE
Mr. Mike McCullough, MPA Government 
Affairs Administrator 
E: mikem@mrwpca.com 
P: 831-645-1648

FUNDING AWARD
$30 million USBR Title XVI grant in 2018, 
2019, 2020, and 2022

COMPLETION DATE
2022

REFERENCE
Ms. Sarah Johnson-Rios, City Manager 
E: sjohnson-rios@morrobayca.gov 
P: 805-772-6261

FUNDING AWARD
$145 million

COMPLETION DATE
Ongoing

USBR Title XVI Grant Applications
Monterey One Water, CA 

Pure Water Monterey is a program designed to alleviate drought, water 
shortages, and seawater intrusion on the Monterey Peninsula. The program 
purifies recycled, storm, agricultural wash, and return water and injects it into the 
aquifer for use as potable supply. The project also supplements tertiary treated 
recycled water for use in agricultural irrigation in the lower Salinas Valley in an 
area of significant groundwater overdraft.

Carollo developed a grant application for the USBR Title XVI WIIN Act, a highly 
competitive program. We also helped Monterey One Water develop a grant 
package meeting reclamation-specific requirements and FOA scoring criteria, 
including the economic and non-economic benefits of the project.

WRF Program Management
City of Morro Bay, CA

Carollo provided a full suite of program management services for the City of 
Morro Bay’s $154 million Water Reclamation Facility (WRF). Carollo helped the 
City to secure WIFIA, SRF and Reclamation funding for the project. The project 
was selected by the EPA in 2017 for WIFIA funding receiving more than $65M in 
low interest financing. The City also secured $66M in CWSRF construction low-
interest loans, $75,000 recycled water grant and $10.3M planning loan. Carollo 
secured a $9.3M USBR Title XVI WIIN grant (FY 2022) for the project. Carollo 
continues to seek other grant opportunities for the project. In addition, Carollo 
supports the City with its SRF disbursement requests and quarterly reports as 
well as supports the City on questions and items related to compliance with 
funding agreements.

225



PROPOSER SERVICES OF QUALIFICATION / REFERENCES
VALLEY SAN

ITARY D
ISTRIC

T  /  G
RAN

T W
RITIN

G
 SERVIC

ES

12CAROLLO  /  PROPOSAL  /  SEPTEMBER 2023
\\Io-bd-1\bd-data\Marketing\Pursuits\Client24(LAO)\VSD\GrantWritingServices\Prop0923\Indd\B4-PSQ-References_cm

REFERENCE
Matthew Landes, PLA, ISA Department of 
Project Implementation Division Chief 
E: matthew.landes@alexandriava.gov 
P: 703-476-4122

FUNDING AWARD
$3.24 million

COMPLETION DATE
Ongoing

REFERENCE
Mr. Scott Buenting 
Director/City Engineer 
E: sbuenting@antiochca.gov 
P: 925-779-6129

FUNDING AWARD
$66 million

COMPLETION DATE
Ongoing

Alexandria Waterfront Implementation Project
City of Alexandria, VA

Alexandria is implementing the Alexandria Waterfront Improvements Project, 
which implements key elements of the 2012 Waterfront Small Area Plan 
including flood mitigation, improved amenities and providing for pedestrian 
connectivity. Carollo is providing for a full suite of Owner’s Advisory Services for 
the City’s $150 million project which targets eliminating riverine and stormwater 
flooding impacts in the City’s historic waterfront district. Flood mitigation work is 
a primary focus of the project.

As part of Carollo’s Owner’s Advisory service, Carollo is supporting the City with 
external grant opportunities. Carollo completed a funding search of potential 
federal and state funding mechanisms (grants and low interest loans) that could 
be applicable for the project and provided a prioritized list of programs. Carollo 
led funding efforts to secure $3.24 million in planning and design monies from 
the Virginia Department of Conservation and Recreation’s Community Flood 
Preparedness Fund. In addition, Carollo developed the City’s FY 2022 FEMA 
Building Resilient Infrastructure and Communities grant application requesting 
$50M in grant funding (under FEMA consideration). In addition, Carollo supports 
the City with its CPFF Disbursement Requests and Quarterly Reports as well 
as supports the City on questions and items related to federal compliance with 
funding agreements.

DWR Prop 1 Desalination Grant, EPA WIFIA Loan, 
and Drinking Water SRF Loan
City of Antioch, CA

Antioch is implementing its Brackish Water Desalination Project to improve 
water supply reliability and operational flexibility. Carollo secured a $10M 
grant from the DWR Water Desalination Grant Program Round 4 and $1M 
DWSRF planning loan from SWRCB. We developed/submitted a $55M DWSRF 
construction loan package to the SWRCB. Carollo supported pursuing a $32M 
loan financing from EPA’s WIFIA program for its FY 2018 solicitation round (on 
hold) and developed/submitted a USBR WIIN Desalination Grant package.

226



VALLEY SAN
ITARY D

ISTRIC
T  /  G

RAN
T W

RITIN
G

 SERVIC
ES

CAROLLO  /  PROPOSAL  /  SEPTEMBER 2023 13
\\Io-bd-1\bd-data\Marketing\Pursuits\Client24(LAO)\VSD\GrantWritingServices\Prop0923\Indd\B5-PSQ-Subcontractors

Carollo has the in-house resources and capabilities to 
perform all work under this contract.

Subcontractors
Proposer Statement of Qualifications

SEC
TIO

N
 B5

227



Proposed Method to 
Accomplish the Work

SEC
TIO

N
 C

228



VALLEY SAN
ITARY D

ISTRIC
T  /  G

RAN
T W

RITIN
G

 SERVIC
ES

CAROLLO  /  PROPOSAL  /  SEPTEMBER 2023 14
B:\Pursuits\Client24(LAO)\VSD\GrantWritingServices\Prop0923\Indd\C-ProposedMethodtoAccomplishtheWork

PROJECT UNDERSTANDING
VSD provides sewer services to more than 28,000 connections within its 19.5 square 
mile service area, which includes portions of the City of Indio, Coachella, and adjacent 
unincorporated Riverside County, CA. Residential customers are the heart of the District 
and represent approximately 97% of its customer base. The District operates 254 miles of 
sanitary sewer lines and delivers more than 6 million gallons each day of wastewater to 
its Wastewater Reclamation Facility. Treated wastewater is discharged into the Whitewater 
Storm Channel and becomes a source of freshwater replenishment to the Salton Sea.

VSD’s fiscal year 2023/24 Capital Improvement 
Program (CIP) lists 22 projects with a total budget 
of $58 million. Its long-range 20-year CIP has 156 
necessary projects with a starting budget of more than 
$119 million. As with many other utilities across the 
nation who are facing tighter budgets and competing 
needs, VSD has prioritized its CIP projects, and 
identified the goal to secure external federal and 
state funding sources to reduce the overall burden 
on its rate payers, increase the viability of a project 
implementation and achieve project schedules. 
VSD has highlighted recycled water, drought 
response programs, infrastructure development and 
maintenance, GIS geographic information system, 
planning, and youth engagement, education, and 
employment among others as important areas of 
interest for grant funding.

An integral part of VSD’s financing plan must include 
aggressively pursuing external federal and state 
funding in order to position the District for the most 
favorable project financing with the lowest rate 
impact to the rate payer base. Our firm has helped 
our clients seek optimal financing for their CIPs 
including wastewater, recycled water, and renewable 
energy projects. Working hand-in-hand with your staff 
and financial and legal consultants, we can help to 
position VSD to pursue strategic grant – and if wanted, 
low-interest loan – opportunities including grant 
program identification, grant package development, 
funding agency coordination, agreement support 
and understanding of state and federal requirements 
including but not limited to Davis Bacon/Prevailing 
Wage, American Iron and Steel (AIS), and Build America 
/ Buy America (BABA), National Environmental Policy 
Act (NEPA). As a one-stop shop for all the District’s 
grant needs, Carollo may, if requested, assist in the 
development and submittal of accurate disbursement 
packages and quarterly/annual reports.

We understand that VSD has invested significant time 
and effort into developing its CIP and establishing a 
vision for the future of the District. With the passage of 
the Bipartisan Infrastructure Law (BIL), we are seeing 
an unprecedented amount of federal investment in 
water infrastructure projects being rolled out through 
the next 4-5 years. Added to the BIL monies, in the 
State of California, additional funding opportunities 
through the Governor’s Budget are targeted at drought 
mitigation, climate change, septic to sewer conversion, 
PFAS, groundwater, regional collaborations and other 
focused projects.

Critical to securing this funding is understanding 
which funding agencies and programs (e.g. United 
States Environmental Protection Agency, U.S. Bureau 
of Reclamation, U.S. Department of Energy, FEMA, 
California State Revolving Fund, Department of 
Water Resources and others) the monies will flow 
through, anticipated program requirements as well 
as application timing. Our team continually stays 
up-to-date on the newest grant programs, has 
years of experience with federal and state funding 
opportunities and has produced a proven track record 
of award-winning grant and loan packages to help the 
District achieve its external funding objective.

20VAS0923pf-listofpriorities.ai

Recycled Water

Drought Response
Programs

Infrastructure
Development and

Maintenance

GIS Geographic
Information System

Planning

Youth Engagement,
Education, and

Employment

VSD
Highlighted
Programs

Proposed Method to 
Accomplish the Work

SEC
TIO

N
 C

229



PROPOSED METHOD TO ACCOMPLISH THE WORK
VALLEY SAN

ITARY D
ISTRIC

T  /  G
RAN

T W
RITIN

G
 SERVIC

ES

15CAROLLO  /  PROPOSAL  /  SEPTEMBER 2023
B:\Pursuits\Client24(LAO)\VSD\GrantWritingServices\Prop0923\Indd\C-ProposedMethodtoAccomplishtheWork

PROJECT APPROACH
Based on our understanding, we have identified the key project objectives that 
must be achieved to support VSD with securing external funding. We have tailored 
an approach to meet your unique project needs. The Key Components of our 
project approach are summarized as follows:

1. At the start, we will review VSD’s CIP, including 
project status, documentation availability and 
schedule. Based on discussions with VSD staff, 
we will confirm project competitiveness as 
well as identify and develop potential project 
enhancements to increase competitiveness 
and optimize grant award. We will establish an 
evaluation framework to identify and prioritize grant 
opportunities. We will conduct a kick-off meeting 
with VSD to discuss funding priorities/restrictions, 
potential evaluation metrics, and ways to optimize 
funding. At a follow-up meeting, our team will 
present potential funding opportunities, a draft 
project prioritization (based on the established 
evaluation framework), and identify opportunities to 
increase awards. This work will be summarized in a 
Strategic Funding Plan, including a funding matrix, 
to help guide funding acquisition activities.

2. We will employ a hands-on, one-on-one approach 
with VSD to develop or coordinate to obtain 
project-specific details, communicate required level 
of detail for projects to ensure project readiness to 
pursue potential opportunities, develop schedules 
coordinating technical schedules with external 
funding NOFOs and performance periods (for 
eligibility) as well as ensure timeline reviews. 
Understanding of funding program requirements 
will enable VSD and its external consultants to 
prepare required documentation (engineering 
reports, cost estimates, environmental reports, 
others), complete required demographic and 
population analyses to address Environmental 
Justice initiatives, as well as ensure prerequisites 
steps are completed (e.g., Local Hazard Mitigation 
Plan, Preliminary Engineers Report, others). Our 
team includes technical experts that can support 
the District with activities under this task as needed.

3. We will develop the draft and final grant and 
loan packages for identified programs. Grant 
and low interest development will follow funding 
program guidelines / application forms / templates 
as needed to meet submittal requirements and 
to reduce chances for issues with the final grant 
package submission. We will work with the District 
to identify long-lead time items (resolutions, 
approvals, letters of support, and forms) as well as 

assign tasks. Throughout grant development we 
will incorporate review comments. This will require 
regular coordination with VSD staff. Our team will 
submit applications on behalf of the District and 
coordinate with funding agency staff.

4. We will follow up with funding agency staff to 
confirm submittal of the application package 
and as needed provide supplemental responses 
or respond to requests for information. Upon 
notification we will support VSD, as needed, with 
the review of the proposed draft agreement and 
agreement execution. If not awarded, we will request 
a funding agency debrief and summary strengths/
weaknesses to better support future submissions.

5. Our team will continue to track and identify 
potential grant and loan funding opportunities for 
the District’s projects. We will assist VSD with other 
grant management duties, including but not limited 
to compliance with existing grants and disbursement 
assistance, to be scoped upon request. Carollo 
will submit monthly reporting to VSD to ensure the 
District is apprised of all grant activities.

Key Components of Carollo’s Approach
Development of overall “living” funding strategy 
early-on to identify potential federal/state 
opportunities and project packaging to proactively 
track opportunities, understand expected release 
dates and identified requisite documentation.

Ongoing tracking of grant opportunities and 
biannual updates of schedule/plan.

Engagement with funding agency staff to identify 
opportunities and “pre-market projects.”

Project/grant-specific strategy development and 
grant preparation. 

Comprehensive and complete grant applications, 
providing all required information.

Iterative review approach to provide 
interactive reviews.

230



PROPOSED METHOD TO ACCOMPLISH THE WORK
VALLEY SAN

ITARY D
ISTRIC

T  /  G
RAN

T W
RITIN

G
 SERVIC

ES

16CAROLLO  /  PROPOSAL  /  SEPTEMBER 2023
B:\Pursuits\Client24(LAO)\VSD\GrantWritingServices\Prop0923\Indd\C-ProposedMethodtoAccomplishtheWork

SCOPE OF WORK

Task 1: Project Kick-off Meeting
Carollo will lead a project initiation meeting with 
VSD staff (including the grants, finance, engineering 
and other departments) as identified by the District. 
The intent of the kick-off meeting is to gain a better 
understanding of the District’s project priorities, discuss 
agency concerns or restrictions, and delineate proposed 
next steps including schedule. Topics to be discussed 
include: 1) the District’s CIP to confirm projects to be 
included in the funding search, 2) confirmation of 
project understanding for each, 3) discussion of how 
projects address common grant and loan priorities 4) 
identification of typical documentation needs for grants 
and loans, and 5) identification of key milestone dates 
and task assignments.

Deliverables
 � Meeting agenda and presentation files (via 

electronic delivery).
 � Kickoff meeting minutes (via electronic delivery).

etc.]) and will identify potential opportunities through 
the Bipartisan Infrastructure Law/Infrastructure 
Investment and Jobs Act (BIL/IIJA) and Inflation 
Reduction Act (IRA). The results will be documented 
in a Funding Matrix which will include details such 
as funding agency, program, description of funding 
program eligibility, requirements and limitations, total 
funding provided, documentation requirements, timing, 
relevance to the project, and “next steps”.

Carollo will develop a Strategic Funding Plan 
summarizing the approach to the identification, CIP 
projects evaluated, and the funding opportunities 
identified/considered. The memo will include the 
funding summary matrix and a mapping of these 
opportunities to the identified Projects.

Findings of the funding search will be presented to 
VSD in a meeting (MS Teams format). Carollo will 
update the funding matrix and Strategic Funding 
Plan based on review input from the District and 
discussions from the meeting. 

Deliverables
 � Draft Strategic Funding Plan (with matrix) 

documenting applicable federal and state programs 
(via electronic delivery).

 � Final Strategic Funding Plan (with matrix) 
documenting applicable federal and state programs 
(via electronic delivery).

 � Meeting agenda and minutes (via 
electronic delivery).

Task 2: CIP Review and Project Verification
Carollo will review the District’s published CIP and 
long-term project list to gain an understanding of the 
projects VSD seeks to construct, including project 
type, project costs, and anticipated timing, to identify 
those projects that have the highest competitiveness 
for funding award and for which a funding search 
will be conducted (See Task 3). Because the grants 
landscape is fluid, Carollo will focus on projects set 
to begin in the next five to seven years to maximize 
current funding opportunities. It is assumed that 
10 projects will be prioritized; however, funding 
opportunities will be flagged for all water projects 
included in the District’s CIP/long-term plan.

Deliverables
 � Summary list of prioritized CIP Projects 

(via electronic delivery).
 � Meeting agenda and minutes (via 

electronic delivery). 

Task 3: Funding Strategy Development
Carollo will identify potential federal and state 
funding opportunities based on the priority list of 
projects identified in Task 2. Carollo will research 
and compile a list of potential state and federal 
funding opportunities (including federal [EPA, Bureau 
of Reclamation, FEMA, HUD, DOE, EDA] and state 
[State Water Resources Control Board, Department 
of Water Resources, California Energy Commission, 

231



PROPOSED METHOD TO ACCOMPLISH THE WORK
VALLEY SAN

ITARY D
ISTRIC

T  /  G
RAN

T W
RITIN

G
 SERVIC

ES

17CAROLLO  /  PROPOSAL  /  SEPTEMBER 2023
B:\Pursuits\Client24(LAO)\VSD\GrantWritingServices\Prop0923\Indd\C-ProposedMethodtoAccomplishtheWork

Task 4: On-call Grant Research
Carollo will monitor state and federal funding 
opportunities for grants and low interest loans for 
which upcoming District projects may be eligible 
and will notify District staff as they become available. 
As opportunities are identified, Carollo will contact 
the issuing agency to better understand the funding 
opportunity requirements and District project eligibility, 
as requested. This scope assumes that Carollo will 
monitor funding opportunities over the course of one 
year and assumes an average of two (2) hours of 
research by Grants Analyst each month with oversight 
by Carollo's Grants Manager who will send grant alerts 
to the District.

Carollo will assist with other grant activities, including 
but not limited to confirming federal and state funding 
compliance as well as BIL compliance requirements 
and review of front-end documents (developed by 
others) for compliance with program requirements. 
Carollo will prepare a separate scoping package for 
these services if desired.

Deliverables
 � Alerts of funding opportunities and/or changes to 

current programs (via electronic delivery).

Task 5: Develop Grant and Low 
Interest Loan Applications
This task will entail the development of grant and 
low interest loan applications as identified in Task 3. 
Possible funding applications include: 

a. Develop SRF Application Package 

If requested, Carollo will prepare a State of California 
State Revolving Fund (SRF) application. Tasks include 
the development and submittal of the General, 
Technical, Environmental and Financial Packages 
as required for the program. As the SRF program is 
oversubscribed, the key to success with the application 
process will be to ensure that the appropriate 
documents are ready for submittal with the application 
(at the correct level of development and appropriately 
scheduled). Carollo will coordinate with the District 
to communicate deadlines for various application 
requirements, overall documentation needs, and 
tips for increasing project competitiveness within 
the program. Carollo will develop the Draft and Final 
SRF Application packages for District review, submit 
the final package to the SWRCB Financial Assistance 
Application Submittal Tool (FAAST) portal, support the 
District with discussions with the SWRCB regarding the 
application submittal, and help resolve open questions. 

Carollo will utilize information provided by the District, 
its consultants, and/or existing project documents. It is 
assumed that the District or its consultants will provide 
all necessary project information required for the SRF 
application (design reports, design criteria, general 
design information, project alternatives considered 
and associated life cycle costs, environmental 
documentation, and financials and will help facilitate 
Board of Directors approvals). Carollo will work closely 
with VSD’s design team, environmental consultant, and 
finance department to identify and obtain necessary 
project information required for the SRF application 
package.

b. Develop USBR Drought Response Program Grant 

If requested, Carollo will prepare a U.S. Bureau 
of Reclamation WaterSMART Drought Response 
Program: Drought Resiliency Projects grant application. 
Carollo will thoroughly review the Notice of Funding 
Opportunity as it relates to the selected VSD project 
and flag any potential issues to discuss with VSD staff. 
Carollo will complete the technical proposal and criteria 
section, currently limited to a maximum of 25 pages by 
the USBR submission guidelines. Sections will include:

 � Title Page.
 � Table of Contents.
 � Executive Summary.
 � Project Location.
 � Project Description.
 � Performance Measures.
 � Evaluation Criteria.
 � Project Budget and Budget Detail Attachment Form.

It is assumed that VSD will provide mandatory federal 
forms, resolutions, information about environmental and 
cultural resources compliance and permits along with 
other documents needed to complete the technical 
proposal. Carollo will assist VSD in securing letters 
of support. Carollo will provide VSD with a complete 
application for upload to Grants.gov.

c. Develop IBank loan application

If a low-interest loan through California Infrastructure 
and Economic Development Bank (IBank) is chosen 
as an appropriate project funding mechanism in 
Task 3, Carollo will work with VSD to prepare an 
IBank Infrastructure State Revolving Fund (ISRF) loan 
application. Tasks include facilitating initial meetings 
with IBank loan officials and the District and preparing 
submission of preliminary review documents, including 
project description, audited financial statements, 
rate studies, current and forecasted District budget, 

232



PROPOSED METHOD TO ACCOMPLISH THE WORK
VALLEY SAN

ITARY D
ISTRIC

T  /  G
RAN

T W
RITIN

G
 SERVIC

ES

18CAROLLO  /  PROPOSAL  /  SEPTEMBER 2023
B:\Pursuits\Client24(LAO)\VSD\GrantWritingServices\Prop0923\Indd\C-ProposedMethodtoAccomplishtheWork

existing loan/obligation agreements, project timeline 
and benefits, and other information requested by 
the loan officer. Carollo will employ documents 
provided by the District to complete the preliminary 
review submission, and will swiftly respond to 
requests from loan officers for additional information 
and clarification on submitted information. Upon 
conclusion of the preliminary review by loan officers, 
Carollo will coordinate with VSD staff to complete the 
following sections of the ISRF application:

 � Applicant Information.
 � Financing Requested.
 � Project Information.
 � Financial Information.
 � Loan Proceeds.
 � Legal Information.
 � Application Checklist.

Carollo will submit the application, respond to loan 
officers’ questions and ensure loan processing is 
progressing according to established deadlines. 
Carollo will assist the District in preparing documents 
such as authorizing resolutions for approval by the 
District’s Board of Directors.

Deliverables
 � Draft and Final grant and/or loan application (via 

electronic delivery).
 � Application Development Schedule (via electronic 

delivery).
 � Meeting(s) agenda, presentation (if needed) and 

minutes (via electronic delivery).

Task 6: Project Management
Carollo will provide overall management and 
administration for the project including project 
resourcing, oversight of project budget, submittal of 
monthly invoices, and development and maintenance 
of a project schedule. 

This task includes recurring progress meetings to 
review project status, intermediate grant and/or 
loan applications or deliverables, and discussion of 
various project-related issues with the project team. 
Preparation for the meetings includes developing 
meeting agenda, presentation materials and 
handouts, and minutes which summarize discussion 
items, decisions, and action items from each meeting. 

A total of eleven (11) meetings are anticipated with 
the District. This scope assumes a project duration of 
twelve (12) months.

Deliverables
 � Monthly Progress Meetings (via 

electronic delivery).

Project Kick-off Meeting

CIP Review and Project Verification

Funding Strategy Development

On-call Grant Research

Develop Grant and Low Interest Loan Applications

 � Discussion of District priorities and projects
 � Review of current grant landscape and needs
 � Set schedule

 � Identification of CIP project and potential project enhancements
 � Ranking of “fundable” projects
 � Assessment of documentation needs

 � Research of current local, state and federal grants and loans
 � Mapping of CIP projects to current opportunities
 � Creation of comprehensive strategy for maximizing 
available funding

 � Monitoring of new grant opportunities
 � Other research tasks as needed

 � Develop draft grant application packages
 � Review input from District
 � Develop final grant application packages
 � Submit grant application with District approval

Project Management

 � Regular meetings for grant application review and support
 � Maintenance of project schedule
 � Submittal of monthly invoices

233



PROPOSED METHOD TO ACCOMPLISH THE WORK
VALLEY SAN

ITARY D
ISTRIC

T  /  G
RAN

T W
RITIN

G
 SERVIC

ES

19CAROLLO  /  PROPOSAL  /  SEPTEMBER 2023
B:\Pursuits\Client24(LAO)\VSD\GrantWritingServices\Prop0923\Indd\C-ProposedMethodtoAccomplishtheWork

Project Assumptions
 � District-Provided Information and Services: 

District shall furnish Contractor available studies, 
reports and other data pertinent to Contractor's 
services; obtain or authorize Contractor to obtain 
or provide additional reports and data as required; 
furnish to Contractor services of others required 
for the performance of Contractor's services 
hereunder, and Contractor shall be entitled to use 
and rely upon all such information and services 
provided by District or others in performing 
Contractor's services under this Contract.

 � Estimates and Projections: In providing opinions 
of cost, financial analyses, economic feasibility 
projections, and schedules for potential projects, 
Contractor has no control over cost or price of 
labor and material; unknown or latent conditions 
of existing equipment or structures that may affect 
operation and maintenance costs; competitive 
bidding procedures and market conditions; time 
or quality of performance of third parties; quality, 
type, management, or direction of operating 
personnel; and other economic and operational 
factors that may materially affect the ultimate 
project cost or schedule. Therefore, Contractor 
makes no warranty that District’s actual project 
costs, financial aspects, economic feasibility, or 
schedules will not vary from Contractor’s opinions, 
analyses, projections, or estimates.

 � Third-Parties: The services to be performed by 
ENGINEER are intended solely for the benefit of 
the DISTRICT. No person or entity not a signatory 
to this Agreement shall be entitled to rely on 
the ENGINEER's performance of its services 
hereunder, and no right to assert a claim against 
the ENGINEER by assignment of indemnity rights 
or otherwise shall accrue to a third party as a 
result of this Agreement or the performance of the 
ENGINEER's services hereunder.

234



PROPOSED METHOD TO ACCOMPLISH THE WORK
VALLEY SAN

ITARY D
ISTRIC

T  /  G
RAN

T W
RITIN

G
 SERVIC

ES

20CAROLLO  /  PROPOSAL  /  SEPTEMBER 2023
B:\Pursuits\Client24(LAO)\VSD\GrantWritingServices\Prop0923\Indd\C-ProposedMethodtoAccomplishtheWork

SCHEDULE
The estimated schedule for the work is shown below. Please note that 
our ability to adhere to this completion schedule is dependent on timely 
input by VSD staff and consultants.

Event Approximate Date

Project Kick-off Meeting

Summary List of Prioritized CIP Projects 

Draft Strategic Funding Plan

Funding Search Review Meeting 

Final Strategic Funding Plan

Develop Grant and Low Interest  
Loan Applications 

Ongoing Grant Research 

Notes: 
1. Pending District staff availability. 
2. Assuming final feedback on the draft TM is received prior to, 
    or during, the Funding Search Review Meeting.

Within two (2) weeks of Notice to Proceed (NTP)1

Within four (4) weeks of Project Kick-off Meeting 

Approximately three (3) months, assuming project 
reports, environmental documentation, financial 
data, etc. is complete

Within two (2) weeks of Project Kick-off Meeting

Within two (2) weeks of submittal of Draft Strategic Funding Plan

Within two (2) weeks of the Funding Search Review Meeting2

Monthly updates
Tasks

Legend

235



Certification of Proposal

SEC
TIO

N
 D

236



VALLEY SAN
ITARY D

ISTRIC
T  /  G

RAN
T W

RITIN
G

 SERVIC
ES

CAROLLO  /  PROPOSAL  /  SEPTEMBER 2023 21
\\Io-bd-1\bd-data\Marketing\Pursuits\Client24(LAO)\VSD\GrantWritingServices\Prop0923\Indd\D-CertificationofProposal

Carollo hereby submits its proposal and, by doing so, 
agrees to furnish services to VSD in accordance with 
the Request for Proposal (RFP), and to be bound by the 
terms and conditions of the RFP.

Certification of Proposal

SEC
TIO

N
 D

237



Appendix
W-9 

Certificate of Insurance  
Addenda Acknowledgment 

Resumes

238



Forms

239



Form    W-9
(Rev. October 2018)
Department of the Treasury  
Internal Revenue Service 

Request for Taxpayer 
Identification Number and Certification

▶ Go to www.irs.gov/FormW9 for instructions and the latest information.

Give Form to the  
requester. Do not 
send to the IRS.

P
ri

nt
 o

r 
ty

p
e.

 
S

ee
 S

p
ec

ifi
c 

In
st

ru
ct

io
ns

 o
n 

p
ag

e 
3.

1  Name (as shown on your income tax return). Name is required on this line; do not leave this line blank.

2  Business name/disregarded entity name, if different from above

3  Check appropriate box for federal tax classification of the person whose name is entered on line 1. Check only one of the 
following seven boxes. 

Individual/sole proprietor or 
single-member LLC

 C Corporation S Corporation Partnership Trust/estate

Limited liability company. Enter the tax classification (C=C corporation, S=S corporation, P=Partnership) ▶ 

Note: Check the appropriate box in the line above for the tax classification of the single-member owner.  Do not check 
LLC if the LLC is classified as a single-member LLC that is disregarded from the owner unless the owner of the LLC is 
another LLC that is not disregarded from the owner for U.S. federal tax purposes. Otherwise, a single-member LLC that 
is disregarded from the owner should check the appropriate box for the tax classification of its owner.

Other (see instructions) ▶ 

4  Exemptions (codes apply only to 
certain entities, not individuals; see 
instructions on page 3):

Exempt payee code (if any)

Exemption from FATCA reporting

 code (if any)

(Applies to accounts maintained outside the U.S.)

5  Address (number, street, and apt. or suite no.) See instructions.

6  City, state, and ZIP code

Requester’s name and address (optional)

7  List account number(s) here (optional)

Part I Taxpayer Identification Number (TIN)
Enter your TIN in the appropriate box. The TIN provided must match the name given on line 1 to avoid 
backup withholding. For individuals, this is generally your social security number (SSN). However, for a 
resident alien, sole proprietor, or disregarded entity, see the instructions for Part I, later. For other 
entities, it is your employer identification number (EIN). If you do not have a number, see How to get a 
TIN, later.

Note: If the account is in more than one name, see the instructions for line 1. Also see What Name and 
Number To Give the Requester for guidelines on whose number to enter.

Social security number

– –

or
Employer identification number 

–

Part II Certification
Under penalties of perjury, I certify that:

1. The number shown on this form is my correct taxpayer identification number (or I am waiting for a number to be issued to me); and
2. I am not subject to backup withholding because: (a) I am exempt from backup withholding, or (b) I have not been notified by the Internal Revenue

Service (IRS) that I am subject to backup withholding as a result of a failure to report all interest or dividends, or (c) the IRS has notified me that I am
no longer subject to backup withholding; and

3. I am a U.S. citizen or other U.S. person (defined below); and

4. The FATCA code(s) entered on this form (if any) indicating that I am exempt from FATCA reporting is correct.

Certification instructions. You must cross out item 2 above if you have been notified by the IRS that you are currently subject to backup withholding because 
you have failed to report all interest and dividends on your tax return. For real estate transactions, item 2 does not apply. For mortgage interest paid, 
acquisition or abandonment of secured property, cancellation of debt, contributions to an individual retirement arrangement (IRA), and generally, payments 
other than interest and dividends, you are not required to sign the certification, but you must provide your correct TIN. See the instructions for Part II, later.

Sign 
Here

Signature of 
U.S. person ▶ Date ▶

General Instructions
Section references are to the Internal Revenue Code unless otherwise 
noted.

Future developments. For the latest information about developments 
related to Form W-9 and its instructions, such as legislation enacted 
after they were published, go to www.irs.gov/FormW9.

Purpose of Form
An individual or entity (Form W-9 requester) who is required to file an 
information return with the IRS must obtain your correct taxpayer 
identification number (TIN) which may be your social security number 
(SSN), individual taxpayer identification number (ITIN), adoption 
taxpayer identification number (ATIN), or employer identification number 
(EIN), to report on an information return the amount paid to you, or other 
amount reportable on an information return. Examples of information 
returns include, but are not limited to, the following.

• Form 1099-INT (interest earned or paid)

• Form 1099-DIV (dividends, including those from stocks or mutual
funds)

• Form 1099-MISC (various types of income, prizes, awards, or gross
proceeds)

• Form 1099-B (stock or mutual fund sales and certain other
transactions by brokers)

• Form 1099-S (proceeds from real estate transactions)

• Form 1099-K (merchant card and third party network transactions)

• Form 1098 (home mortgage interest), 1098-E (student loan interest),
1098-T (tuition)

• Form 1099-C (canceled debt)

• Form 1099-A (acquisition or abandonment of secured property)

Use Form W-9 only if you are a U.S. person (including a resident
alien), to provide your correct TIN. 

If you do not return Form W-9 to the requester with a TIN, you might 
be subject to backup withholding. See What is backup withholding, 
later.

Cat. No. 10231X Form W-9 (Rev. 10-2018)

September 14, 2023

240



241



Addenda Acknowledgment

242



VALLEY SAN
ITARY D

ISTRIC
T  /  G

RAN
T W

RITIN
G

 SERVIC
ES

CAROLLO  /  PROPOSAL  /  SEPTEMBER 2023
\\Io-bd-1\bd-data\Marketing\Pursuits\Client24(LAO)\VSD\GrantWritingServices\Prop0923\Indd\F-Appendix-AddendaAcknowledgement

Carollo acknowledges receipt of Addendum #1 dated August 30, 2023 
and Addendum #2 dated September 1, 2023.

Addenda Acknowledgment

APPEN
D

IX

243



 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL 

2023-RFP-009 

GRANT WRITING SERVICES 

 

 

Valley Sanitary District 

45500 Van Buren Street 

Indio, CA 92201 

 

 

 

 

RELEASE DATE: August 15, 2023 

DEADLINE FOR QUESTIONS: August 29, 2023 

RESPONSE DEADLINE: September 14, 2023, 4:00 pm 

 

RESPONSES MUST BE SUBMITTED ELECTRONICALLY TO: 

https://procurement.opengov.com/portal/valley-sanitary 

244

https://procurement.opengov.com/portal/valley-sanitary


Valley Sanitary District 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL 

Grant Writing Services 

I. INTRODUCTION..................................................................................... 
II. INSTRUCTIONS TO PROPOSERS  ............................................................ 

III. Evaluation Phases ................................................................................. 
IV. Scope of Work ...................................................................................... 
V. Vendor Questionnaire........................................................................... 
 

 

Attachments: 

A - VSD SAMPLE CONTRACT 

B - SOW Grant Writing Services 

  

245



Request For Proposal #2023-RFP-009 
Title: Grant Writing Services 

3 

 

1. INTRODUCTION 

The Valley Sanitary District invites qualified candidates to submit proposals for contractual grant writing 

services. The District seeks to contract with an individual or firm managing the grant process. It can 

assist the District in maximizing the benefits of grant funding.  

1.1. Summary 

VSD has prepared this Request for Proposals (“RFP”) and is requesting proposals from qualified and 

interested firms (“Proposers”). The District seeks to contract with an individual or firm managing the 

grant process. It can assist the District in maximizing the benefits of grant funding. (the “Project”), RFP 

NO. 2023-RFP-009 Title: Grant Writing Services 

The District intends to apply for grants that address documented District needs associated with service 

delivery and necessary capital infrastructure improvements. In addition, the District plans to apply for 

grants which are not only consistent with identified District needs but those grants that can be properly 

and efficiently administered by staff, taking into account existing duties and responsibilities. The goal of 

the District’s grant program is to secure Funding for services and projects for which the District 

otherwise would be required to utilize sewer use fees. 

1.2. Background 

The Valley Sanitary District (“VSD”) is in the Coachella Valley about 20 miles southwest of the Palm 

Springs airport. VSD is a wastewater district, founded in 1925, operating under the Sanitary District Act 

of 1923. VSD has over 28,000 service connections in a 19.5 square mile service area serving a population 

of about 89,000 in the communities of Indio, Coachella, La Quinta, and unincorporated Riverside County. 

VSD is governed by a five-member Board of Directors and led by a senior management team comprised 

of a General Manager, District Engineer, Chief Operations Officer, and Chief Administrative Officer. 

  

1.3. Contact Information 

Project Contact: 

Holly Gould 

Clerk of the Board 

45500 Van Buren St. 

Indio, CA 92201 

Email: hevans@valley-sanitary.org 

Phone: (760) 238-5400 Ext: 135 

Procurement Contact: 

Branden Rodriguez 

Administrative Assistant 

45500 Van Buren St 

Indio, CA 92201 

Email: brodriguez@valley-sanitary.org 

Phone: (760) 238-5400 

246

mailto:hevans@valley-sanitary.org
tel:(760)238-5400;ext=135
mailto:brodriguez@valley-sanitary.org
tel:(760)238-5400


Request For Proposal #2023-RFP-009 
Title: Grant Writing Services 

4 

 

Department: 

Administration 

1.4. Timeline 

Release Project Date August 15, 2023 

Question Submission Deadline August 29, 2023, 4:00pm 

Question Response Deadline August 31, 2023, 4:00pm 

Proposal Submission Deadline September 14, 2023, 4:00pm 

Authorization to Negotiate Contract October 16, 2023 

 

247



Request For Proposal #2023-RFP-009 
Title: Grant Writing Services 

5 

 

2. INSTRUCTIONS TO PROPOSERS 

2.1. SCOPE OF SERVICES; PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 

The scope of services (“Services”) sought under this RFP are set forth in more detail in Section 4 "Scope 

of Work" attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference. 

Notwithstanding the inclusion of such Services in the RFP, the final scope of Services negotiated 

between VSD and the successful Proposer shall be set forth in the Professional Services Agreement 

(“Agreement”) executed by and between VSD and the successful Proposer. A copy of the Agreement is 

attached hereto as Exhibit “A” and incorporated herein by this reference. 

  

2.2. VSD CONTACT 

The principal contact for VSD will be Holly Gould, Clerk of the Board, (760) 238-5400 Ext: 135, 

hevans@valley-sanitary.org or a designated representative, who will coordinate the assistance to be 

provided by VSD to the Proposer. No other members of VSD’s staff or VSD’s Board should be contacted 

about this procurement during the RFP process. Any and all inquiries and comments regarding this RFP 

must be communicated in writing, unless otherwise instructed by VSD. VSD may, in its sole discretion, 

disqualify any Proposer who engages in any prohibited communications. 

2.3. REQUESTS FOR CLARIFICATION 

All questions, requests for interpretations or clarifications, either administrative or technical must be 

requested in writing and directed to VSD via the District's eProcurement Portal Q&A feature. All written 

questions, if answered, will be answered in writing, conveyed to all interested firms, and posted on 

VSD’s eProcurement Portal. Oral statements by any persons should be considered unverified 

information unless confirmed in writing. To ensure a response, questions must be received in writing by 

4:00 pm local time on Tuesday, August 29, 2023. 

2.4. PROPOSAL REQUIREMENTS 

Proposal responses must adhere to the requirements set forth in this section, both for content and 

sequence. Failure to adhere to these requirements or the inclusion of conditions, limitations, or 

misrepresentations may be cause for rejection of the submittal. Utilize font size large enough to be 

easily legible, but not smaller than 10 point.  

The proposal must be submitted via VSD's eProcurement Portal.  

 

A. Cover Letter. Provide a cover letter and introduction, including the name and address of the 

organization and individual submitting the proposal, together with the name, address, telephone and 

fax numbers, and e-mail address of the contact person who will be authorized to represent the 

organization, and an expression of the Proposer’s ability and desire to meet the requirements of this 

RFP. The letter must be signed by an individual authorized to bind the firm contractually. 

B. Proposer Statement Of Qualifications. Describe the Proposer’s resources, experience, and 

capabilities as they relate to providing the Services. Submit in the order identified below: 

1. Executive Summary. An executive summary should briefly describe the Proposer’s qualifications 

248

https://procurement.opengov.com/portal/valley-sanitary
https://procurement.opengov.com/portal/valley-sanitary


Request For Proposal #2023-RFP-009 
Title: Grant Writing Services 

6 

 

and ability to perform the Services.  

2. Qualifications and Experience. The proposal should:  

a. Provide a description of how the Proposer’s experience, technical and professional skills will meet 

the goals and fulfill the general functions identified in this RFP. 

b. Any key staff members who would be involved in the performance of the scope of work. Provide 

their resumes, describe their experience, and identify their proposed role for the Project.  

c. State the number of years the firm has conducted business. 

d. Provide a description of the three most relevant contracts held within the last five years. 

3. Evidence Of California Licensing. The proposal should include appropriate documentation showing 

the Proposer is properly licensed in the State of California to perform the Services requested in the 

scope of work. 

4. References. The Proposer shall provide a minimum of four (4) client references, preferably city, 

county, or special district governments for whom the Proposer has previously performed services of 

similar type and scope within the last 5 years.  

5. Subcontractors. The Proposer shall identify functions that are likely to be subcontracted and 

identify the subcontractor that is anticipated to perform each function, if known at this time. 

C. Proposed Method to Accomplish the Work. Describe the technical and management approach to 

providing the Services to VSD. Proposer should take into account the scope of the Project, goals of 

VSD, and general functions required. Include a draft schedule of tasks, milestones, and deliverables 

that will provide for timely provision of the Project. In reviewing the scope of work, the Proposer may 

identify additional necessary tasks and is invited to bring these to VSD’s attention within the 

discussion of its proposed method to accomplish the Project.  

D. Certification of Proposal. This section shall state: “The undersigned hereby submits its proposal 

and, by doing so, agrees to furnish services to VSD in accordance with the Request for Proposal (RFP), 

and to be bound by the terms and conditions of the RFP.”  

E. Sealed Fee Proposal. Please provide a lump sum, not-to-exceed fee proposal for the Project. The fee 

proposal shall be broken down by task and further broken down by staff, subconsultant costs, and 

expenses for each task. The fee proposal shall include hourly rates for all personnel.  

 

2.5. PROPOSAL CONSIDERATIONS 

A. No Deviations from the RFP. In submitting a proposal in response to this RFP, Proposer is certifying 

that it takes no exceptions to this RFP including, but not limited to, the Agreement attached hereto as 

Exhibit “B”. If any exceptions are taken, such exceptions must be clearly noted in the proposal and may 

be reason for rejection of the proposal. As such, Proposer is directed to carefully review the proposed 

Agreement and, in particular, the insurance and indemnification provisions therein. 

B. Collusion. By submitting a Proposal, each Proposer represents and warrants that its Proposal is 

genuine and not a sham or collusive or made in the interest of or on behalf of any person not named 

therein; that the Proposer has not directly or indirectly induced or solicited any other person to submit a 

sham Proposal, or any other person to refrain from submitting a Proposal; and that the Proposer has 

not, in any manner, sought collusion to secure any improper advantage over any other person 

submitting a Proposal. 

C. Conflicts of Interest. Proposers shall comply with all regulations and laws dealing with conflict of 

interest disclosure and reporting. Proposers shall not be engaged if a conflict of interest exists. 

249



Request For Proposal #2023-RFP-009 
Title: Grant Writing Services 

7 

 

D. Withdrawal of Proposals. A Proposer may withdraw its proposal before the expiration of the time for 

submission of proposals by notifying and requesting VSD’s representative remove the Proposer’s 

submission. 

E. Financial Health and Reputation. VSD reserves the right to consider the financial responsibility and 

general complexity of each Proposer, as well as its reputation within the industry to determine if the 

Proposer has the apparent ability to meet and complete successfully the requirements of the work. 

Upon request, the Proposer shall provide a financial statement, audited if necessary, in addition to any 

other information requested by VSD. 

F. Confidentiality of Proposal. Proposals submitted in response to this RFP shall be held confidential by 

VSD and shall not be subject to disclosure under the California Public Records Act (Cal. Government 

Code section 6250 et seq.) until after either VSD and the successful Proposer have completed 

negotiations and entered into an Agreement or VSD has rejected all proposals. All correspondence with 

VSD including responses to this RFP will become the exclusive property of VSD and will become public 

records under the California Public Records Act. VSD will have no liability to the Proposer or other party 

as a result of any public disclosure of any proposal or the Agreement. If a Proposer desires to exclude a 

portion of its proposal from disclosure under the California Public Records Act, the Proposer must mark 

it as such and state the specific provision in the California Public Records Act which provides the 

exemption as well as the factual basis for claiming the exemption. For example, if a Proposer submits 

trade secret information, the Proposer must plainly mark the information as “Trade Secret” and refer to 

the appropriate section of the California Public Records Act which provides the exemption as well as the 

factual basis for claiming the exemption. If a request is made for information marked “Confidential”, 

“Trade Secret” or “Proprietary” (“Proprietary Information”), VSD will provide Proposers who submitted 

the information with reasonable notice to seek protection from disclosure by a court of competent 

jurisdiction. Proposer shall have five (5) working days after receipt of such notice to give VSD written 

notice of Proposer's objection to VSD's release of Proprietary Information. Proposer shall indemnify, 

defend and hold harmless VSD, and its officers, directors, employees, and agents from and against all 

liability, loss, cost or expense (including attorney's fees) arising out of a legal action brought to compel 

the release of Proprietary Information. Proposals which indiscriminately identify all or most of the 

proposal as exempt from disclosure without justification may be deemed unresponsive and disqualified 

from further participation in this RFP. 

2.6. EVALUATION CRITERIA 

The proposal evaluation criteria include:  

• Understanding of project and project approach 

• Scope of work and schedule 

• Relevant qualifications/experience 

• Overall quality of proposal 

• Cost evaluation 

During the evaluation process, VSD reserves the right, where it may serve VSD's best interest, to request 

additional information or clarifications from Proposers, or to allow corrections of errors or omissions. 

Proposers may be invited to make an oral presentation.  

The contract, if awarded, shall be to the most qualified Proposer, which submits the proposal that, in the 

sole judgment of VSD, is in the best interest of VSD. 

Upon selection of a Proposer, VSD will endeavor to negotiate a mutually agreeable agreement with the 

250



Request For Proposal #2023-RFP-009 
Title: Grant Writing Services 

8 

 

selected Proposer. In the event that VSD is unable to reach agreement, VSD will proceed, at its sole 

discretion, to negotiate with the next Proposer selected by VSD. VSD reserves the right to contract for 

services in the manner that most benefits VSD including awarding more than one (1) contract if desired.  

After negotiating a proposed Agreement that is fair and reasonable, VSD staff will make the final 

recommendation to VSD Board concerning the proposed Agreement. VSD Board has the final authority 

to approve or reject the Agreement. 

2.7. SITE EXAMINATION 

Proposers must examine the site and become acquainted with all conditions affecting the work. In 

submitting a Proposal, Proposers warrant that they have made such site examination as they deem 

necessary to determine the condition of the site, its accessibility to materials, workmen and equipment, 

and to determine the proposer’s ability to protect existing surface and subsurface improvements. 

Proposers shall also familiarize themselves with all federal, state and local laws, ordinances, rules, 

regulations, and codes affecting the performance of the work; make such investigations, as it may deem 

necessary for performance of the Services at its proposal price within the terms of the Agreement; and 

correlate its observations, investigations, and determinations with the requirements of the Agreement. 

2.8. SUBMITTAL INSTRUCTIONS 

The proposal must be received no later than 4:00 pm local time, on or before Thursday, September 14, 

2023 via VSD's eProcurement Portal. 

 

VSD will not be responsible for proposals that are delinquent, incorrectly submitted, or physically 

submitted to VSD. Proposals submitted after the stipulated deadline will not be accepted by VSD's 

eProcurement Portal. Please note that mailed, hand-delivered, faxed, or emailed proposals will not be 

accepted. 

2.9. PROTESTS 

A. Protest Contents. Protests based on the content of the RFP shall be submitted to VSD no later than 

ten (10) calendar days prior to the scheduled proposal submittal deadline. If necessary, the proposal 

submittal deadline may be extended pending a resolution of the protest. Proposer may protest a 

contract award if the Proposer believes that the award was inconsistent with VSD policy or this RFP is 

not in compliance with law. A protest must be filed in writing with VSD (email is not acceptable) within 

five (5) business days after receipt of notification of the intended contract award. Any protest submitted 

after 5 p.m. of the fifth business day after notification of the intended contract award will be rejected by 

VSD as invalid and the Proposer’s failure to timely file a protest will waive the Proposer’s right to protest 

the contract award. The Proposer’s protest must include supporting documentation, legal authorities in 

support of the grounds for the protest and the name, address and telephone number of the person 

representing the Proposer for purposes of the protest. Any matters not set forth in the protest shall be 

deemed waived. 

B. VSD Review. VSD will review and evaluate the basis of the protest provided the protest is filed in strict 

conformity with the foregoing. VSD shall provide the Proposer submitting the protest with a written 

statement concurring with or denying the protest. Action by VSD relative to the protest will be final and 

not subject to appeal or reconsideration. The procedure and time limits set forth in this section are 

mandatory and are the Proposer’s sole and exclusive remedy in the event of protest. Failure to comply 

251

https://procurement.opengov.com/portal/valley-sanitary


Request For Proposal #2023-RFP-009 
Title: Grant Writing Services 

9 

 

with these procedures will constitute a waiver of any right to further pursue the protest, including filing 

a Government Code claim or legal proceedings. 

2.10. ADDENDA 

VSD reserves the right to revise the RFP prior to the time set to receive proposals. Revisions, if any, shall 

be made by written addenda via VSD's eProcurement Portal. All addenda issued by VSD shall be included 

in the proposal and made part of the RFP. Each Proposer shall leave with VSD its name, and e-mail 

address for the purpose of receiving Addenda. Notices of addenda will be sent to all subscribed bidders 

following this project, and posted via VSD's eProcurement Portal. Proposers are responsible for ensuring 

that they have received any and all addenda. Each Proposer should monitor the project via the 

eProcurement Portal to verify that it has received all addenda issued, if any, prior to the bid opening. 

Failure to acknowledge receipt of all addenda via VSD's eProcurement Portal may result in bid rejection. 

2.11. GENERAL CONDITIONS 

A. Amendments to Proposals. Unless specifically requested by VSD, no amendment, addendum or 

modification will be accepted after a proposal has been submitted to VSD. If a change to a proposal that 

has been submitted is desired, the submitted proposal must be withdrawn and the replacement 

proposal submitted via VSD's eProcurement Portal prior to the deadline stated herein for receiving 

proposals. 

B. Non-Responsive Proposals. A proposal may be considered non-responsive if conditional, incomplete, 

or if it contains alterations of form, additions not called for, or other irregularities that may constitute a 

material change to the proposal. 

C. Costs for Preparing. VSD will not compensate any Proposer for the cost of preparing any proposal, and 

all materials submitted with a proposal shall become the property of VSD. VSD will retain all proposals 

submitted and may use any idea in a proposal regardless of whether that proposal is selected. 

D. Cancellation. VSD reserves the right to cancel this request for proposals at any time prior to contract 

award without obligation in any manner for proposal preparation, interview, fee negotiation or other 

associated marketing costs. 

E. Price Validity. Prices provided by Proposers are valid for 90 days from the proposal due date. VSD 

intends to award the contract within this time but may request an extension from the Proposers to hold 

pricing, until negotiations are complete and the contract is awarded. 

F. No Commitment to Award. Issuance of request for proposals and receipt of proposals does not 

commit VSD to award a contract. VSD expressly reserves the right to postpone the proposal for its own 

convenience, to accept or reject any or all proposals received, to negotiate with more than one Proposer 

concurrently, or to cancel all or part of this request for proposals. 

G. Right to Negotiate and/or Reject Proposals. VSD reserves the right to negotiate any price or provision, 

task order or service, accept any part or all of any proposals, waive any irregularities, and to reject any 

and all, or parts of any and all proposals, whenever, in the sole opinion of VSD, such action shall serve its 

best interests and those of the tax-paying public. The Agreement, if any is awarded, will go to the 

Proposer whose proposal best meets VSD’s requirements. 

252

https://procurement.opengov.com/portal/valley-sanitary
https://procurement.opengov.com/portal/valley-sanitary


Request For Proposal #2023-RFP-009 
Title: Grant Writing Services 

10 

 

3. EVALUATION PHASES 

During the evaluation process, VSD reserves the right, where it may serve VSD's best interest, to request 

additional information or clarifications from Proposers, or to allow corrections of errors or omissions. 

Proposers may be invited to make an oral presentation. 

The contract, if awarded, shall be to the most qualified Proposer, which submits the proposal that, in the 

sole judgment of VSD, is in the best interest of VSD. 

Upon selection of a Proposer, VSD will endeavor to negotiate a mutually agreeable agreement with the 

selected Proposer. In the event that VSD is unable to reach agreement, VSD will proceed, at its sole 

discretion, to negotiate with the next Proposer selected by VSD. VSD reserves the right to contract for 

services in the manner that most benefits VSD including awarding more than one (1) contract if desired. 

After negotiating a proposed Agreement that is fair and reasonable, VSD staff will make the final 

recommendation to VSD Board concerning the proposed Agreement. VSD Board has the final authority 

to approve or reject the Agreement. 

  

No. Evaluation Criteria Scoring Method Weight (Points) 

1. Understanding of Project and Project 

Approach 
Points Based 30 

(30% of Total) 

2. Scope of Work and Schedule Points Based 25 
(25% of Total) 

3. Relevant Qualifications/Experience Points Based 25 
(25% of Total) 

4. Overall Quality of Proposal Points Based 10 
(10% of Total) 

5. Cost Evaluation Points Based 10 
(10% of Total) 

 

253



Request For Proposal #2023-RFP-009 
Title: Grant Writing Services 

11 

 

4. SCOPE OF WORK 

4.1. Scope of Work Grant Writing Services 

SCOPE OF WORK 

The following are typical services and items the successful consultant will be required to 

provide the District if awarded the contract and should be addressed in each proposal. 

  

• Funding needs analysis – Work with the District management to assess the validity of 

current funding priority areas and identify new priority areas for Funding. 

o Review with District staff all current and future CIP projects 

o Prioritize projects based on timing and District needs 

o Evaluate funding opportunities based on the prioritization list 

o Develop a timeline for application submittal based on normal State and Federal 

funding schedules 

o Identify a list of requirements for each project to determine the "shovel readiness" 

of each project, which would best position the District for a successful award 

  

• Grant Funding Research – Conduct research to identify grant resources including, but 

not limited to, federal, state, foundation, agencies, and organizations that support the 

District’s funding needs and priorities in the following general areas by way of 

illustration but not limitation: 

o Recycled Water 

o Drought Response Programs 

o Infrastructure Development and Maintenance 

o GIS Geographic Information System 

o Planning 

o Youth Engagement, Education, and Employment 

  

• On-call Grant Research – In addition to the areas defined above, other areas may also be 

identified through the Funding needs analysis process and throughout the duration of 

the contract. 

  

• Grant proposal Development – Provide grant proposal writing services associated with 

the completion of grant applications on behalf of the District, including the preparation 

254



Request For Proposal #2023-RFP-009 
Title: Grant Writing Services 

12 

 

of funding abstracts, production, and submittal of applications to funding sources. A 

copy of each submitted grant application will be provided to the District. 

  

• Monthly reports – the successful consultant shall submit monthly reports to the District 

summarizing the time expended and describing activities undertaken during the 

previous month.  

255



Request For Proposal #2023-RFP-009 
Title: Grant Writing Services 

13 

 

5. VENDOR QUESTIONNAIRE 

5.1. Have you read and agreed to all Terms and Conditions?* 
☐ Yes 

☐ No 

*Response required 

5.2. Submit Proposal Document Here* 
PDF Attachment 

*Response required 

 

256



Resumes

257



Education 
BA English, Swarthmore 
College  

Kathryn S. Menzer 
Katie Menzer, a senior funding specialist and grant analyst with Carollo Engineers, 
has more than 17 years of experience managing and researching funding opportuni-
ties and submitting successful loan and grant proposals for a variety of industries, in-
cluding water and wastewater agencies, cities, healthcare clinics, museums, social ser-
vices, and public media. She has successfully identified, applied for, and secured more 
than $1 billion in loans and grants from federal, state, and local sources. Her 
strengths lie in her ability to process large amounts of dense information quickly and 
translate it into compelling loan and grant requests that benefit public works projects, 
nonprofits, and initiatives.

Relevant Experience 
 Project funding coordinator responsible
for the submission of a Clean Water State
Revolving Fund (CWSRF) application to the
State Water Resources Control Board
(SWRCB) on behalf of the City of Twentyn-
ine Palms, California. The City is solely de-
pendent on groundwater for its potable wa-
ter supply, and the community relies on in-
dividual household septic tanks for its
wastewater needs. As a small, disadvan-
taged community, the City requested Princi-
pal Forgiveness (PF) funding for its $158.5
million project to convert its users to a sep-
tic system to ensure the sustainability of its
groundwater basin. Tasks included comple-
tion of general, technical, environmental,
and financial packages; review of project re-
port; answering questions by the state on
application details; submission of budget
and forms as well as coordination of meet-
ings between the City and state representa-
tives. The project has been placed on the
state’s Fundable List for 2023-2024.

 Project funding coordinator responsible
for the submission of a CWSRF application
to the SWRCB on behalf of the Hi-Desert
Water District, California. The District has
been identified as a high priority by the
SWRCB for eliminating the use of septic sys-
tems due to high nitrates found in produc-
tion wells. The District requested Principal
Forgiveness for Phases II and III of its $180
million septic-to-sewer conversion project.
Tasks included completion of all packages,
project report review, coordination of re-
quired signed forms, responding to ques-
tions by the state, and arrangement of
meetings between District and state officials.
The project has been placed on the state’s
Fundable List for 2023-2024.

 Project funding coordinator responsible
for the submission of a CWSRF application
to the SWRCB for the City of King, Califor-
nia. The City’s aging wastewater treatment
plant no longer meets State Order Central
Coast regulatory requirements. The pro-
posed project will update the facility to
meet requirements and pave the way for
tertiary treatment capability in the future. As
a small community, the City has requested
Principal Forgiveness and was placed on the
state’s 2023-2024 Fundable List.

 Funding specialist assisting the Polk Re-
gional Water Cooperative in Polk County,
Florida with its Water Infrastructure Finance
and Innovation Act (WIFIA) loan. Polk
County is a fast-growing community with a
limited water supply. The loan will support
projects to sustain the local drinking water
supply and alleviate the strain on the Upper
Floridan Aquifer. Tasks include compliance
and disbursement assistance; coordination
with EPA staff; and expertise in deciphering
federal crosscutter requirements including
the Build America, Buy America Act (BABA)
and the Davis-Bacon Act regulations.

 Funding specialist assisting Sarasota
County, Florida with its $132 million WIFIA
loan. The loan funds an expansion and up-
grade of the Bee Ridge Water Reclamation
Facility from an existing water reclamation
facility to an advanced wastewater treat-
ment facility that will meet increasing service
area demands. Tasks include coordination
and compliance support.

 Senior grants analyst for the Building Re-
silient Infrastructure and Communities
(BRIC) grant application, San Mateo County,
California. Assisted with the submission of a
grant application through the Federal Emer-
gency Management Agency (FEMA) for the

258



Kathryn S. Menzer 

 
 

 communities of Hillsborough, Millbrae, and 
Burlingame, California. The project benefits 
the three communities by increasing the 
seismic reliability of their aging water sys-
tems, providing additional water output and 
storage to combat wildfires, and decreasing 
electricity costs. 
 Funding lead for the development of a 
strategy to identify grants and low-interest 
loans to help offset the cost of the City of 
Los Angeles, California, Stormwater Capture 
Project. The project is initiated by the Los 
Angeles Department of Water and Power 
(LADWP) and is designed to improve water 
quality in the area's watershed by reducing 
pollutants discharged into the Los Angeles 
River.  
 Lead grant writer of an U.S. Bureau of 
Reclamation Water Recycling and Desalina-
tion Planning program application on behalf 
of LA Sanitation (LASAN), California, for the 
City of Los Angeles’ One Water plan. The 
goal of the program is to recycle 100 per-
cent of wastewater from the Hyperion Wa-
ter Reclamation Plant, one of the largest 
treatment plants in the world, for beneficial 
reuse for the City. The $5 million grant will 
assist in funding a feasibility study and 
Phase I of the project.  
 Project funding coordinator responsible 
for the development and submittal of a 
CalRecycle Organics Grant application to 
fund the City of Redding, California, Red-
ding Organics Diversion to Energy Opera-
tion (R.O.D.E.O.) project that utilizes an an-
aerobic digestion system to convert com-
mercial food waste into renewable natural 
gas. Tasks included using Census data and 
population demographic tools to create a 
data-driven application narrative that high-
lighted the project’s benefits of decreasing 
greenhouse gas emissions while assisting 
the low-income region with job growth, 
completing budget documents and collect-
ing letters of support from community 
stakeholders.  
 Senior grants analyst researching federal 
and state funding loan and grant opportu-
nities for the City of Dallas, Texas. Tasks in-
cluded using extensive knowledge of grant 
availability to determine and rank which 

channels would be most successful for the 
City to pursue for its multiple sewer rehabili-
tation and upgrade projects while providing 
the City guidance on next steps to reach 
funding goals.  
 Senior grants analyst for Santa Clara Val-
ley Water District, California, Novel Pilot- 
Scale Treated Water Augmentation study, 
including development of a U.S. Bureau of 
Reclamations' Desalination and Water Purifi-
cation Research Program grant to fund Val-
ley Water's study evaluating the impact of 
potable reuse and conventional drinking 
water blends on distribution system opera-
tions and water quality. Project partners in-
clude Stanford University and the University 
of California, Berkeley.  
 Funding technical lead for the Cesspool 
Conversion Finance Research Project for the 
Hawaii Department of Health, Wailuku, Ha-
waii. There are approximately 88,000 cess-
pools across the state, and with growing en-
vironmental issues caused by climate 
change, untreated waste may flow into the 
state’s water table, contaminating drinking 
water and the ocean beyond. Project tasks 
include identification/evaluation of federal/ 
state/local loan and grant programs and 
non-traditional funding models for funding 
cesspool conversions; review of existing 
state cesspool conversion programs for ap-
plicability; and identification of financing 
recommendations.  
 Project funding coordinator responsible 
for the identification of potential federal, 
state, and local grant and low-interest loan 
programs for planning, design, construction, 
and research projects. Tasks included review 
of CIP program and/or project elements, 
current and upcoming funding program 
opportunities, and agency calls to ascertain 
project fit. Clients include the Joint Water 
Commission, Oregon; El Dorado Irrigation 
District, California; City of Dallas, Texas; City 
of Pacifica, California; City of Twentynine 
Palms, California; East County Advanced 
Water Purification Joint Powers Authority, 
California; City of Salinas, California; City of 
Williams, Arizona, and others.  

259



Education 
MS Environmental 
Engineering, University of 
Missouri, Rolla, 2006 
BS Civil Engineering, 
University of Missouri, 
Rolla, 2004 

Licenses 
Civil Engineer, California 

Professional 
Affiliations 
American Society of Civil 
Engineers 
Society of American 
Military Engineers 
Water Environment 
Federation 

Jeffrey A. Weishaar, PE 
Jeff Weishaar, a civil and environmental engineer with Carollo Engineers, has worked 
on various wastewater projects, including elements of analysis, design, and construc-
tion.

Relevant Experience 
 Project manager for the City of
Oceanside Facility Needs Condition Assess-
ment. This project provided condition as-
sessment at three treatment plants owned 
and operated by the City. Specific duties in-
cluded coordination and overall lead for the 
condition assessments, civil and mechanical 
condition assessment, identification of po-
tential improvement projects; project cost 
estimating; and report preparation. Recom-
mendations for project implementation, 
based on criticality and available budget, 
were provided to assist the City in preparing 
for their upcoming fiscal year budget and 
updating the Capital Improvements Pro-
gram. 

 Project engineer for the La Salina Treat-
ment Plant Facility Plan for the City of
Oceanside, California. His responsibilities in-
cluded condition assessment of civil, process,
and mechanical facilities; identification of po-
tential improvement projects; project cost
estimating; and report preparation. Recom-
mendations for project implementation,
based on criticality and available budget,
were provided to assist the City in preparing
for their upcoming fiscal year budget and
updating the Capital Improvements Pro-
gram.

 Condition assessment task leader for the
City of Oceanside, California, 2013 Integrated
Master Plan update. The task entailed condi-
tion assessment of the City’s 32 sewer lift
stations. Replacement and rehabilitation
projects were identified and prioritized for
use in the City’s CIP.

 Project manager for the Water Reclama-
tion Plant Expansion for the City of San
Clemente, California. The preliminary and fi-
nal design project will increase plant recycled
water production capacity from 2.2 to 4.4
mgd. Preliminary design responsibilities in-
cluded process evaluation of disinfection
processes and flow balancing to evaluate
on-site storage of secondary effluent prior to

tertiary treatment. Final design responsibili-
ties included civil and yard piping, mechani-
cal and process design for drawing produc-
tion, specification preparation, and cost esti-
mating. 

 Project engineer for the San Luis Rey
Water Reclamation Plant for the City of
Oceanside, California. The preliminary and fi-
nal design project will increase plant recycled
water production capacity from less than 0.5
to 1.5 mgd and includes master planning to
an ultimate capacity of 7.5 mgd. Specific re-
sponsibilities included process evaluation
and life-cycle cost analysis for tertiary and
disinfection processes during preliminary de-
sign. Final design responsibilities included
civil work, yard piping, mechanical and pro-
cess design for drawing production, specifi-
cation preparation, and cost estimating.

 Project manager for the Elsinore Valley
Municipal Water District, California, Regional
WRF Program Management project. The
project included administration building re-
habilitation – office/laboratory/staff break-
room/storage room.

 Project engineer for the Sweetwater Au-
thority, California, Robert A. Perdue Water
Treatment Plant Facilities Master Plan Up-
date. Carollo completed a detailed condition
assessment plan and investigation to create
an overall asset list for installed equipment at
the plant, including structural, mechanical,
electrical, and instrumentation assets. The
project also includes process improvement
evaluations to explore safer use of chemicals
on site; replaces the aging clearwell facility;
improves chemical handling, conveyance,
and mixing; upgrades the intake structure to
reduce manpower needed for operational
tasks; and assesses potential regulatory re-
quirements that could alter the treatment
process at the plant.

 Project manager for the City of San Di-
ego, California, Alvarado Water Treatment
Plant Stainless Steel Piping Condition Assess-
ment. Carollo was asked to perform a condi-
tion assessment for the City to determine

260



Jeffrey A. Weishaar, PE 

the condition of all the gallery piping and es-
timate useful remaining life. However, only 
the wash water supply piping was assessed 
due to hydraulic issues with valving not 
holding flow and limited shutdown time. The 
wash water supply piping is 30 inches in 
nominal diameter and is constructed of Type 
304L stainless steel. The results of the condi-
tion assessment will be used to determine if 
rehabilitation or replacement of the Type 
304L stainless steel piping is recommended. 
Based on the conclusions of the condition 
assessment rehabilitation and replacements 
options considered, rehabilitation of the pip-
ing was determined not feasible. 

 Project manager and process mechanical
lead for the San Elijo Joint Powers Authority
(SEJPA), California, San Elijo Water Reclama-
tion Facility Plan Update. The purpose of this
Facility Plan Update was to provide SEJPA
with a planning document that identified
and prioritized potential improvements at
the San Elijo WRF. Projects were identified
based on a comprehensive condition assess-
ment of the installed assets, a review of reg-
ulatory issues and potential changes, and
potential process enhancements. Additional
work was performed to update the
Wastewater Asset Management database
previously prepared for SEJPA.

 Project manager for the Encina
Wastewater Authority, California, Process
Master Plan for the Encina Water Pollution
Control Facility. Carollo prepared a process
master plan to evaluate existing process op-
erations, recommend necessary enhance-
ments, and ensure the Encina Wastewater
Authority continued operation with up-to-
date technologies while maintaining effec-
tive reuse of Encina’s water, biofuel, and bio-
solid resources.

 Project engineer for the J.B. Latham
Treatment Plant Facility Plan for the South
Orange County Wastewater Authority, Cali-
fornia. The Facility Plan provided a 20-year
planning window for liquid and solids treat-
ment, flow analysis, odor control, energy
management, site planning, and regulatory
issues. Project duties included flow and plant
capacity analysis, solids treatment analysis
for thickening and digestion, site planning,
cost estimating, and report preparation.

 Project engineer for the Asset Valuation
Study for the City of Santa Paula, California,
water and sewer systems. His responsibilities
included preparation of replacement, less
depreciated cost values, for the City’s water
and sewer systems, including distribution
and collection piping and appurtenances,
water and wastewater treatment plants,
pump stations, reservoirs, and estimated
land value.

 Condition assessment task leader for the
City of Colton, California, Wastewater Master
Plan. Responsibilities included leading a
team of discipline engineers to assess the
City’s wastewater treatment plant facility.

 Project engineer for design of a new
wastewater lift station at Lake Cachuma Park
for the County of Santa Barbara, California.
The station incorporates chopper pumps in
a wet well designed to prevent solids depo-
sition. He provided construction manage-
ment services, submittal review, and re-
sponses to contractor requests for infor-
mation.

 Project engineer for the Los Molinos
Pump Station Reliability Analysis for the City
of San Clemente, California. The study iden-
tified a fully redundant, engine-driven pump
as the best approach to minimize overflows.

 Project engineer for the City of Barstow,
California. Wastewater Treatment Plant Im-
provements Phase 1 Project. This project
covered multiple subtasks including condi-
tion assessment of the wastewater treatment
plant, project development and ranking,
process modeling, preliminary design and fi-
nal design. The Phase 1 construction project
includes rehabilitation of the aeration basins,
secondary clarifiers, and gravity thickener, as
well as SCADA upgrades, a new dewatering
facility and new standby generator and addi-
tional miscellaneous site piping, electrical
and instrumentation upgrades. The Phase 2
construction project will include upgrades to
the primary clarifiers and aerobic digesters
as well as a new influent pump station, a
new electrical control building and additional
SCADA, electrical, and instrumentation up-
grades.

261



Education 
BS Civil Engineering, 
University of Arkansas, 
1983 

Professional 
Affiliations 
American Society of Civil 
Engineers 
National Society of 
Professional Engineers 

Jeffrey R. Thornbury 
Jeff Thornbury’s 37 years of civil engineering and environmental experience allows 
him to anticipate challenges that arise during the course of any project. His commit-
ment to providing cost-effective solutions by taking on a proactive role in projects 
will result in the completion of projects on time and within budget. He encourages an 
open line of communication between the client and project manager in order to cre-
ate innovative solutions to challenges. 

His experience ranges from water and wastewater engineering design, permitting, 
water resources and stormwater management, facility design, water and wastewater 
process, to construction design build. He has been project manager and principal in 
charge throughout the southwestern United States on more than 120 environmental 
management projects, 150 wastewater and civil/environmental projects, and 80 haz-
ardous and solid waste management projects.  

Relevant Experience 
 Principal-in-charge for the 450/680 Re-
cycled Water Reservoir and Pump Station
for the Otay Water District, San Diego, Cali-
fornia. The project included planning, de-
sign, and construction support services for a
12 million gallon recycled water steel reser-
voir, a 17-mgd pump station, 3,300 linear
feet of CMLC pipelines, valve and meter
vaults, yard piping, and access.

 Principal-in-charge for the Integrated
Water Management Plan for the City of Riv-
erside, California. The project developed a
long-term supply strategy to meet the City’s
projected potable, non-potable, and recy-
cled water demands.

 Principal-in-charge for the Stormwater
Recovery for Pure Water Facilities, City of
San Diego, California. Provided planning
and preliminary design of combined sewer
systems, and evaluation of treatment alter-
natives at wastewater reclamation plants to
provide additional source water for the
City’s Pure Water Program.

 Principal-in-charge for North City Re-
newable Energy Pipeline Design, City of San
Diego, California. Provided planning and
design of the City’s landfill gas pipeline from
the existing Miramar Landfill to the North
City Water Reclamation Plant as a compo-
nent of the North City Renewable Energy
Project.

 Project director for the Wastewater
Treatment and Stormwater Investigation
and Design for United Airlines at San Fran-
cisco International Airport, California. The

project included planning, investigations, 
design, and construction efforts related to 
stormwater collection, detention, and treat-
ment at the San Francisco International Air-
port Aircraft Maintenance Facilities. The 
study area totaled 300 acres, covering on-
site and offsite airport properties. 

 Principal-in-charge for the Irvine Ranch
Water District, California, Rattlesnake Reser-
voir Chlorine Gas System Replacement. Car-
ollo is providing engineering services to re-
place the existing chlorine gas system with a
bulk sodium hypochlorite system. Devel-
oped and evaluated alternative layouts for
the new sodium hypochlorite storage and
feed system, including three initial layouts
for tank and pumping configurations.

 Principal-in-charge for the design of the
North City Pure Water Facility, City of San
Diego, California. This fast-track design pro-
ject was successfully managed and com-
pleted for construction bidding of this $250
million project within 11-months. The project
required extensive coordination with City
departments, permitting agencies and
stakeholders.

 Project director for the Encina
Wastewater Authority, California, prelimi-
nary and final design of the Secondary Aer-
ation Basin Rehabilitation project at the En-
cina Water Pollution Control Facility. This
project adds anaerobic selectors to the acti-
vated sludge process to improve secondary
sludge settling for a capacity of 40.5 mgd.
Baffle walls and mixers are added to the ex-
isting aeration basins to create anaerobic
zones. The project also includes

262



Jeffrey R. Thornbury 

rehabilitation of the basins influent channels 
and washdown water system, gate replace-
ment, and addition of a new standby RAS 
pump. Aeration basin covers are modified 
to provide improved access and safety pro-
visions. Carollo’s WASAC process was evalu-
ated to identify potential energy and chemi-
cal savings and overall feasibility. 

 Principal-in-charge at the Encina Water
Pollution Control Facility for the Fiscal Year
2012 Major Plant Rehabilitation for the En-
cina Wastewater Authority, California. The
FY 2012 project consists of replacement of
existing agitation air piping and diffusers, in-
stalling temporary bypass pumping system
capable of approximately 70-mgd to allow
structural repair work on the influent junc-
tion structure, cure in place lining of four
48-inch influent lines, new slide gates with
electric actuators, foul air axial fan and pip-
ing, constructing vactor truck dump station,
rehabilitating existing plant drainage pump
station, replacement of existing grit separat-
ing equipment, site grading drainage v-
ditches, replacement of concrete sidewalks,
asphalt pavement, curbs, and gutters.

 Principal-in-charge for the RP-4 Pump
Station Design project for the Inland Empire
Utilities Agency, California. The project con-
sisted of upgrading an existing pump sta-
tion by adding three 300-hp vertical turbine
pumps and constructing a new booster
pump station with five 300-hp horizontal
split case pumps and approximately 800
feet of 36- and 48-inch diameter discharge
pipeline.

 Principal-in-charge for the Rincon del
Diablo Municipal Water District, California,
Rockhoff Pump Station Replacement. This
project consisted of the replacement of a
pump station building and station modifica-
tion to replace vertical turbine pump units
with centrifugal skid-mounted pumps.

 Principal-in-charge for the Otay Water
District, California, 870-2 Pump Station Re-
placement. Carollo designed a pump station
facility that feeds two separate pressure
zones one of which serves as a recirculation
line for a 37 MG reservoir. An extensive cost
analysis of life cycle costs and system relia-
bility was performed looking at gas vs.

electric drive pumps. Site constraints re-
quired special attention to keep all facilities 
within the property limits yet also plan for a 
future build-out phase that would double 
the facility’s pumping capacity and accom-
modate future transmission mains crossing 
the site. 

 Principal-in-charge for the Miramar
Pump Station Condition Assessment project
for the San Diego County Water Authority,
California. The project included condition
assessment and renewal decision analysis
for the pump station.

 Principal-in-charge for the Sweetwater
Authority, California, Robert A. Perdue Wa-
ter Treatment Plant Facilities Master Plan
Update. Carollo completed a detailed con-
dition assessment plan and investigation to
create an overall asset list for installed
equipment at the plant, including structural,
mechanical, electrical, and instrumentation
assets. The project also includes process im-
provement evaluations to explore safer use
of chemicals on site; replaces the aging
clearwell facility; improves chemical han-
dling, conveyance, and mixing; upgrades
the intake structure to reduce manpower
needed for operational tasks; and assesses
potential regulatory requirements that could
alter the treatment process at the plant.

 Principal-in-charge for the City of San
Diego, California, Alvarado Water Treatment
Plant Stainless Steel Piping Condition As-
sessment. Carollo was asked to perform a
condition assessment for the City to deter-
mine the condition of all the gallery piping
and estimate useful remaining life. However,
only the wash water supply piping was as-
sessed due to hydraulic issues with valving
not holding flow and limited shutdown time.
The wash water supply piping is 30 inches in
nominal diameter and is constructed of
Type 304L stainless steel. The results of the
condition assessment will be used to deter-
mine if rehabilitation or replacement of the
Type 304L stainless steel piping is recom-
mended. Based on the conclusions of the
condition assessment rehabilitation and re-
placements options considered, rehabilita-
tion of the piping was determined not feasi-
ble.

263



 

 
 

Education 
BS Environmental 
Engineering, University of 
California, Riverside, 2013 
AA General Studies, 
Saddleback College, 
Mission Viejo, CA, 1991 

Licenses 
Engineer-in-Training, 
California 
 
 

Risa Guysi, EIT 
Risa Guysi is an environmental engineer with four years of experience. Since joining 
Carollo Engineers, she has worked on various wastewater projects and pilot studies.

Relevant Experience  
 Team member of a senior design team 
project on Selective Catalytic Reduction 
(SCR) System for Lawnmower Emissions for 
the Chemical and Environmental Engineer-
ing Department at the University of Califor-
nia, Riverside (UCR). The project included a 
team-designed aftermarket filter using SCR 
technology, which dramatically reduced ni-
trogen oxides, carbon monoxide, and par-
ticulate matter from lawnmower emissions. 
She drafted a grant proposal and was 
awarded the UCR Undergraduate Research 
Mini-Award Grant. The team competed at 
The Institute for Energy and the Environ-
ment/WERC: International Environmental 
Design Contest in Las Curces, New Mexico, 
and won first place in Open Task and first 
place in Peer Review (2013). The project was 
awarded Top Senior Design Project (2013) 
from UCR. 

 Project engineer for the Buena Vista, 
Buena Creek, and Raceway Pump Stations 
VFD/PLC Replacement and Rehabilitation 
Study for the City of Vista, California. Her re-
sponsibilities included condition assessment 
of civil, process, and mechanical facilities; 
identification of potential improvement pro-
jects; project cost estimating; construction 
services; and report preparation. Recom-
mendations for project implementation, 
based on criticality and available budget, 
were provided to assist the City in preparing 
for their upcoming fiscal year budget and 
updating the Capital Improvements Pro-
gram.  

 Project engineer for the Mission Gorge 
Road Sewer Improvements for the City of 
San Diego, California. The project includes 
demolition of the roadway surface fea-
tures, including the existing AC pavement 
and raised landscaped median. The re-
moval and replacement of approximately 
600-feet of 12-inch diameter SDR 26 PVC 
sewer pipeline required flow capacity anal-
ysis, design, and construction engineering 

support services for the successful imple-
mentation and execution of the emer-
gency repair design-build project. 

 Project manager for the Stormwater Re-
covery Feasibility Study for the City of San 
Diego, California. This project included eval-
uating the potential for capture and recov-
ery of stormwater as an additional source of 
water supply for the Pure Water San Diego 
Phase II project. Stormwater would be di-
verted to the City’s existing wastewater col-
lection system where capacity is available, 
treated with sewer flows and then sent to a 
future advanced water purification facility. 

 Project engineer for the Regional Treat-
ment Plant Advanced Water Treatment No. 
2 rehabilitation for the South Orange 
County Wastewater Authority, California. 
The project included delivery of a prelimi-
nary design report analyzing the necessary 
repairs to the filter’s mechanical appurte-
nances and instrumentation to improve 
safety and operations reliability. Drawings 
and specifications were prepared for con-
crete repair and recoating, piping and valve 
modifications, and instrumentation up-
grades. 

 Project engineer and pilot operator for a 
three-month reverse osmosis pilot study for 
the City of Oceanside, California and the 
U.S. Bureau of Reclamation. The project in-
cluded evaluating a preliminary analysis of 
potential brine treatment by addition of a 
third stage reverse osmosis system to the 
Mission Basin Groundwater Purification Fa-
cility. Her responsibilities included daily 
maintenance and operation of the RO pilot 
unit, troubleshooting and installation or re-
pair of instrumentation and equipment, col-
laboration with team members regarding 
performance and maintenance issues, on-
site analysis/testing and sample collection 
for lab analysis, and ordering materials, 
equipment, hazardous chemicals, and prep-
aration of the pilot test report to summarize 
the performance and analytical data and 
present recommendations to the City. 

264



Risa Guysi, EIT 

 
 

  Pilot operator for a six-month biodenitri-
fication pilot study for the Cucamonga Val-
ley Water District, California. The project in-
volved confirming anticipated design criteria 
for nitrate removal, attaining California De-
partment of Public Health conditional ap-
proval for biottta™-based dibromochloro-
propane (DBCP) treatment, demonstrating 
the stability of the system under forced sys-
tem disturbances, and familiarizing District 
staff with the system. Her responsibilities in-
cluded daily operation and maintenance of 
the biottta™ pilot system, troubleshooting 
and installation or repair of instrumentation 
and equipment, collaboration with team 
members regarding performance and 
maintenance issues, on-site analysis/testing 
and sample collection for lab analysis, and 
ordering materials, equipment, and hazard-
ous chemicals. 

 Pilot operator for a nine-month biodeni-
trification pilot study for the Chino Basin De-
salter Authority, California, and the U.S. En-
vironmental Protection Agency. The project 
included developing full-scale design criteria 
for the biottta™ system targeting nitrate, tri-
chloroethylene (TCE), and 1,2,3-trichloropro-
pane (TCP); identifying any process limita-
tions and potential failure scenarios; and ap-
plying for and receiving conditional Califor-
nia Department of Public Health approval 
for using the biottta™ system to remove 
TCE and TCP from drinking water. Her re-
sponsibilities included daily operation and 
maintenance of the biottta™ pilot system, 
troubleshooting and installation or repair of 
instrumentation and equipment, collabora-
tion with team members regarding perfor-
mance and maintenance issues, on-site 
analysis/testing and sample collection for 
lab analysis, and ordering materials, equip-
ment, and hazardous chemicals. 

 Laboratory assistance for the Environ-
mental Fate and Transport Laboratory at the 
University of California, Riverside. Her re-
sponsibilities included protocol develop-
ment and testing; equipment maintenance, 
decommissioning, and acquisition; hazard-
ous waste management; ordering labora-
tory supplies and materials; and supervision 
and training of undergraduate students. 

 Research assistant for the chemical and 
Environmental Engineering Department at 
the University of California, Riverside. She 
collaborated with graduate students and 
faculty regarding analytical methods and re-
sults; analyzed experimental results to de-
termine fate and transport of nanoparticles 
within a model colon/septic system and re-
sulting impact on human intestinal flora and 
groundwater; and performed water quality 
testing, including alkalinity, hardness, TSS, 
BOD, and electrophoretic mobility. 

265



carollo.com

266

https://carollo.com/
https://carollo.com/


Sealed Fee Proposal  /  2023-RFP-009  /  September 2023

GRANT WRITING 
SERVICES

VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT
Prepared for

267



VALLEY SAN
ITARY D

ISTRIC
T  /  G

RAN
T W

RITIN
G

 SERVIC
ES

1CAROLLO  /  PROPOSAL  /  SEPTEMBER 2023
\\Io-bd-1\bd-data\Marketing\Pursuits\Client24(LAO)\VSD\GrantWritingServices\Prop0923\Indd\E-SealedFeeProposal

Sealed Fee Proposal

SEC
TIO

N
 E

Carollo Labor Other Direct Costs (ODC)

Su
bt

ot
al

Tasks Funding Support Pr
oj

ec
t 

M
an

ag
er

Gr
an

ts
 

M
an

ag
er

Gr
an

ts
 

An
al

ys
t

Gr
ap

hi
cs

Do
cu

m
en

t 
Pr

oc
es

sin
g

To
ta

l H
ou

rs

La
bo

r C
os

t

PE
CE

Pr
in

tin
g

Mileage

To
ta

l O
DC

 
Co

st

Tr
ip

s

Am
ou

nt

Hourly Rate $303 $185 $140 $185 $147

1 Project Kick-off Meeting 2 4 6 12 $2,186 $168 $0 $0 $0 $168 $2,400
2 CIP Review and Project Verification 2 20 20 42 $7,106 $588 $0 $0 $0 $588 $7,700
3 Funding Strategy Development 40 40 4 84 $13,588 $1,176 $0 $0 $0 $1,176 $14,800
4 On-call Grant Research 8 24 32 $4,840 $448 $0 $0 $0 $448 $5,300
5 Develop Grant and Low Interest Loan 

Applications - OPTIONAL
a. Develop SRF Application Package 12 60 92 16 36 216 $35,868 $3,024 $0 $0 $0 $3,024 $38,900
b. Develop USBR Drought Response 
     Program Grant  

8 60 80 16 16 180 $30,036 $2,520 $0 $0 $0 $2,520 $32,600

c. Develop IBank loan application 8 80 80 168 $28,424 $2,352 $0 $0 $0 $2,352 $30,800
6 Project Management 32 32 64 $10,400 $896 $0 $0 $0 $896 $11,300

Total Cost $41,500

a, b & c =

PECE  =
Legend

Project Equipment and Communication Expense 

Expense example fees for possible funding 
applications. District will select its preferred 
application pursuits at a later date. Example 
application fees are not reflected in total cost.

268



carollo.com

269

https://carollo.com/
https://carollo.com/


GRANT WRITING SERVICES
2023-RFP-009

VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT
September 14, 2023

270



1  Harris & Associates, Inc.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

A. Cover Letter ............................................................................................................................................. 2

B.  Proposer Statement of Qualifications ............................................................................................... 4

C.  Proposed Method to Accomplish the Work .................................................................................... 31

D.  Certification of Proposal .................................................................................................................... 38

E. Sealed Fee Proposal .............................................................. (See Separate Fee Document)

271



A. COVER LETTER

Harris & Associates, Inc. 
One California Plaza 
300 S Grand Avenue, Suite 3830 
Los Angeles, CA 90071

800.827.4901  WeAreHarris.com

Harris & Associates, Inc. 
207 1/2 1st Avenue S., Suite 250 
Seattle, WA 98104

206.455.8862  WeAreHarris.com

Harris & Associates, Inc. 
450 Lincoln Avenue, Suite 103 
Salinas, CA 93901

831.789.8670  WeAreHarris.com

Harris & Associates, Inc. 
600 B Street, Suite 2000 
San Diego, CA 92101

619.236.1178  WeAreHarris.com

Harris & Associates, Inc. 
22 Executive Park, Suite 200 
Irvine, CA 92614

949.655.3900  WeAreHarris.com

IRVINE SAN DIEGO SALINAS SEATTLE LOS ANGELES

APPROX 450 WORDS FOR COVER LETTER BODY

Cover Letter  2

September 14, 2023

Holly Gould 
Clerk of the Board 
Valley Sanitary District
45500 Van Buren St.
Indio, CA 92201
hevans@valley-sanitary.org

A. Cover Letter: 2023-RFP-009 Grant Writing Services

Dear Evaluation Committee:

Valley Sanitary District (VSD) is making significant investments in wastewater capital projects 
for the Indio community with $58,232,000 funded in the current fiscal year 2023/24 budget. 
Key projects to be completed include the Recycled Water Project Phase 1 Design-Build, the 
Collection System Sewer Main Rehabilitation and Replacement Project (Project 2—Downtown 
District Sewer Improvements), and the Westward Ho Sewer Siphon Replacement (Federal 
Emergency Management Agency [FEMA] funded). As noted in VSD’s Budget Message, “the 
District has had to reprioritize major initiatives and capital projects due to increased operating 
costs, construction costs, and inflation…The District’s greatest challenges are addressing aging 
infrastructure and preparing to meet changing regulatory requirements while maintaining its 
affordability for ratepayers. The 20-Year Master Plan indicates a need for over $308 million 
in improvements and replacement of assets, including the Recycled Water Project, with an 
estimated cost of $197 million.”

In light of the financial challenges emphasized in VSD’s Budget Message, VSD has strategically 
issued its RFP-2023-009 for the selection of a qualified consultant that can support VSD with 
grant writing services to pursue the various grant programs available to VSD to offset upfront 
capital costs otherwise required to fund its critical sewer collection system projects and 
Recycled Water Project. Every dollar secured in outside funding is one step towards mitigating 
and lowering any future rate increase—delivering on VSD’s promise to maintain affordability 
for its ratepayers.

Understanding of Your Challenges=A Long-Term Trusted Advisor to VSD. 
Harris & Associates (Harris) values its long-term relationship with VSD as a Program Manager 
for the sewer collection system capital projects. We care deeply for our involvement with VSD 
as your Trusted Advisor, and know that this relationship can be further expanded by the Team 
identified in our Proposal to position VSD to meet its funding challenges through strategic 
pursuits of grant funding and low interest loans to offset grant requirements, all of which is in 
thoughtful consideration of future financial analyses and rate studies that may be required to 
meet VSD’s operational and capital costs moving forward into the future.

We are intimately familiar with VSD, its 20-Year Master Plan, its funding challenges, and 
know the value we can bring to VSD as its Grant Writing Services consultant. In addition to 
the valuable experience of the Harris employees specifically chosen for this assignment, we 
have teamed with Ms. Sudi Shoja with Engineering Solutions Services, Inc., (ESS). Sudi is also 
very familiar with VSD, having been previously selected by VSD for grant and loan assistance, 
pursuing, on behalf of VSD, funding through the Bureau of Reclamation Title XVI and Clean 
Water State Revolving Fund programs, and helped to secure a $44.06 million WIFIA loan 
reservation from the EPA for VSD’s Recycled Water Project.

Harris & Associates, Inc. 
800 North Haven Avenue, Suite 390 
Ontario, CA 91764

P: 800.827.4901  F: 866.356.0998

WeAreHarris.com
272



APPROX 450 WORDS FOR COVER LETTER BODY

Cover Letter  3

Harris & Associates, Inc. 
800 North Haven Avenue, Suite 390 
Ontario, CA 91764

P: 800.827.4901  F: 866.356.0998

WeAreHarris.com

A Trusted Project Manager with a Unique Perspective. Trust, the foundation of strong 
relationships, is key to understanding VSD’s needs and knowing the variety of grants and loan 
programs available for pursuit that can offset VSD’s capital costs. Marcus Fuller embodies 
both dimensions of trust: competence and character. Marcus has served in a variety of roles for 
local agencies including in Palm Springs where, as Assistant City Manager, he was responsible 
for management of the City’s Wastewater Enterprise, including capital project delivery 
and exploring financing options to most effectively and efficiently utilize the Palm Springs 
ratepayers’ funds. 

Most importantly, Marcus understands how the utility enterprise capital costs, when leveraged 
with available grant funds and low interest financing for any required grant funding match, 
can translate into lower overall costs and ultimately lower rates charged to the customer.

Marcus brings unmatched agency knowledge and a diverse perspective that will benefit VSD as 
our Team pursues those outside funds to offset its capital costs and in the end help lower any 
future revenue increases that may be necessary.

Marcus previously teamed with Sudi to pursue a low interest loan through the Clean Water State 
Revolving Fund (CWSRF) program for Palm Springs’ Wastewater Treatment Plant Upgrade 
Project. Together they were successful in navigating the CWSRF Program and secured the 
construction funding loan that immediately offset the upfront capital cost of $21 million. More 
importantly, through their effort they capitalized on the loan principal forgiveness through the 
Green Project Reserve available in the CWSRF program to “write off” over $1.1 million (4-5%) of 
the “green” sustainable and energy savings elements of the project. We look forward to exploring 
these types of grant and financing options for VSD in its goal of completing the Reclamation 
Plant Project to capture and utilize recycled water for the community.

Harris’ Successful Track Record=Added Value to VSD. From our long-term experience 
providing program management for VSD, with our deep understanding of VSD’s 20-Year 
Capital Improvements Plan (CIP), with our Team’s experience securing outside sources of 
funding for critical capital projects, we can offer VSD these important valuable themes—early 
planning, depth and breadth of resources, stakeholder engagement, and flexibility. We will 
use our experience and insight to provide the important Grant Writing Services to VSD, and 
provide a comprehensive effort to connect VSD’s Funding needs with its 20-Year CIP to pursue 
available sources of outside funding and low interest financing—all in an effort to provide the 
most economical and efficient use of VSD’s ratepayer funds.

Sincerely,
Harris & Associates, Inc.

Marcus Fuller, PE, PLS
Program Manager (Authorized to Represent)
949.536.2510
Marcus.Fuller@WeAreHarris.com
 

Ehab Gerges, PE 
Principal-in-Charge (Authorized to Bind)
949.683.2011
Ehab.Gerges@WeAreHarris.com

Harris & Associates has 
ability and desire to meet the 
requirements of this RFP.

273



4  Harris & Associates, Inc.

For nearly 50 years, Harris has been committed to helping California agencies and 
municipalities with their funding and administrative needs. We are uniquely suited to 
help VSD anticipate, pre-position, prepare, and submit successful grant applications, 
as our team members have done more than 100 times for state, federal, and local grant 
programs. By providing highly experienced staff members who have managed pre- and 
post-grant award and other funding programs, the Harris team will help VSD meet 
all of its reporting requirements to obtain quick reimbursement. Having a team with a 
depth of resources is going to be critical as we continue to see state and federal funding 
materializing from the 2021 Infrastructure Bill and Inflation Reduction Act, and will 
need to be prepared to respond quickly and effectively. 

Our team assisted many clients with grants in 2008 with the American 
Reinvestment and Recovery Act (ARRA) where the federal government pushed 
billions of dollars out for public projects, such as transportation, water, and sewer 
systems, through agencies like the US Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA) 
and Bureau of Reclamation (BOR). Our team is already assessing new grant 
opportunities from these government agencies. We stand prepared to provide 
dedicated, seasoned grant resources that will help VSD maximize its opportunities 
to secure its share of the myriad funding opportunities available for its critical 
wastewater capital projects—with an emphasis on VSD’s Recycled Water Project—
the largest project with an overall estimated cost of $197 million.

Harris’ holistic perspective, multidisciplinary expertise, and familiarity with VSD 
will promote a highly successful approach to grant targeting, writing, submittal, and, 
ultimately, receipt of grant funding. Based on our current experience as the Program 
Manager for VSD’s Sewer Collection System capital projects, we are very familiar with 
VSD’s 20-Year Capital Improvement Program (CIP) identified in its current fiscal 
year 2023/24 budget. Among the variety of capital projects identified in the CIP, three 
types of critical projects are included:

B.  PROPOSER STATEMENT 
OF QUALIFICATIONS

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY. 
An executive summary should briefly 
describe the Proposer’s qualifications and 
ability to perform the Services.

Emergency Sewer Siphon Replacement Project

Recycled Water Project, inclusive of Phases 1, 2 and 3 and associated Laboratory 
Building, and Training & Office Building

Sewer Main Rehabilitation/Replacement Program

100+  
SUCCESSFUL GRANT 

APPLICATIONS

Harris has proven our success in 
positioning, preparing, and submitting 
successful grant applications for state, 
federal, and local grant programs. Our 
highly experienced staff members who 

have managed pre- and post-grant 
award and other funding programs

274



5  Harris & Associates, Inc.

We understand VSD is currently under construction with 
the Recycled Water Project Phase 1 with an estimated cost of 
$80 million—financed primarily with a $71 million 30-year 
Bank of America loan at an interest rate of 2.75%. Work is 
anticipated to be completed by 2025. The focus of our efforts 
will be on securing funding for Phases 2 and 3 (including the 
Laboratory and Training & Office buildings) at an estimated 
cost of $134 million (as identified in the CIP). A key strategy 
VSD has identified is to complete the Funding Needs Analysis 
that will include a review of the currently proposed elements 
of the remaining phases of the Recycled Water Project— to 
ensure the scope and benefits of the project align with the 
funding opportunities available for drought resiliency, water 
recycling, and groundwater replenishment activities.

We are intimately familiar with VSD’s Sewer Collection 
System program of sewer repair and replacement projects, and 
it will be important to clearly define the interconnectedness 
between improving the collection system infrastructure 
(eliminating leaks and potential impacts to groundwater 
quality) and ensuring a safe and well-maintained collection 
system to maximize useful life and convey untreated 
wastewater to VSD’s planned Recycled Water Project.

We also understand that VSD has secured $9 million in 
a FEMA reimbursement for costs to repair/replace the 
Westward Ho sanitary sewer siphon across the Coachella 
Stormwater channel due to damage that occurred during 
flooding on February 14, 2019. The timing for this work 
is contingent on FEMA’s final review and approval of the 
project. We have the experience and capacity to assist VSD 
in coordinating and processing FEMA reimbursements 
compliant with FEMA requirements.

Each of the two primary project types (Recycled Water Project 
and sewer collection system projects) has unique needs, and 
Harris is positioned to seize upon service-specific grant 
opportunities that apply to these types of capital projects. 
We understand the critical need for funding and the impact 
these projects will have on your communities. As your Trusted 
Advisor, we hold ourselves accountable to your needs, to 
deliver on our promises, and develop efficient, comprehensive, 
and actionable solutions to pursue the grant programs 
available to VSD to position you to move forward with these 
critical projects.

Securing a successful grant writing services consultant is 
especially important in light of VSD’s limited capital funding 
as represented in the current fiscal year 2023/24 budget:

Funding Source FY24 Budget

Fund 12 Replacement Reserve $7,719,150

Fun 13 Capital Improvement Reserve $5,200,000

FEMA $9,112, 850

Bank of America Loan $35,700,000

State Water Board Grant $500,000

Total Funds Budgeted $58,232,000

275



6  Harris & Associates, Inc.

VSD is relying upon its Fund 12/Fund 13 reserves of $12.9 million to support its capital 
projects, and with a total 20-Year CIP estimated at $308 million*—the need certainly 
exists for identifying and securing all available outside sources of funding for VSD’s 
critical capital projects.

Harris has assembled a team with extensive experience and technical proficiency in 
grants. The Harris team is led by our Principal-in-Charge Ehab Gerges and Project 
Manager Marcus Fuller, with support from grant specialists Christy Cooper, Kelly 
Morgan, and Dima Galkin. Our team is also supplemented by a Subject Matter Expert 
(SME)—Sudi Shoja with ESS who has direct experience with VSD on pursuing grant 
and loan financing for its critical projects. Our team is also supported by Harris SMEs 
including: Zaheer Shaikh to support the scope review and cost estimating for the 
Recycled Water Project, Ann Hajnosz and Karyn Johnson for technical support and 
financial analyses, and Mark Nassar and Elizabeth Reyes for funding needs analysis. 

Harris understands VSD may also pursue funding for a variety of other types of programs 
and projects, including GIS Geographic Information System, Planning, and Youth 
Engagement, Education and Employment. Harris’ approach of pairing grant experts with 
SMEs produces successful grant applications for projects that are feasible, compliant with 
grantor requirements, and that meet the needs and priorities of VSD and the community 
it serves. Harris has had success in multiple areas, including water related grant programs. 
Although not specific to water/wastewater projects, but as a testament to Harris’ 
grant writing success story, Harris also has a successful track record assisting public 
agencies to win grant awards in the areas of affordable housing, economic development, 
transportation and roadways, stormwater and flood control, green infrastructure, disaster 
recovery, hazard mitigation, engineering, and other critical infrastructure projects. Harris 
has worked with multiple federal and state funding agencies and programs, as well as 
several regional agencies such as the Bay Area Council Foundation.

Our team has the existing knowledge and understanding of VSD’s funding needs and 
its CIP, and is best prepared to immediately support VSD to position it in pursuit of the 
funding programs available to it.

*Harris has reviewed VSD’s 20-Year CIP and the total overall estimated cost is $522.9 million, 
with $184.1 million programmed for a future WWTP expansion in fiscal years 2040/41 – 2042/43.

VSD’S 20-YEAR CIP BUDGET

$522.9 million
TOTAL CIP

$184.1 million
WWTP EXPANSION

$308 million
FUNDING NEEDED FOR CIP

276



7  Harris & Associates, Inc.

2. QUALIFICATIONS AND 
EXPERIENCE 
2a: Provide a description of how the 
Proposer’s experience, technical and 
professional skills will meet the goals and 
fulfill the general functions identified in 
this RFP.

Founded in 1974, Harris specializes in serving the professional needs of public 
agencies and institutions in California. We provide expertise from project 
conception through construction in the municipal, transportation, water, and 
education market sectors. Our work for municipalities and special districts includes 
streets and transportation, community facilities, parks and open spaces, storm 
drain, water supply, water distribution, and special projects including flood control. 
With more than 250 employees, Harris is sized to keep VSD’s grants and grant 
awards a priority and be personally vested in its success.

Harris also provides clients with a broad range of public financing and related 
services. Our combination of engineering and financial experts allows us to provide 
a host of services to our clients resulting in reduced staff time involved on projects. 
Harris provides our clients with the technical expertise and knowledge needed to 
develop and implement sound financial strategies that provide communities with 
essential infrastructure. To date, Harris has provided financial support services to 
more than 100 public agencies throughout California.

Overall Capabilities
• Advisory Services

• Asset Management

• Civil Design

• Climate Change + Sustainability

• Community Planning

• Construction Management

• Environmental Planning + Compliance

• Grant Support

• Infrastructure + Utilities

• Municipal Engineering

• Municipal Finance

• Program Management

• Risk + Resilience

• Special District Services

277



8  Harris & Associates, Inc.

Expertise In Grant Services
Harris has extensive knowledge and experience with federal 
and state grant programs, grant agency personnel, funding 
opportunities, requirements, and application processes. As 
evidence of our successful track record, we have helped public 
agencies to target, apply and win grant awards in the areas of 
housing, flood control, stormwater infrastructure, urban creek 
restoration, green infrastructure, disaster recovery, hazard 
mitigation, engineering, and other critical infrastructure 
projects. Harris’ winning approach includes expertise in 
identifying funding opportunities, building relationships 
with agency program managers, adhering to the application 
process, and developing application materials that are 
customized to the grant application requirements, including 
project descriptions, scopes of work, project justifications, 
outcomes, and deliverables. SMEs provide technical oversight 
to verify proposed projects are technically feasible and serve 
their purpose to the community.

Harris confirms all implementation, cost sharing, and grant 
requirements are met. Harris’ assistance extends after the 
application process. Our client support continues with providing 
oversight while applications are under review, assisting with 
funder-issued Requests for Information, and coordinating grant 
reports, reimbursements, and project closeout.

The Harris team includes seasoned grant writers and 
managers, planning and resilience experts, and professional 
engineers. The Harris team includes Ms. Sudi Shoja, PE, a 
SME focused on water/wastewater capital project funding 
programs. Harris’ key to grant success is to proactively 
build relationships between the client and funding agency in 
order to write winning proposals that achieve mutual goals, 
deliver outcomes, and improve communities. As an example, 
Harris recently worked with the Economic Development 
Administration (EDA) and the City of Long Beach to develop 
and submit a grant application for the improvement of several 
storm drains and pump station sites to improve resilience 
to citywide flooding which resulted in successful grant 
funding. As a liaison between the two agencies, Harris’ grant 
coordinators and SMEs engaged staff to make certain all grant 
program criteria were met, the proposed project would achieve 
mutual goals and outcomes, environmental impact reports and 
engineering reports were completed according to the EDA’s 
standards, and the application was submitted ahead of the 
deadline. Harris provides ongoing grant support to Calaveras 
County, City of Duarte, City of Bellflower, City of Watsonville, 
and the San Gabriel Valley Regional Housing Trust to identify 
innovative funding solutions for a variety of complex projects.

Harris’ key team members have more than 20 years of experience 
with grant applications and the post-award administration of 
grants. The Harris team has secured grants for our clients through 
multiple funding agencies and programs, including the following:

FEDERAL
• US Bureau of Reclamation 

(BOR)

• US Environmental 
Protection Agency (USEPA)

• US Department of 
Commerce’s Economic 
Development 
Administration (EDA)

• Federal Emergency 
Management Agency (FEMA)

• US Department of the 
Interior’s Bureau of Land 
Management (BLM)

• National Fish and Wildlife 
Foundation (NFWF)

STATE (CALIFORNIA)
• Office of Emergency 

Services (Cal OES)

• Department of 
Transportation (Caltrans)

• Department of Housing and 
Community Development 
(HCD)

• State Water Resources 
Control Board (SWRCB)

• Department of Water 
Resources (DWR)

• Natural Resources Agency

• Department of Health Care 
Services (DHCS)

• California Air Resources 
Control Board (CARB)

Specifically, Harris staff have worked in various stages on the 
following grants:

• Department of Water 
Resources—State Revolving 
Funds

• Bureau of Reclamation 
WaterSMART

• Federal Emergency 
Management Administration 
(FEMA)

• Hazard Mitigation Grant 
Program (HMGP)

• FEMA Disaster Grant (Public 
Assistance Program for 
Government Agencies)

• Regional Surface 
Transportation Program 
(RSTP)

• Active Transportation 
Program (ATP)

• Highway Safety 
Improvement Program 
(HSIP)

• California Air Resources 
Control Board, Sustainable 
Transportation Equity Grant 
Program

• Senate Bill (SB) 2

• Local Early Action Planning 
(LEAP) 

• Proposition 1 Groundwater 
Grant Program Funding

• FEMA Wildfire Hazard 
Mitigation Grant Funding

• Economic Development 
Administration (EDA) 2018 
Disaster Grant Program 

• California Resilience 
Challenge

• Complete Streets Program

• EPA Targeted Brownfields 
Assessments

• California State Nonprofit 
Security Grant Program

278



9  Harris & Associates, Inc.

Demonstrated Experience with  
Valley Sanitary District
Harris has a long-standing relationship with VSD. We are currently completing a 
5-Year assignment as VSD’s Program Manager for its sewer collection system asset 
management plan and program for capital improvements to repair and replace 
aging sewer lines. Harris’ approach to developing an Asset Management Program 
for VSD is not a “One and Done” approach but, rather, a long-term commitment to 
achieve an effective program that starts with basic foundational materials and builds 
on that over time. The Asset Management Program for VSD includes the status of 
the asset register and needed enhancements, development and ongoing upkeep of a 
condition assessment program, establishment of asset service targets, determination 
of asset criticality, re-evaluation of the existing sewer line repairs and replacements 
programmed in the CIP and funding strategies, and the discussion of additional 
steps the City can take based on this plan.

The Harris team has worked collaboratively with VSD staff in developing the Asset 
Management Program. This effort was ongoing until recently suspended due to the 
budget challenges represented in VSD’s Budget Message in the current fiscal year 
2023/24 budget.

Funding Needs Analysis
Harris’ philosophy and approach begins with assessing VSD’s current funding 
priorities, evaluating VSD’s CIP and as further clarified by communication with 
VSD staff. Harris will focus on identifying top candidates for grant funding based 
on compatibility between VSD’s goals and grant requirements. The Harris team—
with our unique combination of engineering, water/wastewater, and environmental 
planning expertise—will help VSD to prioritize projects to grant fund, and assist 
in evaluation of grant funding options. Furthermore, due to Harris staff’s technical 
expertise, the team is familiar with key agencies, such as the U.S. Bureau of 
Reclamation, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, State Water Resources Control 
Board, and California Department of Water Resources. Harris will use this familiarity 
to gain advance information on upcoming grants.

Grant Writing Approach
Harris has a highly successful grant practice. One key to that success is proactive 
targeting of grants. Harris works closely with our clients to review grant opportunities 
and alignment of your projects with grantor requirements. Once we determine that 
there is a good fit, we are as engaged as you are in our desire to win. We work diligently 
to strategize with you to maximize the likelihood of an award based on scoring 
criteria. We also run multiple analyses (where allowed) to qualify clients for lower cost 
sharing. While the City of Indio is a disadvantaged community (DAC) by Water Board 
standards, other grantors may use different criteria. We are experts on disadvantaged 
community status and how to achieve that for specific grant opportunities. When a 
project is not a good fit, we do not want to waste your money on the application. That 
said, sometimes at our client’s behest we will pursue projects with a low likelihood of 
winning because it helps advance the project definition and/or gets the grantor excited 
about the project for subsequent rounds of grants. These strategic exercises are low 
budget but can be beneficial in the long-run. 

HISTORY OF SUCCESSFUL GRANT 
APPLICATIONS
Financial Analyst/Grant Specialist, 
Christy Cooper, has more than 30 years of 
experience working in and characterizing 
the water/wastewater industry and its 
myriad technologies and practice areas. 
Her strategic planning background 
combined with a client-centric approach 
help her and her clients to package grant 
ready projects. Christy dives into the 
technical details in order to illuminate a 
clear, consistent, and compelling message 
that speaks to the requirements of the 
grantor while respecting and celebrating 
the qualities of the grantee. Christy’s 
approach has been highly successful. 
Over the last two years, she has helped 
her clients with $30 million in funding.

As part of Harris’ Program and Design Management  
Collection System Infrastructure Project, we 
managed the completion of Calhoun Lift Station 
condition assessment. 

279



10  Harris & Associates, Inc.

Valley Sanitary District

Grant Specialists

Christy Cooper
Dima Galkin

Kelly Morgan
Debbie Murphy, PE (ESS)

Financial Analysts

Ann Hajnosz, PE

Karyn Johnson
Christy Cooper

James Klueber (ESS)

Cost Estimators/Project Engineers

Zaheer Shaikh, PE, PMP

Elizabeth Reyes, PE, PMP, QSD

Program Manager

Marcus Fuller, PE, PLS 

Subject Matter Expert

Sudi Shoja, PE (ESS)

Principal-in-Charge

Ehab Gerges, PE 

Organizational Chart

Resumes
Resumes of our staff members are located on the following pages. 

2. QUALIFICATIONS AND EXPERIENCE
2b: Any key staff members who would be involved in the performance 
of the scope of work. Provide their resumes, describe their experience, 
and identify their proposed role for the Project.

(ESS) Engineering Solutions Services, Inc.

280



11  Harris & Associates, Inc.

Ehab Gerges, PE
PRINCIPAL-IN-CHARGE

Ehab has over 33 years of professional experience in public works design. He has managed and 
designed a wide variety of public works projects including sewer and water improvements, 
storm drains, site development, pavement rehabilitation, and street widening. He has also been 
responsible for the preparation of studies and master plan reports for water, drainage, and sewer 
infrastructure. Ehab’s experience also encompasses municipal engineering where he served 
on assignments helping public agencies in the preparation of request for proposals, consultant 
selection, contract negotiations, the NPDES and other permits’ processing, infrastructure 
studies and bidding, inspection, and construction management for several capital improvement 
projects. Ehab’s experience with the Coachella Valley region gives the team an in-depth 
understanding of the geographical challenges and community preferences.

RELEVANT EXPERIENCE

• Valley Sanitary District, Collection System Infrastructure Project. Contract Manager. Harris 
holds a current contract to deliver program, design, and engineering services as a Program 
and Design Manager for a ten-year collection system infrastructure project. Ehab is working 
in close collaboration with the project manager to establish that the program is maximizing 
benefit to VSD and the community it serves. The collection system infrastructure program was 
initially expected to be completed in four phases, with a total approximate construction value 
of $60 million. However, given VSD’s budget challenges, completion of the program has been 
suspended as VSD pursues available outside sources of funding. Harris also partners with VSD 
in building internal capabilities with industry best practices and systems, as well as knowledge 
transfer and staff development, with the objective of building in-house expertise and knowledge.

• Rainbow Municipal Water District, As-Needed Construction Management Services. 
Principal-in-Charge. This $150,000 contract includes support for VSD’s CIP. Assignments 
include meter installation monitoring, water pipeline upgrades, emergency sewer repair, 
and district-wide inspection for a wide range of projects including road repair, pipelines, 
pump stations, and pressure reducing stations. Ehab’s responsibilities include serving as a 
resource to the client and making sure their needs are being met.

• City of National City, Citywide Sewer Collection System Program. Project Director. Harris 
is providing program management and design services to rehabilitate the City’s aging sewer 
infrastructure. Our team developed a five-year sewer rehabilitation program that will repair 
and/or replace more than 50 miles of existing sewer main lines and sewer laterals for sewer 
lines that are more than 50 years old. Using the City’s GIS Sanitary Sewer Master Plan, 
Harris developed the priorities for improvement. Projects under this program include:

 – Sewer Design (Group 1)

 – Sewer Design and Environmental Constraints Study (Group 2)

 – Paradise Creek Sewer Main

 – Operations and Maintenance Manual for Pump Station Improvements

• City of Del Mar, Citywide Sewer Condition Assessment and Design. Project Director. Harris 
conducted a condition assessment which outlined millions of dollars in sewer repairs needed 
over the next few years. Programmatic improvements identified were: upsizes, point repairs, 
relining, replacements, realignments, manhole upgrades/replacements, and maintenance. 
The inspection was split into work zones to accommodate for beach moratorium, sewer spill, 
and root intrusion history.

EDUCATION
BS, Civil Engineering

REGISTRATION
Professional Civil Engineer, CA

281



12  Harris & Associates, Inc.

Marcus Fuller, PE, PLS
PROGRAM MANAGER

Marcus brings a unique professional experience with a nearly 30-year background in public 
works and engineering in the public sector. As a licensed civil engineer and land surveyor, 
Marcus has been responsible for administration and management of capital improvement 
programs and delivering hundreds of capital projects over his career with an estimated portfolio 
of $500 million. Marcus also brings experience as a public official, serving at the executive 
level as Assistant City Manager for the City of Palm Springs and most recently retiring as City 
Manager for the City of Rialto. He has been responsible for the overall program management of 
municipal affairs for full-service cities with budgets exceeding $250 million.

Marcus understands the importance to elected officials and community stakeholders of efficient 
program management and timely capital project delivery as a means of improving our quality 
of life. As someone with extensive public sector experience including at the executive level, 
Marcus appreciates the challenges some public agencies face with limited capacity or expertise to 
effectively manage large capital programs and deliver important capital projects and brings this 
awareness and sensitivity to agencies pursuing solutions to these challenges.

As Assistant City Manager for the City of Palm Springs, Marcus managed the process to 
secure low interest financing through the CWSRF loan program leading to a $29.9 million 
loan guarantee and $1.1 million in loan forgiveness through the Green Project Reserve for the 
City’s Wastewater Treatment Plant Upgrade project. Marcus fully understands the importance 
of leveraging outside funding, and has had success at pursuing over $166 million in federal 
funding for the City of Palm Springs for seven major transportation and bridge projects that 
included funding for new or widened/rehabilitated bridges on Vista Chino, Ramon Road, 
Indian Canyon Drive, E. Palm Canyon Drive, and S. Palm Canyon Drive.

Marcus was also successful pursuing federal High Safety Improvement Program (HSIP) grants 
for traffic safety improvements throughout Palm Springs, totaling over $8.4 million that included 
upgrades to 42 intersections throughout the City.

RELEVANT EXPERIENCE

• City of Rialto, Various Projects. City Manager/Chief Executive Officer. Marcus was 
the City Manager and Chief Executive Officer of a municipal corporation representing 
a community of 110,000 residents located in the Inland Empire of southern California. 
Marcus led a full-service City that includes public safety services, including a Fire 
Department, Police Department, and municipal utility services including domestic water 
and sanitary sewer services. Responsibilities included preparing Fiscal Year 2022-2023 
Budget of $220 million and coordinating the program management and capital project 
delivery of $110 million in various capital projects for the City.

• City of Palm Springs, Various Projects. Assistant City Manager. Marcus was the Assistant 
City Manager providing broad administrative oversight and inter-departmental coordination 
of all areas of the City, including the Airport, Community & Economic Development, 
Development Services Department (Building & Safety, Engineering Services, and Planning 
Services), Finance, Golf Course Enterprise, Parks & Recreation, Public Works, Fleet & 
Facilities Maintenance, Park Maintenance, Solid Waste Management & Recycling, Wastewater 
System, and the Office of Sustainability. Responsibilities included administration of Fiscal 
Year 2020-2021 Budget of $288 million, and coordinating program management and capital 
project delivery of various capital projects including the $35 million wastewater treatment 
plant upgrade, and $38 million Palm Springs Airport Ticketing Hall Expansion.

Marcus brings his wide 
ranging public sector 
experience and insights 
to lead the Harris team 
on identifying funding 
strategies, evaluating 
state and federal funding 
programs, and aligning 
VSD’s capital projects with 
the Notices of Funding 
Availability released 
or scheduled to be 
released for evaluation 
by the entire team.

EDUCATION
MPA, Public Administration

BS, Civil Engineering

REGISTRATION
Professional Civil Engineer, CA

Professional Land Surveyor, CA

282



13  Harris & Associates, Inc.

Sudi Shoja, PE—Engineering Solutions Services, Inc.
SUBJECT MATTER EXPERT

Sudi has an extensive career including as a City Engineer, with more than 29 years of experience 
managing CIP and Water and Sewer programs of over $100 million. She founded ESS in 2012 
with the goal of assisting local entities in achieving their goals in funding and compliance, 
program management, quality assurance/quality control, and project delivery. She leverages 
her successful experience with transforming the agencies where she worked from losing 
funding to securing the maximum grant funding possible, meeting the various funding agency 
requirements, and serving as examples for successful audit processes. As a result, she has earned 
a reputation that gained us our impressive repeat client list in a short timeframe, including with 
VSD. ESS has been retained by VSD on separate assignments to pursue grant and loan funding 
for the Recycled Water Project, and was successful in completing an application for Clean Water 
State Revolving Fund (CWSRF) Program for the Recycled Water Project Phase 1. Lessons learned 
will be applied as our team strategically reviews the Recycled Water Project scope and project 
description to align its anticipated outcomes with the scoring criteria for the CWSRF Program 
(as a low interest financing option for any local match required with state and federal grants). 
Sudi was also successful obtaining a $44.06 million WIFIA loan reservation for the Recycled 
Water Project—however, given VSD’s current budget challenges the WIFIA loan application has 
not been advanced. With ESS’s contributions to our team, we are prepared to focus our efforts 
on identifying applicable funding strategies aligned with the Recycled Water Project, and in 
potential combination with the sewer collection system improvements that are interconnected 
with VSD’s overall CIP.

RELEVANT EXPERIENCE

• Valley Sanitary District, Grant Writing Services. Project Manager. Sudi was responsible 
for preparation of grants for WRP capacity expansion, tertiary treatment and groundwater 
injection project for VSD. Prepared applications to BOR Title XVI, SWRCB Recycled Water 
Planning and Construction grants, CWSRF loan, and WIFIA funding. 

• Santa Clarita Valley Water Agency, Grant Writing Services. Project Manager. Sudi prepared 
a successful crosswalk/feasibility study submission for the Bureau of Reclamations Title XVI 
Funding Program. This approval made SCVWA eligible for $30 million in grant funding for 
recycled water projects in perpetuity and until funding is depleted. In addition, this agency has 
been awarded $9 million for applications submitted by ESS since 2020.

• City of Santa Ana Water and Sewer Department, As-Needed Grant Writing Services. Project 
Manager. Sudi was responsible for identification of grant funding opportunities, preparation of 
a funding strategy that identified over $33 million in grant funding, as well as, successful grant 
applications and compliance-management services for grants from for BOR, SWRCB, SAWPA.

• Coachella Valley Water District, Grant Writing Services. Project Manager. Sudi was 
responsible for two successful applications for stormwater management from FEMA/CalOES 
for two top priority projects for the agency, as well as, successful for award of a grant for a 
water efficiency pilot project from Bureau of Reclamation. 

• City of Sacramento, Grant Writing Services. Project Manager. Sudi was responsible for 
preparation of grants for a groundwater well, sump station rehabilitation, median landscaping, 
flood mitigation and stormwater project for a variety of State and Federal funding opportunities. 
Sudi’s involvement has led to the successful award of several projects for the City to date.

EDUCATION
MS, Civil Engineering—Structures

REGISTRATION
Professional Civil Engineer, CA

283



14  Harris & Associates, Inc.

Christy Cooper
GRANT SPECIALIST/FINANCIAL ANALYST

Christy Cooper has more than 30 years of experience working in and characterizing the water 
industry and its myriad technologies and practice areas. She led the strategic planning function 
for a $1 billion water engineering business. Her strategic planning background combined with a 
client-centric approach have helped her clients get $30 million in grant determinations over the 
last two years. Christy dives into the technical details in order to illuminate a clear, consistent, 
and compelling message that speaks to the requirements of the grantor while respecting and 
celebrating the qualities of the grantee. She currently serves her community as a board member 
of the Meiners Oaks Water District.

RELEVANT EXPERIENCE

• City of Watsonville, FEMA Hazard Mitigation Grant Program, Project Manager. The 
City’s wastewater treatment facility (WWTF) is in a seismically and f lood-vulnerable 
location that the FEMA National Risk Index identifies as being at risk of relatively high 
expected annual loss overall, very high earthquake related expected annual loss, and 
relatively high riverine f looding expected annual loss. Christy assisted the City with the 
development of a successful application and related Benefit-Cost Analysis (BCA) for a 
FEMA Hazard Mitigation Grant. The project will create a resilient WWTF for this socially 
vulnerable, hazard exposed, and disadvantaged community by replacing and relocating 
two 600KW generators away from a seismically vulnerable building and relocating and 
consolidating the WWTF critical electrical facilities away from f lood vulnerable locations 
into one elevated Main Electrical Facility (MEF).

• City of Huntington Beach, FEMA Hazard Mitigation Grant Program. Senior Consultant. 
The City of Huntington Beach had successfully applied for an HMGP grant in 2019, 
but when the construction bids came back in 2022, the 30% increase in costs drove the 
project’s Benefit:Cost Analysis (BCA) below FEMA’s required level of ≥1. The City’s 
engineer that prepared the original BCA had retired. Christy recreated the original 
BCA with updated building/content damages, displacement costs, social costs and post-
mitigation costs. Work included updating the FEMA BCA module and creating/updating 
14 supporting documents. The revised BCA of 3.73 supported a grant award of $6.6 
million for the City’s Heil Avenue Stormwater Rehabilitation Project.

• Gateway Water Management Authority (GWMA), Drinking Water State Revolving Fund 
Emerging Contaminants (PFOS/PFOA) Grant. Project Manager. The U.S. Infrastructure 
Investment and Jobs Act of 2021 allocated $50 billion nationwide to reduce the population’s 
exposure to perfluoroalkyl and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) and other emerging 
contaminants through their drinking water. In California, this funding is made available 
through the Drinking Water SRF’s Emerging Contaminants Supplemental Intended Use 
Plan. Harris helped the GWMA successfully apply for $9 million in construction grant 
funding for an $18 million project for two PFAS treatment plants in the Cities of Paramount 
and Whittier. 

• City of Salinas, Caltrans Clean California Grant. Project Manager. Christy prepared a 
successful grant application for local beautification and community improvement projects. 
Project improvements include litter abatement, beautification through planting drought-
tolerant vegetation and trees, a bioswale, wayfinding signage, a gateway monument, 
banners and murals, permeable pavers, sidewalk art highlighting safe routes to school, and 
education programming to foster a safe, clean, connected, and accessible environment. 

EDUCATION
MBA, Emphasis in Finance 

BA, Economics

284



15  Harris & Associates, Inc.

Dima Galkin
GRANT SPECIALIST

Dima has more than 10 years of experience in housing analysis, for both market-rate and 
affordable development, and related services. He has advised California cities on affordable 
housing asset management and disposition, led grant applications, reviewed pro formas, and 
provided data analysis for inclusionary housing in-lieu fees. As a grant writer, Dima coordinates 
with funders like HCD to confirm technical requirements, works with clients to identify and 
develop eligible activities, and verifies supporting documentation is compliant with funder 
requirements. Dima’s experience includes a year working directly for the City of Santa Monica’s 
Housing Division.

RELEVANT EXPERIENCE

• San Gabriel Valley Regional Housing Trust, Housing Consulting Services. Project Manager. 
The Trust’s primary goals are to promote the development of affordable housing and to 
advance solutions for homelessness in the San Gabriel Valley. Harris assists the SGVRHT on 
grant applications, evaluation and ranking of affordable housing loan applications, preparing 
commitment letters and loan documents/agreements, and researching potential funding 
sources. In addition to renewing Harris’ contract for general housing consulting services, 
the Trust engaged Harris to create a revolving loan fund program starting with an $8 
million State earmark. To create the Revolving Loan Fund, Harris researched best practices, 
interviewed other Housing Trusts, and created Guidelines and Operating Procedures. Dima 
is leading the project team for this effort. To date, Harris has helped secure more than $3.1 
million in grant funding and to award more than $11.6 million to 10 developments for the 
creation of more than 550 affordable housing units.

• City of Santa Monica, Local Housing Trust Fund (LHTF) Fund Grant Program. Project 
Manager. Dima assisted with the preparation of the City’s LHTF grant application. He 
provided oversight of the project development, verifying proposed affordable housing activities 
were technically feasible and compliant with funder requirements. He communicated with the 
City to identify competitive and eligible activities, provided oversight to ensure the application 
would achieve a high score, and reviewed completed application forms and exhibits.

• City of Hawthorne, Permanent Local Housing Allocation (PLHA) Grant Program. Senior 
Analyst. Dima provided oversight of the City’s PLHA grant program. He identified eligible 
activities and ensured compliance with loan requirements and underwriting standards. He 
verified affordability requirements and assisted with the development of a five-year scope of 
work and expenditure plan. Dima provided quality control for the application forms.

• City of Hawthorne, Regional Early Action Planning Grant Program(REAP). Project Manager. 
Dima provided oversight of the project development and verified proposed grant activities 
were technically feasible and compliant with funder requirements. He communicated with 
the City to identify competitive and eligible activities, assisted with grant writing, performed 
coordination with SCAG’s grant program administrators, confirmed the application would 
achieve a high score, and reviewed completed application forms and exhibits.

• City of East Palo Alto, Encampment Resolution Grant Program. Project Manager. Dima 
provided oversight of the project development and verified proposed grant activities were 
technically feasible and compliant with funder requirements. He communicated with the 
City to identify competitive and eligible activities, assisted with grant writing, confirmed the 
application would be competitive, and reviewed completed application forms and exhibits.

EDUCATION
MA, Master of Planning

BA, Urban Studies & Political 
Science

285



16  Harris & Associates, Inc.

Kelly Morgan
GRANT SPECIALIST

Kelly has 16 years of experience specializing in project management, business development 
operations, human resources, and grants administration, with over three years of direct 
experience in grants preparation and administration for municipalities throughout California. 
Throughout her professional career she has coordinated and managed company and client 
projects through the provision of strategic guidance and support while ensuring consistent 
alignment with business goals and client objectives.

RELEVANT EXPERIENCE

• San Gabriel Valley Regional Housing Trust, Housing Consulting Services (including grant 
applications, review of development proposals and establishing a revolving loan fund for 
affordable housing projects serving lower income households). Deputy Project Manager. 
Harris assists the SGVRHT on grant applications, evaluation and ranking of affordable 
housing loan applications, preparing commitment letters and loan documents/agreements, 
and researching potential funding sources. To date, Harris has helped secure more than $3.1 
million in grant funding and to award more than $11.6 million to 10 developments for the 
creation of more than 550 affordable housing units. In addition to renewing Harris’s contract 
for general housing consulting services, the Trust engaged Harris to create a revolving loan 
fund program starting with an $8 million State earmark.

• Various Municipalities, Local Housing Trust Fund Applications. Deputy Project Manager. 
Kelly led grant preparation and administration services for the cities of Santa Monica, 
Hawthorne, and Salinas, as well as for the San Gabriel Valley Regional Housing Trust. 
These services included identifying fund use opportunities that best suited the objectives 
for the applicants’ communities, developing project scope and application completion, 
facilitation and procurement of supporting documentation, ensuring application submittal 
before the deadline, and following up with applicants regarding next steps.

• City of East Palo Alto, Encampment Resolution Grant Program. Grant Manager. Kelly 
provided grant writing services for the City of East Palo Alto with their proposal for 
the Encampment Resolution Funding grant, under the California Interagency Council 
on Homelessness (CalICH) Grant Program. Services included identifying fund use 
opportunities that best suited the objectives for the City, identifying suitable stakeholders 
to partner with City on performing activities proposed under the grant and subsequent 
coordination, developing project scope and application completion, facilitation and 
procurement of supporting documentation, coordination with CalICH’s grant program 
administrators, and application submittal.

• City of Hawthorne, Regional Early Action Planning Grant Program (REAP). Grant Writer. 
Kelly provided grant writing services for the City of Hawthorne with their proposals for 
the  NOFA – Funding for Lasting Affordability and Housing Infill on Public and Private 
Lands grants, under the Southern California Association of Governments (SCAG) REAP 
2.0 Grant Program. Services included identifying fund use opportunities that best suited 
the objectives for the City, developing project scope and application completion, facilitation 
and procurement of supporting documentation, coordination with SCAG’s grant program 
administrators, and application submittal.

EDUCATION
MBA, Public Administration

BA, Sociology

286



17  Harris & Associates, Inc.

Debbie Murphy, PE
GRANT SPECIALIST

Debbie has been responsible for successful grants from various agencies such as Bureau of 
Reclamation (BOR), State Water Resources Control Board and Santa Ana Watershed Project 
Authority for various water related projects and State Water Resources Control Board grant 
applications. ALL the grants written by Debbie for BOR have been awarded for funding in 
the past six cycles. 

She is also very knowledgeable in grants from Propositions 1, 13, 68 & 84. She has been actively 
involved in identifying funding opportunities and matching projects for maximum funding. 

Debbie has been responsible for successful grants with multiple Bureau of Reclamation for 
various water related projects and State Water Resources Control Board grant applications. She 
has more than 30 years of professional engineering design and construction experience in the 
private and public sectors for public works projects related to water and sewer projects, and all 
aspects of water systems, including pipelines, wells, booster stations and reservoirs. She has 
immense mechanical and administrative expertise in all phases of plan review, constructability 
review, QA/QC of technical reports, and environmental process. She is also highly skilled 
in identifying appropriate measures, policies, and procedures to comply with federal, state, 
regional, and county laws, regulations, and environmental mandates.

RELEVANT EXPERIENCE

• Turlock Irrigation District, City of Sacramento, City of Santa Ana, Long Beach 
Water Department, Mission Springs Water District, San Bernardino Municipal 
Water Department. Grant Writing Assistance & Monitoring, Grant Writer. Debbie was 
responsible for successful grant applications and compliance reviews for several State 
Revolving fund, Santa Ana Watershed Authority and Bureau of Reclamation funding 
including Title XVI, Drought Resiliency Grant Program, and Water and Energy Efficiency 
Grant Program. Debbie has been providing guidelines reviews for various funding 
compliance and grant requirements on multiple types of federal and state funding 
opportunities including Proposition 1, 13, 68, and 84.  

• Multiple Cities, Department of Public Works. Project Engineer. Debbie was a project 
Engineer in Water Division and Public Works responsible for planning, coordinating, 
and managing technical, and field staff responsible for all aspects of the planning, design, 
award and construction of water projects including pipelines, reservoirs, wells and booster 
pump stations. She developed and administered budgets, prepared, and processed RFPs 
and awarded/managed professional services and construction contracts. As Development 
Services Manager and Principal Engineer, Debbie conducted environmental and 
entitlement review; developing and enforcing Conditions of Approval; technical plan 
review/approvals; developing department programs, policies, and procedures; serving as 
liaison with the general public and the development community; researching, preparing 
and/or delivering reports and presentations to Commissions and City Council.

• City of Cypress, Department of Public Works. Assistant Civil Engineer. Debbie prepared 
of plans, specifications, cost estimates and contract documents for public works projects 
including street improvements, parks, and public buildings. Provided technical support and 
project management expertise, prepared staff reports and presentations to City Council and 
assisted in budget preparation of annual operating and multi-year CIP budgets. She prepared 
and administered grant applications for federally funded paving projects.

EDUCATION
BS, Civil Engineering

REGISTRATION
Professional Civil Engineer, CA

287



18  Harris & Associates, Inc.

Ann Hajnosz, PE
LEAD FINANCIAL ANALYST

Ann has worked closely with water, wastewater, electric, and solid waste utilities for over 35 
years in the areas of financial planning, rates, best practices, and general utility planning and 
operations. She has experience working with utility staff, senior management, and utility 
stakeholders, including utility boards, city councils, and large customers. Ann is familiar with 
the wide range of complex issues facing water utilities today, such as increasing regulations, a 
shrinking water workforce, climate impacts and aging infrastructure, all leading to increased 
pressure on water rates and affordability. Her clients benefit from her broad experience in 
the water industry in the solutions and recommendations that she provides to challenging 
situations. Ann understands key stakeholder perspectives and integrates these perspectives into 
her rate recommendations, which result in higher probability of success.

RELEVANT EXPERIENCE

• City of Lemon Grove, CA, Sanitation Rate Study. Principal-in-Charge. 

• City of Gonzales, CA, Water and Sewer Rate Study. Project Manager. 

• City of Cathedral City, CA, Development Impact Fee Nexus Study. QC Reviewer.

• City of Soledad, CA, Water Master Plan. QA/QC Lead. 

• City of Santa Clarita, CA, Vista Canyon Ranch Water Recycle Project. Task Lead.

• City of Santa Clarita, CA, Sewer Rate Study. Task Lead.

• Citrus Heights Water District, CA, Sacramento Region Meter Replacement Program 
Planning Study. Financial Lead. 

• City of East Palo Alto, CA, Water Asset Management Plan. Principal-in-Charge.  

• City of Soledad, CA, Recycled Water Distribution Plan Report. Task Lead.

• City of Dixon, CA, Sewer Collection Master Plan Peer Review. QC Reviewer.

• City of Renton, WA, 2018 Comprehensive Rate Study and Recommendation for System 
Development Charge (SDC) for Water, Wastewater, and Surface Water Utilities. Project 
Director/QC Lead. 

• County of Hawaii, Department of Water Supply, HI, Water Master Plan, Rate Studies, 
and Facilities Charges. Project Manager. 

• Honolulu Board of Water Supply, HI, Review of Various Rate Issues. Project Manager. 

• Honolulu Board of Water Supply, HI, Peer Review of Financial Plan, Cost of Service 
Study, and Rates/System Development Charges. Project Manager. 

EDUCATION
MBA, Business Administration

BS, Civil Engineering

REGISTRATION
Professional Civil Engineer, WA

288



19  Harris & Associates, Inc.

Karyn Johnson
FINANCIAL AND SEWER RATES ANALYST

Karyn has more than 30 years professional financial related experience, including over 
25 years as a municipal rate consultant. She is a finance and rates expert for water, sewer, 
stormwater, and solid waste utilities. Her expertise covers a broad range of services including 
financial policy development, revenue sufficiency studies, long-term financial planning, retail 
and wholesale cost of service analyses, and rate and fee designs. Karyn has served clients 
throughout California, Canada and elsewhere.

Karyn is well-versed in alternative rate structure concepts including increasing block and 
seasonal water rates, full service and interruptible irrigation rates, volume- and strength-based 
sewer rates, and specialty rates for large or unique customer classes. Karyn is particularly adept 
at developing customer demand profiles for unmetered or newly metered water systems, and 
the design of first-time metered water and sewer rate structures. She routinely presents rate 
study concepts and results to councils, boards, commissions, assemblies, special committees, 
stakeholder and citizens groups and the public. She is a regular presenter on utility financial/rate 
setting topics at industry conferences and forums. Project experience includes the following.

RELEVANT EXPERIENCE

• City of Lemon Grove, CA, Sanitation Rate Study. Project Manager. 

• City of East Palo Alto, CA, Water Contractor Negotiation Assistance. Project Manager.

• City of Gustine, CA, Water and Sewer Rate Study. Lead Rate Consultant.

• City of Monte Sereno, CA, Building Fees. Technical Advisor. 

• City of Oxnard, CA, AB1600 Annual and 5-Year Reports for FY 20-21. Senior Consultant.

• City of Palos Verdes Estates, CA, Building Fees. Technical Advisor. 

• Rancho Murieta Community Services District, CA, Recycled and Raw Water Rate 
Studies. Technical Advisor.

• City of Wheatland, CA, Water and Sewer Rate Study; Regional Sewer Treatment 
Feasibility Study. Lead Rate Consultant.

EDUCATION
MBA, Emphasis in Finance 

BS, Business Management, 
Finance Specialization

289



20  Harris & Associates, Inc.

James Klueber, MS
FINANCIAL ANALYST

James started his career as an analyst specializing in various water resource investments and is 
very familiar with Californian water law, water systems, federal/state/local management plans, 
and water infrastructure. He is a team player and brings his can-do attitude to work every day. 
Currently, his primary role at ESS is to provide grant compliance monitoring, QA/QC support 
for all grant applications and funding opportunities. 

James is highly skilled in identifying appropriate measures, policies, and procedures to comply 
with federal, state, regional, and county laws, regulations, and environmental mandates.

RELEVANT EXPERIENCE

• Long Beach Water Department, Santa Clarita Valley Water Agency, City of Santa Ana, 
City of Sacramento, BOR WaterSMART Drought Resiliency Grant. Grant Analyst and 
Application Management Lead. James was responsible for final QA/QC during the BOR 
WaterSMART Drought Resiliency Projects grant writing process and assisted with various 
research, mapping, and grant writing tasks in order to submit the application promptly. 
Worked on 4 applications simultaneously and submitted all applications successfully and 
on-time. Each application was for $2 million in federal grant funding.

• Santa Clarita Valley Water Agency, Olivenhain Municipal Water District, Desert 
Water Agency, City of Santa Ana, San Bernardino Municipal Water District, BOR 
WaterSMART Water Energy and Efficiency. Grant Analyst and Application Management 
Lead. James provided final QA/QC during the BOR WaterSMART Water Energy and 
Efficiency grant writing process and assisted with various research, mapping, and grant 
writing tasks in order to submit the applications fully and promptly. He worked on 6 
applications simultaneously for this opportunity. Each application applied for $500,000 
federal grant funding.

• City of Santa Ana, Grant Compliance, Grant Compliance Lead. James was responsible for 
compliance of multiple projects with multiple sources of funding, preparation of progress 
reports and reimbursement forms. 

• Cities of Sacramento and Carlsbad and Valley Sanitary District, Clean Water State 
Revolving Fund. Grant Analyst and Application Management Lead. James has submitted 
CWSRF applications to upgrade various components of wastewater treatment systems 
ranging from $4.5 to $35 million projects. 

• City of San Clemente, Santa Clarita Valley Water Agency, Valley Sanitary District, Recycled 
Water Planning and Construction Grants Applications. Grant Analyst and Application 
Management Lead. James has prepared and submitted successful recycled water planning and 
construction applications to upgrade various components of recycled water distribution and 
treatment systems ranging from $500k to $35 million projects. 

• Cities of Pasadena, Sacramento, Belvedere, Oceanside, FEMA/CalOES Grant 
Applications. Grant Analyst and Application Management Lead. James prepared of 
supporting documentation and estimates for a variety of projects including seismic retrofit 
of Dam structures, City Hall and parking structure, bridge, reservoirs, and a sea wall 
project that met the approval of CalOES. 

EDUCATION
MS, Environmental Sciences & 
Management

BS, Environmental Economics & 
Policy

290



21  Harris & Associates, Inc.

Zaheer Shaikh, PE, PMP
LEAD PROJECT ENGINEER/COST ESTIMATING

Zaheer has 19 years of experience in implementing municipal infrastructure projects for local 
public agencies. He focused his career on helping Bay Area agencies deal with aging infrastructure 
by implementing improvements to extend its useful life. He is passionate about collaborating with 
public agencies to protect, maintain, and develop its infrastructure to work towards the growth 
and development of communities to make a positive difference in other people’s lives. He has the 
reputation of being a “hands-on” manager who is responsive and can reliably deliver projects 
on-time and within budget, especially projects with tight schedules. He understands the issues 
and challenges affecting capital projects including accurate scoping and project definition and 
estimating. Due to his extensive public works infrastructure improvements project experience, he 
has developed the knack of being able to flag issues in design and construction that could easily 
derail the project schedule and budget if not addressed in a timely manner.

Zaheer’s experience in water/wastewater engineering is critical to evaluating VSD’s Recycled 
Water Project, to better understand and define the currently recommended approach to capture, 
treat and reuse of treated wastewater. This understanding and project scope and definition will 
help to ensure that we can align the project’s funding needs with the most applicable funding 
programs and opportunities evaluated and identified during our grant research efforts.

RELEVANT EXPERIENCE

• City of Benicia, On-Call Engineering Design, Construction Management/Inspection, and 
Project Management Services for Water and Wastewater Projects. Project Manager. As 
part of the On-Call contract, Harris is currently working on several projects including the 
demolition and replacement of a steel access platform at the City’s Wastewater Treatment 
Plant, staff augmentation, construction management, inspections, and a condition 
assessment at the City’s Wastewater Treatment Plant covering four primary clarifiers, the 
headworks, and the inf luent channels at the plant.

• City of Benicia, Water System and Wastewater System Asset Database Updating Project. 
Project Manager. Zaheer served as Project Manager for the project to update the City’s 
existing water system and wastewater system asset databases. The existing databases were 
updated to include the information from the condition assessment project. The project 
also scrubbed the City’s existing water system and wastewater system assets databases to 
remove any assets that have been removed from service. These accurate databases allowed 
for the City to streamline future water and wastewater system projects in the pipeline.

• City of Salinas, Industrial Wastewater Pump Station (IWWPS). Project Director. The 
IWWPS is located on Airport Boulevard underneath the cul-de-sac and consists of a 
concrete wet well, steel “can” dry well, and three pumps. The overall purpose of this project 
is rehabilitation of the sagging base slab, increasing the capacity and operational reliability of 
the IWWPS, and improve its overall safety for City Operations & Maintenance (O&M) staff. 
Zaheer’s responsibilities include managing all resources as well as verifying that the project 
is meeting cost, schedule, and quality goals.

• Coachella Valley Water District, Burr Street Lift Station 81-03 Replacement. Project 
Manager. The $5 million new lift station project in the City of Indio included a 50-foot deep 
wet well with two 200 HP submersible pumps, each rated for 2,400 gpm at 145 ft. TDH and a 
new gravity sewer system to redirect flows from the existing to the new lift station.  

EDUCATION
MS, Environmental Engineering & 
Science

BS,Civil Engineering

REGISTRATION
Professional Civil Engineer, CA

CERTIFICATIONS
Project Management Professional

291



22  Harris & Associates, Inc.

Elizabeth Reyes, PE, PMP, QSD
PROJECT ENGINEER/COST ESTIMATING

Elizabeth has over 20 years of experience as a project manager and engineer. She has been 
responsible for a variety of projects including design, hydrology and hydraulics analysis, 
and preparation of PS&E for sewer, street, airport, and flood control projects. Nearly all of 
Elizabeth’s work has been for public agencies so she is familiar with the Greenbook and other 
public works standards. Elizabeth implements practical approaches to projects based on her 
understanding of utilities, traffic impacts, equipment set-up, trenching, and variations in 
pipe size and depth. She specializes in the development and execution of hydraulic modeling 
software and understands the need for flexibility in its set-up or reconfiguration in order to 
mitigate challenges. This experience enables her to evaluate the size of existing facilities and 
provide recommendations for rehabilitation methods.

More importantly, Elizabeth is currently assigned as a project manager to VSD under Harris’ 
on-call agreement for program and construction management. She is actively involved with 
VSD’s overall sewer collection system program and its current sewer repair and replacement 
projects, and the Calhoun Lift Station rehabilitation project. Her experience and knowledge of 
VSD’s capital projects and relationships with District staff will provide an important value to the 
Harris team’s overall approach to grant writing services for VSD.

RELEVANT EXPERIENCE

• Valley Sanitary District, Collection System Infrastructure Project. Project Manager.  The 
Harris team is currently delivering program, design, and engineering services as a program 
and design manager (PADM) for a 12-year collection system infrastructure project. The 
collection system infrastructure program is expected to be completed in four phases, with 
a total approximate construction value of $70 million. Harris also acts as a liaison with 
the VSD, cities, utilities, community programs, state, county, and other development-
related entities. Our team partners with VSD in building internal capabilities with 
industry best practices and systems, as well as knowledge transfer and staff development, 
with the objective of building in-house expertise and knowledge. The scope of services 
includes development of capital program scope and budget, providing program and project 
management, development of a quality assurance/ quality control process, environmental 
engineering and water resources engineering, engineering design for collection system 
rehabilitation and new installations, and constructability reviews and value engineering 
on alternatives and design concepts. Elizabeth is responsible for the preparation of PS&E 
documents for the sewer improvements.

• Garden Grove Sanitary District (GGSD), Sewer Improvements - Projects 20, 21, 22 & 23. 
Deputy Project Manager. This project provided additional capacity to the sewer systems by 
upsizing existing eight-inch lines to 12- and 15-inch vitrified clay pipes. Harris proposed 
an innovative alignment through an apartment alley to reduce the total pipe length 
required and increase the pipe slope, which required a permanent sewer easement. Harris 
also utilized a utility detection survey to avoid utility conf licts. The team strategically 
placed the new sewer to increase the distance from a parallel 33-inch high-pressure 
gas line, maximizing short- and long-term safety. Additionally, two large storm drain 
crossings created the need for special sewer crossing details and permission from the 
Orange County Flood Control District. The scope also included a complete topographic 
survey, geotechnical investigation, utility potholing, preparation of a project study report 
and civil design. Elizabeth assisted in the preparation PS&E construction documents.

EDUCATION
BS, Civil Engineering

REGISTRATION
Professional Civil Engineer, CA

CERTIFICATIONS
Project Management Professional

Qualified SWPPP Developer/
Practitioner

292



23  Harris & Associates, Inc.

Harris was incorporated in 1974 and has been conducting business for the last 49 years. 

2. QUALIFICATIONS AND EXPERIENCE
2c: State the number of years the firm has conducted business. 

2. QUALIFICATIONS AND EXPERIENCE
2d. Provide a description of the three most relevant contracts held 
within the last five years. 

Strategic Advisory Services for Grant Assistance
City of Watsonville

Harris helped the City of Watsonville win two grant applications. The City’s 
wastewater treatment facility (WWTF) is in a seismically and flood-vulnerable 
location that the FEMA National Risk Index identifies as being at risk of relatively 
high expected annual loss overall, very high earthquake related expected annual 
loss, and relatively high riverine flooding expected annual loss. Harris assisted 
the City with the development of a successful application and related Benefit-
Cost Analysis (BCA) for a $9 million FEMA Hazard Mitigation/Cal-OES Prepare 
California grant. The project will create a resilient electrical system for this critical 
community infrastructure by relocating and consolidating the WWTF critical 
electrical facilities away from their current hazard-vulnerable locations into one 
Main Electrical Facility (MEF). The project will also replace two 600kW generators 
that are currently located in a seismically-vulnerable building with one 2,000kW 
generator on an outdoor elevated generator pad. Harris also helped the City with 
a $250,000 award from the Bary Area Council Foundation’s California Resilience 
Challenge for development and implementation of a Green Infrastructure Plan. 

Dates of Service: 2020—Ongoing

Types of Services Provided:

• Grant funding research

• On-call grant research

• Grant application and BCA development and 
submission

• Technical expertise

• Funder outreach

293



24  Harris & Associates, Inc.

FEMA Hazard Mitigation Grant Program
City of Huntington Beach

The City of Huntington Beach had successfully applied for an HMGP grant in 2019, 
but when the construction bids came back in 2022, a 30% increase in costs drove the 
project’s Benefit-Cost Analysis (BCA) below FEMA’s required level of ≥1. The City’s 
engineer that prepared the original BCA had retired. Harris recreated the original 
BCA with updated building/content damages, displacement costs, social costs and 
post-mitigation costs. The revised package included 48 reports, documents, letters, 
and spreadsheets to support the assumptions in the Benefit Cost Analysis. The new 
BCA of 3.73 supported a grant award of $6.6 million for the City’s Heil Avenue 
Stormwater Rehabilitation Project. The updated report was review and approved by 
Cal-OES and submitted to FEMA for final review and approval.

Dates of Service: 2022—Ongoing

Types of Services Provided:

• Benefit Cost Analysis Technical expertise

• RFI Response 

294



25  Harris & Associates, Inc.

Grant Writing Assistance
Gateway Water Management Authority

Many cities and local agencies in the Gateway region of Southern California lack 
funding to perform the necessary water quality studies, planning, and design to 
protect their current groundwater supply; yet also cannot afford the alternative. 
Imported State water costs over $1,400/AF, roughly three times the cost of 
groundwater pumping. The increased cost of State water cannot be absorbed by the 
rate payers nor by the cities’ general funds, providing an insurmountable obstacle. 
GWMA initiated a series of grant projects to help secure funding for approaches that 
provide cost-effective, long-term solutions to address these issues. 

Under two task orders, Harris worked with GWMA to develop a coordinated 
approach to helping its member cities apply for grant funding for well replacement/
rehabilitation and for Perfluorooctane Sulfonate (PFOS)/Perfluorooctanoic Acid 
(PFOA) treatment projects. Harris surveyed each of the cities for their needs. 
Surveys were then characterized based on each city’s type and size of project need, 
problem statement, project stage, estimated project cost, etc.  

As grant opportunities became available, survey characterizations were used to 
group the projects with sufficiently similar characteristics to create meaningful grant 
packages. Ultimately, five cities’ projects were packaged together into one project 
representing the provision of 30 million gallons per day (mgd) of water for 333,000 
people in predominantly disadvantaged communities. This package was submitted 
for an Urban Community Drought Relief grant. 

Two cities’ PFAS projects were packaged together to apply for the State of California 
Drinking Water State Revolving Fund (DWSRF) Emerging Contaminants Grant. The 
State Waterboard (State) made a determination that the City of Paramount is eligible 
to receive $5,000,000 and the City of Whittier is eligible to receive $4,000,000 in 
construction funding to build PFAS Water Treatment Facilities (WTF). Further, the 
State has indicated that it is ready to provide debt funding for the remainder of the 
projects’ costs, if desired. The State did request that the two applications be separated 
into individual projects and that process is on-going. 

Dates of Service: 2019—Present

Dates of Service: 2020—Ongoing

Types of Services Provided:

• Member cities surveys

• Grant funding research

• Grant proposal development

• Technical expertise

• Board presentations

• Funder outreach

Da
te

: 1
/25

/2
02

3 
 - 

 L
as

t s
av

ed
 b

y: 
Ra

nd
y.D

eo
da

t  -
  P

at
h: 

C:
\G

IS
\P

ro
je

cts
\G

ate
wa

y W
ate

r M
an

ag
m

en
t A

ut
ho

rit
y\M

ap
 D

oc
s\

GW
M

A_
W

ell
s_

W
TP

.m
xd

Wells and Water Treatment Plants in Water Service Areas

Source: CalEnviroScreen 2022; ESRI 2022.

± Figure 10 10.5

Miles

3Q Water Treatment Plants
Wells

Water District Service Area
Compton
Downey
Huntington Park
Lynwood
Paramount

Gateway Water Managment Authority

295



26  Harris & Associates, Inc.

Harris confirms it has the applicable licenses to provide the requested scope of 
services identified in VSD’s 2023-RFP-009. The grant writing services, including 
research and proposal development do not require professional licenses issued by the 
state of California. The funding needs analysis scope of work will be completed by 
the key staff members identified in this proposal that include Project Engineers/Cost 
Estimators who all hold current and valid licenses as professional civil engineers 
issued by the state of California.

3. EVIDENCE OF CALIFORNIA LICENSING
The proposal should include appropriate documentation showing the 
Proposer is properly licensed in the State of California to perform the 
Services requested in the scope of work.

The Business license for our corporate office in 
Concord, California, one of many of our licenses for 
business throughout the state. 

Our Certificate of Good Standing in the state of 
California.

CITY OF CONCORD

TO BE POSTED IN A CONSPICUOUS PLACE

Business Name:

Business Location:

1st Owner Name:

BUSINESS LICENSE
Finance Department

1950 Parkside Dr., MS/06

Concord, CA  94519-2578

2nd Owner Name:

Director of Finance

Business No.:

Business Class:  

Expires:

1.  Licensee must comply with City zoning requirements.

2.  This license is issued without verification that the 

licensee is subject to or exempt from licensing by the 

state of California.

Under Provisions of Concord Municipal Code, a non-transferable license is 

hereby granted to:

HARRIS & ASSOCIATES, INC.

1401 WILLOW PASS RD 500

CONCORD, CA 94520-7964

91042203

December 31, 2023

Professions / Trades

Karan Reid

Steve Winchester

Harris & Associates, Inc.

1401 WILLOW PASS RD 500

CONCORD, CA 94520-7964

Secretary of State
Certificate of Status

I, SHIRLEY N. WEBER, PH.D., California Secretary of State, hereby certify:

Entity Name: HARRIS & ASSOCIATES, INC.
Entity No.: 0808586
Registration Date: 02/03/1977
Entity Type: Stock Corporation - CA - General
Formed In: CALIFORNIA
Status: Active

The above referenced entity is active on the Secretary of State's records and is authorized to exercise all
its powers, rights and privileges in California.

This certificate relates to the status of the entity on the Secretary of State’s records as of the date of this
certificate and does not reflect documents that are pending review or other events that may impact status.

No information is available from this office regarding the financial condition, status of licenses, if any,
business activities or practices of the entity.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I execute this certificate and affix
the Great Seal of the State of California this day of July 31,
2023.

SHIRLEY N. WEBER, PH.D.
Secretary of State

Certificate No.:

To verify the issuance of this Certificate, use the Certificate No. above with the Secretary of State
Certification Verification Search available at bbiizzfileOnline.sos.ca.gov.

134031319

296



27  Harris & Associates, Inc.

4. REFERENCES
The Proposer shall provide a minimum of four (4) client references, 
preferably city, county, or special district governments for whom the 
Proposer has previously performed services of similar type and scope 
within the last 5 years.

Strategic Advisory Services for Grant Assistance
City of Watsonville

Harris helped the City of Watsonville win two grant applications. The City’s 
WWTF is in a seismically and flood-vulnerable location that the FEMA National 
Risk Index identifies as being at risk of relatively high expected annual loss overall, 
very high earthquake related expected annual loss, and relatively high riverine 
flooding expected annual loss. Harris assisted the City with the development of a 
successful application and related BCA for a $9 million FEMA Hazard Mitigation/
Cal-OES Prepare California grant. The project will create a resilient electrical 
system for this critical community infrastructure by relocating and consolidating 
the WWTF critical electrical facilities away from their current hazard-vulnerable 
locations into one MEF. The project will also replace two 600kW generators that 
are currently located in a seismically-vulnerable building with one 2,000kW 
generator on an outdoor elevated generator pad. Harris also helped the City with 
a $250,000 award from the Bary Area Council Foundation’s California Resilience 
Challenge for development and implementation of a Green Infrastructure Plan. 

Dates of Service: 2020—Ongoing

Reference: Jackie McCloud, Senior Utilities Engineer

Address: 250 Main St., Watsonville, CA 95076

Phone Number: 831.768.3172 

Email Address: jackie.mccloud@cityofwatsonville.org

Types of Services Provided:

• Grant funding research

• On-call grant research

• Grant application and BCA development and 
submission

• Technical expertise

• Funder outreach

297



28  Harris & Associates, Inc.

FEMA Hazard Mitigation Grant Program
City of Huntington Beach

The City of Huntington Beach had successfully applied for an HMGP grant in 
2019, but when the construction bids came back in 2022, a 30% increase in costs 
drove the project’s BCA below FEMA’s required level of ≥ 1. The City’s engineer 
that prepared the original BCA had retired. Harris recreated the original BCA 
with updated building/content damages, displacement costs, social costs and 
post-mitigation costs. The revised package included 48 reports, documents, 
letters, and spreadsheets to support the assumptions in the Benefit Cost Analysis. 
The new BCA of 3.73 supported a grant award of $6.6 million for the City’s Heil 
Avenue Stormwater Rehabilitation Project. The updated report was review and 
approved by Cal-OES and submitted to FEMA for final review and approval.

Dates of Service: 2022—Ongoing

Reference: Chau Vu, Director of Public Works 

Address: 2000 Main Street, Huntington Beach, CA 
92648

Phone: 714.374.5345 

Email Address: chau.vu@huntingtonbeachca.gov

Types of Services Provided:

• Benefit Cost Analysis (BCA)Technical expertise

• RFI Response 

298



29  Harris & Associates, Inc.

Grant Writing Assistance
Valley Sanitary District 

ESS prepared a successful recycled water planning grant 
application that was submitted and approved by SWRCB 
for $500,000 to fund planning studies for recycled water 
development and utilization. ESS also prepared a successful 
WIFIA letter of intent enabling VSD to receive up to $50 
million in EPA funding once a full application is submitted 
and approved by EPA. ESS also prepared a conditionally 
approved recycled water construction grant application which 
would receive $15 million in SWRCB funding once the project 
progresses to the final design phase.  

Dates of Service: 2020—Ongoing

Reference: Ron Buchwald, PE, District Engineer

Address: 45500 Van Buren Street, Indio, CA 92201

Phone Number: 760.238.5400

Email Address: rbuchwald@valley-sanitary.org

Types of Services Provided:

• Funding needs analysis

• Grant funding research

• On-call grant research

• Grant proposal development and management support

• Funder outreach and management

Grant Writing Assistance
Santa Clarita Valley Water Agency 

ESS prepared a successful crosswalk/feasibility study 
submission for the Bureau of Reclamations Title XVI Funding 
Program. This approval made SCVWA eligible for $30 million 
in grant funding for recycled water projects in perpetuity 
and until funding is depleted. In addition, this agency has 
been awarded $9 million for applications submitted by ESS 
since 2020 for groundwater banking, recycled water pipeline 
installment, well development, and other water/recycled water 
related project.

Dates of Service: 2020—Ongoing

Reference: Steven Cole, Assistant General Manager

Address: 26521 Summit Cir, Santa Clarita, CA 91350

Phone Number: 661.705.7915 ext. 115

Email Address: scole@scvwa.org

Types of Services Provided:

• Funding needs analysis

• Grant funding research

• On-call grant research

• Grant proposal development and management support

• Funder outreach and management

299



30  Harris & Associates, Inc.

5. SUBCONTRACTORS. 
The Proposer shall identify functions that are likely to be subcontracted 
and identify the subcontractor that is anticipated to perform each 
function, if known at this time.

Harris has included one subcontractor as a member of its team for the Grant Writing 
Services scope of work:

Sudi Shoja, PE with Engineering Solutions Services, Inc.

Sudi will be utilized as a Subject Matter Expert whose focus is on identifying, 
targeting and analyzing the range of funding opportunities, grant programs, and 
financial alternatives applicable to VSD’s various capital improvement projects. She 
will participate in the following tasks:

• Funding Needs Analysis

• Grant Funding Research

• On-Call Grant Research

• Grant Proposal Development

Engineering Solutions Services
ESS was founded in 2012 by Sudi Shoja, PE, a former City Engineer who has more 
than 40 years of experience in managing CIP and Water and Sewer programs of over 
$100 million. She founded ESS with the goal of assisting local entities in achieving 
their goals in funding and compliance, program management, quality assurance/
quality control, and project delivery. She leverages her successful experience with 
transforming the agencies where she worked from losing funding to securing 
the maximum grant funding possible, meeting the various funding agency 
requirements, and serving as examples for successful audit processes. As a result, 
she has earned a reputation that gained us our impressive repeat client list in a short 
timeframe. Included below are a few examples: 

• Qualified our grant to receive over $30 
million for recycled water projects.

• ESS applications received 20% of the 
awarded funds from Department of 
Water Resources Urban Community 
Drought Relief for its clients in Cycles 
1 & 2 in 2021 and 2022

• ESS applications received over 30% of 
the awarded funds from Bureau  
of Reclamation for its clients in  
March 2022.

• ESS submitted application received the 
highest ranking in the recent Santa 
Ana Watershed Project Authority 
(SAWPA) grant solicitation. 

• Received approval from WIFIA for 
over $50 million for two stormwater 
and $60 million for wastewater 
treatment projects.

• The SRF application package for $103 
million to SWRCB was approved in 
record time and with no comments.

• Successfully awarded $39.2 Million 
in greenhouse gas (GHG) reduction 
funding.

• Unmatched experience in submittal 
of successful application for a variety 
of projects to Federal agencies such as 
Bureau of Reclamation (BOR), FEMA/
CalOES and EPA. 

• Identified more than $20 million in 
water quality grants for two agencies.

• Developed a funding plan for the City 
of Santa Ana that identified more than 
$25 million in grant funding in water, 
recycled water, and sewer projects.

• Prepared successful cogeneration 
project application for $8 million  
in funding.

• California Office of Emergency Services 
(CalOES) has recommended multiple 
grant applications prepared for seismic 
retrofit, climate change and sea level 
rise, fire, and flood control to U.S. 
FEMA for funding.

300



31  Harris & Associates, Inc.

C.  PROPOSED METHOD TO 
ACCOMPLISH THE WORK

Describe the technical and management approach to providing the Services to VSD. Proposer should 
take into account the scope of the Project, goals of VSD, and general functions required. Include a draft 
schedule of tasks, milestones, and deliverables that will provide for timely provision of the Project. In 
reviewing the scope of work, the Proposer may identify additional necessary tasks and is invited to 
bring these to VSD’s attention within the discussion of its proposed method to accomplish the Project.

As requested by VSD, Harris will complete the following tasks as identified in 2023-RFP-009.

TASK 1: FUNDING NEEDS ANALYSIS

Harris will coordinate with VSD management to assess the validity of current 
funding priority areas and identify new priority areas for Funding. Specifically, 
Harris will complete the following subtasks:

Review and Evaluate the 20-Year Capital Improvement Program (CIP)
Our philosophy and approach begins with assessing the validity of VSD’s current 
funding priorities amongst all identified capital projects and identifying top candidates 
for grant funding as well as the priority areas most compatible with grant requirements 
and goals. The Harris team, with our unique combination of engineering, water/
wastewater, GIS and municipal finance and planning SMEs, will help VSD prioritize 
projects to grant fund, and assist in evaluation of grant funding options. As shown in 
the figures below, we are keenly aware of VSD’s capital priorities to fund critical plant 
facility and sewage collection system improvements, as well as the funding gap that 
needs to be closed through grants and other funding mechanisms.

Harris will review with VSD staff the 20-Year CIP to confirm all current and future 
capital projects. We have reviewed the 20-Year CIP and identified the major capital 
projects within it as represented in the graphs on the following pages.

301



32  Harris & Associates, Inc.

The Plant Facility CIP is broken into the following categories and percentage of the overall CIP:

Project Estimate Percentage 
of CIP

Laboratory Building—Final 
Design

$1,000,000 0.29%

Training & Office Building—
Design (Carry Over)

$1,000,000 0.29%

Other Projects <$1,000,000 $3,407,000 0.89%
Biosolids Conversion Project $5,000,000 1.29%
Laboratory Building—
Construction

$8,000,000 1.9%

Training & Office Building—
Construction

$10,000,000 2.3%

Recycled Water Project Phase 
3 Design

$11,293,090 2.6%

Vehicle & Major Equipment 
Replacement Fund

$16,834,000 3.9%

Recycled Water Project Phase 2 
Design Build

$25,356,017 5.9%

Future Operations Projects $29,600,000 6.9%
Recycled Water Project Phase 1 
Design Build

$58,335,332 13.5%

Recycled Water Project Phase 3 
Construction

$77,741,693 18.0%

Future Plan Expansion 2040 & 
Beyond

$184,156,173 42.7%

Total $431,723,305

VSD PLANT FACILITY CIP

The Sewer Collection System CIP is broken into the following categories and percentage of the overall CIP:

Project Estimate Percentage 
of CIP

Avenue 48 Sewer Main Upgrade $248,455 0.3%
Interim Collection System CIP 
Design $302,856 0.3%

Lateral Grant Program $1,238,012 1.4%
Emergency Sewer Siphon 
Replacement Design $1,436,000 1.6%

Manhole Rehabilitation $2,139,580 2.4%
Avenue 48 Sewer Main Upgrade 
Construction $2,387,715 2.7%

Interim Collection System CIP 
Construction $2,912,776 3.3%

Sewer Repairs and/or 
Rehabilitation $3,195,023 3.6%

Future Collection Projects $4,700,000 5.3%
Build-out Collection System CIP 
Projects $7,020,147 7.9%

Emergency Sewer Siphon 
Replacement Construction $9,285,000 10.5%

Sewer Main Rehabilitation or 
Replacement Design $12,244,988 13.8%

Sewer Main Rehabilitation or 
Replacement Construction $41,604,476 46.9%

Total $88,715,028

VSD SEWER COLLECTION SYSTEM CIP

302



33  Harris & Associates, Inc.

Many of the priority projects are considered future projects. 
Harris understands that VSD’s available capital funds cannot 
currently sustain the estimated cost of these important 
projects. Grants and other funding opportunities will be 
necessary to achieve the expected outcomes VSD has planned 
with its 20-Year CIP.

Harris reviewed the unfunded CIP and identified the major 
project categories from the future projects list. Harris has 
grant experience and subject matter expertise the areas of 
focus for VSD’s CIP. We have identified some of the potential 
funding sources that could provide much-needed planning, 
design, and construction funds for VSD’s unfunded priority 
projects. Harris will complete a thorough review of the CIP, 
identify, and evaluate project descriptions and costs, from 
which initial research on available funding programs, financial 
alternatives, and grants can occur.

DELIVERABLE(S):
• Summary Report of 20-Year CIP

Prioritize Capital Projects
The Harris team will coordinate with VSD staff and schedule 
a working group meeting to review the Summary Report 
provided in Task 1.1, and to evaluate with VSD staff its 
priority capital projects. A review of the timing, schedule and 
estimated cost of the various priority capital projects will be 
completed. Project prioritization with estimated schedule and 
budget will be confirmed that will serve as the basis for the 
focus of our efforts to review and research available funding 
programs, financial alternatives, and grants. An important 
element of this analysis will be to evaluate the best method of 
delivery for the major capital projects identified in the CIP. 
As an example, VSD has identified a design-build approach 
for the Recycled Water Project (Phase 2) and a Design-Bid-
Build approach for the Recycled Water Project (Phase 3). We 
will identify and recommend the appropriate project delivery 
method given the importance of addressing project schedule 
and budget in line with grant funding requirements.

DELIVERABLE(S):
• Schedule and conduct working group meeting with VSD staff

• Meeting agenda, minutes, and record

• Evaluation Report of 20-Year CIP, project schedule and budget

• Analysis of project delivery methods applicable to critical projects

• Capital Project Prioritization Report (CPPR)

Preliminary Evaluation of Available Funding Programs
The Harris team will work from the Capital Project 
Prioritization Report (CPPR) as reviewed and approved by VSD 
staff to perform an initial evaluation of the currently available 
grant and financial assistance programs for planning efforts, 
design phase, and capital construction costs. Research will 
be initiated for all existing Notices of Funding Availability 
(NOFAs) and a matrix developed for grant and funding 
program application deadlines. The work completed in this task 
will inform the Harris team and VSD staff on the availability of 
current funding programs and any alignment of those programs 
with the prioritized capital projects established in the CPPR. 
A summary report will be prepared that will identify tentative 
timelines for preparation and submittal of applications for any 
currently available funding programs, or for known upcoming 
(to be issued) NOFAs. Included in the summary report will be a 
discussion on project readiness, whether for planning or design 
phase funding, or for capital construction funding requiring 
“shovel ready” projects.

DELIVERABLE(S):
• Funding Availability and Schedule / Deadline Matrix

• Summary Report on Funding Programs / Project Readiness

303



34  Harris & Associates, Inc.

TASK 2: GRANT FUNDING RESEARCH

The most efficient and effective approach for researching 
grant options for projects includes the expertise to thoroughly 
understand project goals and objectives and aligning these 
with a grantor’s goals and objectives. Harris’ experienced 
team of technical experts has deep project and grant writing 
and administration experience. In addition, we have strong 
relationships with agency program managers who provide 
specific guidance on project competitiveness, enabling us 
to recommend the best match of grant options for specific 
projects or programs. Harris builds relationships with funding 
agencies and monitors the development and release of funding 
programs, allowing us to vet grant opportunities in advance 
and preposition VSD’s prioritized capital projects for these 
opportunities. Our approach can provide VSD with higher 
probabilities of grant application success. 

While the focus of our efforts will be pursuing grant and 
financial programs available for VSD’s critical plant facility 
and sewage collection system projects identified in the CPPR 
developed in Task 1, Harris will review and confirm other 
important programs and projects requiring outside sources of 
funding, including those for Infrastructure Development and 
Maintenance, GIS Geographic Information System, Planning, 
Youth Engagement/Education/Employment. Our wide 
ranging experience with grant and funding programs beyond 
those targeted for water/wastewater projects will benefit VSD 
in our efforts to align its other programs and projects with 
available funding.

Grant funding research will be focused on the projects 
identified in the CPPR, and with those projects in best 
alignment as to scope, schedule and cost with the timing of the 
various NOFAs issued or to be issued in the future.

DELIVERABLE(S):
• Monthly reporting on grant research efforts

• Updated lists of NOFAs issued

• Summary of funding programs available

• Recommendations on best alignment of prioritized projects with 
available funding

TASK 3: ON-CALL GRANT FUNDING RESEARCH

Harris’ team of technical and grant experts provides VSD 
with flexibility and responsiveness should unanticipated 
grant research needs arise. In addition, we know how to 
manage on-call contracts; over the course of more than 750 
on-call task assignments, Harris has made successful on-call 
administration a science. With equal parts communication 
and responsiveness, we will work with VSD staff to be 
prepared to initiate additional grant funding research for the 
programs and projects outside of the prioritized list of capital 
projects identified in the CPPR developed in Task 1.

We will have the right staff available at the right time to 
support your needs. The Harris team has successfully provided 
services through on-call contracts for more than 50 public 
agencies. We understand how to be reliable, flexible, and 
responsive to VSD’s needs and how important that is help VSD 
achieve its goals of pursuing and securing all available outside 
sources of funding.

Subject to separate task orders for miscellaneous on-call grant 
funding research, Harris will coordinate with VSD staff on the 
type of programs and projects to evaluate and pursue for grant 
funding. A separate scope and budget will be established for 
general and/or specific funding research beyond the research 
otherwise provided in Task 2.

304



35  Harris & Associates, Inc.

TASK 4: GRANT PROPOSAL DEVELOPMENT

The Harris team will provide general grant application writing 
services associated with the completion of grant applications on 
an as-needed basis on behalf of VSD, including the preparation 
of funding abstracts, production and submittal of applications 
to funding sources. In addition, the Harris team will provide 
ongoing technical review of grant applications prepared and 
submitted by VSD staff when requested. A copy of each grant 
application package submitted for funding, in its entirety, will 
be provided to VSD. Fees for grant applications prepared by 
the Harris team will be negotiated on a case-by-case basis. As 
appropriate, Harris may coordinate with VSD staff for staff 
to submit grant applications prepared by Harris, in order to 
maintain Harris’ eligibility to assist with grant implementation.

Each task order issued for a grant application development 
and review may include if applicable, but is not limited to, the 
following:

Grant Application Management
Throughout the period of grant application development, 
the Harris team will coordinate and facilitate a kick-off and 
check-in meetings with VSD staff to review the status of grant 
application preparation. At the kickoff meeting, the Harris 
team will present, if applicable, grant program guidelines, 
application approach, candidate projects, a detailed work plan 
and schedule, application templates and a draft application 
checklist. The checklist will identify parties responsible (e.g., 
Harris, VSD staff, external project partner, etc.) for completing 
or addressing checklist items.

DELIVERABLE(S):
• Schedule and host a kick-off meeting with VSD staff

• Grant application workplan/schedule, checklist, application 
templates

Review Program and Project Documents
The Harris team will ensure that applications are competitive 
and responsive to the screening and scoring criteria of a given 
grant program by obtaining a full understanding of both 
the grant program and the project or program for which the 
application is being prepared. Multiple projects or programs 
for potential submission of grant applications will be ranked by 
competitiveness based on our collective professional expertise 
and assessment.

DELIVERABLE(S):
• Summary of scoring criteria and requirements

Compile and Review Project Information
The Harris team will compile and develop all relevant 
project information and exhibits, including project cost 
estimate, funding plan, narrative, projects’ benefits, and other 
information and data, graphics, maps, charts, tables or photos 
pertinent to addressing grant program requirements and 
evaluation criteria and to producing a competitive application.

DELIVERABLE(S):
• Summary of project information required for grant application

Identify and Address Missing Project Data
The Harris team will communicate to VSD whether a project 
has sufficient background data to assemble a complete and 
competitive application. The Harris team will identify missing 
project data and how best they may be produced to meet 
application requirements and evaluation criteria. If sufficient 
alternatives for addressing the missing information exist, the 
Harris team will inform VSD and produce the data.

DELIVERABLE(S):
• Summary of additional information required for grant application 

submittal

Develop Draft Applications
Once the groundwork has been laid through comprehensive 
review of grant program requirements and project, the Harris 
team will prepare at least two successive iterations of the draft 
application for the selected priority project or program. If 
significant quality or completeness issues persist in the second 
draft, up to two additional drafts may be required. Throughout 
the period of grant application development, the Harris team 
will attend coordination meetings with VSD staff and provide 
written status reports (including application status, issues, and 
resolutions) in advance of the meeting and meeting summaries 
following the meeting.

DELIVERABLE(S):
• Grant application development meetings with VSD staff

• Status reports

• Draft grant applications

305



36  Harris & Associates, Inc.

Develop Final Applications 
The Harris team will incorporate edits and feedback received 
from VSD staff on draft applications and revise applications 
accordingly to develop final applications for submittal. Any 
and all information prepared as part of any grant application 
will be owned by VSD. Unless otherwise included in the 
scope and fee for development of a specific grant application, 
VSD will be responsible for any third party or agency fees 
associated with the grant application submittal.

DELIVERABLE(S):
• Final grant applications for submission to funding agencies

Assist with Stakeholder Engagement and Support 
If included in the scope and fee for development of a specific 
grant application, the Harris team will assist VSD staff in 
identifying a list of officials, agencies, or organizations to 
provide letters of support for each application. The Harris 
team will provide a draft letter of support for each identified 
party, accompanied by a summary to be used in transmitting 
the draft letters of support. The summary can include: 

• The name and brief description of the grant program, 

• The deadline for submitting the letter of support, 

• The name and contact information of the person or entity 
to whom the letter is to be submitted and anyone who is to 
receive copies; and 

• Contact information for questions about the letters. 

The Harris team will also be prepared to perform additional 
public outreach activities related to the application, or 
facilitate and support VSD staff at public meetings, if 
necessary. If directed, the Harris team will prepare and 
provide leave-behind collaterals and other briefing materials 
in furtherance of stakeholder engagement and support.

DELIVERABLE(S):
• Draft letters of support

• Stakeholder engagement/support

• Public outreach materials

TASK 5: MONTHLY REPORTING

Harris understands that VSD has an aggressive CIP that 
is underfunded and is dependent upon leveraging outside 
sources of federal, state and other grants and financial 
programs available for its prioritized list of capital projects. 
The Harris team will work closely with VSD assigned staff 
throughout the duration of Harris’ Grant Writing Services 
completed under this assignment so that decisions made and 
actions taken are consistent with direction provided by VSD.

Tracking Harris Costs
Harris uses Deltek Vantagepoint, a globally recognized 
project-centric business management software, to record 
time and expenses charged to projects, monitor project 
budget performance, and provide staff with real-time project 
performance data. With Vantagepoint’s monthly analysis tools 
and reports, we can readily analyze each of Harris’ individual 
tasks including tracking resources against tasks, the value of 
the effort charged against the tasks, and the remaining budget 
available. These monthly summaries, detailing labor, expense, 
and subconsultant charges for each billing period, form the 
basis of preparing accurate monthly invoices. Vantagepoint also 
allows us to plan and proactively track schedule versus budget 
to respond to potential delays, resource issues, or other possible 
problems. We will use this tool to monitor each task and track 
Harris’ expended efforts on the various tasks provided to VSD 
relating to our Grant Writing Services assignment.

Decision Logs
Maintaining a detailed account of important decisions made is 
vital to ensuring the Harris team proceeds in accordance with 
direction given and consensus reached between VSD and the 
Harris team. To meet this demand, we will maintain a decision 
log to track key decisions made. The decision logs will contain 
a description of the decision, the date it was made, as well as 
the reasoning and objective behind the decision taken.

Reporting Progress with VSD
Transparency and clarity are key features in any successful 
team’s process; traditional project reporting, even using a simple 
Word document, can bring Harris’ team and the VSD team into 
alignment allowing everyone to be informed and comfortable 
with progress and status. Harris will establish and maintain 
a monthly report with tasks initiated, tasks underway, tasks 
completed, actions taken, and status of tasks and outcomes. 

DELIVERABLE(S):
• Decision Logs

• Monthly Reports

306



37  Harris & Associates, Inc.

Sample Schedule

Project Schedule
OCT 
2023

NOV 
2023

DEC 
2023

JAN
2024

FEB 
2024

MAR 
2024

APR 
2024

MAY 
2024

JUNE 
2024

JULY 
2024

AUG 
2024

SEPT 
2024

Task 1—Funding Needs Analysis

Task 2—Grant Funding Research

Task 3—On-Call Grant Funding Research

Task 4—Grant Proposal Development

Task 5—Monthly Reporting

ASSUMPTIONS:
• Task 1 duration is 3 months following Notice to Proceed.

• Task 2 duration will occur throughout the initial 1 year term of the Agreement.

• Task 3 duration will occur as directed throughout the initial 1 year term of the Agreement.

• Task 4 duration will occur following completion of Task 1, and as directed by VSD for funding 
opportunities available and applicable to identified capital projects.

• Task 5 duration will occur throughout the initial 1 year term of the Agreement.

307



38  Harris & Associates, Inc.

The undersigned hereby submits its proposal and, by doing so, agrees to furnish 
services to VSD in accordance with the Request for Proposal (RFP), and to be bound 
by the terms and conditions of the RFP.

Ehab Gerges, PE
Principal-in-Charge 
949.683.2011
Ehab.Gerges@WeAreHarris.com

The undersigned also hereby responds to the Vendor Questionnaire (Section 5 of the 
RFP), as follows:

5.1. Have you read and agreed to all Terms and Conditions?*

☑Yes

☐ No

*Response required

D.  CERTIFICATION OF PROPOSAL

This section shall state: “The undersigned hereby submits its proposal and, by doing so, agrees to 
furnish services to VSD in accordance with the Request for Proposal (RFP), and to be bound by the 
terms and conditions of the RFP.”

308



SEALED FEE PROPOSAL
2023-RFP-009 GRANT WRITING SERVICES

VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT
September 14, 2023

309



ii  Harris & Associates, Inc.

E. SEALED FEE PROPOSAL

Please provide a lump sum, not-to-exceed fee proposal for the Project. The fee proposal shall be 
broken down by task and further broken down by staff, subconsultant costs, and expenses for each 
task. The fee proposal shall include hourly rates for all personnel.

Harris Staff Marcus Fuller Christy 
Cooper Dima Galkin Kelly Morgan Sudi Shoja 

(ESS)
Debbie 
Murphy (ESS) Ann Hajnosz Karyn 

Johnson
James 
Klueber (ESS)

Zaheer 
Shaikh

Elizabeth 
Reyes

Role
Program 
Manager

Grant 
Specialist

Grant 
Specialist

Grant 
Specialist

Grant 
Specialist

Grant 
Specialist

Financial 
Analyst

Financial 
Analyst

Financial 
Analyst

Project 
Engineer

Project 
Engineer

Phase / Task Description Total Hours Hourly Rate  $325.00  $265.00  $230.00  $205.00  $231.00  $220.00  $315.00  $265.00  $220.00  $300.00  $215.00 

Task 1 - Funding Needs Analysis 216 40 0 0 0 20 20 40 40 8 40 8  $60,700 

Task 2 - Grant Funding Research 168 0 24 24 24 24 24 24 0 24 0 0  $40,464 

Task 3 - On-Call Grant Funding Research  Varies  Refer to Schedule of Hourly Billing Rates  Varies 

Task 4 - Grant Proposal Development  Varies  Refer to notes below  Varies 

Task 5 - Monthly Reporting 54 12 6 6 0 12 6 12 0 0 0 0  $14,742 

 Sub-Total for Tasks 1, 2 and 5  $115,906 

 Reimbursable Expenses  $2,500 

 Total for Tasks 1, 2 and 5  $118,406 

NOTES:
For Task 3, upon confirmation of funding requirements identified in Task 1 and direction received from VSD, additional 
grant funding research will be performed on a time / materials basis pursuant to the schedule of hourly rates.

For Task 4, the individual grant application cost will be dependent upon the type and complexity of the funding 
requirements. Cost will vary depending upon level of effort (LOE) required, with a budget estimated as follows: low 
LOE = $15,000; average LOE = $25,000; and high LOE = $35,000.

Upon identification of eligible funding opportunties, a level of effort will be determined and scope/fee finalized for 
grant proposal development for that funding opportunity to be approved by VSD.

310



iii  Harris & Associates, Inc.

TITLE HOURLY RATES

Program Manager $325

Grant Specialist $205–$265

Financial Analyst $220–$315

Project Engineer $215–$300

NOTES:
• Harris billable hourly rates are subject to adjustment due to promotions during 

the effective period of this schedule. 

• A new rate schedule escalated annually at 5% will become effective January 1, 
2024 and on the 1st of January every year thereafter. 

• Harris billable hourly rates include most direct costs such as travel, equipment, 
computers, communications and reproduction.  

• All subconsultant charges are subject to a 10% markup.

TITLE HOURLY RATES

Principal $210 

Project Manager $200 

Senior Associate $185 

Associate $160 

Support Associate $135 

Technical Experts $220–$275 

NOTES:
• Reimbursable costs include actual costs for reproduction and 

courier services, and travel costs at current IRS mileage rate.

SCHEDULE OF HOURLY BILLING RATES

311



Hoch Consulting  

 
 
 
  

Proposal 

 

Grant Writing Services 
RFP NO. 2023-RFP-009 
 
 
 
 

 
VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT 
45500 VAN BUREN STREET 
INDIO, CA  92201 
 

 
 

SEPTEMBER 14, 2023 
  

Hoch Consulting 

312



Hoch Consulting 

 
 

 
 

 
Holly Gould         September 14, 2023 
Clerk of the Board 
Valley Sanitary District 
45500 Van Buren Street 
Indio, CA 92201 
 
Subject:  Proposal for Grant Wri ng Services  
  
Dear Ms. Gould,  

Hoch Consul ng is pleased to submit this proposal to the Valley Sanitary District, (District) to provide grant 
funding research and grant wri ng services. Hoch Consul ng is a full-service civil engineering firm focused on 
providing our clients with high-quality, cost-effec ve, and prac cal engineering, management, and funding 
solu ons. Founded in 2012, our guiding principles are to provide technical expertise, creativity, accountability, 
integrity, and efficiency in everything we do.  
 
We combine our experience as well-rounded and nimble project managers with the technical exper se of our 
trusted colleagues to provide a best-in-class project team capable of organizing and analyzing complex data to 
make competent and trusted recommenda ons for grant funding for a variety of infrastructure projects.  Our 
team draws from former municipal government employees, civil engineers, and water resources specialists to 
provide a deep bench of technical experts that understand water resources and the challenges that exist in 
funding expensive infrastructure projects in California.  Our funding team is completely in-house and has proven 
exper se in wri ng, submi ng, and administering grants, rebates, and low-interest loan programs from local, 
state, and federal agencies. We are excited at the prospect of 
suppor ng the District in its efforts to keep pace with the 
renewal and replacement of aging infrastructure and to 
implement projects suppor ng the reuse of recycled water. 
 
We appreciate the opportunity to demonstrate our 
qualifica ons and are excited by the prospect of working with 
Valley Sanitary District to earn a spot amongst the District’s 
roster of trusted partners. If you have any ques ons about the 
informa on contained herein, please do not hesitate to 
contact us.  
 
Sincerely,  

 
 
 

 
Hoch Consulting  
Adam Hoch, P.E., QSD 
President/Principal Engineer  
ahoch@hochconsulting.com 

 

Page 1 of 30 313



 Statement of Qualifications 

Executive Summary 

 
 

Our funding team is comprised of a talented cast of technical personnel who each possess extensive experience in 
cra ing, submi ng, and managing grants, rebates, and low-interest loan programs offered by local, state, and 
federal agencies. We have both the technical wri ng skills and engineering competency that are o en necessary 
to develop successful grant applica on work products such as workplans, budgets, schedules, and compelling 
narra ve proposals/applica ons. We draw from a deep bench of staff that helps us effec vely respond to the 
typically quick turn-a-round me between the funding opportunity announcement and grant applica on 
submission deadline.  Our team’s breadth also allows us to effec vely manage compe ng priori es.  
 
Our team has wri en successful applica ons for 
the United States Environmental Protec on 
Agency (USEPA), United States Bureau of 
Reclama on (USBR), Governor’s Office of 
Emergency Services (CalOES), California 
Department of Water Resources (DWR), 
Metropolitan Water District of Southern 
California (MWD), and California’s Department of 
Resources Recycling (CalRecycle), and have 
supported alterna ve funding efforts for loans 
such as the State Revolving Fund (SRF) and EPA’s 
Water Infrastructure Funding and Innova on Act 
(WIFIA) program. These efforts have resulted in 
the procurement of outside funding for a wide 
range of projects such as reuse projects, 
groundwater recovery, renewable energy, co-diges on, automated metering upgrades, emergency 
communica ons infrastructure, cri cal facility emergency power genera on, and stormwater reuse projects, all of 
which have allowed the agencies that we have represented, to stretch ratepayer dollars for water, wastewater, and 
recycled water programs. We have assisted our clients in securing funding for innova ve leak detec on and water 
conserva on programs, sewer infrastructure improvements, and recycled water distribu on systems as well. 
 
We have a seasoned team of professionals in the funding group led by Ms. Cari Dale, our proposed Project Manager 
for this endeavor.  Ms. Dale spent 29 years leading the management of potable water, wastewater and water 
reclama on programs for a variety of agencies in Southern California.  In these roles, she rou nely guided relevant 
technical studies, programs and funding ini a ves to develop reliable water supplies and ensure program 
implementa on. Ms. Dale has extensive exper se in iden fying grant opportuni es, matching exis ng programs 
and infrastructure projects to funding opportuni es as well as successfully naviga ng the Federal appropria ons 
process. She was a champion of a mul -agency recycled water project in North San Diego County and Pure Water 
Oceanside, both of which were significant capital projects which received substan al federal funding through the 

 

$80M  
awarded in secured 

funding for our 
clients in grants and 

rebates 

$140M  
awarded in low 
interest loans 

88%+ 
Procurement Rate  

Hoch’s 5-Year Track Record 

Page 2 of 30 314



 Statement of Qualifications 

Executive Summary 

 
 

Bureau of Reclama on. We believe that the Recycled Water Project Phase 2 and 3 may be well suited to obtain 
funding through the Title XVI program at the Bureau of Reclama on and Ms. Dale is highly experienced in 
coordina ng technical studies to qualify a project for grant funding, is well-versed in the intricacies of coordina ng 
project construc on with the grant process, and understands the paramount importance of ming in securing 
funding, which could poten ally be the deciding factor in securing a grant award for a project.  Ms. Dale maintains 
a posi ve rapport with Bureau of Reclama on staff, which has helped to further favorable exchanges and successful 
funding ini a ves on behalf of the agencies she has represented.  Ms. Dale will be assisted by Ms. Kyrsten Burr, 
who will act as the Deputy Project Manager and brings extensive experience in the public sector water industry, 
having spent 21 years in the public sector working for the City of San Diego as well as the San Diego County Water 
Authority. Ms. Burr has a notable history of achieving funding success and is highly experienced in crea ng 
applica ons, engaging with gran ng agency personnel, and carrying out repor ng tasks.  Both Ms. Burr and Ms. 
Dale are also well versed in various debt funding and have supported agencies with WIFIA and SRF loan processes. 
 
Our team is rounded out by several highly skilled professionals with exper se in water resources, water 
conserva on, water policy and civil engineering, providing valuable support to Ms. Dale and Ms. Burr.  These areas 
of exper se serve as a strong basis to draw from when crea ng persuasive stories for grant applica ons.  With a 
deep understanding of the industry and a proven track record of success, we are well-equipped to navigate the 
complex landscape of grant applica ons and funding opportuni es. By leveraging our diverse skill set and extensive 
knowledge, we effec vely communicate the unique needs and goals of our clients, maximizing their chances of 
securing the necessary funding for their projects. 
 
Our success in the funding support world is aided by the rela onships we cul vate and maintain with key staff 
at the grantor agencies. For example, we communicate with our contacts before funding cycles are opened, during 
the grant applica on process, and a er submi ng the grant applica on. And for grant applica ons that are not 
successful, we rou nely engage grantors for a debrief to iden fy how to make an applica on stronger for the next 
funding opportunity. 
 
This is an exci ng and opportune moment in the funding landscape, thanks to the recent passage of the Bipar san 
Infrastructure Bill and other significant federal and state legisla ons. At Hoch Consul ng, our funding support team 
has been diligently monitoring the various programs that will allocate these funds, including USBR's Title XVI and 
WaterSmart Water and Energy Efficiency Grant (WEEG) programs, CalReycle's Co-Diges on Grant Program, Water 
Infrastructure Finance and Innova on Act (WIFIA), and State Revolving Fund (SRF) programs. With our extensive 
knowledge and exper se in these funding opportuni es, we are well-posi oned to assist Valley Sanitary District in 
leveraging these resources to advance the region's goals and policies. By partnering with us, Valley Sanitary District 
can confidently navigate the complex funding landscape and secure the necessary resources to propel its ini a ves 
forward. 
 

Page 3 of 30 315



Statement of Qualifications 
Qualifications and Experience 

 
 

Hoch Consulting has provided grant support services like those requested in this RFP to various clients in Southern 
California for over a decade. Our team is composed of former public agency managers, executives, and support 
staff whose unique work histories help us to better understand our client needs, navigate government agencies, 
and maintain productive relationships with key funding program staff. We bring significant experience in 
identifying opportunities and matching projects to those opportunities, as well as preparing grant applications and 
funding agreements from a wide range of federal, state, and regional programs. In the last five years, with a 88+ 
percent procurement rate, Hoch assisted clients in identifying and securing over $80.5 million in grants and $140 
million in low-interest loans.  We have also submitted applications for $134 million in grants, which are pending 
review. 
 
Due to our highly skilled team and extensive knowledge of funding programs suitable for water districts, we are 
well-equipped to promptly identify funding opportunities for our clients. Additionally, we can prepare applications 
quickly in accordance with funding agency timelines, thanks to our deep bench of skilled practitioners. In addition 
to our core staff, who have considerable experience in local government, our proposed Project Manager is Cari 
Dale, former City of Oceanside Water Utilities Director.  Her executive level experience gives her a unique 
perspective on the challenges and opportunities in the development of funding applications. She has spent 
considerable effort identifying, applying for, and advocating for funding at all levels of government to secure grants, 
low interest loans, rebates and bonds for the large capital projects and operating programs that she oversaw.   
 
Our proposed Deputy Project Manager is former San Diego County Water Authority staff, Kyrsten Burr, who will 
provide support in all areas of the project alongside Ms. Dale to ensure responsiveness and availability to meet 
competing deadlines. Ms. Burr has a successful track record in grant writing , implementing projects, and ensuring 
all grant guidelines are met. Ms. Burr’s direct experience with grant projects funded through state, federal, and 
local granting agencies provides valuable insight into successful grant procurement.  Hoch has never missed a grant 
deadline due to the use of these internal controls.  
 
Our proposed team brings a breadth of knowledge regarding funding efforts for numerous water agency clients. 
We have written successful grant and loan applications for the United States Environmental Protection Agency 
(USEPA), United States Bureau of Reclamation (USBR), Governor’s Office of Emergency Services (CalOES), California 
Department of Water Resources (DWR), Metropolitan Water District of Southern California (MWD), and 
California’s Department of Resources Recycling, and others, many of which have projects like those projected for 
the district. These efforts have resulted in the procurement of outside funding for a wide range of projects such as 
reuse projects, groundwater recovery, renewable energy, automated metering upgrades, emergency 
communications infrastructure, critical facility emergency power generation, and stormwater reuse projects. We 
have assisted our clients in securing funding for innovative leak detection and water conservation programs, sewer 
infrastructure improvements, and recycled water distribution systems as well.

Page 4 of 30 316



Statement of Qualifications 
Qualifications and Experience 

 
 

The organization chart below depicts the dedicated key staff available to provide high-quality, cost-effective 
services, with a focus on grant funding research and grant writing for a variety of district projects.  The Hoch 
Team has a well-qualified group of support staff available as well.  
 

PROJECT TEAM 
To follow are brief bios of the proposed team followed by individual resumes. Hoch proposes several key personnel 
to provide funding support to Valley Sanitary District, including Ms. Cari Dale as Project Manager and Ms. Kyrsten 
Burr as Deputy Project Manager. Mr. Adam Hoch will be our Principal-in-Charge, with signature authority to 
facilitate contract execution with the District. Ms. Dale and Ms. Burr are supported by a talented cast of water 
resource specialists, technical writers, and engineers who will assist in the identification of funding opportunities, 
proposal writing, and grant coordination. We are confident that our team can provide unparalleled service to Valley 
Sanitary on this project. The following staff spotlights provide a high-level look at the experience offered by the 
Hoch team. Hoch staff listed herein are committed to the work established in the District’s solicitation for grants 
tracking and acquisition services and will remain flexible to change in scopes and schedules if agreed upon by all 
parties.    

Page 5 of 30 317



Statement of Qualifications 
Qualifications and Experience 

 
 

 
Cari Dale – Director of Water Resources / Project Manager   
Ms. Dale has over 29 years in the public sector, leading the management 
of potable water, wastewater, and water reclamation utilities and 
programs for a variety of agencies in Southern California.  She has been 
successful in bringing internal teams together to plan for and resolve 
pressing water resource and quality issues.  The Pure Water Oceanside 
project, commissioned in 2021 as San Diego County’s first potable reuse 
project, is an example of her leadership and expertise in pushing forward 
innovative solutions to these problems. Prior to joining Hoch, she served 
as the City of Oceanside’s Water Utilities Director where she identified 
and pursued strategies, studies, programs, and funding to further a 
diversified water supply portfolio in support of the City Council’s goal of 
50% local supplies by 2030.  Ms. Dale is adept at navigating the federal 
appropriations and loan processes, and municipal debt issuance and 

rebate programs, to offset ratepayer funding of projects and programs and has a proven track record of 
establishing a rapport with legislative officials and their staff to advance funding initiatives. As the Project 
Manager, Ms. Dale will be responsible for planning, prioritizing, and overseeing project activities from 
beginning to end. Duties include coordinating with District staff, leading team meetings, planning and 
monitoring the project, managing her team’s internal work efforts, attending Board and Committee meetings 
(if-needed) and managing the production of deliverables.  Ms. Dale holds a master’s degree in Public 
Administration with an emphasis on Water Resources Management and a bachelor’s degree in Biology.   
 

Kyrsten Burr –Deputy Project Manager  
Ms. Burr is a skilled project manager with extensive experience as an 
urban planner, senior water resources specialist, and senior management 
analyst. In her 21 years of public sector experience, she has managed 
projects for various agency departments including public outreach and 
conservation, finance, and community development, and water, 
wastewater, and recycled water. Ms. Burr is conversant in all aspects of 
grant administration, including federal, state, and regional grant funding 
opportunity evaluation, proposal development, procurement, 
implementation, invoicing, reporting and compliance. Ms. Burr’s direct 
experience with grant projects funded through relevant state and local 
granting agencies provides valuable insight into successful grant 

procurement and effective administration of grant projects. In addition to supporting Ms. Dale in her Project 
Management duties, Ms. Burr will be responsible for grant opportunity identification and strategic analysis of 
upcoming funding. In addition, she will collaborate closely with District staff to identify optimal grant packages 
for funding and lead efforts for reporting once a funding opportunity is awarded.  Ms. Burr holds a master’s 
degree in public administration and a bachelor’s degree in Urban Economic Geography/Urban Planning. 

  

Page 6 of 30 318



Statement of Qualifications 
Qualifications and Experience 

 
 

Adam Hoch, P.E. – Principal-In-Charge  
Mr. Hoch is a registered Civil Engineer in the State of California with over 11 years of experience 
in writing and administering grants, loans, and rebates for municipalities in San Diego County. 
He has successfully secured over $4.7 million in grant awards over the last seven years. Mr. 
Hoch has extensive experience in funding support, including opportunity evaluation, proposal 
development, reporting, and compliance. Mr. Hoch has provided exceptional value-added 
services to his municipal clients throughout Southern California by identifying and procuring 
funding for capital projects that he also managed for those same agencies. Over the past 
decade, Mr. Hoch’s in-depth understanding of capital funding opportunities has resulted in 

procurements that provided key support and led to the successful construction of public works projects for his clients. 
Mr. Hoch will be responsible for ensuring there is adequate staffing and resources to perform the work and for contract 
execution.   

Skylar Stephans – Water Resources Specialist Ms. Stephens possesses a broad range of experience 
in government policy and public outreach. She has hands-on experience identifying funding 
opportunities for our clients, understands the legislative process, and is adept at identifying how 
future regulatory requirements may impact local agencies. This is key in finding grant funded 
programs that may become important to agencies. Ms. Stephens will support nearly all tasks 
associated with this project scope, conduct reporting activities and attend funding fairs. 

Allison Ribachonek, P.E. – Senior Project Engineer Ms. Ribachonek is a licensed P.E. (Arizona) with 
over eight years of experience in water resources funding support and engineering. Ms. Ribachonek 
has written grant proposals for local water agencies and administered grant awards received through 
the USBR’s WaterSmart Grant Program and DWR’s IRWM Grant Program. Ms. Ribachonek’s funding 
support expertise includes funding identification, procurement, and administration of local, state, and 
federal grants.  Ms. Ribachonek will create exhibits as needed and support all aspects of funding 
applications.   

Sarah Davis – Senior Water Resources Specialist Ms. Davis possesses knowledge and technical 
experience in water management planning, project management, regulatory advocacy and 
development, conservation, and public outreach. Prior to joining Hoch Consulting, Ms. Davis was with 
the City of Oceanside Water Utilities Department (water, wastewater, recycled water, and solid 
waste) where she performed public outreach and marketing for Pure Water Oceanside. Ms. Davis will 
support most areas of this work effort including granting agency outreach.   

Kathryn Calilan, E.I.T. – Associate Engineer Ms. Calilan is an Engineer-In-Training in Water and 
Wastewater roles and her most recent work was at the North City Pure Water Reclamation Plant. 
Beyond her specialized knowledge in these disciplines, her diverse engineering background and 
unique project exposure has contributed to her proficiency in various engineering sectors. Her 
exceptional organizational skills further enhance her value as an essential Hoch team member. She 
will provide as-needed grant support for the project. 

Lena Bagnol – Staff Engineer Ms. Bagnol is an Environmental Engineer whose experience in the water 
industry has made her passionate about bringing more sustainable solutions to the water and 
wastewater industry. She has worked as staff engineer and project management support on 
numerous projects in Southern California. She has experience working with Bluebeam, ArcGIS, 
Microsoft Office, and AutoCAD. Ms. Bagnol has strong oral and written communications skills which 
have aided in providing support for projects and reports.  Ms. Bagnol will provide as-needed grant 
support for the project.  

Page 7 of 30 319



Cari Dale 
Water Resources Director  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Education: 
Masters in Public 
Administration, Water 
Resources Management 
emphasis, California 
State University, San 
Bernardino 

 
B.A., Biology, Macalester 
College 

 
 

Years of Experience: 
29 Years – Public Agency 
1 Year - Private 

 
Organizations: 
Women in Water 

 
California Water 
Environment Association 

 
WateReuse 
 
Special Recognition 
Recycled Water 
Advocate of the Year – 
2022, WateReuse 
California 
 
Pathogen Study, White 
House Water Summit, 
2016 
 
 

Ms. Dale is a skilled municipal executive, having spent over 29 years in the public sector, 
leading the management of potable water, wastewater, water reclamation and solid 
waste utilities for a variety of agencies in Southern California. In these roles, she routinely 
managed multiple complex utilities, including substantial financial planning and funding 
efforts.  For over a decade, she served as the City of Oceanside’s Water Utilities Director 
where she oversaw annual operating and capital budgets of more than $200 million. Cari 
is skilled at rate studies and fee development, debt financing as well as state and federal 
grant funding, all of which were critical to allowing the agencies that she has represented, 
to move forward with programs or infrastructure projects including San Diego County’s 
first Potable Reuse Project, Pure Water Oceanside.  Cari is also adept at navigating the 
Federal appropriations process and has a proven track record of establishing a rapport 
with Federal Legislative officials and their staff. 

Funding Support 
SUCCESSFUL FUNDING APPLICATION & PROPOSAL DEVELOPMENT  
City of Oceanside Water Utilities Department   

 USBR WaterSMART WEEG Grants ($5M Awarded) - 2019, 2020, 2021 
 EPA Water Infrastructure Financing Innovation Act (WIFIA) - letter of interest and 

application for advanced water purification, recycled water, and sewer projects, 
($69M Awarded; $71 Pending) – 2019 - 2022 

 Metropolitan Water District of Southern California (MWD) Local Resources 
Program– application package for groundwater recharge for potable reuse and 
recycled water rebates, ($43M Approved)  - 2019 

 CalRecycle Co-Digestion Grant Program, Food Waste Digester Capacity 
Development Project ($4.233M Awarded) - 2022 

 Department of Defense, Defense Community Infrastructure Program (DCIP), Fire 
Station No. 1 ($3.5M Awarded) - 2021 

 USBR Title XVI Water Infrastructure Improvements for the Nation (WIIN), Pure Water 
Oceanside ($3M, $3M, $1.7M, and $9.9M Awarded) - 2019, 2020, 2021, 2022  

 USBR Title XVI Water Infrastructure Improvements for the Nation (WIIN) 
Desalination, Well Construction and Brine Optimization ($2.6M and $1M Awarded) – 
2020, 2022 

 USBR WaterSMART, Advanced Metering Infrastructure (AMI) ($1.5M, $1.5M and $2M 
awarded) - 2019, 2020 and 2021 

 Department of Water Resources (DWR) Integrated Regional Watershed Management 
(IRWM) Grant Program, Pure Water Oceanside ($3.1M awarded) – Pure Water 
Oceanside – 2019 

 Department of Water Resources (DWR) Integrated Regional Watershed Management 
(IRWM) Grant Program, Lower Recycled Program ($1.2M and $2.3M awarded) – 
2019, 2021 

 National Coastal Wetlands Conservation Grant, Loma Alta Creek ($1M) - 2021 
 Water Revenue Refunding Bond Issuance ($9.5M) – 2021 
 Water Revenue Bond Issuance ($42M) – 2020 
 USBR Title XVI Water Reclamation Research and Reuse Program ($35,906 Awarded), 

Brine Pilot Study - 2016 
 Water Revenue Refunding Bond Issuance ($23M) – 2013 
 Sewer Revenue Refunding Bond Issuance ($18M) - 2013 

Page 8 of 30 320



Con Kyrsten Burr 
Principal Project Manager 

Education: 
Master’s Public 
Administration SDSU 
 
Bachelor’s Urban 
Economic Geography/ 
Urban Planning, UC 
Berkeley 
 
Experience: 
21 Years – Public Agency 
5 Years – Private  
 
Organizations: 
Women in Water 
 
Water for People 
 

Ms. Burr is an experienced project and grant manager, drawing from her tenure as a 
senior management analyst, planner, and senior water resources specialist. She has 
spent over 20 years at public agencies managing projects and programs in various 
functional areas including water/recycled water/wastewater, water conservation and 
stormwater, budget and finance, public outreach and communications, and community 
development. Prior to joining Hoch Consulting, Ms. Burr worked for the City of San 
Diego Public Utilities Department as a senior management analyst and the San Diego 
County Water Authority (SDCWA) as a senior water resource specialist focusing on grant 
administration.   
 

Ms. Burr is conversant in all aspects of grant administration, including federal, state, and 
regional grant funding opportunity evaluation, proposal development, procurement, 
implementation, invoicing, reporting and compliance. Ms. Burr maintains a holistic 
perspective developed through her experience in grant writing, program development, 
and grant administration. This enables her to provide valuable insights and strategic 
input when defining a grant proposal scope of work, budget, and deliverables, resulting 
in the strongest application possible.  Further, once awarded, the client has a practical 
project that can be successfully implemented, ensuring that funding will be received 
and establishing good standing with the granting agency for future endeavors. 
 

RELEVANT PROJECT EXPERIENCE:   

Funding Support 
 

FUNDING OPPORTUNITY RESEARCH & ASSESSMENT 
Otay Water District (2021-present)             Rainbow Municipal Water District (2020) 
City of Oceanside Water Utilities Department (2020- present)       SDCWA (2016- 2022)  
SUCCESSFUL FUNDING APPLICATION & PROPOSAL DEVELOPMENT 
City of Oceanside Water Utilities Department  

• USBR WaterSMART WEEG Grants –2019, 2020 ($3M Awarded, $2M Pending) 

•  EPA Water Infrastructure Financing Innovation Act (WIFIA) - letter of interest 
and application for advanced water purification, recycled water, and sewer 
projects, 2019 -present ($69M Awarded; $71 Pending) 

• Metropolitan Water District of Southern California (MWD) LRP – application 
package for potable reuse and recycled water rebates, 2019 ($43M Approved) 

Olivenhain Municipal Water District  

• USBR WaterSMART WEEG Grant, 2019 ($300,000 Awarded)  
SDCWA 

• Department of Water Resources (DWR) IRWM Prop 1 Round 1  

• Grant for water use efficiency projects, 2020 ($1.44M Awarded)  

• MWD Member Agency Administered Program - water use efficiency projects, 
2018-2019($2.4M Secured) 

City of San Diego  

• DWR IRWM Prop 84 Grant – cons/recycled projects, 2008 ($4.3M Awarded)  
Rainbow Municipal Water District 

• Cal Office of Emergency Services Grant – emergency power equipment, 2020 
(300,000 Awarded) 

GRANT & LOAN ADMINISTRATION SDCWA, 2016-Present San Elijo Joint Powers 
Authority, 2019-Present City of Oceanside, 2020-Present  

Page 9 of 30Page 9 of 30 321



 Adam Hoch, P.E., QSD, QISP 
President/Principal Engineer 

 

 
 

Education: 
B.S., Civil Engineering, 
Lehigh University, 
2003 
 
Professional 
Registrations: 
Professional Engineer 
(Civil) California,  
# C77635 
 
Qualified SWPPP 
Developer (QSD),  
#C77635 
 
Qualified Industrial 
SWPPP Practitioner 
(QISP), #C77635 
 
Years of Experience: 
5 Years – Public Works 
10 Years – Private  
 
Organizations: 
American Society of 
Civil Engineers  
 
American Public 
Works Association  
 
California Water 
Environment 
Association  
 
WateReuse  
 
California Stormwater 
Quality Association  

Mr. Hoch is a registered Civil Engineer in the State of California with experience in funding 
support, including grant and loan opportunity evaluation, proposal development, 
reporting and compliance.  Mr. Hoch has provided exceptional value-added services to his 
municipal clients throughout Southern California by identifying and procuring grant and 
loan funding for capital projects that he managed for those same agencies.  Over the past 
decade, Mr. Hoch’s in-depth understanding of capital funding opportunities has resulted 
in procurements which provided key support, leading to the successful construction of 
public works projects for his clients.   
 

RELEVANT PROJECT EXPERIENCE 
 

FUNDING OPPORTUNITY RESEARCH & ASSESSMENT 
 Rainbow Municipal Water District (2020) 
 City of Oceanside Water Utilities Department (2020 – present) 
 San Diego County Water Authority (SDCWA) (2016 – present) 
 
SUCCESSFUL FUNDING APPLICATION & PROPOSAL DEVELOPMENT 
City of Oceanside Water Utilities Department 
 USBR WaterSmart WEEG Grants – 2019, 2020 ($3M Awarded, $2M Pending) 
 EPA Water Infrastructure Financing Innovation Act (WIFIA) – letter of interest and 

application for advanced water purification, recycled water, and sewer projects, 
2019 – present ($69M Awarded; $71M Pending) 

 Metropolitan Water District of Southern California (MWD) Local Resources 
Program – application package for groundwater recharge for potable reuse and 
recycled water rebates, 2019 ($43M Approved) 

Olivenhain Municipal Water District 
 USBR WaterSmart WEEG Grant, 2019 ($300,000 Awarded) 
SDCWA 
 Department of Water Resources (DWR) Integrated Regional Watershed 

Management (IRWM) Prop 1 Round 1 Grant for water use efficiency projects, 2020 
($1.44M Awarded) 

 
GRANT AND LOAN ADMINISTRATION 
 San Elijo Joint Powers Authority, 2015 – Present 
 City of Oceanside, 2018 – Present 
 SDCWA, 2016 – Present 
 City of National City, 2020 – Present 
 
Escondido Creek Watershed Integrated Resource Management Project, Trussell 
Technologies, Inc., 2012 
Lead author for the Escondido Creek Watershed Integrated Resource Management Project 
(ECWIRMP) grant application (IRWM Prop 84, Round 2).  The ECWIRMP was a consortium 
of public agencies, private entities, and non-governmental organizations that sought $2.3 
million in grant funding to develop local water supplies, increase renewable energy for 
local water sources, collect and distribute water quality and quantity data, and produce 
and distribute educational materials within the Escondido Creek Watershed.  The 
ECWIRMP achieved Tier 1 status in the grant selection round. 
 

Page 10 of 30Page 10 of 30 322



             Skylar Stephens  
Water Resource Specialist 

 

Education: 
Master of Public 
Administration, 
University of North 
Texas 
 

Bachelor of Arts in 
International Studies, 
University of North 
Texas 
 
Experience: 
13 Years – Public 
Agency 
 
 

Ms. Stephens has over 10 years of experience working in local and state government 
evaluating programs and regulations in various government sectors including water. Prior 
to joining Hoch Consulting, Ms. Stephens worked for the San Diego County Water Authority 
(Water Authority) as a management analyst in the Metropolitan Water District Program of 
Southern California (MWD) and became well versed in Southern California’s water issues.  
 
RELEVANT EXPERIENCE: 

Project Administration 
Staff Support 

MWD Program, San Diego County Water Authority, 2018-2022 
Ms. Stephens supported the Metropolitan Water District of Southern California (MWD) 
Program by evaluating MWD board materials and providing background information and 
policy recommendations to Water Authority delegates that served on the MWD board. This 
work included attending all MWD board meetings, analyzing changes to MWD policy and 
programs, creating briefing materials on MWD issues, maintaining databases of delegate 
requests and other board actions, tracking MWD and regional water issues, attending 
regional water agency meetings, researching historical board actions, and preparing reports 
for the Water Authority Board of Directors. Additionally, Ms. Stephens reviewed and 
provided edits for Water Authority technical documents, including its Urban Water 
Management Plan, Official Statement, Annual Report, and fact sheets. 

Program Management 
MWD Program, San Diego County Water Authority, 2018-2022 
Ms. Stephens managed the out-of-region groundwater storage program at the Semitropic 
Water Storage District in Kern County. This work included paying annual invoices, analyzing 
water quality and quantity data, and attending monitoring meetings. In 2022, Ms. Stephens 
worked on the sale of Water Authority water supplies and storage capacity to MWD, which 
included a analyzing several complicated contracts and other historical documents and 
working with the groundwater storage provider, MWD staff, and Water Authority staff to 
create agreement terms.  
 
Ms. Stephens also managed the Water Authority’s MWD tour program by working with 
MWD staff to provide educational inspection trips of water infrastructure projects to key 
stakeholders and the public. This included preparing outreach materials, working with 
MWD directors, presenting overviews of the Water Authority, communicating with 
attendees, and working with MWD staff to plan tours. 

Funding Support 
Administration 

Community Development, City of Lewisville, Texas, 2010-2011  
At the City of Lewisville, Ms. Stephens worked in the grants department administering the 
city’s Community Development Block Grant. This work included planning, executing, and 
analyzing income surveys to target housing and neighborhood revitalization projects in low 
income areas; evaluating grant recipients and applicants; preparing agendas, minutes, and 
presentations for an advisory committee; writing policy, guidelines, and procedures for a 
housing rehabilitation program; and assisting with the environmental review process.  

Page 11 of 30Page 11 of 30 323



Allison Ribachonek, P.E. 
Senior Project Engineer 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Education: 
M.S., Environmental & 
Hydrosystems 
Engineering,  
University at Buffalo,  
The State University of  
New York, 2012 
 
B.S., Civil Engineering, 
University at Buffalo,  
The State University of  
New York, 2010 
 

Professional 
Registrations: 
Professional Engineer 
(Civil) Arizona,  
# 78589 

 
Years of Experience: 
9+ Years 
 

Certifications: 
National Association of 
Sewer Service 
Companies (NASSCO): 
 Inspector Training 
Certification Program 
(ITCP), Cured-in-Place-
Pipe (CIPP) 
 Pipeline/ Manhole/ 
Lateral Assessment 
Certification Program 
(PACP/ MACP/ LACP) 

Allison is a Professional Engineer with over 9 years of experience in grant writing, 
funding support, and grant administration. Allison has obtained extensive grant 
writing and administration experience for projects funded by Caltrans’ Highway 
Safety Improvement Program (HSIP) and Active Transportation Program (ATP) grant 
programs. Her funding support experience also includes funding identification, 
application development, procurement, developing stakeholder support, and 
management for local, state, and federal grant funding opportunities. 
 
RELEVANT PROJECT EXPERIENCE: 

Funding Support 
Grant Writing 

California State Coastal Conservancy (SCC) Prop 1 Grant, City of Long Beach, 2019 
($500,000 Awarded)  
Developed and submitted the grant application requesting funding for the City of 
Long Beach Public Works Department’s Long Beach Municipal Urban Stormwater 
Treatment (LB-MUST) Project. LB-MUST is a comprehensive and innovative multi-
benefit project that will intercept and treat dry weather runoff and a percentage of 
the first-flush storm flows generated within the City of Long Beach prior to 
discharging to existing storm drain outfalls flowing into the Los Angeles River. The 
design includes a centralized advanced water treatment facility with an educational 
space, a 1- acre constructed wetland, and the creation of a park with landscaped trails 
which will connect to the existing LA River Bicycle Path. The constructed wetlands will 
provide additional treatment/water polishing following discharge from the treatment 
facility and will be a landscape amenity. 
 
Stormwater Capture Feasibility Study for Safe Clean Water Program (Measure W) 
Funding, East San Gabriel Valley Watershed Management Group, 2019 
The passage of Measure W in 2018 created a comprehensive, regional plan to address 
how water is captured to reduce the Los Angeles County region’s reliance on 
imported water. On behalf of the East San Gabriel Valley Watershed Management 
Group and its member cities (Cities of Claremont, La Verne, Pomona, and San Dimas), 
Allison conducted a feasibility study to identify prospective project sites that showed 
favorable conditions for stormwater capture and groundwater recharge project which 
also targeted MS4 compliance. Allison formulated comprehensive planning-level 
project applications for entry into the Safe Clean Water Program module. To develop 
additional stakeholder support, she delivered presentations to East San Gabriel Valley 
Watershed Management Group, Los Angeles County Department of Public Works, 
and at monthly Six Basins Watermaster board meetings. Her project application 
development responsibilities included site reconnaissance and site photo collection, 
as-built reviews, coordination with underground infiltration gallery vendors to 
develop site-specific low impact design (LID) BMP concepts, hydrologic modeling to 
determine the 24-hr 85th-percentile storm flow to be captured and recharged into 
underground infiltration galleries or surface ponds, planning-level design plans and 
profiles, and assisted in the development of probable construction costs. 
 
 

Page 12 of 30Page 12 of 30 324



 Sarah Davis 
Sr. Water Resources Specialist 

 

 
 

Education: 
B.S., Environmental 
Policy, Analysis, and 
Planning -  University of 
California, Davis 
 
Years of Experience: 
10 Years – Public Agency  
 
Organizations: 
WateReuse  
 
Women in Water 
 
Special Recognition: 
CAPIO, 2020 Excellence 
in Public Information & 
Communications – 
Communication Plan, 
Pure Water Oceanside 
Community Relations 
 
CAPIO, 2020 Excellence 
in Public Information & 
Communications –Best 
in Show, City of 
Oceanside Green 
Oceanside Kitchen 
Launch Event 
 
CAPIO, 2020 Excellence 
in Public Information & 
Communications –Media 
Event, City of Oceanside 
Green Oceanside 
Kitchen Launch Event 
 

Ms. Davis is an experienced water resource professional, with knowledge and technical 
experience in water management planning, project management, regulatory advocacy 
and development, climate action, conservation, and public outreach. Prior to joining 
Hoch Consulting, Ms. Davis was with the City of Oceanside Water Utilities Department 
(water, wastewater, recycled water, and solid waste). During this time, Ms. Davis 
conducted water and wastewater trend forecasting, regulatory advocacy, climate 
adaptation and mitigation, compliance reporting, inspection and monitoring 
programs, database development, and preparation of technical reports including the 
Urban Water Management Plan, Water Shortage Contingency Plan, annual 
stormwater reports, ordinance updates, and strategic planning.   

 
RELEVANT PROJECT EXPERIENCE:   

Project Administration 
Water Resources Program Administration, City of Oceanside 2013-2022 
Performed data collection, interpretations, and trend forecasting on the City’s water 
and wastewater sources and flow data. Performed technical analysis and research 
based on trends and assisted with the development of strategies on water resource 
planning and management, water policy, drought analysis, climate change impact 
analysis, and water supply. Provided support for large-scale capital improvement 
projects including advanced metering, organics feasibility study, and indirect potable 
reuse. Duties included request for proposal development, budget, funding, regulation 
compliance, data analysis, database development, stakeholder engagement, and 
marketing/outreach.  

Funding Support 
California Department of Water Resources IRWM (Integrated Regional Watershed 
Management) Prop 1, 2019 
Assisted in the development and administration of the Pure Water Oceanside grant 
proposal resulting in a funding award of $1,450,000. Functions included grant 
application development, negotiations with stakeholders and partner agencies, 
reviewing grant agreements, and contributing to progress reports.  
 
California Department of Resources Recycling and Recovery Payment Programs, 
2013-2020  
Developed and administered payment programs for the City of Oceanside for Beverage 
Container Recycling and Used Oil. Functions included application development, 
contractor oversight, reporting, and budget management.  

 
Permitting/Regulatory Compliance 

City of Oceanside (2013-2022) 
Prepared annual stormwater reports, conducted commercial compliance inspections, 
drought monitoring and impact analysis, planned and developed NPDES compliance 
documents, and prepared climate action plan. Relevant project experience includes City 
of Oceanside’s development of implementation plans for the San Diego Region 2015 
Trash Amendments, updates to Oceanside’s Jurisdictional Runoff Management Plans, 
development of BMPs, development and oversight of a multi-disciplinary FOG inspection 
program, and assistance in the coordination of the City of Oceanside’s annual state 
reporting.  

Page 13 of 30Page 13 of 30 325



Kathryn Calilan  
Associate Engineer 

 
 
Education: 
B.S., Biological Systems 
Engineering, Kanas 
State University, 2015 
M.S., Master of Science, 
Civil Engineering, 
Kansas State University, 
2021 
 
Professional 
Registrations & 
Certifications: 
Engineer-In-Training 
(E.I.T.)  
(NCEES ID 15-707-17)  
 
ACI Concrete Field-
Testing Technician – 
Grade I  
 
Safety Training in 
Confined Spaces (2022)  
 
Safety Training in Fall 
Protection – Working 
from Heights (2022)  

 
 
Years of Experience: 
8+ Years 

 

Ms. Calilan is an Engineer-In-Training with experience in Construction Inspection, Field 
Engineering, and Project Management in Water and Wastewater Roles. Her work 
overseas, in Kansas, and California has helped her expand her knowledge in the water 
and wastewater industry. Her most recent work at the North City Pure Water 
Reclamation Plant as a Bid-Build included managing submittals, RFIs and design 
modifications, procurement and contract execution, quality control, field management, 
all while adhering to state and local codes including the San Diego Whitebook. Beyond 
her specialized knowledge in water and wastewater, Ms. Calilan's diverse engineering 
background and unique project exposure has contributed to her proficiency in various 
engineering sectors. Her exceptional organizational skills further enhance her value as an 
essential member of the Hoch Team. 
 
RELEVANT PROJECT EXPERIENCE:   

Construction/Implementation 
Construction Management/Inspection 

Pure Water North City Reclamation Plant, Kiewit Infrastructure, 2019-2023 
Kathryn served as a mechanical engineer with an emphasis in inspection for the Pure 
Water North City Reclamation Plan Project. Kathryn aided in planning and executing 5K 
manhours of work, analyzed, designed, and submitted over 40 RFIs to mitigate design 
issues and conflicts during design modifications. She also managed quality inspections 
and documentations for pipelines and valve installation. This included managing vendor 
contracts and resolving issuing with quality of materials, planning and installing per 
contract documents, documenting as-builts, installs and testing. Kathryn developed and 
engineering hydrotest and pneumatic plans and calculated restraint or managed 
buoyancy where required. She also installed cathodic protection where applicable.  
 

Construction Management/Inspection 
Multiple Projects, Kie-Con Inc, 2020-2021 
Kathryn as a Quality Control Field Engineer for Kie-Con Inc on more than 40 projects 
worth over $45M.  She conducted Quality Control Inspections which included concrete 
sampling. Kathryn procured materials and monitored more than 11 projects. She 
developed daily productivity reports which formed a relationship between daily 
quantities claimed and manhours reported to assess daily project budget and cumulative 
project budget.  

Design & Engineering 
Treatment/Community Outreach 

Comarca Ngäbere -Bugle, Panama, U.S. Peace Corps, July 2017-2019 
Kathryn served as a Water, Sanitation, and Hygiene Specialist during her time with the 
United States Peace Corps.  The project consisted of extensive sanitation projects across 
three communities. Her duties included the direct design, engineering, and construction 
of clean drinking water systems and concrete latrine facilities. She worked with local 
government officials, NGOs, and community organizations to promote water and 
sanitation infrastructure.  Kathryn facilitated community-wide training presentations 
highlighting aqueducts, latrines, and proper hygiene care which successfully increased 
community sanitation efforts by 50%. She successfully communicated with the 
community through speaking Spanish and the local indigenous language of Ngäbere. 
 

Page 14 of 30Page 14 of 30 326



Lena Bagnol 
Staff Engineer 

 

 
 
Education:  
B.S., Environmental 
Engineering, San 
Diego State 
University, 2023  
  

Years of Experience:  
1+ years  
 

Lena is an Environmental Engineer whose experience in the water industry has made her 
passionate about bringing more sustainable solutions to the water and wastewater 
industry. Previous work with NOAA (National Oceanic and Atmospheric Association) on 
assessing water quality has provided valuable knowledge on the Southern Californian 
water industry. She has worked as staff engineer and project management support on 
numerous projects which included coordination reviews, construction cost estimations, 
constructability reviews, site visits, assisting with client relations, and identifying 
elements to modify and refine within project documents for projects across San Diego 
County. She has experience working with Bluebeam, ArcGIS, Microsoft Office, and 
AutoCAD. Ms. Bagnol has strong oral and written communications skills which have aided 
in providing support for projects and reports.   
 
RELEVANT PROJECT EXPERIENCE: 
 
Hutton Turner Pump Station Project, Rainbow Municipal Water District, 2023  
Lena is serving as the Staff Engineer for this project consisting of three pre-packaged EFI 
pump stations to convey water from the District’s Morrow system to the South system. 
Historically, the District utilized temporary water pump stations comprised of rental 
equipment to provide water service to customers within portions of its service area. The 
district had determined that it was more cost effective to construct permanent pump 
stations to replace the temporary pump stations and has been working with EFI-Solutions 
to design packaged pump stations to meet the demands of future developments within 
the district. Staff Engineer assistance includes review of plans and project deliverables, 
QA/QC, and participating in meetings with district staff and project consultants. 

 
5th & Brookes Storm Drain Upgrade, City of San Diego, 2023  
Lena served as the Staff Engineer for the City of San Diego, who is currently in the design 
phase for the construction of a new storm drainage system on 5th Avenue and Brookes 
Avenue. The majority of construction will take place at the intersection of 5th Avenue 
and Brookes Avenue and includes a new drainage system where one did not previously 
exist. The new drainage system will also separate a private system from the public storm 
drain system.  Lena performed a constructability review on plans, bid estimate, and the 
preliminary drainage study provided by the city. She also performed a site visit, created a 
technical memorandum, and identified elements to modify and refine within the City’s 
plans and specifications.    
 
Olive Avenue, Vista Irrigation District, 2023  
Lena served as the Staff Engineer for the Vista Irrigation District, who are currently 
planning to replace potable water main pipelines along Olive Avenue. The design plans 
will be in conformance with District standards for the District to use during construction. 
As Staff Engineer, Lena aided in QA/QC of plans, conducting a site visit, and participating 
in meetings with district staff.   
 
City of Oceanside – Buccaneer Lift Station, 2023 
Lena served as the Staff Engineer for the City of Oceanside. The Project consisted of 
upgrading the current treatment plant with new modifications, including the Buccaneer 
Lift Station. Lena aided in the QA/QC of plans provided throughout different stages of the 
project. Lena was able to identify inconsistencies which helped clarify and resolve 
potential issues before the construction stage began. 

Page 15 of 30Page 15 of 30 327



Statement of Qualifications 
Qualifications and Experience 

 
 

The following provide project descriptions for the three (3) most relevant service contracts completed 
in the last five (5) years.  We have included references in this section in addition to later in the proposal.  
We are happy to provide additional information if desired by the District.   
 

SAN DIEGO COUNTY WATER AUTHORITY 

Agency Profile: The SDCWA is a regional water 
wholesale agency responsible for ensuring San Diego 
County’s imported water supplies and providing 
support for the development of local water 
infrastructure projects. It is responsible for the 
construction, operations, and maintenance of large 
infrastructure projects as well as the operation of 
customer facing stormwater and water use efficiency 
programs.  

Description of Services: Hoch Consulting provided full-
service funding opportunity research, grant writing and 

grant administration support services to SDCWA between 2016 and 2022, when the agency took some 
grant support functions in house. Hoch assisted SDCWA in identifying grant opportunities, writing 
proposals, and administering grant projects. Hoch recently developed all elements of a multi-phased 
application for the agency’s public outreach and water resources program, resulting in an award of 
$1.44M from DWR’s Integrated Regional 
Water Management (IRWM) Proposition 1 
Round 1 Grant Program, and will be 
developing the application for the Proposition 
1 Round 2 Grant Program, anticipated in early 
2022. Hoch actively supported the 
administration of the following grant projects:  

-DWR IRWM Prop 84 Round 3: $1.3M award 
-DWR IRWM Prop 1 Round 1: $1.4M award 
-DWR IRWM Prop 84 Round 4: $3.8M award 

  

 
 

Reference: Ms. Joni German 
Phone: (858) 522-6705 

Email Address: JGerman@sdcwa.org 
Contract Value: $918,000 

Page 16 of 30 328



Statement of Qualifications 
Qualifications and Experience 

 
 

CITY OF OCEANSIDE 

Agency Profile: The City of Oceanside, located 
along the Pacific Ocean in northwestern San 
Diego County, is a general general-law city and 
operates under the Council/Manager form of 
government. The city has a population of 
172,000, and due in part to its gentle climate, 
beautiful beaches, and abundant festivals and 
community events, it boasts a visitor 
population of 5.4 million annually.  

Description of Services: Water Utilities 
Department As-Needed Contract: Since 2019, 
Hoch Consulting has provided full-service 
funding opportunity research, proposal 
writing, award administration, and support 
services to the City of Oceanside’s Water 

Utilities Department. This department oversees potable water, wastewater, recycled water, storm 
water, solid waste, and recycling functions for the city. Hoch actively provides grant writing and 
administration for multiple funding agencies as the EPA, US Bureau of Reclamation (USBR), DWR, and 
CalRecycle. Hoch developed the following funding applications to secure funding for the department’s 
numerous operational and capital project initiatives:  

- CALRECYCLE - $4.2M in grant award- biogas energy development project. 
- MWD of SoCal Local Resources Program - $40M in rebate value for development of local water 

supply. 
- DWR IRWM Grant Program -  $3M in grant awards for infrastructure and rebate programs. 
- US EPA’s WIFIA loan program. - $140M in low interest loans for construction of potable reuse 

project. 
- USBR WEEG - $7M in grant awards for water use efficiency projects (AMI, turf replacement, biogas). 
- USBR Title XVI WIIN - $17M in grant awards for development of potable reuse infrastructure.  

 
Citywide As-Needed Contract: Hoch also provides as needed grant writing and funding opportunity 
identification support under a contract with the City Manager’s Office.  Recent efforts include 
identification of grant funding for citywide initiatives concerning homelessness, replacement of police 
department infrastructure, and fire department programmatic needs.  In 2022 Hoch wrote a successful 
grant application which resulting in an award of $3.5M from the Department of Defense for the 
construction of a new, expanded fire station headquarters.  

 
Water Utilities As Needed Contract 

Reference: Lindsay Leahy, Water Utilities Director 
Phone: (760) 435- 5913 

Email:LLeahy@oceansideca.org 
As Needed Contract Ceiling: $1,135,000 

 
Citywide/City Manager’s Office As Needed 

Contract 
Reference: Michael Gossman, Asst City Manager 

Phone: (760) 435-3057 
Email:Mgossman@oceansideca.org 

As Needed Contract: $25,000 (amendment 
pending) 

Page 17 of 30 329



Statement of Qualifications 
Qualifications and Experience 

 
 

OTAY WATER DISTRICT 

Agency Profile:  Otay Water District, located in the 
southern-most region of San Diego County, 
provides water, wastewater, and recycled water 
services to 228,000 retail customers. It is a 
progressive district that aggressively seeks 
funding support from a wide array of sources. The 
district is focused on securing funding for 
infrastructure projects, fleet electrification, 
environmental protection, and water 
conservation.  

Description of Services: Hoch consulting has been working with Otay since 2021 to identify funding 
opportunities, including providing a focused needs analysis, as-needed grant funding research, and grant 
proposal development.  

Recent Efforts: 

 Grant Writing. USBR WEEG Application for Advanced Metering Infrastructure and Customer 
Engagement Portal Implementation - $300,000 Awarded, 2021 

 Grant Writing. San Diego Association of Governments. Cycle 10 Environmental Mitigation Grant – 
Hoch worked with staff and consulting biologist to write two grants for the district: the Species & 
Habitat Recovery and the Threat Reduction to implement projects located within the district’s 
environmentally sensitive habitat regions - $56,000 Awarded, 2022 

 Grant Writing. Hoch prepared an application packet requesting $150,000 in grant funding from the 
State Water Resources Control Board to develop a feasibility study and plan for the expansion of the 
district’s recycled water distribution system within its services area and into an adjacent water 
district’s service area. Award pending, 2023.  

Funding Opportunity ID – In response to the State’s mandate (N-79-20) requiring public agencies to 
purchase or lease zero emissions vehicles (ZEVs) beginning January 1, 2024, Hoch is working with the 
district fleet services manager and engineer to identify funding opportunities to mitigate the cost of 
converting its existing fleet of internal combustion engines to ZEVs.  Hoch also identified funding sources 
for the development of charging infrastructure for its electrified fleets. 
 

 
Reference: Lisa Coburn-Boyd - Contract Mgr. 

Phone: (619) 670-2219 
Email Address: lisa.coburn-boyd@otaywater.gov 

As Needed Contracts: $365,000 

Page 18 of 30 330



Statement of Qualifications 
Evidence of California Licensing 

 

 
 

EVIDENCE OF CALIFORNIA LICENSING 
We have attached a copy of our California Business Entity Certificate of Status, which confirms that Hoch 
Consulting has submitted the annual or biennial statement of information and is currently fulfilling its 
franchise tax obligations with the State.  If selected for services by the district, it is our intent to file for a 
business license with the City of Indio.  
 

 

Page 19 of 30 331



Statement of Qualifications 
References 

 

 
 

REFERENCES: 

Included below are client references for several grant writing contracts.  We are happy to provide 
additional references upon request. 

 
1. City of Oceanside  

Water Utilities  
Lindsay Leahy, Water Utilities Director 
Phone Number: (760) 435- 5913 
Email Address: LLeahy@oceansideca.org 

 
2. City of Oceanside 

Citywide/City Manager’s Office  
Michael Gossman, Asst City Manager 
Phone Number: (760) 435-3057 
Email Address: Mgossman@oceansideca.org 

 
3. San Diego County Water Authority 

Ms. Joni German 
Phone Number: (858) 522-6705 
Email Address: JGerman@sdcwa.org 
 

4. San Elijo Joint Powers Authority 
Chris Trees, Engineering Manager 
Phone Number: (760) 623-4212 
Email Address: Treesc@sejpa.org 
 

5. Otay Water District 
Lisa Coburn-Boyd - Contract Mgr.  
Phone Number: (619) 670-2219 
Email Address: lisa.coburn-boyd@otaywater.gov 

 

 

 

Page 20 of 30 332



Statement of Qualifications 
Subcontractors 

 

 
 

Hoch’s funding team is completely in house and because we have a deep bench of staff to draw from, 
Hoch Consulting will be performing all work associated with this contract and are not proposing the use 
of subcontractors.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 21 of 30 333



 Proposed Method to Accomplish the Work 
 

 

 
 

Project Approach 

The pursuit of grants has become essential for many forward-thinking agencies, like the District, which 
are looking to maximize return on investment. Grants and loans are often a critical component in funding 
important projects, and fortunately there are numerous funding programs available. The challenge for 
most is understanding where the real opportunities lie, accessing those opportunities in a timely fashion 
with a good project or program in hand, and strategically developing applications that align with the 
priorities and criteria set forth by the funding agency.  
 
Hoch Consulting specializes in supporting local agencies in the identification and acquisition of grant 
funding. We understand the District is interested in partnering with selected consultants to provide as-
needed grant writing services - including proposal writing and submittal, and award administration.  As 
this proposal demonstrates, we offer this specialized suite of support services as well as additional value-
added services in continuous monitoring and identification of active funding programs for which the 
District may have strong candidate projects. We are excited to demonstrate our firm’s qualifications that 
set us apart in our ability to assist the district. The following sections provide a discussion of Hoch’s 
proposed approach to providing this full array of funding support, including our strategy to ensure 
quality products and maintain control over our processes and expected outcomes. 
 

Task I – Funding Needs Analysis & Grant Funding Research  

Hoch will work with District management to assess validity of funding priority areas and identify new 
priority areas. We will identify federal, state, and local public and private granting agencies and evaluate 
priority projects for eligible funding opportunities.  

The Hoch team brings a broad working knowledge of funding programs that are available to local public 
organizations from a wide range of agencies at all levels of government. Hoch will work with the District 
and prepare a Matrix Table/Report, which will include a preliminary screening and early evaluation of 
potential opportunities that position the District to engage quickly in the preparation of applications as 
funding opportunities are announced.     
 
We employ a multi-step process when identifying grant opportunities, which begins by building a 
summary profile of the District, consisting of such factors as its demographics, socio-economic makeup, 
geographic features, etc. This is key when initially screening a vast library of funding opportunities. We 
become familiar with the District’s priority projects and funding needs to evaluate them against the 
funding opportunities. We prepare a matrix-based table, formatted to match the District’s projects with 
potential funding programs based on eligibility and guidelines. The strongest opportunities are 
prioritized in the matrix table, and this snapshot is regularly reviewed and updated as new opportunities 
arise.  
 
We have strong working relationships with numerous funding agencies and are in the practice of 
reaching out to gain input regarding future opportunities.  We also communicate with agencies to 
maintain a clear understanding of eligibility criteria, and request guidance on a specific project’s 
potential fit with the funding program (as guidelines and anticipated competitiveness of these programs 

Page 22 of 30 334



 Proposed Method to Accomplish the Work 
 

 

 
 

change with every funding cycle). Finally, we garner information regarding the types of projects that may 
be favored candidates to receive funding. All of these efforts serve to assist the District in evaluating the 
likelihood of receiving an award, thus aiding in the decision to invest in the preparation of an application. 

Hoch understands the importance of identifying and evaluating grant opportunities proactively and in 
a timely fashion so that our client is positioned to mobilize on a grant writing effort as soon as viable 
funding opportunities are announced. Funding agencies typically require applicants to abide by tight and 
strict submittal deadlines. To stay current with funding opportunity announcements, we regularly 
monitor and subscribe to automated email lists for grant websites with databases such as Grants.gov 
and the California grants portal. We attend funding fairs to obtain updates on the status of legislation 
and anticipated funding opportunity announcements. We also directly monitor websites including the 
State Water Resources Board, US Department of Agriculture, EPA, USBR, DWR, and the California State 
Coastal Conservancy, and subscribe to email distributions from relevant industry trade organizations. 

As funding opportunity announcements are issued, Hoch will evaluate key features of the grant program, 
such as total funding availability, application submittal deadline, match funding requirements, number 
of projects expected to be awarded, eligibility requirements, applicant, and project eligibility, scoring 
rubric, and a sampling of representative projects that were funded in past cycles. 

As grantor agencies issue announcements in real time, Hoch utilizes the following three-step process in 
screening candidate projects.  

Step 1: Identify general qualifying criteria. In this initial step, Hoch will review the Funding Opportunity 
Announcement (FOA) in depth to evaluate the district status and its eligibility to apply for funding.  This 
process includes a high-level analysis to identify the general suitability of a funding opportunity for a 
specific project. Typical disqualifying factors identified during this phase include being an ineligible type 
of agency or a project funding schedule that does not align with the funding program’s schedule. Other 
specifics are screened as well, including minimum funding award floors and maximum cost share 
requirements.   

Step 2: Review project objectives against funding program criteria. This step includes a close review of 
the funding program’s eligibility criteria. A project which proceeds to this step will be closely vetted to 
assess its strength and suitability against established priorities of the funding program. FOAs often assign 
points (weights) to each criterium, so Hoch will evaluate the extent to which the project’s objectives align 
with the criteria and the overall FOA, anticipate how the project might score, and anticipate whether the 
score is likely to result in a funding award. This step can provide a sense of the application’s general level 
of competitiveness. If the District happens to have several projects which meet eligibility criteria, Step 2 
often helps crystallize the project with the best opportunity to win funding.  

Step 3: Identify potential added value. In this step, we explore and discuss with District staff the 
potential to build in modifications to a project resulting in the submittal of a more competitive 
application. Making slight adjustments to a project scope or suggesting the addition of a partnering 
agency are examples of how applications may be strategically adjusted to significantly improve its score 
and therefore its competitive ranking amongst the pool of applicants.   
  

Page 23 of 30 335



 Proposed Method to Accomplish the Work 
 

 

 
 

Task II – On Call Grant Research  

In addition to the scope of services that Hoch will provide as defined in Task I, we will also provide on 
call grant research services which will provide assurances to the District that new funding opportunities 
that complement existing and new priority projects are identified and evaluated as they come available 
throughout the life of the contract.  
 
Task III - Funding Application Preparation and Submittal  
Hoch understands that the District is interested in a task-based approach to application development.  
Once we have identified and matched a funding opportunity to a District project which has a high 
likelihood of success, we will seek concurrence from District staff to develop a time and materials budget, 
specifically tailored to the work effort associated with the funding opportunity.  We will break down the 
project into specific tasks, assign them to team members and provide a not to exceed cost for each grant 
writing effort.  Once we receive a notice to proceed, Ms. Burr, Ms. Stephens and Ms. Dale will work with 
the District’s contact to begin the systematic process to develop a schedule and a comprehensive 
approach to prepare the application package and ensure an efficient preparation and submittal process. 
 
Hoch has a strong understanding of the general design, organization, structure, and requirements 
relevant to many funding programs, which allows us to quickly adapt our processes to a specific 
opportunity. In general, Hoch’s methodology to develop an application starts by creating a schedule and 
laying out all milestones and components necessary to complete the effort on time, allowing for the 
appropriate oversight and input from our client. Preparation and submittal of a superior application that 
is responsive to the evaluation criteria requirements set forth by the funding agency is paramount. 
General steps in our process include the following:   
 
 Schedule Development – Hoch will develop a detailed schedule with key milestones and check-
ins (driven by the submittal deadline) that builds in time for the district to review, provide input, and 
issue final approvals and signatures prior to submittal. This schedule is constantly monitored to ensure 
progress is made accordingly, with corrective measures taken and communicated quickly, should delays 
occur. We utilize MS Project and Excel as tools to develop the schedule, and we typically utilize a file 
sharing resource such as SharePoint or DropBox with our clients to streamline and organize the review 
process and information exchanges. This approach allows us to reliably manage the development of the 
application as well as any other competing timelines and deadline-driven deliverables that the effort 
may entail.  
 
 Data Request – We will develop project specific application checklists, request data from District 
staff and provide proactive and early identification of critical documents that may be time sensitive, 
including board resolutions, letters of support, and other required documentation. 

Page 24 of 30 336



 Proposed Method to Accomplish the Work 
 

 

 
 

 
 Kick-Off Meeting – We will host an initial meeting to discuss the application schedule, identify 
team member roles and responsibilities, and review data requests. Most critically, we will clarify the 
project’s scope of work, budget, and schedule. We will also engage in a strategic discussion regarding 
how to effectively address and align with the funding program’s scoring criteria and vet a technical 
narrative that best responds to the funding opportunity’s evaluation criteria. 

 Funding Application Preparation – Our team will develop the narrative, exhibits, budget, 
schedules, workplans and other required components of the grant application. Hoch’s internal quality 
assurance/quality control process includes iterative internal reviews of the funding application prior to 
issuance of draft and final package to the district. The project schedule builds in time for the QA/QC 
process to allow for final internal reviews as well as District review to ensure that a high-quality, 
responsive, and competitive application is submitted prior to its due date. 

 Funding Application Submittal  
Finally, we are available to submit the 
application on behalf of the District or 
can support its designated staff person 
that will submit, per funding agency 
requirements. Log-in or access 
requirements are identified early in the 
process and coordinated to ensure the 
flawless submittal of a high-quality 
application by the specified due date.  

Our efforts have garnered over $80 million in grant 
awards, $140 million in low-interest loans, and   
$134 million in pending grant applications for our 
clients in Southern California over the last five 
years. 

Hoch uses excel or Microsoft Project scheduling to manage the grant application development and 
review processes to meet the issuing agency’s strict and unforgiving deadlines. 

Page 25 of 30 337



 Proposed Method to Accomplish the Work 
 

 

 
 

This proven process has enabled the Hoch team to produce high-scoring funding applications issued by 
the following relevant agencies:  

 
 Department of Defense 
 U.S. Bureau of Reclamation 
 California Department of Water Resources 
 Metropolitan Water District of Southern California 
 U.S. Environmental Protection Agency 
 California Office of Emergency Services 

 
Task IV Quarterly Calls & Monthly Reports  

Hoch proposes that quarterly (or other regularly occurring) calls be held with VSD’s contract manager 
and other key members of the organization. These calls will be an opportunity for Hoch to inform the 
District of upcoming funding opportunities, to evaluate the eligibility of priority projects. It will provide 
a platform for the District to inform Hoch of new or changing funding priorities, and an opportunity to 
provide relevant updates. To ensure productive meetings and follow up efforts, Hoch will send a 
proposed meeting agenda in advance and will provide a brief set of post meeting notes and updated 
“work effort tracker” to all participants. Hoch will also provide monthly reports to the District 
summarizing our time expended and summarizing work efforts for the previous month. 

 
Task V Optional Post-Award Administration 
Once a client receives a funding award, the Hoch team is well-equipped to assist in efforts leading to the 
execution of the funding agreement and then administering the award. We ensure the project is 
compliant with the terms of contractual requirements to receive all stipulated funds. Our internal QA/QC 
protocols are applied in all related efforts, which include Hoch’s final review, and the District’s final review 
and approval of all submittals. A well-managed project ensures that our client remains in good standing 
with funding agencies - a pivotal factor often considered in determining future awards. Administrative 
functions that the Hoch team is prepared to provide include:  
 
• Funding agency coordination and contract management 
• Funding tracking tool development and maintenance over the life of funding agreement 
• Budget and schedule tracking  
• Matching and fund tracking 
• Compliance monitoring  
• Comprehensive report, invoice, and deliverable preparation/coordination/submission 
• Project closeout and post-project reporting. 
 
The Hoch team works closely with clients to receive relevant expenditure documentation needed to 
submit a grant invoice.  We also systematically maintain all project documentation and files throughout 
the life of the grant and upload/share all key documents with the client. 
  

Page 26 of 30 338



 Proposed Method to Accomplish the Work 
 

 

 
 

We have administered grants for clients from a wide array of funding agencies, including the following:  
 

 
• Department of Defense 
• U.S. Bureau of Reclamation 
• Department of Water Resources 
• U.S. Environmental Protection Agency – WIFIA program 
• Metropolitan Water District of Southern California 
• Governor’s Office of Emergency Services 
 
Hoch staff will work primarily at our Oceanside headquarters or the virtual work environment; we 
frequently conduct meetings via TEAMS or can also meet in person at the district offices.  
 

Page 27 of 30 339



Proposed Method to Accomplish the Work 
Scope of Work 

 
 

Hoch proposes the following scope of work, melines, and deliverable(s) for the provision of grants tracking 
and acquisi on services. 
 
Task I – Funding Needs Analysis & Grant Funding Research 
Preliminary Report, Funding Opportunity Summary and Ongoing Monitoring 
Hoch will create a summary profile consis ng of such factors as its demographics, socio-economic makeup, 
geographic features, to be er inform Hoch on pairing projects with funding opportuni es.  Hoch will 
incorporate the list of projects in the RFP and confer with District staff to update all projects seeking funding 
within the VSD service area and provide ini al funding matches.  To ensure all relevant information is 
submitted, Hoch will create a template “Priority Project List” form for VSD staff to complete.  From that list, 
and additional communications with agency contacts as needed, Hoch will create a Preliminary Results 
Matrix Table/Report that matches potential funding opportunities to each identified project. This report 
will be a road map to identify strong funding opportunities for priority projects and understand critical path 
details that will allow the team to conduct further evaluation of the opportunity and position to prepare 
the grant application packet in a timely manner, when Funding Opportunity Announcements (FOAs) are 
released from granting agencies.  Hoch will check in with grant administrators as needed to ensure a 
thorough understanding of grant requirements and proper fit with district projects. 
 
Hoch will gather comments from District staff, create meeting minutes and conduct a phone conference 
with District staff to narrow the preliminary results matrix table to include up to five (5) projects for more 
detailed scrutiny against funding opportunities.  The Final Results Matrix Table/Report will provide key 
information useful for planning upcoming opportunities, including funding program name and agency, key 
dates/deadlines, funding type (grant, loan, or incentive), project eligibility requirements, funding available, 
cost share required, estimated level of effort to provide a compelling application as well as estimated 
reporting requirements.  Hoch will incorporate District comments into the final report, which will be 
completed within 8 weeks of notice to proceed from the District.  
 
Deliverables: Template funding list form.  Preliminary Matrix Table/Report of grant funding opportunities 
and projects.  Detailed summary table of funding opportunities for five (5) projects (Final Results Matrix 
Table/Report) which will include charts/schedules for application development.   
 
Task II – On-Call Grant Research and Task IV – Quarterly Call & Monthly Reports 
Funding Opportunity Monitoring 
Hoch will provide ongoing review of funding of upcoming opportunities. Under this task, Hoch will provide 
services on a monthly retainer basis for a period of 12-months, which includes monitoring of future funding 
opportunities, quarterly calls with District staff to remain current with priority projects and calls on an as 
needed basis to provide updates and alerts as opportunities are announced and positioning for grant 
writing efforts.  This support can be customized to meet our clients’ need to stay current on future 
opportunities on an ongoing basis.  
 
Deliverable: Minutes of quarterly meetings. As-needed email communications of new funding programs.  
Monthly reports (11) describing activities undertaken during the previous month. 
 
 

Page 28 of 30 340



Proposed Method to Accomplish the Work 
Scope of Work 

 
 

Task III – Funding Application Preparation and Submittal 
Proposal Development and Grant Wri ng 
Hoch anticipates that grant writing work will be completed on a Task Order basis. Based on our preliminary 
review of the district’s CIP and publicly available materials, our cost proposal assumes amounts to write the 
following applications and associated materials, which we believe match well with planned programs and 
projects: one (1) Cal Recycle or USBR Water and Energy Efficiency (WEEG) grant application, one (1) Water 
Infrastructure Finance and Innovation Act (WIFIA) Letter of Interest (LOI) and loan application, one (1) USBR 
Drought Resiliency Grant application, and one (1) USBR Feasibility Study.  For the USBR Feasibility Study, 
Hoch proposes to incorporate relevant Water Recycling Funding Planning Study content into the required 
Title XVI Feasibility Study format, liaise with Bureau and district staff, and facilitate the study’s review and 
approval process.  The Bureau of Reclamation sponsors the Title XVI program, providing funding for 
implementation of water reuse projects in 17 western states, including California.  The programs are 
administered by the Bureau of Reclamation within the U.S. Department of the Interior and eligible projects 
can apply for up to $30 Million in construction funding (or 25% of project costs, whichever is lower).  
Projects must “pre-qualify” to apply for the Title XVI construction/implementation program by submitting 
a Feasibility Study in the Bureau of Reclamation format.  Once the study is approved by the Bureau, it is 
forwarded to Congress for authorization as an eligible project.  The Bureau of Reclamation federal programs 
are an excellent complement to state grant and loan programs.  Hoch will coordinate all aspects of the 
Feasibility Study with BoR staff to ensure approval by Congress.  Cost proposals for Task III are for budgeting 
only and a more detailed letter proposal will be developed once a Notice of Funding Opportunity (NOFO) 
is released by the granting agency.   
 
At the direction of District staff, Hoch will prepare funding proposals for projects that are well matched to 
funding opportunities.  Ideally, funding proposals will be completed and approved in advance of a Funding 
Opportunity Announcement (FOA) being released from granting agencies to allow Hoch staff the greatest 
lead time available to complete the application.  Once a Task Order is approved, Hoch will create a schedule 
to ensure important milestones are met, which ultimately leads to application submittal by the grant 
deadline.  Hoch will work cooperatively with District staff to ensure adequate project understanding so that 
an application is written which incorporates the technical requirements of the FOA as well as provides a 
compelling story regarding the project and the financial needs of the district.  As needed, Hoch will seek 
input from grant administrators to ensure understanding of grant requirements and fit to VSD project(s).  
Hoch will oversee the application process and collaborate with District staff as needed.  If desired, Hoch 
will author and coordinate letters of support as well as Board resolutions, as may be needed per the FOA.   
 
Deliverable: Letter Proposal for each FOA.  Electronic and hard copy of each grant application.  
 
Optional Task 
Post Award Administra on 
After an award is made, Hoch Consulting will be responsible for preparing all required progress reports, 
financial reports, and reimbursement packets to maintain a positive relationship with the awarding agency, 
comply with grant terms, and secure grant funding.  Our proposal assumes reporting for one SRF loan for 
one year and the WRFP grant for one year. 
 
Deliverable: Four (4) progress reports and two (2) Financial Reports/Draws.

Page 29 of 30 341



  Certification of Proposal 
 

 
 

 

“The undersigned hereby submits its proposal and, by doing so, agrees to furnish services to VSD in 

accordance with the Request for Proposal (RFP), and to be bound by the terms and conditions of the 

RFP.” 

 
__________________________________ 

Adam Hoch, President/Principal Engineer 

 

 

We have also read and agree to all Terms and Conditions 

XX  Yes 

No 

 

 

Page 30 of 30 342



Hoch Consulting  

 
 
 
  

Fee Proposal 

 

Grant Writing Services 
RFP NO. 2023-RFP-009 
 
 
 
 

 
VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT 
45500 VAN BUREN STREET 
INDIO, CA  92201 
 

 
 

SEPTEMBER 14, 2023 
  

Hoch Consulting 

343



Fee Proposal 
 

 
 

   
 

Dir. Water 
Resources

Dir.of 
Engineering 

Principal 
PM

Sr. Engineer 
Sr. Water 

Rsc. 
Specialist

Water Rsc 
Specialist 

Staff 
Engineer

Total 
Hours

Total T & M 
Cost 

Estimate
C Dale A Hoch K Burr A Robachonek S Davis S Stephans L Bagnol
$240 $235 $235 $205 $190 $170 $135

Task I:  Funding Needs Analysis & Grant Funding Research 60 0 24 0 10 58 28 180 $35,580

Task II: On-Call Grant Research 20 0 10 0 0 40 30 100 $18,000

Task III: Funding Application Preparation and Submittal 135 45 33 110 200 280 90 893 $171,030

30 20 40 40 50 25 205 $39,575

35 15 25 40 40 70 40 265 $50,900

20 8 40 80 148 $27,880

50 10 30 80 80 25 275 $52,675

16 0 20 0 0 52 0 88 $17,380

0 4 20 24

16 16 32 64

0 0 10 0 35 50 20 115 $20,200

Provide Grant Reporting and administrative support for one year for: 

1. SRF Loan Reporting for one year -  4 progress reports and 2 Financial Reports/Draws; 2. WRFP Grant  Reporting for one year - one final report and grant reimbursement request packet

Travel Costs $990

Up to 3 in person meetings per year with 2 Hoch team members at District Offices - day trip.$165

231 45 97 110 245 480 168 1376 $263,180

Work Scope 

Provide grant proposal writing services associated with the completion of grant applications on behalf of the District, including the preparation of funding abstracts, production, and submittal of appl ications 
to funding sources. The fol lowing grants are used to provide estimated budgets for grant writing services:

The successful  consultant shall  submit 11 monthly reports to the District 
summarizing the time expended and describing activities undertaken during the 
previous month. 

4 quarterly cal ls with agendas, fol low up notes and updated work effort tracker.

Note: Proposal includes the anticipated work distribution amongst Hoch staff. Actual allocation of work to staff may differ but will not exceed the approved budget. Hoch strives to utlize the most economical staffing 
combination to deliver high quality products for our client.

Work with the District management to assess the val idity of current funding priority areas and identify new priority areas for Funding; Review with District staff all  current and future CIP projects; Prioritize 
projects based on timing and District needs.  Evaluate funding opportunities based on the prioritization l ist;  Develop a timeline for application submittal based on normal State and Federal funding schedules; 
Identify a list of requirements for each project to determine the "shovel readiness" of each project, which would best position the District for a successful award

Conduct research to identify grant resources and organizations that support the District’s funding needs and priorities in the following general areas included but not l imited to: Recycled Water; Drought 
Response Programs; Infrastructure Development and Maintenance; GIS Geographic Information System; Planning; Youth Engagement, Education, and Employment

Task IV:  Quarterly Calls &  Monthly Reports 

 Task V: Op onal Task Post Award Administra on

TOTAL: 

In addition to the areas defined in Task I, identify other areas through the funding needs analysis process and throughout the duration of the contract.

1. Cal Recycle Grant or USBR WEEG for Bio Solids energy

2. WIFIA Loan - LOI and Full Application (does not include environmental or bond 
rating scope) 

3. USBR Drought Resiliency Grant 

4. USBR Feasibility Study  - Develop report to  WTR-11-01 standards as required to 
qualify for Title XVI Construction Grant Funding (does not include environmental)

344



Fee Proposal 
 

 
 

The cost/pricing information provided above is presented in the requested format of the RFP.  Hoch proposes to work on a time and materials 
basis, accruing only expenses associated with the time and materials actually spent on scope-related efforts.  Work completed by classification 
may vary in practice from what is presented in this table.  As discussed in the RFP, we have submitted cost proposals for various funding 
initiatives, and we expect that after completing Task 1, which involves analyzing funding needs and researching grant funding, we may discover 
additional funding opportunities that align with district priorities and are well-suited to district needs, in addition to the ones already accounted 
for in Task 3.  Hoch Consulting has carefully chosen and priced the cost of applying for multiple grants that we believe would be of interest to 
Valley Sanitary. These grants align with the projects outlined in the Capital Improvement Plan, specifically those related to recycled water, 
Drought Response, and biosolids.  Hoch Consulting plans to offer a cost estimate for any additional opportunities that are identified, using the 
hourly rates mentioned in this proposal, if the district wishes to pursue them.  Our cost estimate for the USBR Feasibilty Study does not include 
costs associated with NEPA or CEQA environmental work. 

 

345



3400 Central Avenue, Suite 205
Riverside, California 92506
213-489-1587

carollo.com

Project No / @BCL@1409E948.docx

October 20, 2023

Jason Dafforn
General Manager
Valley Sanitary District
45500 Van Buren St.
Indio, CA 92201

Subject: Scope of Work for Grant Writing Services

Dear Mr. Daffron: 

Carollo is delighted to be assisting Valley Sanitary District (VSD/District) with its grant writing needs. We 
are excited about the possibilities of finding grants and low-interest loans to help VSD and its rate payers 
complete the essential projects the community needs to ensure a healthy environment and sustainable 
water supply for all.

Please see below for our proposed Scope of Work.

Task 1: Project Kick-off Meeting

Carollo will lead a project initiation meeting with VSD staff (including the grants, finance, engineering 
and other departments) as identified by the District.

The intent of the kick-off meeting is to gain a better understanding of the District’s project priorities, 
discuss agency concerns or restrictions, and delineate proposed next steps including schedule. Topics to 
be discussed include: 1) the District’s CIP to confirm projects to be included in the funding search, 2) 
confirmation of project understanding for each, 3) discussion of how projects address common grant 
and loan priorities 4) identification of typical documentation needs for grants and loans, and 5) 
identification of key milestone dates and task assignments.

Deliverables

 Meeting agenda and presentation files (via electronic delivery).

Task 2: CIP Review and Project Verification

Carollo will review the District’s published CIP and long-term project list to gain an understanding of the 
projects VSD seeks to construct, including project type, project costs, and anticipated timing, to identify 
those projects that have the highest competitiveness for funding award and for which a funding search 
will be conducted (See Task 3). Because the grants landscape is fluid, Carollo will focus on projects set to 

346



Page 2

begin in the next five to seven years to maximize current funding opportunities. It is assumed that 10 
projects will be prioritized; however, funding opportunities will be flagged for all water projects included 
in the District’s CIP/long-term plan.

Deliverables

 Summary list of prioritized CIP Projects (via electronic delivery).
 Meeting agenda (via electronic delivery).

Task 3: Funding Strategy Development

Carollo will identify potential federal and state funding opportunities based on the priority list of projects 
identified in Task 2. Carollo will research and compile a list of potential state and federal funding 
opportunities (including federal [EPA, Bureau of Reclamation, FEMA, HUD, DOE, EDA] and state [State 
Water Resources Control Board, Department of Water Resources, California Energy Commission, etc.]) 
and will identify potential opportunities through the Bipartisan Infrastructure Law/Infrastructure 
Investment and Jobs Act (BIL/IIJA) and Inflation Reduction Act (IRA). The results will be documented in a 
Funding Matrix which will include details such as funding agency, program, description of funding 
program eligibility, requirements and limitations, total funding provided, documentation requirements, 
timing, relevance to the project, and “next steps”.

Carollo will develop a Strategic Funding Plan summarizing the approach to the identification, CIP projects 
evaluated, and the funding opportunities identified/considered. The memo will include the funding 
summary matrix and a mapping of these opportunities to the identified Projects.

Findings of the funding search will be presented to VSD in a meeting (MS Teams format). Carollo will 
update the funding matrix and Strategic Funding Plan based on review input from the District and 
discussions from the meeting.

Deliverables

 Draft Strategic Funding Plan (with matrix) documenting applicable federal and state programs 
(via electronic delivery).

 Final Strategic Funding Plan (with matrix) documenting applicable federal and state programs 
(via electronic delivery).

 Meeting agenda (via electronic delivery).

Task 4: On-call Grant Research

Carollo will monitor state and federal funding opportunities for grants and low interest loans for which 
upcoming District projects may be eligible and will notify District staff as they become available. As 
opportunities are identified, Carollo will contact the issuing agency to better understand the funding 

347



Page 3

opportunity requirements and District project eligibility, as requested. This scope assumes that Carollo 
will monitor funding opportunities over the course of one year.

Carollo will assist with other grant activities, including but not limited to confirming federal and state 
funding compliance as well as BIL compliance requirements and review of front-end documents 
(developed by others) for compliance with program requirements. Carollo will prepare a separate 
scoping package for these services if desired.

Deliverables

 Alerts of funding opportunities and/or changes to current programs (via electronic delivery).

Task 5: Develop Grant and Low Interest Loan Applications

This task will entail the development of grant and low interest loan applications as identified in Task 3. 
Possible funding applications include: 

a. Develop SRF Application Package

If requested, Carollo will prepare a State of California State Revolving Fund (SRF) application. Tasks 
include the development and submittal of the General, Technical, Environmental and Financial 
Packages as required for the program. As the SRF program is oversubscribed, the key to success with 
the application process will be to ensure that the appropriate documents are ready for submittal with 
the application (at the correct level of development and appropriately scheduled). Carollo will 
coordinate with the District to communicate deadlines for various application requirements, overall 
documentation needs, and tips for increasing project competitiveness within the program. Carollo 
will develop the Draft and Final SRF Application packages for District review, submit the final package 
to the SWRCB Financial Assistance Application Submittal Tool (FAAST) portal, support the District 
with discussions with the SWRCB regarding the application submittal, and help resolve open 
questions.

Carollo will utilize information provided by the District, its consultants, and/or existing project 
documents. It is assumed that the District or its consultants will provide all necessary project 
information required for the SRF application (design reports, design criteria, general design 
information, project alternatives considered and associated life cycle costs, environmental 
documentation, and financials and will help facilitate Board of Directors approvals). Carollo will work 
closely with VSD’s design team, environmental consultant, and finance department to identify and 
obtain necessary project information required for the SRF application package.

b. Develop USBR Drought Response Program Grant

If requested, Carollo will prepare a U.S. Bureau of Reclamation WaterSMART Drought Response 
Program: Drought Resiliency Projects grant application. Carollo will thoroughly review the Notice of 

348



Page 4

Funding Opportunity as it relates to the selected VSD project and flag any potential issues to discuss 
with VSD staff. Carollo will complete the technical proposal and criteria section, currently limited to a 
maximum of 25 pages by the USBR submission guidelines. Sections will include:

 Title Page.
 Table of Contents.
 Executive Summary.
 Project Location.
 Project Description.
 Performance Measures.
 Evaluation Criteria.
 Project Budget and Budget Detail Attachment Form.

It is assumed that VSD will provide mandatory federal forms, resolutions, information about 
environmental and cultural resources compliance and permits along with other documents needed 
to complete the technical proposal. Carollo will assist VSD in securing letters of support. Carollo will 
provide VSD with a complete application for upload to Grants.gov.

c. Develop IBank loan application

If a low-interest loan through California Infrastructure and Economic Development Bank (IBank) is 
chosen as an appropriate project funding mechanism in Task 3, Carollo will work with VSD to prepare 
an IBank Infrastructure State Revolving Fund (ISRF) loan application. Tasks include facilitating initial 
meetings with IBank loan officials and the District and preparing submission of preliminary review 
documents, including project description, audited financial statements, rate studies, current and 
forecasted District budget, existing loan/obligation agreements, project timeline and benefits, and 
other information requested by the loan officer. Carollo will employ documents provided by the 
District to complete the preliminary review submission, and will swiftly respond to requests from loan 
officers for additional information and clarification on submitted information. Upon conclusion of the 
preliminary review by loan officers, Carollo will coordinate with VSD staff to complete the following 
sections of the ISRF application:

 Applicant Information.
 Financing Requested.
 Project Information.
 Financial Information.
 Loan Proceeds.
 Legal Information.
 Application Checklist.

349



Page 5

Carollo will submit the application, respond to loan officers’ questions and ensure loan processing is 
progressing according to established deadlines. Carollo will assist the District in preparing documents 
such as authorizing resolutions for approval by the District’s Board of Directors.

Deliverables

 Draft and Final grant and/or loan application (via electronic delivery).
 Application Development Schedule (via electronic delivery).
 Meeting(s) agenda, presentation (if needed) and minutes (via electronic delivery).

Task 6: Project Management

Carollo will provide overall management and administration for the project including project resourcing, 
oversight of project budget, submittal of monthly invoices, and development and maintenance of a 
project schedule.

This task includes recurring progress meetings to review project status, intermediate grant and/or loan 
applications or deliverables, and discussion of various project-related issues with the project team. 
Preparation for the meetings includes developing meeting agenda, presentation materials and handouts, 
and minutes which summarize discussion items, decisions, and action items from each meeting. A total 
of eleven (11) meetings are anticipated with the District. This scope assumes a project duration of twelve 
(12) months.

Deliverables

 Monthly Progress Meetings (via electronic delivery).

Again, we would like to thank you for the opportunity to work with VSD on its projects. Please feel free to 
reach out to us at any time with questions or clarifications.

Sincerely,

Carollo Engineers, Inc.

Katie Menzer Jeff Weishaar, PE

Grants Manager/Senior Grants Analyst Project Manager/Vice President

350



Funding Support

Hourly Rate $303 $185 $140 $185 $147

1 Project Kick-off Meeting 2 4 6 12 $2,186

2 CIP Review and Project Verification 2 20 20 42 $7,106
3 Funding Strategy Development 40 40 4 84 $13,588
4 On-call Grant Research 24 56 80 $12,280
5 Develop Grant and Low Interest Loan Applications 24 48 62 10 10 154 $28,152
6 Project Management 32 32 64 $10,400

Project Subtotals 24 144 190 10 14 382 $64,420

PECE Project Equipment Communication Expense

FEE PROPOSAL

Valley Sanitary District

October 20, 2023

Legend:

Grant Writing Services

Total 
Hours

Labor 
Cost

Document 
Processing

Carollo Labor

Grants 
Manager

Project 
Manager Graphics

Grants 
Analyst

351



Total Cost

Trips Amount

$168 $0 $0 $0 $168 $2,400

$588 $0 $0 $0 $588 $7,700
$1,176 $0 $0 $0 $1,176 $14,800
$1,120 $0 $0 $0 $1,120 $13,400
$2,156 $0 $0 $0 $2,156 $30,300
$896 $0 $0 $0 $896 $11,300

$5,348 $0 $0 $0 $5,348 $79,900

$14.00

$0.575

ODC Unit Costs:

Mileage Total ODC 
CostPECE

Mileage ($/mi):

Miles per Roundtrip:

Other Direct Costs (ODC)

Printing

PECE ($/hr):

352



ITEM 8.3
DISCUSSION

Suggested Action

Strategic Plan Compliance

Fiscal Impact

Environmental Review

Background

DATE: November 14, 2023

TO: Board of Directors

FROM: JASON DAFFORN, GENERAL MANAGER

SUBJECT:
AUTHORIZE SPECIFIC DIRECTORS TO ATTEND THE CALIFORNIA
ASSOCIATION OF SANITATION AGENCIES (CASA) 2024
WASHINGTON DC POLICY FORUM AND REIMBURSE RELATED
EXPENSES

Discussion

GOAL 6: Improve Planning, Administration and Governance

The estimated cost for attending this event is $4,700 per director, which includes travel and related
expenses and three (3) days of service.

This item does not qualify as a project defined by the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). 

The California Association of Sanitation Agencies (CASA) represents more than 125 local public
agencies engaged in the collection, treatment, and recycling of wastewater and biosolids to protect
public health and the environment. Their mission is to provide trusted information and advocacy for
California clean water agencies and to be a leader in sustainability and utilization of renewable
resources.

 
Valley Sanitary District

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

353



Recommendation

 

Each year, CASA holds a policy forum in Washington, D.C., to discuss and advocate for wastewater-
related issues. The forum will take place February 26- 27, 2024.

Discuss specific directors to attend the CASA 2024 Washington DC Policy Forum and the
reimbursement of related expenses.

 

 

354



ITEM 8.4
DISCUSSION

Suggested Action

Strategic Plan Compliance

Fiscal Impact

Environmental Review

Background

DATE: November 14, 2023

TO: Board of Directors

FROM: JASON DAFFORN, GENERAL MANAGER

SUBJECT: AUTHORIZE SPECIFIC DIRECTORS TO ATTEND THE CALIFORNIA
ASSOCIATION OF SANITATION AGENCIES (CASA) 2024 WINTER
CONFERENCE IN PALM SPRINGS, CA AND REIMBURSE RELATED
EXPENSES

Discussion

GOAL 6: Improve Planning, Administration and Governance

The estimated cost for attending this event is $1,995 per director, which includes travel and related
expenses and three (3) days of service.

This item does not qualify as a project defined by the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). 

The California Association of Sanitation Agencies (CASA) represents more than 125 local public
agencies engaged in the collection, treatment, and recycling of wastewater and biosolids to protect
public health and the environment. Their mission is to provide trusted information and advocacy for
California clean water agencies and to be a leader in sustainability and utilization of renewable
resources.

 

 
Valley Sanitary District

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

355



Recommendation

This year's event will take place January 24-26, 2024, at the downtown Palm Springs Hilton. The
conference will include presentations focused on infrastructure finance, innovative permitting
approaches, and the circular water economy.

Discuss specific Directors to attend the CASA 2024 Winter Conference and the reimbursement of
related expenses.

 

 

356



ITEM 8.5
ACTION

Suggested Action

Strategic Plan Compliance

Fiscal Impact

Environmental Review

Background

DATE: November 14, 2023

TO: Board of Directors

FROM: Jason Dafforn, General Manager

SUBJECT: CANCEL THE REGULAR BOARD MEETING ON TUESDAY, DECEMBER
26, 2023, DUE TO ITS PROXIMITY TO THE DISTRICT-OBSERVED
HOLIDAY
 

 

Approve

GOAL 6: Improve Planning, Administration and Governance

There is no fiscal impact from this report.

This item does not qualify as a project defined by the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). 

Regular Board meetings are scheduled for the second and fourth Tuesdays of each month. In
December, the fourth Tuesday is after a four-day weekend due to Christmas Eve (observed December
22) and Christmas Day (observed December 25).

 

Key staff and directors may choose to travel for this holiday, which can affect attendance at the
meeting. In addition, key staff have scheduled time off in addition to the observed holidays, which

 
Valley Sanitary District

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

357



Recommendation

makes it challenging to prepare the staff reports and required documents for the agenda packet in
compliance with the Brown Act. 

 

By canceling the meeting, everyone can take full advantage of the holiday week to prepare for, travel,
and be with family for the holiday.

Cancel the Regular Board of Directors regular Board Meeting on Tuesday, December 26, 2023, due to
its proximity to the District-observed holidays.

 

 

358



ITEM 8.6
ACTION

Suggested Action

Strategic Plan Compliance

Fiscal Impact

Environmental Review

Background

DATE: November 14, 2023

TO: Board of Directors

FROM: Ron Buchwald, District Engineer

SUBJECT:
APPROVE CHANGE ORDER NO.'S 2 -5 FOR THE INDIO DOWNTOWN
DISTRICT SEWER IMPROVEMENT PROJECT FOR A NOT TO EXCEED
COST OF $73,785.94 AND AUTHORIZE THE GENERAL MANAGER TO
SIGN THE CHANGE ORDERS

Action

GOAL 3: Excellent Facilities

The fiscal impact of these change orders is $73,785.94. The total construction cost for the project is
$2,391,651.94.

This project has already been part of the CEQA process.  No further action is required.

The Indio Downtown District Sewer Improvement Project is nearing completion.  All major sewer
improvements have been completed.  We are waiting to complete a small water main replacement
and final paving.  The work took longer than expected but overall the project is considered a success. 
 
There were five changes orders required and they are described as follows:
 
Change Order No. 1 (total cost $3,678.00) approved on August 8, 2023, adjusted the number and
location of manholes to be coated or removed manholes that were already coated. 
 
Change Order No. 2 (total cost $35,250.00) was created to add asphalt slurry seal to the contract. 

 
Valley Sanitary District

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

359



Recommendation

Standard City Detail 172 requires full driving lanes to receive a grind and overlaid.  We did not realize
that this also applied to alley ways.  District staff negotiated with the City to instead slurry seal the
entire alley ways (two alleys in total) at a reduced price as compared to the grind and overlay. 
 
Change Order No. 3 (total cost $18,629.70) was for a relocation of a sewer manhole and additional
excavation needed to relocate the manhole. 
 
Change Order No. 4 (total cost $2,275.00) is for additional asphalt needed for the area behind Indio
Motor Machine Shop. 
 
Change Order No. 5 (total cost $13,953.24) is for delays caused by interfering utilities that were not
shown on the plans. 
 
The total cost of all five change orders is $73,785.94.

It is recommended that the Board of Directors approve Change Orders 2- 5 and authorize the General
Manager to execute.

 

 
Attachments
Change Order No 1 - Signed 8-8-23.pdf
Change Order No 2.docx
Change Order No 3.docx
Change Order No 4.docx
Change Order No 5.docx

360

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2268596/Change_Order_No_1_-_Signed_8-8-23.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2268597/Change_Order_No_2.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2268599/Change_Order_No_3.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2268602/Change_Order_No_4.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2268605/Change_Order_No_5.pdf


361



362



45500 Van Buren Street, Indio CA 92201 | (760) 238-5400 | FAX (800) 750-2880

CHANGE ORDER

OWNER: Valley Sanitary District
CONTRACTOR: GRBCON, Inc
PROJECT: Indio Downtown District Sewer Improvement Project

Change Order No.: 2 Agreement Date: November 10, 2022

Date: August 17, 2023 1 of 1

The following changes are hereby made to the Contract Documents:
An additional cost of $35,250.00 is being added to the contract for additional pavement restoration 
costs in the alleyways where open cut repairs were made per the City of Indio’s requirements. 

JUSTIFICATION:
The City of Indio informed the contractor that they would be required to pave any alleyway where open 
cut repairs were performed in accordance with City Standard Detail 172. The contractor believed that 
the alleyways did not qualify as a traffic lane so they would not be required to grind and overlay the 
asphalt from edge to edge. In a compromise, the City agreed that because the current pavement in 
these areas was in good condition, the contractor could instead restore the trenches per Detail 172 and 
slurry seal the entire alley.

Original Contract Price

Current Contract Price Adjusted by
Previous Change Order(s)

Current Change Order
(INCREASED) (DECREASED)

New Contract Price, Including This Change Order

CHANGE TO CONTRACT TIME:

Current Contract Completion Date

Contract Time Will Be
(INCREASED) (DECREASED)

New Date of Completion of All Work

Authorized Signatures on the Following Page

Authorized Signatures

September 1, 2023

$2,317,866.00

$2,321,544.00

$35,250.00

$2,356,794.00

0 Days

September 1, 2023

Calendar 
Days

363



45500 Van Buren Street, Indio CA 92201 | (760) 238-5400 | FAX (800) 750-2880

__________________________________________ ___________________
Contractor – GRBCON Inc. Date

__________________________________________ ___________________
District Engineer – Ron Buchwald, PE Date

__________________________________________ ___________________
General Manager – Jason Dafforn, PE Date

364



45500 Van Buren Street, Indio CA 92201 | (760) 238-5400 | FAX (800) 750-2880

CHANGE ORDER

OWNER: Valley Sanitary District
CONTRACTOR: GRBCON, Inc
PROJECT: Indio Downtown District Sewer Improvement Project

Change Order No.: 3 Agreement Date: November 10, 2022

Date: August 25, 2023 1 of 1

The following changes are hereby made to the Contract Documents:
An additional cost of $18,629.70 is being added to the contract for relocation of a proposed manhole, 
addition of a new manhole, and the associated additional labor required to install those structures. A 
proposed manhole is also being deleted for a net of zero additional manholes added to the project.

JUSTIFICATION:
The contractor discovered a large concrete encased utility that was not shown on the project plans. 
This utility was  directly in the location of a proposed manhole. The contractor suggested to relocate 
the proposed manhole slightly downstream of the originally proposed location and add in an additional 
manhole in the adjacent alleyway to connect the newly installed 8” sewer. The contractor agreed to 
delete another proposed manhole in a different location so that this new manhole could be added at no 
additional cost other than the time and material required for the additional cutting of asphalt and 
excavation.

Original Contract Price

Current Contract Price Adjusted by
Previous Change Order(s)

Current Change Order
(INCREASED) (DECREASED)

New Contract Price, Including This Change Order

CHANGE TO CONTRACT TIME:

Current Contract Completion Date

Contract Time Will Be
(INCREASED) (DECREASED)

New Date of Completion of All Work

Authorized Signatures on the Following Page

Authorized Signatures

September 1, 2023

$2,317,866.00

$2,356,794.00

$18,629.70

$2,375,423.70

0 Days

September 1, 2023

Calendar 
Days

365



45500 Van Buren Street, Indio CA 92201 | (760) 238-5400 | FAX (800) 750-2880

__________________________________________ ___________________
Contractor – GRBCON Inc. Date

__________________________________________ ___________________
District Engineer – Ron Buchwald, PE Date

__________________________________________ ___________________
General Manager – Jason Dafforn, PE Date

366



45500 Van Buren Street, Indio CA 92201 | (760) 238-5400 | FAX (800) 750-2880

CHANGE ORDER

OWNER: Valley Sanitary District
CONTRACTOR: GRBCON, Inc
PROJECT: Indio Downtown District Sewer Improvement Project

Change Order No.: 4 Agreement Date: November 10, 2022

Date: October 26, 2023 1 of 1

The following changes are hereby made to the Contract Documents:
An additional cost of $2,275.00 is being added to the contract amount for the replacement of existing 
asphalt behind the Indio Motor Machine building.

JUSTIFICATION:
During construction, the contractor discovered the existing asphalt behind the Indio Motor Machine 
building to be in poor condition. The owner requested that the entire width of the alley behind his 
property be replaced along with the section within the trench boundary. The additional area would only 
be an additional 150 square feet and this effort would help to protect the new asphalt from water 
damage and vehicle traffic.

Original Contract Price

Current Contract Price Adjusted by
Previous Change Order(s)

Current Change Order
(INCREASED) (DECREASED)

New Contract Price, Including This Change Order

CHANGE TO CONTRACT TIME:

Current Contract Completion Date

Contract Time Will Be
(INCREASED) (DECREASED)

New Date of Completion of All Work

Authorized Signatures on the Following Page

Authorized Signatures

September 1, 2023

$2,317,866.00

$2,375,423.70

$2,275.00

$2,377,698.70

0 Days

September 1, 2023

Calendar 
Days

367



45500 Van Buren Street, Indio CA 92201 | (760) 238-5400 | FAX (800) 750-2880

__________________________________________ ___________________
Contractor – GRBCON Inc. Date

__________________________________________ ___________________
District Engineer – Ron Buchwald, PE Date

__________________________________________ ___________________
General Manager – Jason Dafforn, PE Date

368



45500 Van Buren Street, Indio CA 92201 | (760) 238-5400 | FAX (800) 750-2880

CHANGE ORDER

OWNER: Valley Sanitary District
CONTRACTOR: GRBCON, Inc
PROJECT: Indio Downtown District Sewer Improvement Project

Change Order No.: 5 Agreement Date: November 10, 2022

Date: September 12, 2023 1 of 1

The following changes are hereby made to the Contract Documents:
An additional cost of $13,953.24 is being added for additional labor caused by the intrusion of
unidentified utilities impeding construction.

JUSTIFICATION:
On four separate occasions, the contractor discovered utilities that were not shown on the project plans
that intruded into their construction trench. In each case, the contractor had to protect the utility in place 
and hand dig around it in order to prevent damage to the utility while installing the sewer pipe per plan. 
The costs are for a total of sixteen hours of setback due to the presence of the unknown utilities and 
the additional effort required to work around them.

Original Contract Price

Current Contract Price Adjusted by
Previous Change Order(s)

Current Change Order
(INCREASED) (DECREASED)

New Contract Price, Including This Change Order

CHANGE TO CONTRACT TIME:

Current Contract Completion Date

Contract Time Will Be
(INCREASED) (DECREASED)

New Date of Completion of All Work

Authorized Signatures on the Following Page

Authorized Signatures

September 1, 2023

$2,317,866.00

$2,377,698.70

$13,953.24

$2,391,651.94

61 Days

October 31, 2023

Calendar 
Days

369



45500 Van Buren Street, Indio CA 92201 | (760) 238-5400 | FAX (800) 750-2880

__________________________________________ ___________________
Contractor – GRBCON Inc. Date

__________________________________________ ___________________
District Engineer – Ron Buchwald, PE Date

__________________________________________ ___________________
General Manager – Jason Dafforn, PE Date

370



ITEM 8.7
ACTION

Suggested Action

Strategic Plan Compliance

Fiscal Impact

Environmental Review

Background

DATE: November 14, 2023

TO: Board of Directors

FROM: Ron Buchwald, District Engineer

SUBJECT:
APPROVE CHANGE ORDER NO. 6 FOR THE INDIO DOWNTOWN
DISTRICT SEWER IMPROVEMENT PROJECT AND GEOTECHNICAL
FEES FOR THE EMERGENCY STREET REPAIR ON REQUA STREET FOR
A NOT TO EXCEED COST OF $286,603.00 AND AUTHORIZE THE
GENERAL MANAGER TO SIGN THE CHANGE ORDER AND PAY
INVOICES.  

Action

GOAL 3: Excellent Facilities

The fiscal impact of Change Order No. 6 is $272,803.  The fiscal impact of Leighton & Associates
geotechnical work is estimated at $13,800.  The total cost of the emergency repair should be $286,603
or less.

This work is part of the overall project that already has been through the CEQA process.  No further
action is required.

On Friday, September 1, 2023, a monsoonal rain arrived in the mid afternoon producing a significant
amount of rain in the Indio area.  Flooding occurred throughout the City including on Requa Street
between Flower Street and Jackson.  During the week of September 4, 2023, five to six sink holes or
subsidence areas appeared on Requa Street along the VSD's Requa Interceptor sewer main.  The
interceptor sewer main was originally installed in 2016 and 2017.  It had passed all the compaction
testing at the time, however, these subsidence areas were directly over our sewer main.  The

 
Valley Sanitary District

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

371



Recommendation

collection department crew video inspected the sewer main but found no damage, holes or anything
that would cause dirt to get into the sewer main which would lead to the subsidence.  
 
VSD staff requested an emergency authorization from the Board President due to damage that
subsidence could cause to vehicles.  The contractor, GRBCon was already working for VSD on the Indio
Downtown Sewer Improvement Project and had the equipment and staff to make the repairs.  Five
pits were excavated about 5 feet deep (the maximum depth allowed without having to provide
shoring) so that we could better understand what was causing the subsidence.  Upon opening each pit
up and exploring the soil conditions, it was discovered that the soil was loosely compacted with
several voids both under the soil bottom and along the trench and parallel to the sewer main.  It
appeared that more subsidence would eventually follow due to these voids.  After discussions with
two different geotechnical firms, the contractor, the City of Indio Public Works, and internal staff, it
was determined that the best course of action was to excavate to about 10 feet deep (approximately 3
feet above the sewer main) and from the most easterly manhole at Salton Street to about 300 feet
west of that manhole.  The soil was to be removed and slowly backfilled in one to two foot lifts in
order to achieve the proper compaction.  However, after the initial attempt to achieve compaction, it
was discovered the soil was too moist and contained high levels of silt and clay.  Proper compaction
would not be achieved without mixing other dirt with the current soils.  Class II Aggregate base was
brought in and mixed at a ratio of about 50/50 with the existing soil.  This mixture proved to be
successful at achieving proper compaction.  The work was completed in about 8 days and base paving
was installed flush with the existing paving to allow the street to be open to traffic.  Final paving will
occur at the completion of the Indio Downtown Sewer Improvement Project which should be before
the end of November. 
 
The City of Indio required VSD to provide a geotechnical statement (letter) that stated the method of
repair stated above would meet proper compaction.  VSD hired Leighton & Associates (the current
geotechnical firm on the Recycled Water Project Phase 1) to provide the letter, provide the
geotechnical inspection and compaction testing and the final geotechnical report.  The total estimated
cost is $13,800.
 
The County of Riverside is working with State of California (Cal-OES) on declaring a local state of
emergency for the September 1 monsoonal storm and the damage it caused.  Staff has submitted the
cost of the Requa Street repair along with Leighton's cost to the County for possible reimbursement. 
Staff is waiting to hear from the County on this possible reimbursement.

It is recommended that the Board of Directors approve Change Order No. 6 and authorize the General
Manager to sign the change order.  It is also recommended that the Board of Directors approve the
invoice for Leighton and Associates for geotechnical work and authorize the General Manager to pay
the final invoice once received for a not to exceed cost of $13,800.

 

 
Attachments
Change Order No 6.docx

372

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2268666/Change_Order_No_6.pdf


45500 Van Buren Street, Indio CA 92201 | (760) 238-5400 | FAX (800) 750-2880

CHANGE ORDER

OWNER: Valley Sanitary District
CONTRACTOR: GRBCON, Inc
PROJECT: Indio Downtown District Sewer Improvement Project

Change Order No.: 6 Agreement Date: November 10, 2022

Date: September 25, 2023 1 of 1

The following changes are hereby made to the Contract Documents:
An additional cost of $272,803.00 is being added for the repair of several sink holes that formed along 
a short portion of Requa Avenue during the most recent rain event.

JUSTIFICATION:
Due to the heavy rains received in September, several sink holes appeared over the Requa Interceptor 
along Requa Avenue east of Jackson Street and west of Indio Boulevard. These sink holes were 
determined to be a result of poor compaction during the Requa Interceptor project. GRBCON removed 
the asphalt and soil in the affected area, added base to the native soil to achieve the desired moisture 
content, and recompacted the soil to appropriate levels. The asphalt will then be repaired per City of 
Indio Standard 172.

Original Contract Price

Current Contract Price Adjusted by
Previous Change Order(s)

Current Change Order
(INCREASED) (DECREASED)

New Contract Price, Including This Change Order

CHANGE TO CONTRACT TIME:

Current Contract Completion Date

Contract Time Will Be
(INCREASED) (DECREASED)

New Date of Completion of All Work

Authorized Signatures on the Following Page

Authorized Signatures

October 31, 2023
s

$2,317,866.00

$2,391,651.94

$272,803.00

$2,664,454.94

30 Days

November 30, 2023

Calendar 
Days

373



45500 Van Buren Street, Indio CA 92201 | (760) 238-5400 | FAX (800) 750-2880

__________________________________________ ___________________
Contractor – GRBCON Inc. Date

__________________________________________ ___________________
District Engineer – Ron Buchwald, PE Date

__________________________________________ ___________________
General Manager – Jason Dafforn, PE Date

374



ITEM 8.8
ACTION

Suggested Action

Strategic Plan Compliance

Fiscal Impact

Environmental Review

Background

DATE: November 14, 2023

TO: Board of Directors

FROM: Ron Buchwald, District Engineer

SUBJECT:
PROVIDE THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AN UPDATE ON THE
EMERGENCY REPAIR OF THE WESTWARD HO SEWER SIPHON AND
AUTHORIZE THE GENERAL MANAGER TO REIMBURSE THE CITY OF
INDIO THE AMOUNT OF $147,261.97 FOR HALF THE COST OF THE
EMERGENCY REPAIR (TOTAL COST TO INSTALL THE BERM IS
$294,523.59)

Action

GOAL 3: Excellent Facilities

The fiscal impact of this emergency repair is $147,261.97.

This was an emergency repair and was exempt from the CEQA process.

On Sunday, August 20, 2023, Tropical Storm Hilary came through the Coachella Valley releasing a
record amount of rain and flooding several areas throughout the valley.  The amount of rain released
resulted in a high flow of water in the White Water Storm Channel which caused VSD's sewer main
siphon at Westward Ho to be exposed.  On Friday, September 1, a monsoon storm came through Indio
and other parts of the Valley releasing heavy rain in the immediate vicinity.  This storm also resulted in
high flows going down the White Water Storm Channel.  Although water flows continued to flow over
the exposed sewer main siphon, no further damage occurred to the sewer siphon.  Nearly 100 feet of
the sewer main was exposed with large portions of the main hanging in the air with no bottom
support.  Indio Water Authority (IWA) has a water main adjacent to and about 5 feet northerly of

 
Valley Sanitary District

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

375



Recommendation

VSD's sewer main.  Both mains were exposed and needed protection.
 
During the week of September 4th, the collection department worked to fill sandbags full of sand and
along with cement bricks, used them to support the sewer main.  However, the sewer main and
encasement was still exposed to the environment.  There was concern that this could lead to further
damage.  Together with IWA, it was decided to import sand into the channel and bury both mains to
provide the protection needed.  IWA took the lead and secured a permit from CVWD to allow a
contractor to enter the channel and add sand over the two mains.  Borden Excavating, Inc. was hired
by IWA through an emergency basis to perform the work.  VSD agreed to reimburse the City of Indio
for half the total cost to install the sand berm.  It took about two weeks to get the authorization and
install the sand berm.  Pictures are included and will be available during the Board meeting.
 
VSD currently has a permanent repair designed and ready to bid for construction.  The Environmental
Report has been under review by FEMA for more than 11 months which has completely stalled
forward progress on the project.  VSD staff is continuing to work with Cal-OES in an attempt get FEMA
to complete their environmental review and authorize the District to move forward with construction. 
CVWD has reached out to both IWA and VSD to request the berm be removed as soon as possible. 
CVWD is concerned about the possible flood damage the berm may cause in the event of a significant
rain event or debris flow.

It is recommended that the Board of Directors authorize the General Manager to reimburse the City of
Indio for half the cost of the total construction cost.

 

 
Attachments
Borden Excavating Inc Invoice 23-06-01_With Work Tickets.pdf
IMG_0242.JPG
20230914_062430.jpg

376

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2268635/Borden_Excavating_Inc_Invoice_23-06-01_With_Work_Tickets.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2271297/IMG_0242.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2271351/20230914_062430.pdf


Invoice
Date

10/16/2023

Invoice #

23-06-01

Bill To

Indio Water Authority
83-101 Ave. 45
Indio, CA 92201

1014 2ND STREET
CALIMESA, CA 92320

Project

23-06 Emergency re...

Phone 909-795-5410 Fax 909-795-5354

Total

Description Amount

Pay App 1 Final 294,523.59

$294,523.59

377



Thursday, 

September 21, 

2023

Owner: BB-12
Work Preformed:

Equipment Qty Hours
Idle

YES/NO
Idle Rate

Operating 

Rate
Extended Amount

Equipment Total -$                      

Labor Hours
Hourly 

Rate

Overtime 

Hours

Overtime 

Rate

Per Diem 

Rate
Extended Amount

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

Water Truck Driver 3.0 65.19 84.81 0.00 195.57$                 

Team Leader 3.0 91.58 115.98 0.00 274.74$                 

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

Labor Burden & Workers Compensation 35.00% 164.61$                 

Labor Total 634.92$                 

Qty Amount

-$                      

-$                      

-$                      

-$                      

Subcontract Total: -$                      

Materials: Qty Unit Price Amount

-$                      

0 -$                      

0 -$                      

0 -$                      

0 -$                      

0 -$                      

7.75% -$                   

Material Total -$                      

Description Mark-up Total

Labor 15% 730.16$                 

Equipment 15% -$                      

Material 15% -$                      

Subcontractors 5% -$                      

5.00% 36.51$                   

3.00% 21.90$                   

2.00% 14.60$                   

Report Total 803.17$          

Project 

Name:

Emergancy Wash repair 

Westward Ho

IWA

CVWD request for us to come back and rake tracking marks off dirt road.

Subcontractors / Owner Operator Unit Cost

Sub Totals Extended

Vender

Material Tax

Summary:

Note: We reserve the right to supplement and/or correct report. Appropriate 

extensions requested.

634.92$        95.24$                   

-$             -$                      

-$             -$                      

-$             -$                      

Company Overhead

General Liability Insurance

Payment & Perfomance Bonds

378



Wednesday, 

September 20, 

2023

Owner: BB-11
Work Preformed:

Equipment Qty Hours
Idle

YES/NO
Idle Rate

Operating 

Rate
Extended Amount

Excavator CAT 325* 1 8 No 97.14 158.33 1,266.64$              

Loader Case 521G* 1 8 No 45.41 76.91 615.28$                 

Loader Mecalac AS1600* 1 8 No 58.82 94.89 759.12$                 

Water Truck 2500 Gallon 1 8 No 26.26 88.85 710.80$                 

Excavator Kobelco SK35* 1 8 No 30.02 50.92 407.36$                 

Skid Steer* 1 8 No 50.30 85.96 687.68$                 

Truck Utility 1 8 No 3.85 29.60 236.80$                 

Truck Pickup Foreman 1 8 No 3.40 26.15 209.20$                 

Equipment Total 4,892.88$              

Labor Hours
Hourly 

Rate

Overtime 

Hours

Overtime 

Rate

Per Diem 

Rate
Extended Amount

Operator 8.0 91.58 115.98 0.00 732.64$                 

Operator 8.0 91.58 115.98 0.00 732.64$                 

Operator 8.0 91.58 115.98 0.00 732.64$                 

Water Truck Driver 8.0 65.19 84.81 0.00 521.52$                 

Team Leader 8.0 91.58 115.98 0.00 732.64$                 

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

Labor Burden & Workers Compensation 35.00% 1,208.23$              

Labor Total 4,660.31$              

Qty Amount

1.00 2,000.00$              

-$                      

-$                      

-$                      

Subcontract Total: 2,000.00$              

Materials: Qty Unit Price Amount

-$                      

0 -$                      

0 -$                      

0 -$                      

0 -$                      

0 -$                      

7.75% -$                   

Material Total -$                      

Description Mark-up Total

Labor 15% 5,359.35$              

Equipment 15% 5,626.81$              

Material 15% -$                      

Subcontractors 5% 2,100.00$              

5.00% 654.31$                 

3.00% 392.58$                 

2.00% 261.72$                 

Report Total 14,394.78$     

Project 

Name:

Emergancy Wash repair 

Westward Ho

IWA

Hourly rate for Emergancy repair at Westward Ho. Wash

Estimated fill needed ~5500 CY's ~8,250 Tons.

Subcontractors / Owner Operator Unit Cost

Demobilization 2,000.00$              

Sub Totals Extended

Vender

Material Tax

Summary:

Note: We reserve the right to supplement and/or correct report. Appropriate 

extensions requested.

4,660.31$     699.05$                 

4,892.88$     733.93$                 

-$             -$                      

2,000.00$     100.00$                 

Company Overhead

General Liability Insurance

Payment & Perfomance Bonds

379



Tuesday, 

September 19, 

2023

Owner: BB-10
Work Preformed:

Equipment Qty Hours
Idle

YES/NO
Idle Rate

Operating 

Rate
Extended Amount

Excavator CAT 325* 1 9 No 97.14 158.33 1,424.97$              

Loader Case 521G* 1 9 No 45.41 76.91 692.19$                 

Loader Mecalac AS1600* 1 9 No 58.82 94.89 854.01$                 

Water Truck 2500 Gallon 1 9 No 26.26 88.85 799.65$                 

Excavator Kobelco SK35* 1 9 No 30.02 50.92 458.28$                 

Skid Steer* 1 9 No 50.30 85.96 773.64$                 

Truck Utility 1 9 No 3.85 29.60 266.40$                 

Truck Pickup Foreman 1 9 No 3.40 26.15 235.35$                 

Equipment Total 5,504.49$              

Labor Hours
Hourly 

Rate

Overtime 

Hours

Overtime 

Rate

Per Diem 

Rate
Extended Amount

Operator 8.0 91.58 1.00 115.98 0.00 848.62$                 

Operator 8.0 91.58 1.00 115.98 0.00 848.62$                 

Operator 8.0 91.58 1.00 115.98 0.00 848.62$                 

Water Truck Driver 8.0 65.19 1.00 84.81 0.00 606.33$                 

Team Leader 8.0 91.58 1.00 115.98 0.00 848.62$                 

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

Labor Burden & Workers Compensation 35.00% 1,400.28$              

Labor Total 5,401.07$              

Qty Amount

-$                      

-$                      

-$                      

-$                      

Subcontract Total: -$                      

Materials: Qty Unit Price Amount

Sand SE 30 972.00 13.58 13,199.76$            

0 -$                      

0 -$                      

0 -$                      

0 -$                      

0 -$                      

7.75% 1,022.98$           

Material Total 14,222.74$            

Description Mark-up Total

Labor 15% 6,211.23$              

Equipment 15% 6,330.16$              

Material 15% 16,356.15$            

Subcontractors 5% -$                      

5.00% 1,444.88$              

3.00% 866.93$                 

2.00% 577.95$                 

Report Total 31,787.30$     

Project 

Name:

Emergancy Wash repair 

Westward Ho

IWA

Hourly rate for Emergancy repair at Westward Ho. Wash

Estimated fill needed ~5500 CY's ~8,250 Tons.

Subcontractors / Owner Operator Unit Cost

Sub Totals Extended

Vender

Coachella Valley Agg

Material Tax

Summary:

Note: We reserve the right to supplement and/or correct report. Appropriate 

extensions requested.

5,401.07$     810.16$                 

5,504.49$     825.67$                 

14,222.74$   2,133.41$              

-$             -$                      

Company Overhead

General Liability Insurance

Payment & Perfomance Bonds

380



Monday, 

September 18, 

2023

Owner: BB-09
Work Preformed:

Equipment Qty Hours
Idle

YES/NO
Idle Rate

Operating 

Rate
Extended Amount

Excavator CAT 325* 1 9 No 97.14 158.33 1,424.97$              

Loader Case 521G* 1 9 No 45.41 76.91 692.19$                 

Loader Mecalac AS1600* 1 9 No 58.82 94.89 854.01$                 

Water Truck 2500 Gallon 1 9 No 26.26 88.85 799.65$                 

Excavator Kobelco SK35* 1 9 No 30.02 50.92 458.28$                 

Skid Steer* 1 9 No 50.30 85.96 773.64$                 

Truck Utility 1 9 No 3.85 29.60 266.40$                 

Truck Pickup Foreman 1 9 No 3.40 26.15 235.35$                 

Equipment Total 5,504.49$              

Labor Hours
Hourly 

Rate

Overtime 

Hours

Overtime 

Rate

Per Diem 

Rate
Extended Amount

Operator 8.0 91.58 1.00 115.98 0.00 848.62$                 

Operator 8.0 91.58 1.00 115.98 0.00 848.62$                 

Operator 8.0 91.58 1.00 115.98 0.00 848.62$                 

Water Truck Driver 8.0 65.19 1.00 84.81 0.00 606.33$                 

Team Leader 8.0 91.58 1.00 115.98 0.00 848.62$                 

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

Labor Burden & Workers Compensation 35.00% 1,400.28$              

Labor Total 5,401.07$              

Qty Amount

-$                      

-$                      

-$                      

-$                      

Subcontract Total: -$                      

Materials: Qty Unit Price Amount

Sand SE 30 935.00 13.58 12,697.30$            

0 -$                      

0 -$                      

0 -$                      

0 -$                      

0 -$                      

7.75% 984.04$              

Material Total 13,681.34$            

Description Mark-up Total

Labor 15% 6,211.23$              

Equipment 15% 6,330.16$              

Material 15% 15,733.54$            

Subcontractors 5% -$                      

5.00% 1,413.75$              

3.00% 848.25$                 

2.00% 565.50$                 

Report Total 31,102.43$     

Project 

Name:

Emergancy Wash repair 

Westward Ho

IWA

Hourly rate for Emergancy repair at Westward Ho. Wash

Estimated fill needed ~5500 CY's ~8,250 Tons.

Subcontractors / Owner Operator Unit Cost

Sub Totals Extended

Vender

Coachella Valley Agg

Material Tax

Summary:

Note: We reserve the right to supplement and/or correct report. Appropriate 

extensions requested.

5,401.07$     810.16$                 

5,504.49$     825.67$                 

13,681.34$   2,052.20$              

-$             -$                      

Company Overhead

General Liability Insurance

Payment & Perfomance Bonds

381



Friday, September 

15, 2023

Owner: BB-08
Work Preformed:

Equipment Qty Hours
Idle

YES/NO
Idle Rate

Operating 

Rate
Extended Amount

Excavator CAT 325* 1 10 No 97.14 158.33 1,583.30$              

Loader Case 521G* 1 10 No 45.41 76.91 769.10$                 

Loader Mecalac AS1600* 1 10 No 58.82 94.89 948.90$                 

Water Truck 2500 Gallon 1 10 No 26.26 88.85 888.50$                 

Excavator Kobelco SK35* 1 10 No 30.02 50.92 509.20$                 

Skid Steer* 1 10 No 50.30 85.96 859.60$                 

Truck Utility 1 10 No 3.85 29.60 296.00$                 

Truck Pickup Foreman 1 10 No 3.40 26.15 261.50$                 

Equipment Total 6,116.10$              

Labor Hours
Hourly 

Rate

Overtime 

Hours

Overtime 

Rate

Per Diem 

Rate
Extended Amount

Operator 8.0 91.58 2.00 115.98 0.00 964.59$                 

Operator 8.0 91.58 2.00 115.98 0.00 964.59$                 

Operator 8.0 91.58 2.00 115.98 0.00 964.59$                 

Water Truck Driver 8.0 65.19 2.00 84.81 0.00 691.14$                 

Team Leader 8.0 91.58 2.00 115.98 0.00 964.59$                 

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

Labor Burden & Workers Compensation 35.00% 1,592.33$              

Labor Total 6,141.83$              

Qty Amount

-$                      

-$                      

-$                      

-$                      

Subcontract Total: -$                      

Materials: Qty Unit Price Amount

Sand SE 30 980.00 13.58 13,308.40$            

0 -$                      

0 -$                      

0 -$                      

0 -$                      

0 -$                      

7.75% 1,031.40$           

Material Total 14,339.80$            

Description Mark-up Total

Labor 15% 7,063.10$              

Equipment 15% 7,033.52$              

Material 15% 16,490.77$            

Subcontractors 5% -$                      

5.00% 1,529.37$              

3.00% 917.62$                 

2.00% 611.75$                 

Report Total 33,646.12$     
Note: We reserve the right to supplement and/or correct report. Appropriate 

extensions requested.

6,141.83$     921.27$                 

6,116.10$     917.42$                 

14,339.80$   2,150.97$              

-$             -$                      

Company Overhead

General Liability Insurance

Payment & Perfomance Bonds

Sub Totals Extended

Vender

Coachella Valley Agg

Material Tax

Summary:

Project 

Name:

Emergancy Wash repair 

Westward Ho

IWA

Hourly rate for Emergancy repair at Westward Ho. Wash

Estimated fill needed ~5500 CY's ~8,250 Tons.

Subcontractors / Owner Operator Unit Cost

382



Thursday, 

September 14, 

2023

Owner: BB-07
Work Preformed:

Equipment Qty Hours
Idle

YES/NO
Idle Rate

Operating 

Rate
Extended Amount

Excavator CAT 325* 1 9 No 97.14 158.33 1,424.97$              

Loader Case 521G* 1 9 No 45.41 76.91 692.19$                 

Loader Mecalac AS1600* 1 9 No 58.82 94.89 854.01$                 

Water Truck 2500 Gallon 1 9 No 26.26 88.85 799.65$                 

Excavator Kobelco SK35* 1 9 No 30.02 50.92 458.28$                 

Skid Steer* 1 9 No 50.30 85.96 773.64$                 

Truck Utility 1 9 No 3.85 29.60 266.40$                 

Truck Pickup Foreman 1 9 No 3.40 26.15 235.35$                 

Equipment Total 5,504.49$              

Labor Hours
Hourly 

Rate

Overtime 

Hours

Overtime 

Rate

Per Diem 

Rate
Extended Amount

Operator 8.0 91.58 1.00 115.98 0.00 848.62$                 

Operator 8.0 91.58 1.00 115.98 0.00 848.62$                 

Operator 8.0 91.58 1.00 115.98 0.00 848.62$                 

Water Truck Driver 8.0 65.19 1.00 84.81 0.00 606.33$                 

Team Leader 8.0 91.58 1.00 115.98 0.00 848.62$                 

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

Labor Burden & Workers Compensation 35.00% 1,400.28$              

Labor Total 5,401.07$              

Qty Amount

-$                      

-$                      

-$                      

-$                      

Subcontract Total: -$                      

Materials: Qty Unit Price Amount

Sand SE 30 939.00 13.58 12,751.62$            

0 -$                      

0 -$                      

0 -$                      

0 -$                      

0 -$                      

7.75% 988.25$              

Material Total 13,739.87$            

Description Mark-up Total

Labor 15% 6,211.23$              

Equipment 15% 6,330.16$              

Material 15% 15,800.85$            

Subcontractors 5% -$                      

5.00% 1,417.11$              

3.00% 850.27$                 

2.00% 566.84$                 

Report Total 31,176.47$     
Note: We reserve the right to supplement and/or correct report. Appropriate 

extensions requested.

5,401.07$     810.16$                 

5,504.49$     825.67$                 

13,739.87$   2,060.98$              

-$             -$                      

Company Overhead

General Liability Insurance

Payment & Perfomance Bonds

Sub Totals Extended

Vender

Coachella Valley Agg

Material Tax

Summary:

Project 

Name:

Emergancy Wash repair 

Westward Ho

IWA

Hourly rate for Emergancy repair at Westward Ho. Wash

Estimated fill needed ~5500 CY's ~8,250 Tons.

Subcontractors / Owner Operator Unit Cost

383



Wednesday, 

September 13, 

2023

Owner: BB-06
Work Preformed:

Equipment Qty Hours
Idle

YES/NO
Idle Rate

Operating 

Rate
Extended Amount

Excavator CAT 325* 1 9 No 97.14 158.33 1,424.97$              

Loader Case 521G* 1 9 No 45.41 76.91 692.19$                 

Loader Mecalac AS1600* 1 9 No 58.82 94.89 854.01$                 

Water Truck 2500 Gallon 1 9 No 26.26 88.85 799.65$                 

Excavator Kobelco SK35* 1 9 No 30.02 50.92 458.28$                 

Skid Steer* 1 9 No 50.30 85.96 773.64$                 

Truck Utility 1 9 No 3.85 29.60 266.40$                 

Truck Pickup Foreman 1 9 No 3.40 26.15 235.35$                 

Equipment Total 5,504.49$              

Labor Hours
Hourly 

Rate

Overtime 

Hours

Overtime 

Rate

Per Diem 

Rate
Extended Amount

Operator 8.0 91.58 1.00 115.98 0.00 848.62$                 

Operator 8.0 91.58 1.00 115.98 0.00 848.62$                 

Operator 8.0 91.58 1.00 115.98 0.00 848.62$                 

Water Truck Driver 8.0 65.19 1.00 84.81 0.00 606.33$                 

Team Leader 8.0 91.58 1.00 115.98 0.00 848.62$                 

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

Labor Burden & Workers Compensation 35.00% 1,400.28$              

Labor Total 5,401.07$              

Qty Amount

-$                      

-$                      

-$                      

-$                      

Subcontract Total: -$                      

Materials: Qty Unit Price Amount

Sand SE 30 949.00 13.58 12,887.42$            

0 -$                      

0 -$                      

0 -$                      

0 -$                      

0 -$                      

7.75% 998.78$              

Material Total 13,886.20$            

Description Mark-up Total

Labor 15% 6,211.23$              

Equipment 15% 6,330.16$              

Material 15% 15,969.12$            

Subcontractors 5% -$                      

5.00% 1,425.53$              

3.00% 855.32$                 

2.00% 570.21$                 

Report Total 31,361.57$     
Note: We reserve the right to supplement and/or correct report. Appropriate 

extensions requested.

5,401.07$     810.16$                 

5,504.49$     825.67$                 

13,886.20$   2,082.93$              

-$             -$                      

Company Overhead

General Liability Insurance

Payment & Perfomance Bonds

Sub Totals Extended

Vender

Coachella Valley Agg

Material Tax

Summary:

Project 

Name:

Emergancy Wash repair 

Westward Ho

IWA

Hourly rate for Emergancy repair at Westward Ho. Wash

Estimated fill needed ~5500 CY's ~8,250 Tons.

Subcontractors / Owner Operator Unit Cost

384



Tuesday, 

September 12, 

2023

Owner: BB-05
Work Preformed:

Equipment Qty Hours
Idle

YES/NO
Idle Rate

Operating 

Rate
Extended Amount

Excavator CAT 325* 1 9 No 97.14 158.33 1,424.97$              

Loader Case 521G* 1 9 No 45.41 76.91 692.19$                 

Loader Mecalac AS1600* 1 9 No 58.82 94.89 854.01$                 

Water Truck 2500 Gallon 1 9 No 26.26 88.85 799.65$                 

Excavator Kobelco SK35* 1 9 No 30.02 50.92 458.28$                 

Skid Steer* 1 9 No 50.30 85.96 773.64$                 

Truck Utility 1 9 No 3.85 29.60 266.40$                 

Truck Pickup Foreman 1 9 No 3.40 26.15 235.35$                 

Equipment Total 5,504.49$              

Labor Hours
Hourly 

Rate

Overtime 

Hours

Overtime 

Rate

Per Diem 

Rate
Extended Amount

Operator 8.0 91.58 1.00 115.98 0.00 848.62$                 

Operator 8.0 91.58 1.00 115.98 0.00 848.62$                 

Operator 8.0 91.58 1.00 115.98 0.00 848.62$                 

Water Truck Driver 8.0 65.19 1.00 84.81 0.00 606.33$                 

Team Leader 8.0 91.58 1.00 115.98 0.00 848.62$                 

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

Labor Burden & Workers Compensation 35.00% 1,400.28$              

Labor Total 5,401.07$              

Qty Amount

-$                      

-$                      

-$                      

-$                      

Subcontract Total: -$                      

Materials: Qty Unit Price Amount

Sand SE 30 953.00 13.58 12,941.74$            

0 -$                      

0 -$                      

0 -$                      

0 -$                      

0 -$                      

7.75% 1,002.98$           

Material Total 13,944.72$            

Description Mark-up Total

Labor 15% 6,211.23$              

Equipment 15% 6,330.16$              

Material 15% 16,036.43$            

Subcontractors 5% -$                      

5.00% 1,428.89$              

3.00% 857.33$                 

2.00% 571.56$                 

Report Total 31,435.61$     
Note: We reserve the right to supplement and/or correct report. Appropriate 

extensions requested.

5,401.07$     810.16$                 

5,504.49$     825.67$                 

13,944.72$   2,091.71$              

-$             -$                      

Company Overhead

General Liability Insurance

Payment & Perfomance Bonds

Sub Totals Extended

Vender

Coachella Valley Agg

Material Tax

Summary:

Project 

Name:

Emergancy Wash repair 

Westward Ho

IWA

Hourly rate for Emergancy repair at Westward Ho. Wash

Estimated fill needed ~5500 CY's ~8,250 Tons.

Subcontractors / Owner Operator Unit Cost

385



Monday, 

September 11, 

2023

Owner: BB-04
Work Preformed:

Equipment Qty Hours
Idle

YES/NO
Idle Rate

Operating 

Rate
Extended Amount

Excavator CAT 325* 1 9 No 97.14 158.33 1,424.97$              

Loader Case 521G* 1 9 No 45.41 76.91 692.19$                 

Loader Mecalac AS1600* 1 9 No 58.82 94.89 854.01$                 

Water Truck 2500 Gallon 1 9 No 26.26 88.85 799.65$                 

Excavator Kobelco SK35* 1 9 No 30.02 50.92 458.28$                 

Skid Steer* 1 9 No 50.30 85.96 773.64$                 

Truck Utility 1 9 No 3.85 29.60 266.40$                 

Truck Pickup Foreman 1 9 No 3.40 26.15 235.35$                 

Equipment Total 5,504.49$              

Labor Hours
Hourly 

Rate

Overtime 

Hours

Overtime 

Rate

Per Diem 

Rate
Extended Amount

Operator 8.0 91.58 1.00 115.98 0.00 848.62$                 

Operator 8.0 91.58 1.00 115.98 0.00 848.62$                 

0 0 0 -$                      

Water Truck Driver 8.0 65.19 1.00 84.81 0.00 606.33$                 

Team Leader 8.0 91.58 1.00 115.98 0.00 848.62$                 

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

Labor Burden & Workers Compensation 35.00% 1,103.26$              

Labor Total 4,255.44$              

Qty Amount

-$                      

-$                      

-$                      

-$                      

Subcontract Total: -$                      

Materials: Qty Unit Price Amount

Sand SE 30 852.00 13.58 11,570.16$            

0 -$                      

0 -$                      

0 -$                      

0 -$                      

0 -$                      

7.75% 896.69$              

Material Total 12,466.85$            

Description Mark-up Total

Labor 15% 4,893.75$              

Equipment 15% 6,330.16$              

Material 15% 14,336.87$            

Subcontractors 5% -$                      

5.00% 1,278.04$              

3.00% 766.82$                 

2.00% 511.22$                 

Report Total 28,116.87$     
Note: We reserve the right to supplement and/or correct report. Appropriate 

extensions requested.

4,255.44$     638.32$                 

5,504.49$     825.67$                 

12,466.85$   1,870.03$              

-$             -$                      

Company Overhead

General Liability Insurance

Payment & Perfomance Bonds

Sub Totals Extended

Vender

Coachella Valley Agg

Material Tax

Summary:

Project 

Name:

Emergancy Wash repair 

Westward Ho

IWA

Hourly rate for Emergancy repair at Westward Ho. Wash

Estimated fill needed ~5500 CY's ~8,250 Tons.

Subcontractors / Owner Operator Unit Cost

386



Friday, September 

8, 2023

Owner: BB-03
Work Preformed:

Equipment Qty Hours
Idle

YES/NO
Idle Rate

Operating 

Rate
Extended Amount

Excavator CAT 325* 1 9 No 97.14 158.33 1,424.97$              

Loader Case 521G* 1 9 No 45.41 76.91 692.19$                 

Loader Mecalac AS1600* 1 9 No 58.82 94.89 854.01$                 

Water Truck 2500 Gallon 1 9 No 26.26 88.85 799.65$                 

Excavator Kobelco SK35* 1 9 No 30.02 50.92 458.28$                 

Skid Steer* 1 9 No 50.30 85.96 773.64$                 

Truck Utility 1 9 No 3.85 29.60 266.40$                 

Truck Pickup Foreman 1 9 No 3.40 26.15 235.35$                 

Equipment Total 5,504.49$              

Labor Hours
Hourly 

Rate

Overtime 

Hours

Overtime 

Rate

Per Diem 

Rate
Extended Amount

Operator 8.0 91.58 1.00 115.98 0.00 848.62$                 

Operator 8.0 91.58 1.00 115.98 0.00 848.62$                 

0 0 0 -$                      

Water Truck Driver 8.0 65.19 1.00 84.81 0.00 606.33$                 

Team Leader 8.0 91.58 1.00 115.98 0.00 848.62$                 

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

Labor Burden & Workers Compensation 35.00% 1,103.26$              

Labor Total 4,255.44$              

Qty Amount

-$                      

-$                      

-$                      

-$                      

Subcontract Total: -$                      

Materials: Qty Unit Price Amount

Sand SE 30 852.00 13.58 11,570.16$            

0 -$                      

0 -$                      

0 -$                      

0 -$                      

0 -$                      

7.75% 896.69$              

Material Total 12,466.85$            

Description Mark-up Total

Labor 15% 4,893.75$              

Equipment 15% 6,330.16$              

Material 15% 14,336.87$            

Subcontractors 5% -$                      

5.00% 1,278.04$              

3.00% 766.82$                 

2.00% 511.22$                 

Report Total 28,116.87$     
Note: We reserve the right to supplement and/or correct report. Appropriate 

extensions requested.

4,255.44$     638.32$                 

5,504.49$     825.67$                 

12,466.85$   1,870.03$              

-$             -$                      

Company Overhead

General Liability Insurance

Payment & Perfomance Bonds

Sub Totals Extended

Vender

Coachella Valley Agg

Material Tax

Summary:

Project 

Name:

Emergancy Wash repair 

Westward Ho

IWA

Hourly rate for Emergancy repair at Westward Ho. Wash

Estimated fill needed ~5500 CY's ~8,250 Tons.

Subcontractors / Owner Operator Unit Cost

387



Thursday, 

September 7, 2023

Owner: BB-02
Work Preformed:

Equipment Qty Hours
Idle

YES/NO
Idle Rate

Operating 

Rate
Extended Amount

Excavator CAT 325* 1 8 No 97.14 158.33 1,266.64$              

Loader Case 521G* 1 8 No 45.41 76.91 615.28$                 

Loader Mecalac AS1600* 1 8 No 58.82 94.89 759.12$                 

Water Truck 2500 Gallon 1 8 No 26.26 88.85 710.80$                 

Excavator Kobelco SK35* 1 8 No 30.02 50.92 407.36$                 

Skid Steer* 1 8 No 50.30 85.96 687.68$                 

Truck Utility 1 8 No 3.85 29.60 236.80$                 

Truck Pickup Foreman 1 8 No 3.40 26.15 209.20$                 

Equipment Total 4,892.88$              

Labor Hours
Hourly 

Rate

Overtime 

Hours

Overtime 

Rate

Per Diem 

Rate
Extended Amount

Operator 8.0 91.58 115.98 0.00 732.64$                 

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

Water Truck Driver 8.0 65.19 84.81 0.00 521.52$                 

Team Leader 8.0 91.58 115.98 0.00 732.64$                 

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

Labor Burden & Workers Compensation 35.00% 695.38$                 

Labor Total 2,682.18$              

Qty Amount

-$                      

-$                      

-$                      

-$                      

Subcontract Total: -$                      

Materials: Qty Unit Price Amount

Sand SE 30 435.00 13.58 5,907.30$              

0 -$                      

0 -$                      

0 -$                      

0 -$                      

0 -$                      

7.75% 457.82$              

Material Total 6,365.12$              

Description Mark-up Total

Labor 15% 3,084.51$              

Equipment 15% 5,626.81$              

Material 15% 7,319.88$              

Subcontractors 5% -$                      

5.00% 801.56$                 

3.00% 480.94$                 

2.00% 320.62$                 

Report Total 17,634.32$     
Note: We reserve the right to supplement and/or correct report. Appropriate 

extensions requested.

2,682.18$     402.33$                 

4,892.88$     733.93$                 

6,365.12$     954.77$                 

-$             -$                      

Company Overhead

General Liability Insurance

Payment & Perfomance Bonds

Sub Totals Extended

Vender

Coachella Valley Agg

Material Tax

Summary:

Project 

Name:

Emergancy Wash repair 

Westward Ho

IWA

Hourly rate for Emergancy repair at Westward Ho. Wash

Estimated fill needed ~5500 CY's ~8,250 Tons.

Subcontractors / Owner Operator Unit Cost

388



Wednesday, 

September 6, 2023

Owner: BB-01
Work Preformed:

Equipment Qty Hours
Idle

YES/NO
Idle Rate

Operating 

Rate
Extended Amount

Excavator CAT 325* 1 9 No 97.14 158.33 1,424.97$              

Loader Case 521G* 1 9 No 45.41 76.91 692.19$                 

Loader Mecalac AS1600* 1 9 No 58.82 94.89 854.01$                 

Water Truck 2500 Gallon 1 9 No 26.26 88.85 799.65$                 

Excavator Kobelco SK35* 1 9 No 30.02 50.92 458.28$                 

Skid Steer* 1 9 No 50.30 85.96 773.64$                 

Truck Utility 1 9 No 3.85 29.60 266.40$                 

Truck Pickup Foreman 1 9 No 3.40 26.15 235.35$                 

Equipment Total 5,504.49$              

Labor Hours
Hourly 

Rate

Overtime 

Hours

Overtime 

Rate

Per Diem 

Rate
Extended Amount

Operator 8.0 91.58 1.00 115.98 0.00 848.62$                 

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

Water Truck Driver 8.0 65.19 1.00 84.81 0.00 606.33$                 

Team Leader 8.0 91.58 1.00 115.98 0.00 848.62$                 

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

0 0 0 -$                      

Labor Burden & Workers Compensation 35.00% 806.25$                 

Labor Total 3,109.81$              

Qty Amount

1.00 2,000.00$              

-$                      

-$                      

-$                      

Subcontract Total: 2,000.00$              

Materials: Qty Unit Price Amount

Sand SE 30 100.00 13.58 1,358.00$              

0 -$                      

0 -$                      

0 -$                      

0 -$                      

0 -$                      

7.75% 105.25$              

Material Total 1,463.25$              

Description Mark-up Total

Labor 15% 3,576.28$              

Equipment 15% 6,330.16$              

Material 15% 1,682.73$              

Subcontractors 0% 2,000.00$              

5.00% 679.46$                 

3.00% 407.68$                 

2.00% 271.78$                 

Report Total 14,948.09$     
Note: We reserve the right to supplement and/or correct report. Appropriate 

extensions requested.

3,109.81$     466.47$                 

5,504.49$     825.67$                 

1,463.25$     219.49$                 

2,000.00$     -$                      

Company Overhead

General Liability Insurance

Payment & Perfomance Bonds

Sub Totals Extended

Vender

Coachella Valley Agg

Material Tax

Summary:

Mobilization 2,000.00$              

Project 

Name:

Emergancy Wash repair 

Westward Ho

IWA

Hourly rate for Emergancy repair at Westward Ho. Wash

Estimated fill needed ~5500 CY's ~8,250 Tons.

Subcontractors / Owner Operator Unit Cost

389



390



391



ITEM 9.1
REVIEW

Suggested Action

Strategic Plan Compliance

Fiscal Impact

Environmental Review

Background

DATE: November 14, 2023

TO: Board of Directors

FROM: Jason Dafforn, General Manager

SUBJECT: RECEIVE MONTHLY GENERAL MANAGERS REPORT FOR OCTOBER
2023

Review

GOAL 6: Improve Planning, Administration and Governance

There is no fiscal impact from this report.

This is not a project as defined by the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA).

The following data represents the activities and metrics for the month of October 2023.

Administrative Services

Held one (1) Operations Committee Meeting.
Held one (1) Board Meeting.
National Night Out Event.
College of the Desert (COD) Great Alumni Hunt Event.
Participated in the Great Shakeout Drill.
Continued working on the development of the Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR).
Reviewed open enrollment benefits and changes with all staff.
Attended Coachella Valley Economic Partnership (CVEP) Annual Summit.

 Environmental Compliance Services

 
Valley Sanitary District

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

392



Presentation to the Operations Committee on the Laboratory topic “Calibrations & Verification”.
Lab staff training on Laboratory process control sample methods to serve as back-up to the
Laboratory.
CDC National Wastewater Surveillance System (NWSS) Contract awarded to Verily Life Sciences;
resume 2x week sampling & analysis for Covid-19 & Mpox.
Accepted participation in Biobot Analytics’ NWSS program for Covid-19, Influenza, RSV for 1x
week sampling & analysis.
Accepted participation in National Institute on Drug Abuse (NIDA) program for high-risk
substances in partnership with Biobot Analytics; 1x every 2 weeks sampling & analysis.

 Operations & Maintenance

Switched to South Activated Sludge Plant chlorine contact chamber
Exposed sink hole by solar panels for inspection 
Flushed out polymer lines at Sludge Dewatering Building
Helped with design build project
Belt Press, Hydraulic motor and pump replaced. Dewatering grinder serviced.
Collections Vactor Truck repaired out on road.
Ponds Dredge Pump replaced
Signs at Bird center was removed
Computer UPS units replaced in Opp’s and for Ron’s office
Many power flickers and outages caused electrical problems in the plant
Stand-by Generators 2, 3, & 4 batteries were changed out
Diesel fuel pump was repaired
Reset all timer clocks
Lawn overseeded
Plant Water Pump #2 repaired
All compressors serviced
Hypo pump at the Activated Sludge Plant repaired
Signs for evacuation points installed
SO2 pump repaired and calibrated with live zero
Sludge Dump truck repaired
Boiler start-up and emissions tested
Influent pump program change
Lab exhaust motor replaced
Primary clarifier exhaust blower repaired
Aerator #7 repaired
Aerator circuits all tested, and connections checked
Electrical outlet in shop replaced
Thermo coupler #2 for Gas Flare replaced
P762 Hot Water Pump leak repaired

Development Services    

Construction has begun on the new Pacific Indio Retail Center on the Southeast corner of
Monroe Street and Avenue 42. The project will include multiple retain lots. Raising Cane’s
Chicken and In-N-Out Burger are planned to build at this project.
Plans have been approved for a new aquatic center at the Polly Pool and a renovation of South

393



Jackson Park on the corner of Jackson Street and Date Avenue.
Construction has begun on Gabino’s Creperie near the corner of Miles Avenue and Towne
Street.
Construction has begun on the Tower Market convenience store and gas station on the
northwest corner of Dr. Carreon and Monroe Street.
Construction has begun on the Indio Taphouse on the southwest corner of Miles Avenue and
Towne Street.
Gallery Homes is starting the development of 82 homes in the Indian Palms Country Club on the
corner of Odlum Drive and Barrymore Street.
Construction has begun on the new OES Gym on the corner of Highway 111 and Jefferson Street

 Collection Services

No-Spill report for the month of October will be submitted to the California Integrated Water
Quality System, as required in the Waste Discharge Requirements Monitoring and Reporting
Program. Due by the end of the month.
Monthly preventative maintenance service of lift stations is scheduled for the month.
CCTV inspections are currently being conducted in the area Requa and Flower.
Field Vactor crew is currently working in the area of Avenue 48 and Monroe.

Capital Improvement Program

The Reclaimed Water Project - Phase 1 was awarded to Schneider Electric / Stantec in June
2020. This project will replace an aging and capacity restricting grit chamber and provide
redundancy by adding a second digester and expanding the bar screens. This project will also
include replacement of the Main Switch Control Panel and the addition of a sludge thickener
unit. Update: Walsh is currently working on building the new grit chamber and digester walls.
Backfill and compaction for the rotary screw thickener facilities has begun.
The Westward Ho Drive Sewer Siphon Replacement Project is a FEMA funded project to replace
the damaged sewer siphon from the February 2019 storm. Permitted plans have been signed by
CVWD and have been approved by the City of Indio and La Quinta. CEQA documentation for this
project has been completed. Update: This project is currently being held up by FEMA. VSD needs
FEMA approval before proceeding with bidding and construction which was expected by
February 2023. VSD staff had a virtual meeting with CalOES staff who stated they were going to
call FEMA directly to try and push them to complete the environmental review of the project.
The Downtown Indio Rehabilitation Project is currently under construction and covers the
rehabilitation of existing sewer mains and manholes in a portion of the downtown area, the
upsizing of two existing sewer mains between Grace and Salton Street, several point repairs, and
the installation of new public sewer in the Indio Motor Machine property. The project was
awarded to GRBCON Inc. Update: The contractor has completed all the rehabilitation and the
sewer construction. Only small repairs and finishing touches remain along with the final asphalt
paving.
The Calhoun Lift Station Improvement Project is currently in design and will address issues with
the Calhoun Lift Station observed during the lift station evaluation project from last fiscal year.
They will address the bubbling wet well lining, aging discharge piping, and deficient electrical
equipment. Update: VSD staff have returned comments on the 65% plans and specifications.
VSD is awaiting the next set of plans from Harris for review.
The Southeast Indio Sewer Improvement Project is currently in design and will include the

394



Recommendation

rehabilitation of existing sewer mains and manholes in a portion of the downtown area and the
realignment of a sewer main located in the backyards of residences between Marshall and Grace
Street. Update: VSD staff are continuing their review of the 65% plans.

 

 

Staff recommends that the Board receive the General Manager’s Report for activities during the
month of October 2023.

 

 
Attachments
Attachment A Admin Services Report.pdf
Attachment B NPDES Report for Nov.pdf
Attachment C Collection Services Report 2023.pdf
Attachment D Development Services Report October 2023.pdf
Attachment E Capital Improvement Program Report November 2023.pdf
Attachment F Environmental Compliance Summary.pdf
Attachment G Wastewater Surveillance Newsletter for Oct.pdf

395

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2275629/Attachment_A_Admin_Services_Report.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2275630/Attachment_B_NPDES_Report_for_Nov.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2275631/Attachment_C_Collection_Services_Report_2023.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2275632/Attachment_D_Development_Services_Report_October_2023.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2275633/Attachment_E_Capital_Improvement_Program_Report_November_2023.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2275635/Attachment_F_Environmental_Compliance_Summary.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2275636/Attachment_G_Wastewater_Surveillance_Newsletter_for_Oct.pdf


Administrative Services - Task Summary 2023

Task Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Total To Date
Active Litigation Filed -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -                 
Board Meeting 3         2         3         4         3         3         2         1         2         1         24                  
Budget/Finance Committee Meeting 1         -      -      -      1         -      -      -      1         -      3                    
Operations Committee Meeting -      1         -      1         -      1         -      1         -      1         5                    
Commuity Engagement Committee Meeting 1         -      1         -      1         -      1         -      1         -      5                    
Employee Anniversaries 1         4         1         1         3         2         5         1         2         1         21                  
Employee Promotions -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -                 
Facebook Postings 1         3         -      -      -      1         -      -      -      -      5                    
Insurance Claims Initiated -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -                 
Lost Time Work Incidents -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -                 
Media Coverage Items -      -      -      1         -      -      -      -      -      -      1                    
New Hires -      -      2         -      1         1         -      -      -      -      4                    
Press Release -      -      -      1         -      1         -      -      -      -      2                    
Public Records Request 2         1         -      1         -      -      1         2         1         1         9                    
Resignations -      -      1         -      -      -      -      -      -      -      1                    
Retirements -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -                 

396



Monthly 
September 2023 VSD WWTP

September 2023 CBOD
(mg/L)

TSS
(mg/L)

Monthly Average 
Flow

(MGD)

CBOD
(mg/L)

TSS
(mg/L)

Monthly Average 
Pond Effluent Flow

(MGD)
CBOD TSS EColi

(MPN/100ml)
Oil and Grease

(mg/L)
Copper
(ug/L)

Di(2-
ethylhexyl)phthalate

(ug/L)

Cyanide (total)
(ug/L)

Ammonia (total, as 
N)

(mg/L)

Nitrate (as N)
(mg/L)

Nitrite (as N)
(mg/L)

Total Nitrogen
(mg/L)

1 < 4.30
2
3
4
5
6 247 214 5.30 4.80
7 24.6
8
9

10
11 < 1.40 3.20 < 0.500 1.90 5.50 0.170 10.0
12 3.10
13
14 230 224 5.30 < 2.50
15
16
17
18
19 45.0
20
21 283 212 5.70 < 2.50
22
23
24
25
26 39.3
27
28 173
29 364 414 7.90 3.20
30 6.29 0.000

Average 281 266 6.29 6.05 3.25 0.000 29.76* 1.40 3.20 0.500 4.30 1.90 5.50 0.170 10.0
Minimum 230 212 6.29 5.30 < 2.50 0.000 3.10 < 1.40 3.20 < 0.500 < 4.30 1.90 5.50 0.170 10.0
Maximum 364 414 6.29 7.90 4.80 0.000 173 < 1.40 3.20 < 0.500 < 4.30 1.90 5.50 0.170 10.0

Exceedences 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Permit LIMITS 25 30 40.0 49.0 126(mo) / 400 
(max) 25 9.0 5.9 4.3

ASP Effluent Pond EffluentPlant Influent Total Plant Discharge (Outfall) Grab 

Report created on 10/18/2023 14:01:49 Page 1 of 1

397



Task Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec
Total To 

Date
Customer Service Calls 6           1           3           1           3           N/A 2           -       -       -       16           

F.O.G. Inspection - Completed -          
F.O.G. Inspection - Fail -          
F.O.G. Inspection - Pass -          
Hot spot cleaning (total)* 26         -       -       34         -       -       24         -       -       34         -       -       118         
Lift station inspection 19         16         23         18         19         23         19         16         19         19         191         
Manhole inspection 179       159       136       178       251       129       113       161       147       73         1,526      
Sewer line CCTV (feet) 8,060 7,295 N/A N/A 1,733 14,994 15,111 11,222 6,916 4,233 69,564    
Sewer line cleaning (feet) 52,372  53,787  58,466  67,147  86,073  69,050  46,911  54,601  48,574  43,804  580,785  
SSO Response - Cat 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
SSO Response - Cat 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
SSO Response - Cat 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
USA Markings 160       46         45         28         30         44         42         48         55         42         540         

*Note: Hot spot cleaning is performed quarterly

Collection Services Task Summary Report for 2023

398



 4B      

14-Nov-23
Plan Check in Progress
Inspection in Progress

New Project

PROJECT NAME STREET ADDRESS / CROSS STREET CURRENT PROJECT STATUS NEXT ACTION ITEM

Add'nl Dwelling Unit - Cebreros Residence 83181 Blue Mountain Court
Plans submitted for additional dwelling unit. Plans approved and notified applicant 
3/3/21. Permit 3967 7/26/2021 Inspect work improvements as scheduled.

Arroyo Crossing Phase 1 architectural plans 47555 Jefferson Steet/Highway 111
Architectural  plans submitted for new apartment complex. Plans approved and 
notified applicant 12/22/21. Permit 3998 issued 1/6/22. Inspect work improvements as scheduled.

Arroyo Crossing Phase 1 civil plans 47555 Jefferson Steet/Highway 111
Civil plans submitted for new apartment complex. Plan review completed. Plans 
approved and returned to applicant 12/22/21. Permit 3998 Inspect work improvements as scheduled.

Arroyo Crossing Phase 2 architectural plans 47777 Jefferson Steet/Highway 111
Architectural  plans submitted for new apartment complex. Plans approved and 
notifed applicant 1/21/22 Permit 4005 on 2/7/22. Inspect work improvements as scheduled.

Arroyo Crossing Phase 2 civil plans 47777 Jefferson Steet/Highway 111
Civil plans submitted for new apartment complex.  Plans approved and notified 
applicant 1/21/22. Permit 1005 Inspect work improvements as scheduled.

Autozone Jackson Street 41850 Jackson Street/aAvenue 42
Plans submitted for plan check. Sewer main relocation. Plans approved 1/21/21. 
Waiting for engineer to finalize easements docs. Permit 3954 issued 5/13/21.

10% warrenty bond in place Reinspect and notice 
of acceptenace Due 1/1/2023

Ave 42 Self Storage 82815 Ave 42/Showcase Blvd
Plans submitted, fee paid. Plans approved and notified applicant 3/2/23. Permit 4110 
5/24/2023 Inspect work improvements as scheduled.

Bliss & Oasis Apts Sewer Improv. Plan NW Corner of Bliss Ave and Oasis St
Plans submitted for Civil Plans, fee paid with check. Completed 1st plan check and 
returned to the applicant 12/15/22. Perform 2nd plan check upon plan resubmittal.

Buzzbox 42625 Jackson Street #112
Plans submitted exisitng building TI. Completed 1st plan check and returned to the 
City 2/22/19. Perform 2nd plan check upon plan resubmittal.

Castro 80501 lot 50 Motorcoach CC 80501 Ave 48 Lot 50 Plans submitted, Permit 4056 Inspect work improvements as scheduled.

Chandi Plaza Building "B" Shell 81-971 Indio Blvd/Avenue 44 
Plans submitted for plan check. Completed 1st check and returned to the applicant 
10/13/20. Issued permit 3963 on 6/29/21. Inspect work improvements as scheduled.

City Hall and Public Library Project 100/200 Civic Center Drive
Plans submitted and plan fee paid. Completed 1st plan check and notified applicant 
9/29/23. Perform 2nd plan check upon plan resubmittal.

Coco Palms  Tract 38072-2 South East Corner of Avenue 49 and Jackson St
Plans submitted and plan check  fee paid for phase 2 of housing tract. Pending 
signatures for phase 1 before proceeding

Waiting for owner to submit Bonds and 
Development agreement paperwork.

Coco Palms Tract 38072-3 South East Corner of Avenue 49 and Jackson St
Plans submitted for phase 3 of Coco Palms. Plan Check Fee Paid. Emailed Gary at 
Watermarke that plans ar ready for pick up Perform 2nd plan check upon plan resubmittal.

COD Child Development Center 45742 Oasis Street
Plans submitted for child development center. Plans approved and notified applicant 
1/25/22. Permit 4025 4/21/22 Inspect work improvements as scheduled.

College of the Desert 45524 Oasis Street
Plans submitted for campus expansion. Plan review completed, plan approved and 
notified applicant 1/25/22. Permit 4026 4/22/22 Inspect work improvements as scheduled.

Community Valley Bank 81701 Hwy 111
Plans Submitted and fee paid for TI Improvement.  Emailed Matt Seto for plan pick-
up 4/11/23. Permit 4099 Inspect work improvements as scheduled.

Encore Coffee Grease Interceptor T.I. 82707 Miles Avenue/ Corner of Miles and Oasis
Plans submitted for Plans and scope of work, fee paid with check. Completed 3rd plan 
check and notified applicant 3/16/23. Permit # 4095 Finaled 10/2/23 No further action required.

EOS Fitness Hwy 111 Highway/Jefferson Street
Plans submitted for construction of new gym facility. Plans approved and notified 
applicant 4/27/20. Permit 4049

Waiting for Develoment Agreement and Bonds 
before owner can process permit paperwork.

Gabino's Creperie 82862 Miles Ave
Plans submitted, fee paid with credit card. Completed 2nd plan check and returned 
to the applicant 6/28/23. Permit #4120 on 08/09/23 Inspect work improvements as scheduled.

Gallery at Indian Springs Jefferson St/Westward Ho Drive Tract is Complete.  Warranty Bond received 8/25/2021.
Notice of acceptance after 12 month warranty 
bond release.

Hampton Inn Sewer Main Extension North Wast Corner of Spectrum St and Atlantic Ave

Plans submitted for the extension of a public sewer main for Hampton Inn at Atlantic 
Ave. Plan check fees paid 7/11/18. Completed 2nd plan check and returned plans to 
the engineer 8/9/18. Plans approved and returned to enginner 8/27/18. Sewer 
Finaled 5/12/20. Waiting for owner to submit Warranty Bond 

Handels Ice Cream Shop 42225 Jackson Street/Avenue 42
Plans submitted for new suite TI. 2nd plan check completed and returned to the 
applicant 8/31/22. Permit 4064 Finaled 10/5/23 No further action required.

Homes 2 Suites Architectural Plans 80653 Hwy 111 Plans submitted for Hotel Homes2Suites. 2nd Plan Check In queue 10/30/23 Plans In Queue

Homes 2 Suites Sewer Improvement Plan 80653 Hwy 111
Plans submitted for  Sewer Improvement Plans, plan check fee paid. Plans ready for 
pick up. MSA Consultants was emailed 10/04/23 Perform 3rd plan check upon plan resubmittal.

I-10 Monroe Conceptual Site Plans SE Corner of Monroe and Ave 42 The Palms at Indio Sewer  Plans submitted (Fee paid 8/19/22) Approved 6/8/23
Waiting for owner to submit Bonds and 
Development agreement paperwork.

I-10 Monroe Conceptual Site Plans Pt. 2 SE Corner of Monroe and Ave 42 Plans Submitted and fee paid for Sewer Development. Aproved 6/8/23
Waiting for owner to submit Bonds and 
Development agreement paperwork.

Indian Palms 32 Cochran Drive & Garland Road
Civil plans submitted for public sewer for 32 unit condo complex. 2nd plan check 
complete.  9/1/21.  Plans approved 9/17/21. Inspect work improvements as scheduled.

Indio Behavioral Health Hospital 81655 JFK Court

Civil plans submitted for new mental health facility. Completed 1st plan check and 
returned to the engineer 12/2/19. Plans approved 6/24/20. Issued permit 3900 on 
8/29/20. Inspect work improvements as scheduled.

VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT

Page 1 399



 4B      

PROJECT NAME STREET ADDRESS / CROSS STREET CURRENT PROJECT STATUS NEXT ACTION ITEM

Indio Juvenile Court 47671 Oasis St/ Ave 48

Plans submitted to demo existing juvenile court building and construct new building 
on the same site. Plans approved, notified applicant project ready to permit 9/30/21. 
Permit # 4004 1/25/22 Inspect work improvements as scheduled.

Indio Marketplace Architectural 82227 Highway 111/Rubidoux Plans submitted for mall TI. Completed 2nd check and notified applicant 8/2/22. Waiting for owner to process permit paperwork.

Indio Marketplace Civil 82227 Highway 111/Rubidoux 
Plans submitted for mall TI, Completed second plan check and returned to the 
applicant 11/12/21. Waiting for owner to process permit paperwork.

Indio Plaza Sewer Relocation 82126 Hwy 111/Monroe St.
Plans submitted for sewer line and manhole relocation. Plans approved and notified 
applicant 7/28/22. Waiting for owner to process permit paperwork. 

Indio Public Safety Center 46867 Bristol Street/Dr Carreon 
Plans submitted for public safety center. Plans approved and returned to applicant 
4/12/22. Permit 4052 Inspect work improvements as scheduled.

Indio Self Storage 81161 Indio Blvd 
Plans submitted and fee paid for sewer inprovement plans. Completed 3rd plan check 
and returned to the applicant 8/24/23. Perform 4th plan check upon plan resubmittal.

Indio Sports Park 82600 Market St 
Plans submitted for a sports park with concession stand.  Plans are ready for pickup, 
emailed Deborah at Webb and Associates 10/18/23 Perform 2nd plan check upon plan resubmittal.

Indio Taphouse TI 82851 & 82867 Miles Ave
Plans submitted for Taproom in Oldtown Indio, fee paid with check. Plans approved 
and notified applicant 1/26/23. Permit 4083 Inspect work improvements as scheduled.

Jersey Mike's 42211 Jackson St Ste. 102 / Corner of Ave 42 
Plans Submitted and fee paid for Sandwich Restaurant. Plans approved and notified 
applicant 2/17/23. Permit 4088 Inspect work improvements as scheduled.

JFM Senior Villas 83801 / 83285 Dr Carreon Plans Submitted for Senior Villa Apts, plan check deposit paid Plans In Queue

John Nobles Apts civil plans John Nobles Avenue/Rubidoux Street
Plans submitted for on-site private sewer. Completed 1st plan check and returned to 
applicant 7/12/22. Perform 2nd plan check upon plan resubmittal.

Kings Castle Taco Architectural 82991 Bliss Avenue
Plans submitted for building TI for taco shop. Completed 2nd plan check. Civil plans 
submitted for review 7/21/22. Waiting for owner to process permit paperwork.

Kings Castle Taco Civil Plans 82991 Bliss Avenue
Plans submitted for building TI for taco shop 7/21/22. Plans approved and notified 
the applicant 9/7/22. Waiting for owner to process permit paperwork.

Las Plumas/Coco Palm Tract 38072-1 South East Corner of Avenue 49 and Jackson St Plans submitted for 173 lot housing tract. Completed first plan check 4/27/21.
Waiting for owner to submit Bonds and 
Development agreement paperwork.

Lifestyle Center New Pool Toilet Rooms 48630 Monroe St - Indian Palms CC
Plans Submitted for restrooms at Indian Palms CC Pool. Plans approved 8/17/23. 
Permit #4122 08/24/23 Inspect work improvements as scheduled.

Magical Estates Tenant Spaces 82490 Highway 111/Arabia Street
Plans submitted for tenant suite TI's. Completed 1st plan check and returned to 
applicant 4/28/22. Perform 2nd plan check upon plan resubmittal.

Motorcoach CC Lot 119 Motorcoach CC 80501 Ave 48 Lot 119 Plans submitted for casita/shade structure. Plans approved. Permit 4115 7/20/23 Inspect work improvements as scheduled.

Motorcoach Clubhouse Kitchen Remodel Motorcoach CC 80501 Ave 48 Clubhouse
Plans submitted and plan fee paid. Plans Approved 9/29/2023. Fees Paid and Permit 
issued 4128 10/10/23 Finaled 10/30/23 No further action required.

Nelson Chavez Accessory Dwelling Unit 43163 Deglet Noor 
Plan submitted for new accessory dwelling unit, Plan approved and notified applicant 
8/30/22 Permit 4113 7/5/23 Inspect work improvements as scheduled.

New Century Garage Doors 81740 Highway 111/Granada Dr.
Plans submitted for new sewer lateral connection. Plans approved and notified 
applicant project ready to permit 8/17/23. Waiting for owner to process permit paperwork. 

Octavio Rosales SFD 43645 Saguaro Street/Avenue 44
Plans submitted for new SFD. Completed 2nd plan check and returned to the City 
8/26/19. Permit 4014 issued 3/18/22. Inspect work improvements as scheduled.

Outdoor Resorts CC - Casita Addition 80394 Avenue 48, Lot 182
Plans submitted for casita addition and storage building. Plans approved and notified 
applicant 9/30/21 Waiting for owner to process permit paperwork.

Outdoor Resorts Lot 307 80394 Ave 48 Lot 307 Plans submitted for casita addition and outdoor BBQ. Permit 4112 Inspect work improvements as scheduled.

Page 2 400



 4B      

PROJECT NAME STREET ADDRESS / CROSS STREET CURRENT PROJECT STATUS NEXT ACTION ITEM

Palmera Apartments Civil NE Corner of Monroe and Requa
Plans submitted for Sewer Developmet, fee paid. Completed 2nd plan check and 
returned to the applicant 3/9/23 Perform 3rd plan check upon plan resubmittal.

Palmera Project Arc Requa Ave West of Monroe PM 38493
Plans Submitted for Apt Homes with Clubhouse. Completed 1st plan check and 
returned to the applicant 9/11/23. Perform 2nd plan check upon plan resubmittal.

Paradiso Tract 31815 East of Monroe North of Ave 41 New model homes under construction. Warranty Bond received 3/2/2023.
Notice of acceptance after 12 month warranty 
bond release.

Paradiso Tract 31815 & 31815-3 East of Monroe North of Ave 41
Plans submitted for new housing tract phases. Completed first plan check 2/25/21. 
Plans Approved 3/25/21.

10% warrenty bond in place Reinspect and notice 
of acceptenace Due 3/1/2024

Parcel Map 36215 Dr. Carreon west of Van Buren
Civil plans submitted for 1st plan check. Plans approved and returned to the Engineer 
1/18/18. Issued permit 3718 on 1/23/18. Inspect work improvements as scheduled.

Pawley Pool Aquatic Facility 46350 Jackson Street/Date Ave.
Plans submitted for new Aquatic Center on existing public pool site. Project Expired in 
2020. Resbmitted 10/25/21. Plans approved and notified applicant 10/12/23. Waiting for owner to process permit paperwork.

Private residence for Cristina Ayon 49115 Ridgeback Ct
Plans submitted, fee paid. Plans approved and notified applicant project ready to 
permit 12/22/22. Permit 4071 1/12/23 Inspect work improvements as scheduled.

Raising Canes Restaurant Monroe Street/Showcase Parkway
Plans submitted for new restaurant building. Plans approved and notified the 
applicant 12/6/22. Waiting for owner to process permit paperwork.

Ramon Chavez Accessory Dwelling Unit 43737 Oasis St / Ave 44
Plans submitted for plan check. Plans approved and notified applicant 10/13/20. 
Issued permit 3908 on 10/13/20. Inspect work improvements as scheduled.

Ranch RV & self Storage 83734 Dr Carreon 
Plans submitted, fee paid with check. Completed 2nd plan check and notified 
applicant 12/14/22. Permit 4090 2/28/2023 Inspect work improvements as scheduled.

Residence for Mr and Mrs Job Lopez 49-134 Ridgeback Ct 
Plans Submitted and fee paid for private residence. Plans approved and notified 
applicant 3/16/23. Permit 4093 Inspect work improvements as scheduled.

Ridgeback Ct Family Residence 49128 Ridgeback Ct
Plans submitted for  single family residence, plan check fee paid. Plans aproved. 
Permit 4114 7/20/23 Inspect work improvements as scheduled.

Robert Henry Bootsma Casita 80469 Jasper Park Ave Plans submmited for a detached Casita, Plan Check Deposit paid Plans In Queue

Rosa Rebollar Accessory Dwelling Unit 81179 Helen Ave/Swingle Ave
Plan submitted for new accessory dwelling unit. Project built, notified applicant 
project ready to permit 6/22/23. Waiting for owner to process permit paperwork. 

Salad and Go 82051 Ave 42 Plans submitted for a Restaurant. Completed 1st plan check and notified applicant 10/  Perform 2nd plan check upon plan resubmittal.

Saphire Apartments 45733 Oasis St Plans submmited for 30 unit Mixed-Use Apartment Complex, Plan Check Deposit paid Plans In Queue

Showcase Indio Pad 4 Shell 42225 Jackson Street/Avenue 42
Plans submitted for new retail shell buidling. Plans approved and notified applicant 
7/26/22. Permit 4055 Finaled 10/5/23 No further action required.

Sunburst RV Storage 43250 Sunburst Street/Oleander Avenue
Plans submitted for new RV storage facility. Completed 1st check and notified 
applicant 3/21/22. Permit 4020 4/7/22 Finaled 10/10/23 No further action required.

Tarra Lago 32341-12 North of Avenue 44 & East of Harrison
First Plan Complete 12/16/20.  Plans Approved 2/19/21.Maintenance Bond in place 
8/16/22.

10% warrenty bond in place Reinspect and notice 
of acceptenace Due 8/16/2023

Terra Lago Four Seasons Tract 32287 North of Avenue 44 & East of Harrison Civil plans submitted for plan check.  Plans Approved 4/26/21.
10% warrenty bond in place Reinspect and notice 
of acceptenace Due 8/1/2024

Terra Lago Four Seasons Tract 32288-1 North of Via Terra Lago and East of Golf Center Pkwy
Civil plans submitted for Public Sewer.  1st plan check complete and returned redlines 
11/24/21 2nd plan check complete 1/18/22. Inspect work improvements as scheduled.

Terra Lago Four Seasons Tract 32288-F North of Via Terra Lago and East of Golf Center Pkwy
Civil plans submitted for Public Sewer.  1st plan check complete and returned redlines 
3/29/22 Aproved 7/1/23 Inspect work improvements as scheduled.

Terra Lago Four Seasons Tract 32288-F North of Via Terra Lago and East of Golf Center Pkwy Civil plans submitted for Public Sewer.  Plans Approved 7/1/22 Inspect work improvements as scheduled.

Terra Lago Four Seasons Tract 32341-F North of Avenue 44 & East of Harrison
Civil plans submitted for plan check. Completed 1st plan check and  notified applicant 
5/1/20. Plans Approved 8/15/20.Maintenance Bond in place 8/16/22 Inspect work improvements as scheduled.

Terra Lago Four Seasons Tract 32462-2 North of Avenue 44 & East of Harrison
Plans approved from previous developer.  Development agreement has been 
recorded.  Bonds have been submitted.  Construction work is in progress. Inspect work improvements as scheduled.

Tim & Lois Eklund Site 105 Motorcoach CC 80501 Ave 48 Lot 105 Plans submitted, Permit 4068 Inspect work improvements as scheduled.

Tower Market #965 Intersection Monroe Street/Dr Carreon
Plans submitted for Convienient Store/Gas Station, fee paid with check. Plans 
approved nd notified applicant project ready to permit 6/5/23. Permit 4111 6/9/2023 Inspect work improvements as scheduled.

Tower Market #965 Architectural Intersection Monroe Street/Dr Carreon
Plans Submitted and fee paid for architectural plans for a gas station. Plans approved 
and notified applicant project ready to permit 6/5/23. Permit 4111 6/9/2023 Inspect work improvements as scheduled.

West Coast Self Storage NE Corner of Van Buren and Dr Carreon Plans submitted for Self Storage, plan check deposit paid Plans In Queue

Woodsprings Suites Ext Stay Hotel 42-425 Jackson St.
Civil plans submitted for Public Sewer & Plan Fee Paid. Plans approved 2/14/23 and 
notified applicant Waiting for owner to process permit paperwork. 

October Fiscal Year
New Projects 6 9
Projects Permitted 1 3
Projects Finaled 4 11

Page 3 401



Project Title Project Description Current Status Fiscal Year Budget Total Spent to Date
Reclaimed Water Project Phase 1 The contract for this project was awarded to Schneider Electric / Stantec. The project design cost 

was $2,200,000 and the project schedule was approximately 460 days. The Reclaimed Water 
Project – Phase 1 will replace an aging and capacity restricting grit chamber and provide 
redundancy by adding a second digester and expanding the bar screens. This project will also 
include adding a biofilter and a sludge thickener unit. The Guaranteed Maximum Price (GMP) has 
been approved by the Board. 100% design plans have been approved by staff.

Walsh is currently working on building the new grit 
chamber and digester walls. Backfill and 
compaction for the rotary screw thickener facilities 
has begun.

$39,900,000.00 $8,760,381.51

Collections System Rehabilitation 
Design Projects

There are currently two projects in the design phase for the Collections System Rehabilitation 
program. The first is the Calhoun Lift Station Improvement Project which will address issues with 
the Calhoun Lift Station observed during the lift station evaluation project from last fiscal year. 
They will address the bubbling wet well lining, aging discharge piping, and deficient electrical 
equipment. The second project is the Southeast Indio Sewer Improvement Project which will 
include the rehabilitation of existing sewer mains and manholes in another portion of the 
downtown area and the realignment of a sewer main located in the backyards of residences 
between Marshall and Grace Street. 

VSD staff have returned comments on the 65% 
plans and specifications. VSD is awaiting the next 
set of plans from Harris for review. VSD staff are 
continuing their review of the 65% plans.

$400,000.00 $223,306.40

Downtown Indio Rehabilitation 
Project 

The Downtown Indio Rehabilitation Project is currently under construction and covers the 
rehabilitation of existing sewer mains and manholes in a portion of the downtown area, the 
upsizing of two existing sewer mains between Grace and Salton Street, several point repairs, and 
the installation of new public sewer in the Indio Motor Machine property. The project was 
awarded to GRBCON Inc.

The contractor has completed all the rehabilitation 
and the sewer construction. Only small repairs and 
finishing touches remain along with the final 
asphalt paving.

$2,200,000.00 $1,469,367.28

Westward Ho Sewer Sewer 
Siphon Replacement Design and 
Construction

Westward Ho Drive Sewer Siphon Replacement project.  This is a FEMA funded project to replace 
the damaged sewer siphon from the February 2019 storm. Permitted Plans have been signed by 
CVWD and have been approved by the City of Indio and La Quinta.  Staff is waiting for a 
contractor to be awarded the project to finish filing an encroachment permit application as 
required by CVWD for the permanent pipeline crossing of the channel. 95% Plans and 
specifications have been sent to FEMA for their review and approval.

This project is currently being held up by FEMA. 
VSD needs FEMA approval before proceeding with 
bidding and construction which was expected by 
February 2023.  VSD staff had a virtual meeting with 
CalOES staff who stated they were going to call 
FEMA directly to try and push them to complete the 
environmental review of the project.

$10,721,000.00 $0.00

New Training and Office Building 
and Laboratory Building

VSD has chosen SGH Architects as the architectural firm for the preliminary design of a new single-
story training/office building and new laboratory building. Staff have selected a new location for 
the training/office building that will allow the single-story building with minimal demolition. The 
architect has completed the schematic design and cost estimate for both the training/office 
building and laboratory building. An onsite survey was conducted on July 7th. SGH Architects is 
continuing with the final design of both the Office & Training and Laboratory Buildings. SGH has 
submitted 50% design plans which include both buildings for staff review and comment in 
December 2021.

This project is being delayed for a year or two to 
allow other priority projects to proceed and 
maintain our debt coverage. 

$0.00 $0.00

Additional Parking and 
Landscaping

The District is need of additional parking for employees and customers. Staff proposes to remove 
the lawn at the front of the property and replace it with parking and drought tolerant 
landscaping.

A preliminary design of the Project has been 
completed.  In que for the next steps. 

$0.00 $0.00

Monthly Capital Improvement Project Update - November 2023

402



Task Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Total YTD
Pretreatment

Customer Service Calls 11 10 2 5 6 9 6 49
Commercial Approval Letters 4 3 1 7 1 2 4 22
Change of Ownership Inspection 3 4 3 5 3 18
SIU Permit Compliance 3 3 3 3 2 1 2 17
FOG-FSE Inspections Completed 22 14 12 6 14 31 23 56 43 221

Commercial Inspections Completed 4 5 1 1 9 3 4 3 30

Environmental & Collections  
investigations 3 4 1 3 11

Failed Inspections or NOV 1 1
Total # of Inspections 32 26 16 10 14 40 29 61 51 0 0 0 279

Laboratory Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Total YTD
# of Collected Samples 266 266 327 255 296 258 277 260 240 2,445
# of Tests (Analyses) 548 537 618 514 574 534 591 628 591 5,135
# of Samples sent to Contract Labs 40 41 36 32 55 31 28 29 23 315
# of Contracted Tests (Analyses) 73 142 62 63 149 46 38 41 35 649
% of Samples performed In-House 85.0% 84.6% 89.0% 87.5% 81.4% 88.0% 89.9% 88.8% 90.4% 87.2%

Environmental Compliance Summary Report for 2023

403



 

W a s t e w a t e r  
S u r v e i l l a n c e   
Your Guide to VSD & Viruses  

 

 October 2023  

   

VSD Program 
Wastewater surveillance is used to monitor the presence of 
infections within VSD’s service community by tracking trends in 
virus rates.  

Public health officials can utilize the data to prevent and control 
disease within our service area.  

Websites VSD Program data shared with: 

• COVIDPoops19 
• Cal-SuWers Network 
• WastewaterScan 
• CDC Covid Tracker 
• Biobot Covid Tracker 

PodCast: WEF “Sewer Signals”  

 IN THIS ISSUE  
 

NWSS PROGRAM  
Program contents & trends 

WASTEWATERSCAN 
PROGRAM  

Program contents & trends 

PROGRAM TIMELINE 
Program start to current 

events 

 

 404

https://www.arcgis.com/apps/dashboards/c778145ea5bb4daeb58d31afee389082
https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CID/DCDC/Pages/COVID-19/CalSuWers-Dashboard.aspx
https://publichealth.verily.com/#Indio,%20CA:SARS-CoV-2
https://covid.cdc.gov/covid-data-tracker/#wastewater-surveillance
https://biobot.io/data/
https://nwbe.org/?page_id=465#episode-9


 
 

Partnership between CDC 

Website: CDC Tracker 
 
 

Samples 

Influent 24hr-composite 

Collected: Tues, Thurs 
 

Program update 
CDC awarded Verily Life Sciences for a 12-month period.  

COVID-19 and Mpox (MPXV) 
This program will commence late Oct / early Nov. 

 

MPox – Jan 2023 – Current  

Virus Concentration – NOT DETECTED 

 

Norovirus 

CDC Parameter addition – Result release soon 

 
 

COVID-19 – Mar 2023 – Current 
 

405

https://covid.cdc.gov/covid-data-tracker/#wastewater-surveillance


 

Partnerships:  Stanford University, Emory University, Verily 

Website: WastewaterScan 
 

Samples 
Primary Sludge grab samples  

Collected: Mon, Wed, Fri 
 

Program update 
13 pathogens will be monitored 

 
Seasonal & Emerging Respiratory Pathogens 

SARS-CoV-2 +Variants Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome; spread through 
droplets from coughs, sneezes, or talking. 

Influenza A & B Seasonal respiratory viruses can cause flu pandemics 

Respiratory Syncytial Virus (RSV) 
Common respiratory virus causing mild, cold-like 
symptoms. Can be fatal to infants and older adults. 
Cause Bronchiolitis and pneumonia 

Metapneumovirus (hMPV) Seasonal respiratory virus related to RSV. 
Parainfluenza Seasonal respiratory illness 

Enterovirus (EVD68) Severe respiratory illness and acute flaccid paralysis 
 

Important Enteric Pathogens: 
Adenovirus Group Major cause of GI illness 

Rotavirus Major cause of GI illness, vaccine preventable 
Human Norovirus GII Leading cause of GI illness 

 
Emerging & Outbreak pathogens of concern: 

Candida auris Emerging pathogen, multidrug resistant fungal infection 
Hepatitis A Cause intermittent outbreaks, vaccine preventable 

Virus & Pathogen Trackers 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

406

https://wastewaterscan.org/


 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

407



 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

408



 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

409



 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

410



 
 

 

 

 

 

Jun – Oct 2021 US Dept. Health & Human Services (HHS) partnered with Biobot Analytics 
   (12-week fully Funded Program) 

Oct – Dec 2021 GTmolecular Labs  
   (VSD sponsored) 

Jan – Apr 2022 CDC National Wastewater Surveillance System (NWSS) partnership with LuminUltra 
   (12-week fully Funded Program) 

Jan – Jul 2022  Biobot Network  
   (6-month fully Funded Program) 
 
Apr 22 – Sep 23 CDC NWSS Partnership with Biobot Analytics 
   (fully Funded Program) 

Aug 2022 – ongoing WastewaterScan: Stanford Initiative partnered with Verily Life Sciences 
   (18-month Stipend funded program) 
 
Oct 23 – ongoing CDC NWSS Partnership with Verily Life Sciences 
   (fully Funded Program) 
 
 
Upcoming Projects: 

• Requests to participate in upcoming EPA Grant studying “Anti-microbial resistance and wastewater 
treatment” in understanding environmental burdens and public health impacts of municipal 
wastewater sources and biosolids use in the environment.  

• Project Team: Arizona State University, Virginia Tech, University of South Florida, West Virgina 
University, and Emory.  

PROGRAM TIMELINE 

411



ITEM 10.1
DISCUSSION

Suggested Action

Strategic Plan Compliance

Fiscal Impact

Environmental Review

Background

Recommendation

DATE: November 14, 2023

TO: Board of Directors

FROM: Holly Gould, Clerk of the Board

SUBJECT: DRAFT MINUTES OF THE BUDGET & FINANCE COMMITTEE
MEETING - NOVEMBER 7, 2023

Discuss

GOAL 6: Improve Planning, Administration and Governance

There is no fiscal impact from this report.

This does not qualify as a project for the purposes of CEQA.

Attached are the draft minutes of the Budget & Finance meeting held on November 7, 2023.

Staff recommends that the Board receive an update from the Budget & Finance Committee members.

 
Valley Sanitary District

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Attachments
07 Nov 2023 Meeting Minutes.edited.doc

412

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2275109/07_Nov_2023_Meeting_Minutes.edited.pdf


                                               
  VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT

BUDGET & FINANCE COMMITTEE MEETING MINUTES
November 7, 2023

A regular meeting of the Valley Sanitary District (VSD) Budget & Finance Committee was held 
at 45-500 Van Buren Street in Indio, California, on Tuesday, November 7, 2023.

1. CALL TO ORDER

Chairperson Debra Canero called the meeting to order at 1:00 p.m.  

2. ROLL CALL

Directors Present:
Chairperson Debra Canero
Committee Member Scott Sear

Staff Present:  
Jason Dafforn, General Manager; Jeanette Juarez, Chief Administrative Officer; and
Holly Gould, Clerk of the Board

3. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

4. PUBLIC COMMENT
The public comment on any item not appearing on the agenda. Please notify the Secretary 
before the meeting if you wish to speak on a non-hearing item.
___________________________________________________________________________
None.

5. DISCUSSION / ACTION ITEMS

5.1 Approve Minutes for the September 5, 2023, Budget & Finance Committee Meeting
___________________________________________________________________________
Committee Member Sear motioned to approve the minutes of the September 5, 2023, Budget 
& Finance Committee Meeting. Chairperson Canero seconded the motion. The motion carried 
unanimously.

5.2 Information Regarding Progress of the Fiscal Year 2022/23 Annual Audit
___________________________________________________________________________
Jeanette Juarez, Chief Administrative Officer, gave an update on the Fiscal Year 2023 audit. 
The auditors completed their onsite fieldwork on August 28 and are on track to present the
financials on December 12, 2023. The audit has gone very smoothly, and the final review of 
the financials is in progress.   

413



__________________________________________________________________________________________
Committee Minutes November 7, 2023                                                                    Approved:

5.3 Review and Discuss Video and Talking Points to be Presented at the City of Indio’s 
State of the City Event

___________________________________________________________________________
The District is a title sponsor for the upcoming Indio State of the City event. The sponsorship 
entitles VSD to two (2) minutes for a presentation. The Committee reviewed the video that will 
be presented at the event and the talking points that Ardurra provided for the Board President 
to use during her speech. The video will be sent to all the Board Members for review prior to 
the event and uploaded to the District’s social media after the event. 

6. ADJOURNMENT

There being no further business to discuss, the meeting adjourned at 1:20 p.m. The next 
regular committee meeting will be on January 2, 2024.

Respectfully submitted,
Holly Gould, Clerk of the Board
Valley Sanitary District

414


	Board of Directors Agenda
	Item 5.1 - Cover Page
	Item 5.1 - 5.1 Attachment A Announcement of Award Board President.pdf
	Item 5.1 - 5.1 Attachment B Press Release.pdf
	Item 5.1 - 5.1 Attachment C Certificate of Achievement.pdf
	Item 5.1 - 5.1 Attachment D Staff Recognition.pdf
	Item 7.1 - Cover Page
	Item 7.1 - 10 Oct 2023 Minutes.edited.docx
	Item 7.2 - Cover Page
	Item 7.2 - 7.2 Attachment A Warrants for November 14, 2023.pdf
	Item 7.3 - Cover Page
	Item 7.3 - 7.3 Attachment A Credit Card Transaction September 2023.xlsx
	Item 7.3 - 7.3 Attachment B UMQUA Credit Card Statement September_Redacted.pdf
	Item 7.4 - Cover Page
	Item 7.4 - 7.4 Attachment A Monthly Income Summary - September 2023.pdf
	Item 7.4 - 7.4 Attachment B Budeget Variance Report.pdf
	Item 7.4 - 7.4 Attachment C Summary of Cash and Cash Investments September 2023.pdf
	Item 7.5 - Cover Page
	Item 7.5 - 7.5 Attachment A Monthly Investment Report.pdf
	Item 8.1 - Cover Page
	Item 8.1 - Chemical Delivery Evaluation Tabulation Report.pdf
	Item 8.1 - Univar Solutions.pdf
	Item 8.1 - JCI Jones Chemical.pdf
	Item 8.1 - California Chemical.pdf
	Item 8.2 - Cover Page
	Item 8.2 - 8.2 Attachment A Grant Writing Services RFP.pdf
	Item 8.2 - 8.2 Attachment B Carollo Engineers.pdf
	Item 8.2 - 8.2 Attachment C Harris & Associates.pdf
	Item 8.2 - 8.2 Attachment D Hoch Consulting.pdf
	Item 8.2 - 8.2 Attachment E Scope of Work_VSD.docx
	Item 8.2 - 8.2 Attachment F Fee Proposal_VSD.xlsx
	Item 8.3 - Cover Page
	Item 8.4 - Cover Page
	Item 8.5 - Cover Page
	Item 8.6 - Cover Page
	Item 8.6 - Change Order No 1 - Signed 8-8-23.pdf
	Item 8.6 - Change Order No 2.docx
	Item 8.6 - Change Order No 3.docx
	Item 8.6 - Change Order No 4.docx
	Item 8.6 - Change Order No 5.docx
	Item 8.7 - Cover Page
	Item 8.7 - Change Order No 6.docx
	Item 8.8 - Cover Page
	Item 8.8 - Borden Excavating Inc Invoice 23-06-01_With Work Tickets.pdf
	Item 8.8 - IMG_0242.JPG
	Item 8.8 - 20230914_062430.jpg
	Item 9.1 - Cover Page
	Item 9.1 - Attachment A Admin Services Report.pdf
	Item 9.1 - Attachment B NPDES Report for Nov.pdf
	Item 9.1 - Attachment C Collection Services Report 2023.pdf
	Item 9.1 - Attachment D Development Services Report October 2023.pdf
	Item 9.1 - Attachment E Capital Improvement Program Report November 2023.pdf
	Item 9.1 - Attachment F Environmental Compliance Summary.pdf
	Item 9.1 - Attachment G Wastewater Surveillance Newsletter for Oct.pdf
	Item 10.1 - Cover Page
	Item 10.1 - 07 Nov 2023 Meeting Minutes.edited.doc

	topmostSubform[0]: 
	Page1[0]: 
	FederalClassification[0]: 
	c1_1[0]: 3
	c1_1[1]: 3
	c1_1[2]: 3
	c1_1[3]: 3
	c1_1[4]: 3
	c1_1[5]: 3
	f1_3[0]: 
	c1_1[6]: 3
	f1_4[0]: 

	Address[0]: 
	f1_7[0]: 2795 Mitchell Drive
	f1_8[0]: Walnut Creek, CA 94598-1601

	SSN[0]: 
	f1_11[0]: 
	f1_12[0]: 
	f1_13[0]: 

	EmployerID[0]: 
	f1_14[0]: 86
	f1_15[0]: 0899222

	Exemptions[0]: 
	f1_5[0]: 
	f1_6[0]: 

	f1_1[0]: Carollo Engineers, Inc.
	f1_2[0]: 
	f1_9[0]: 
	f1_10[0]: 




